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INTRODUCTORY NOTE

Grindr Inc., formerly known as Tiga Acquisition Corp. (“Tiga”), was originally incorporated under the Companies
Law of the Cayman Islands on July 27, 2020, as a special purpose acquisition company formed for the purpose of effecting
a merger, capital stock exchange, asset acquisition, stock purchase, reorganization or other similar business combination
with one or more target businesses or entities. On November 18, 2022, we consummated the transactions contemplated by
that certain Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of May 9, 2022 (the “Original Merger Agreement”) by and among
Tiga, Grindr Group LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“Legacy Grindr”), Tiga Merger Sub I LLC, a Delaware
limited liability company and direct and wholly-owned subsidiary of Tiga (“Tiga Merger Sub”), and Tiga Merger Sub II
LLC, a Delaware limited liability company and direct and wholly-owned subsidiary of Tiga (“Tiga Merger Sub II”), as
amended by that certain First Amendment to Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of October 5, 2022, by and among
Tiga, Tiga Merger Sub, Legacy Grindr and Tiga Merger Sub II (together with the Original Merger Agreement, the “Merger
Agreement”). Pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement, we effected a business combination with Legacy Grindr
through, among other transactions, (i) the merger of Tiga Merger Sub I with and into Legacy Grindr, with Legacy Grindr as
the surviving entity (the “First Merger”), and promptly thereafter and as part of the same overall transaction as the First
Merger, (ii) the merger of Legacy Grindr with and into Tiga Merger Sub II (the “Second Merger”), with Tiga Merger Sub II
surviving the Second Merger as a wholly owned subsidiary of Tiga. We refer to the First Merger and the Second Merger
and, collectively with the other transactions described in the Merger Agreement, as the “Business Combination.” In
connection with the closing of the Business Combination, we changed our name to Grindr Inc.

Unless the context indicates otherwise, references in this Annual Report on Form 10-K to the “Company,”
“Grindr,” “we,” “us,” “our” and similar terms refer to Grindr Inc. (f/k/a Tiga Acquisition Corp.) and its consolidated
subsidiaries (including Legacy Grindr). References to “Tiga” refer to the predecessor company prior to the consummation

of the Business Combination.



SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Some of the statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K constitute forward-looking statements within the
meaning of the federal securities laws. Forward-looking statements relate to expectations, beliefs, projections, future plans
and strategies, anticipated events or trends and similar expressions concerning matters that are not historical facts. These
forward-looking statements include statements regarding our intentions, beliefs and current expectations and projections
concerning, among other things, results of operations, financial condition, liquidity, prospects, growth, strategies and the
markets in which we operate. In some cases, you can identify these forward-looking statements by the use of terminology
such as “outlook,” “believes,” “expects,” “potential,” “continues,” “may,” “will,” “should,” “could,” “seeks,”
“approximately,” “predicts,” “intends,” “plans,” “estimates,” “anticipates” or the negative version of these words or other
comparable words or phrases.
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The forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K reflect our current views about the our
business and future events and are subject to numerous known and unknown risks, uncertainties, assumptions and changes
in circumstances that may cause its actual results to differ significantly from those expressed in any forward-looking
statement. There are no guarantees that the transactions and events described will happen as described (or that they will
happen at all). The following factors, among others, could cause actual results and future events to differ materially from
those set forth or contemplated in the forward-looking statements:

* the success in retaining or recruiting, or changes required in, our directors, officers or key employees;
* the impact of the regulatory environment and complexities with compliance related to such environment,
including maintaining compliance with privacy and data protection laws and regulations;
* the ability to respond to general economic conditions;
* factors relating to our and our subsidiaries’ business, operations and financial performance, including:
°  competition in the dating and social networking products and services industry;
° the ability to maintain and attract users;
°  fluctuation in quarterly and yearly results;
° the ability to adapt to changes in technology and user preferences in a timely and cost-effective manner;
° the ability to protect systems and infrastructures from cyber-attacks and prevent unauthorized data
access;
°  the dependence on the integrity of third-party systems and infrastructure; and
° the ability to protect our intellectual property rights from unauthorized use by third parties.
*  whether the concentration of our stock ownership and voting power limits our stockholders’ ability to influence
corporate matters;
¢ the effects of the ongoing coronavirus (“COVID-19”) pandemic, the 2022 mpox outbreak, or other infectious
diseases, health epidemics, pandemics and natural disasters on our business;
¢ the ability to maintain the listing of our common stock and public warrants on the New York Stock Exchange
(“NYSE”); and
* the increasingly competitive environment in which we operate.

In addition, statements that “Grindr believes” or “we believe” and similar statements reflect our beliefs and opinions on the
relevant subjects. These statements are based upon information available to us as of the date of this Annual Report on Form
10-K, and while we believe such information forms a reasonable basis for such statements, such information may be
limited or incomplete, and such statements should not be read to indicate that we have conducted an exhaustive inquiry
into, or review of, all potentially available relevant information. These statements are inherently uncertain and investors are
cautioned not to unduly rely upon these statements.

While forward-looking statements reflect our good faith beliefs, they are not guarantees of future performance. Except to
the extent required by applicable law, we are under no obligation (and expressly disclaim any such obligation) to update or
revise our forward-looking statements whether as a result of new information, future events, or otherwise. For a further
discussion of these and other factors that could cause our future results, performance or transactions to differ significantly
from those expressed in any forward-looking statement, please see the section titled “Risk Factors.” You should not place
undue reliance on any forward-looking statements, which are based only on information currently available to us (or to
third parties making the forward-looking statements).



Summary of Risk Factors

The following is a summary of some of the risks and uncertainties that could materially adversely affect our business,
financial condition and results of operations. This summary should be read together with the more detailed description of
each risk factor disclosed under “Item 1A Risk Factors” contained in Part I of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Risks Related to our Brand, Products and Services, and Operations
*  Our business depends on the strength and market perception of the Grindr brand.

»  Changes to our existing products and services, or the development and introduction of new products and services,
could fail to attract or retain users or generate revenue and profits.

» If we fail to retain existing users or add new users, or if our users decrease their level of engagement with our
products and services or do not convert to paying users, our revenue, financial results and business may be
significantly harmed.

» Inappropriate actions by certain of our users could be attributed to us and damage our brand or reputation, or
subject us to regulatory inquiries, legal action, or other liabilities, which, in turn, could materially adversely affect
our business.

*  Unfavorable media coverage could materially and adversely affect our business, brand, or reputation.

*  The online social networking industry in which we operate is highly competitive, and if we cannot compete
effectively our business will suffer.

*  Our quarterly operating results and other operating metrics may fluctuate from quarter to quarter, which makes
these metrics difficult to predict.

*  The distribution, marketing of, and access to our products and services depend, in large part, on third-party
platforms and mobile application stores, among other third-party providers.

*  Privacy concerns relating to our products and services and the use of user information could negatively impact our
user base or user engagement, which could have a material and adverse effect on our business, financial condition,
and results of operations.

*  We rely primarily on the Apple App Store and Google Play Store as the channels for processing of payments. Any
deterioration in our relationship with Apple, Google or other such third parties may negatively impact our
business.

* Adverse social and political environments for the LGBTQ community in certain parts of the world, including
actions by governments or other groups, could limit our geographic reach, business expansion, and user growth,
any of which could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operation.

Risks Related to Information Technology Systems and Intellectual Property

*  Security breaches, unauthorized access to or disclosure of our data or user data, or other data security incidents
could expose us to liability, which could harm our reputation, generate negative publicity, and materially and
adversely affect our business.

*  Our success depends, in part, on the integrity of our information technology systems and infrastructures and on
our ability to enhance, expand, and adapt these systems and infrastructures in a timely and cost-effective manner.

Risks Related to Regulation and Litigation

*  We have identified a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting which, if not corrected,
could affect the reliability of our consolidated financial statements, and have other adverse consequences.



*  Our success depends, in part, on our ability to access, collect, and use personal data about our users and to comply
with applicable privacy and data protection laws and industry best practices.

» Investments in our business may be subject to U.S. foreign investment regulations.
*  Our business is subject to complex and evolving U.S. and international laws and regulations

»  The varying and rapidly evolving regulatory framework on privacy and data protection across jurisdictions could
result in claims, changes to our business practices, monetary penalties, increased cost of operations, or declines in
user growth or engagement, or otherwise harm our business.

*  We are subject to litigation, regulatory and other government investigations, and adverse outcomes in such
proceedings could have a materially adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operation.

*  Activities of our users or content made available by such users could subject us to liability.
Risks Related to Our Indebtedness

*  Our indebtedness could materially adversely affect our financial condition, our ability to raise additional capital to
fund our operations, and operate our business.

Risks Related to Ownership of our Securities

*  We have a limited operating history and, as a result, our past results may not be indicative of future operating
performance.

*  Our reported financial results may be adversely affected by changes in accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States.

»  There is no guarantee that our warrants will be in the money at the time they become exercisable, and they may
expire worthless.

*  The requirements of being a public company may strain our resources, divert management’s attention and affect
our ability to attract and retain executive management and qualified board members.

e We have incurred and expect to continue to incur significantly increased costs and devote substantial
management time as a result of operating as a public company.

*  We may be unable to maintain the listing of our securities on NYSE.
e The price of our securities may be volatile.

e Future resales of our Common Stock and/or Warrants may cause the market price of our securities to drop
significantly, even if our business is doing well.

*  Sales of our Common Stock and/or Warrants or the perception of such sales, by us or by significant stockholders
could cause the market price for our securities to decline.

*  We may be subject to securities litigation, which is expensive and could divert management attention.

*  Reports published by analysts or the ceasing of publication of research or reports about us could adversely affect
the price and trading volume of our securities.

*  We do not intend to pay cash dividends for the foreseeable future.

General Risk Factors

* A downturn in the global economy or other adverse macroeconomic disruptions, including as a result of bank
failures, especially in the U.S. and Europe, where a substantial majority of our revenue is generated could
adversely harm our business.

*  Our employees could engage in misconduct that materially adversely affects us.



PART 1

Item 1. Business

Our Mission
Connect LGBTQ people with one another and the world.

Our Company

We are the world’s largest social network focused on the LGBTQ community with approximately 12.2 million
monthly active users (“MAUs”) and approximately 788 thousand Paying Users (as defined below) in 2022. Our Paying
Users were over 788 and 601 thousand for the years ended December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, respectively.
According to the Frost & Sullivan Study commissioned by Grindr, we are the largest and most popular gay mobile app in
the world, with more MAUs than other LGBTQ social networking applications. We enable our users to find and engage
with each other, share content and experiences, and generally express themselves. We are a pioneer and leading influence
on the lifestyle trends and discourse among the global LGBTQ community. We are devoted to providing a platform for
social interactions for this vibrant community and to cultivating a safe and accepting environment where all are welcome
and feel a sense of belonging. As a result, our platform has become a meaningful part of our users’ social lives and has
embedded us at the center of the community as the preferred channel for broadening their connections and engaging with
like-minded individuals within the LGBTQ community.

We believe Grindr fulfills crucial needs for the LGBTQ community. While the broader global landscape of social
networks is highly competitive with many different platforms, there are few global platforms that focus solely on the
LGBTQ community and addressing their unique needs, including LGBTQ centric social activities or heightened privacy.
For many years and still even today, people from the LGBTQ community are often discriminated against, marginalized,
and targeted. Few global platforms exist where these individuals can truly be their authentic selves and feel safe to express
themselves freely. As a result, the queer community often have a difficult time finding other members of the community
with similar interests, beliefs, or values. This experience can be isolating and disheartening.

Our platform enables the LGBTQ community to connect with each other and the world. Our platform has many
distinct user segments—a diverse set of queer genders and sexualities, varied ages and demographics, various sub-
communities, private and discreet users, and urban and rural users. Our users also have a range of motivations and use
cases. Our platform helps our users find what they are looking for: casual dating, relationships and love, community and
friendships, travel information, local and discovery, and beyond. By facilitating the connection of our users around the
world, we believe we have the potential to help our community find each other and interact, advance global LGBTQ rights,
and make the world a safer place for all LGBTQ people.

Our core product, the Grindr App, has become an integral part of the daily lives of millions of members of the
LGBTQ community around the world, enabling them to discover and connect with each other effortlessly and anytime. The
Grindr App offers a variety of location-based social features and functions, including identity expression (profile, photos,
presence), connection (search, filters, the Cascade, Viewed Me), interaction (chat, media sharing), trust and safety tools
across the experience, and subscriptions for premium features offering more access and control. Since our inception in
2009, we have continued to innovate our technologies to improve the Grindr app, adding new features and safety elements,
which has allowed us to increase our MAUs and other metrics over the years. The Grindr App has MAUs in over 190
countries and territories, including developed markets such as the United States, the U.K., France, Spain, and Canada, and
emerging markets such as Brazil, Mexico, India, Chile, and the Philippines, creating a high barrier to entry for our
competitors.

We have attracted a highly engaged, and rapidly growing user base, as evidenced by the following:
*  Approximately 12.2 million MAUs in 2022.

*  Approximately 788 thousand Paying Users in 2022. Our Paying Users increased by 31.0% in 2022, as compared
to 2021.

e MAUs in over 190 countries and territories in the world as of December 31, 2022.
* 21 supported languages on Android and 9 on iOS as of December 31, 2022.

»  On average, users on our platform sent over 308 million daily messages in 2022.



e Our profiles spent an average of 58 minutes per day each on the Grindr App in December 2022, which ranks us
number one among apps focused on the LGBTQ community, according to the Frost & Sullivan Study
commissioned by Grindr.

Our largest markets are currently North America and Europe, from which we derived 86.9% of our total revenue
for the year ended December 31, 2022. After North America and Europe, Asia-Pacific makes up an additional 6.1% of our
total revenue, and the remaining 4.6% and 2.4% are from other regions, including Latin America (comprising Central
America and South America) and Australia, respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2022.

Our target market is the worldwide LGBTQ community, which comprises more than 538.4 million people
globally that self-identify as LGBTQ and represented approximately 6.9% of the total global population as of
December 31, 2021, according to the Frost & Sullivan Study commissioned by Grindr. With the progression of LGBTQ
culture and increase in LGBTQ rights around the world, this growing and highly engaged community has had an
increasingly stronger voice and has been enabled to pursue more diverse lifestyles, express its opinions, and advocate for
equal rights. We are dedicated to creating value and a safe and accepting environment for the LGBTQ community.

We believe we have significant opportunities to leverage our unique brand to both broaden and deepen our market
penetration and offer products and services that address the growing and changing needs of the global LGBTQ community.
With this broader opportunity in mind, we have continued to expand our platform, which offers a unique combination of
social networking functions, digital content, and other initiatives aimed at enriching and empowering the lives of the
LGBTQ community, in the following ways:

*  We help people find meaningful connections, whether it's casual dating, relationships and love, community and
friendships, travel information, local and discovery, and beyond.

e Our platform builds community and friendships. Our user experience is essentially a world without walls,
connecting one user to the next, allowing the community to see each other, many of whom sometimes feel unseen.

*  We are advancing LGBTQ equality and safety. Our Grindr for Equality initiative, or G4E, has worked around the
world for the safety and justice for the LGBTQ community. Coordinating with NGOs, governments, and
nonprofits, G4E has worked to change and inform policy, increase access to vital healthcare services such as HIV
testing, and bring valuable information to millions of people in over 50 languages.

*  We bring empowerment through partnerships with organizations such as Aids/Lifecycle, National/Local Pride
Organizations, and Voting Campaigns.

*  We drive social influence with fun and engaging ways on social media channels to help the general population
better understand our community, plight, and interconnectedness.

We believe our brand and logo have become mainstays of the global LGBTQ experience. According to the
Morning Consult Survey, we are the best-known gay dating app among Gay, Bisexual, Transgender, and Queer people,
with 85.0% brand awareness, as well as the best-known gay dating app among the general population. The strength of our
brand has allowed us to grow our users virally and organically, as evidenced by the fact that our customer acquisition spend
only comprised 0.3% of total revenue in 2022. This is a core feature of our business model. As our user base continues to
grow worldwide, more connections are made, and our user engagement and revenue increase. These increases enable us to
reinvest in our platform, building more product and safety features and, as a result, attract more users. This results in
powerful network effects, driving user and revenue growth and reinforcing our brand awareness.

We currently generate revenue from two revenue streams—Direct Revenue and Indirect Revenue, both of which
are driven by the Grindr app. Direct Revenue is revenue generated by our Paying Users who pay for subscriptions or add-
ons to access premium features. While our app is free to use, our premium features enable our users to customize their
ability to experience and use our platform. Indirect Revenue is generated by third parties who pay us for access to our
users, such as advertising or partnerships. Our financial model has significant benefits and has experienced rapid revenue
growth and profitability driven predominantly by organic user acquisition and the viral network effects enabled by our
brand and market position.

»  For the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, we generated:

o Total revenue of $195.0 million and $145.8 million, respectively, representing year-over-year growth of
33.7%;

o Net Income of $0.9 million and $5.1 million, respectively. The decrease for the year ended December 31,
2022 compared to the year ended December 31, 2021 was $(4.2) million, or (82.4)%; and

o Adjusted EBITDA of $85.2 million and $77.1 million, respectively. The increase for the year ended
December 31, 2022 compared to the year ended December 31, 2021 was $8.1 million, or 10.6%.



For a reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin to the most directly comparable GAAP
financial measures, information about why we consider Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin useful and a
discussion of the material risks and limitations of these measures, see the section titled “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Non-GAAP Financial Measures.”

The Business Combination

Grindr's predecessor public company was originally incorporated in the Cayman Islands on September 18, 2017 under
the name Tiga Acquisition Corp. (“Tiga”), a special-purpose acquisition company for the purpose of effecting a merger,
capital stock exchange, asset acquisition, stock purchase, reorganization or engaging in any other similar business
combination with one or more businesses or entities. Grindr was originally incorporated in February 2009 as a California
limited liability company, and was subsequently held by Grindr Group LLC ("Legacy Grindr"), a Delaware limited liability
company which was incorporated in April 2020.

Between November 17, 2022 and November 18, 2022, Legacy Grindr, Tiga, Tiga Merger Sub I LLC, a Delaware
limited liability company and direct and wholly-owned subsidiary of Tiga (“Tiga Merger Sub”), and Tiga Merger Sub II
LLC, a Delaware limited liability company and direct and wholly-owned subsidiary of Tiga, consummated the transactions
contemplated by that certain Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of May 9, 2022 (the “Original Merger Agreement”),
by and among Tiga, Legacy Grindr, Tiga Merger Sub, as amended by that certain First Amendment to Agreement and Plan
of Merger, dated as of October 5, 2022, by and among Tiga, Tiga Merger Sub, Legacy Grindr and Tiga Merger Sub II
(together with the Original Merger Agreement, the “Merger Agreement”), following its approval at an extraordinary
general meeting of the shareholders of Tiga held on November 15, 2022. Pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement, a
business combination of Legacy Grindr and Tiga was effected through, among other transactions, (i) the merger of Tiga
Merger Sub I with and into Legacy Grindr, with Legacy Grindr as the surviving entity (the “First Merger”), and promptly
thereafter and as part of the same overall transaction as the First Merger, (ii) the merger of Legacy Grindr with and into
Tiga Merger Sub II (the “Second Merger”), with Tiga Merger Sub II surviving the Second Merger as a wholly owned
subsidiary of Tiga. Prior to the closing of the business combination on November 18, 2022 (“Closing”), Tiga (i) changed its
jurisdiction of incorporation from Cayman Islands to the State of Delaware by deregistering as an exempted company in
the Cayman Islands and domesticating and continuing as a corporation incorporated under the laws of the State of
Delaware and (ii) changed its name from Tiga Acquisition Corp. to Grindr Inc. (the “Business Combination”).

Unless the context indicates otherwise, references in this Annual Report to Form 10-K to the “Company,”

“Grindr,” “we,” “us,” “our” and similar terms refer to Grindr, Inc. (f/k/a Tiga Acquisition Corp.) and its consolidated
subsidiaries (including Legacy Grindr). References to “Tiga” refer to the predecessor company prior to Closing.

Market Overview

The global LGBTQ population has undergone steady growth in recent years, growing at a compound annual
growth rate (“CAGR”) of 6.7% from 390.0 million in 2016 to 538.4 million in 2021, according to the Frost & Sullivan
Study, which was commissioned by Grindr, of the global LGBTQ population. The Frost & Sullivan Study commissioned
by Grindr estimated this growth trend will continue over the next five years, growing at a CAGR of 4.2% and reaching
659.9 million in 2026.

The global growth of the LGBTQ population is not just driven by overall population growth, but by the growing
social acceptance level towards the LGBTQ community and the LGBTQ population’s willingness to express sexual
orientation and gender identity. We believe increasing social acceptance of the LGBTQ community and more LGBTQ
friendly political environments globally will continue to contribute to the increase in the number of people that self-identify
as LGBTQ. This is evidenced by Frost & Sullivan’s estimate of the LGBTQ population’s percentage of the total
population, growing from 5.3% in 2016 to 6.9% in 2021 to an estimated 8.2% by 2026. Additionally, the study also notes
the LGBTQ population estimate may vary from country to country and in total, based on different cultural backgrounds,
the political system of the country, economic development, and other factors.

We believe our global addressable market encompasses the entire LGBTQ population and not just LGBTQ
singles, as we are a social network and our users frequently use our platform and services for more than just dating. For
example, many of our users are in relationships but continue to use our app for travel or to stay connected with their friends
or the broader LGBTQ community.
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According to the Frost & Sullivan Study commissioned by Grindr, the GBTQ population make up the largest
proportion of the overall LGBTQ population, comprising almost 81% of the total with 434.9 million people in 2021. The
Frost & Sullivan Study commissioned by Grindr estimates the GBTQ population will continue to grow as a percentage of
the overall LGBTQ population, with the percentage increasing to over 81% by 2026.
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The self-identified LGBTQ population skews towards younger generations. According to the Frost & Sullivan
Study commissioned by Grindr, self-identified LGBTQ 18-24 year olds are estimated at 10.3% of the total 18-24 year old
global population in 2021, 25-34 year olds are estimated at 8.9%, and 35-49 year olds are estimated at 6.3%, respectively.
These population percentages are expected to grow to 13.4% of the total 18-24 year old global population by 2026, 10.9%
for 25-34 year olds, and 7.3% for 35-49 year olds, respectively.

Social development and rapidly changing points of view brought on by the growth of the Internet has objectively
caused Gen Z, (18-24 year olds), to be exposed to more ideas, such as gender awareness and sexual orientation, earlier than
previous generations in the same period. Younger generations are more gender fluid, with the definition of gender identity
becoming more indistinct, blurring the boundary between the LGBTQ community and the heterosexual population. These
younger generations are more likely to explore their sexuality, given more social acceptability of alternative sexual
identities today and the ability to express different sexual identities.

Estimated Self-Identified LGBTQ Population Penetration Rate, Breakdown by Age Group (Medium Estimate)
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According to the Frost & Sullivan Study commissioned by Grindr, the total self-identified LGBTQ population and
self-identified LGBTQ population penetration rate in most regions is expected to continue to increase over time. The self-
identified LGBTQ population and penetration rate in North America will grow from 36.9 million and 9.9% in 2021 to
40.7 million and 10.7% in 2026, respectively. Europe will grow from 61.6 million and 8.2% in 2021 to 74.8 million and
10.0% in 2026, respectively. Asia will grow from 372.8 million and 8.0% in 2021 to 468.7 million and 9.6% in 2026,
respectively. Latin America will grow from 56.8 million and 8.6% in 2021 to 62.1 million and 9.0% in 2026, respectively.

Estimated Self-identified LGBTQ Population, Breakdown by Region
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Global LGBTQ Social Context

In recent decades, societies around the world have generally become more socially accepting of, and open to,
LGBTQ culture and people, which has led to greater rights for members of the LGBTQ community. For example, the
Netherlands was the first country to legalize same-sex marriage in 2000. According to various sources, as of April 2022,
over 75 countries and territories have legalized same-sex marriage, including jurisdictions in every inhabited continent
across the globe. Additionally, according to the ILGA World Report, same-sex sexual activities were legal in over 120
countries and territories worldwide, including all of the countries in North America and Europe and the majority of the
countries in Asia and Latin America.

LGBTQ Population’s Consumption

We believe our user base represents a highly coveted demographic. According to the Frost & Sullivan Study
commissioned by Grindr, data from the American Community Survey showed that same-sex couples have a higher median
household income than opposite-sex couples, with male same-sex couples having the highest income. Educational
attainment is an important social phenomenon, which is strongly linked to later success in terms of income, occupation,
wealth, health, and life satisfaction. In the United States, male same-sex households are more likely to have at least a
bachelor’s degree than opposite-sex households. In 2020, 57.5% of male same-sex households had at least a bachelor’s
degree compared to 42.4% of opposite-sex households. As individuals, 55.1% of the gay and bisexual men population have
at least a bachelor’s degree compared to 30.3% of the straight male population.

From a macro-level perspective, the more LGBTQ inclusion a country has, the more likely it is to be
economically developed. LGBTQ inclusion and economic development are mutually reinforcing, and LGBTQ legal rights
have a continued positive and statistically significant association with real GDP per capita after controlling for gender
equality. Also, from the perspective of society, employers who treat LGBTQ people equally in the workplace will generally
see positive business outcomes such as higher productivity of LGBTQ workers, notable improvements in health, lower
costs, and a lower likelihood of employee turnover.



Estimated LGBTQ Population GDP at Purchasing Power Parity (“PPP”)
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As the global pandemic caused by COVID-19 gradually improves, global GDP at purchasing power parity growth
resumed upward trends in 2021 and experienced an estimated increase of 6.5%, according to the Frost & Sullivan Study
commissioned by Grindr. Correspondingly, the estimated LGBTQ population GDP at PPP has also seen an increase,
reaching $10.9 billion by the end of 2021. GDP at PPP is the calculation of GDP taking relative costs and inflation into
account.

Given this high purchasing power and economic potential, the LGBTQ community is an increasingly attractive
demographic for marketers and advertisers. The scale of purchasing power associated with the LGBTQ demographic,
coupled with a general interest to appeal to a younger demographic, have caused marketers to increase their focus on
reaching this community. Some of the world’s largest corporations and brands have launched LGBTQ-themed or focused
advertising campaigns, including Apple, Johnson & Johnson, GM, Coca-Cola, Campbell’s, American Express, Unilever,
Marriott, Anheuser-Busch, and Hilton, just to name a few.

Our Products and Services

Our flagship product “Grindr,” or the Grindr App, is a mobile application with location-based connectivity
features designed to help our users find one another and have meaningful interactions right here and now, or anywhere
globally. The app is free to use, with premium subscription offerings for greater access to other users and control over the
experience.

Key features of our Grindr App include:

Identity expression: users can create, manage, and
control their identity, profile, and presence on the app.

Connection: users can find and be found by those they
are interested in; those nearby right now, or anywhere
globally.

Interaction: users can chat and interact with any profile
instantly, in an open, fun, and engaging way.

Trust and Safety: users receive guidance and tools to
be safe across their experience.

Premium: users can pay for greater access to more
users and for more control over how they find one
another and interact.

We launched the Grindr App in 2009 to create a new way for gay men to find each other and form connections.
Our initial differentiator was a cascade engine to help find other users nearby in an exciting and highly responsive app
experience leading to high engagement and rapid organic growth. Our initial active user segment of gay men, our real-time
and hyper-local use case of casual dating, and our industry-defining cascade user interface and open messaging connection
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model, combine to create a fun and highly engaging experience on the app. This engagement engine has fueled our rapid
organic growth over time leading to more users, segments, geographies, and use cases.

Over time, we evolved into the world’s largest LGBTQ social network and we enable our users to engage on our
platform in a variety of ways. We believe we have played an integral role in both establishing, defining, and developing the
location-based dating industry and developing wider mainstream acceptance of LGBTQ individuals on a global basis.

2009 Today

Casual dating for gay men LGBTQ+ casual, dating, social, community

User and Product Journey

Identity expression: Getting started on Grindr is easy. Users create an account and profile that represents
themselves and their identity on the platform. They create an account and verify important information to help maintain a
trustworthy and safe environment on the app. Then they are able to create a rich, visual, personalized profile with a wide
range of data and information about themselves, their interests, and motivations. This helps them express who they are,
what they seek, and makes it easy for all to meet one another and form meaningful connections.

2. Age verification:
Users verify their age
to confirm they are
not a minor, and that
they are eligible to use
the Grindr service.

1. Sign up: New users
create an account with
their email, or through
social media account
authentication (e.g.,
Facebook, Google,

Apple).

Your Birthday

& fpple

(> Goagle
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3. Human
Verification: Users
complete a human
verification step to
reduce the spam and
bot activity on the
app, and sign our
Terms and Conditions
of Service, as well as
our Privacy and
Cookie Policy.

5. About Me: Users

Verify Account

Enter your phone number and we'll send
you a verification code. This will help
protect your account and prevent spam

US +1

Contact Customer Service

4. Profile Photos:
Users create a rich
profile expressing
their identity, by first
adding a visual
representation of
themselves through
photos and media.

6. Stats: Users can

Edit Photos

personalize their optionally share key
profile by adding a data such as age, Show Age
display name and height, tribe, body

custom “about me”
narrative, enlivening
their profile and
helping them form
more meaningful
connections with
others.

7. Tags: Users express
their interests,
identity, and
community affiliation
by adding tags to their
profile.

Hey there 26

type, gender identity,
ethnicity, relationship
status, and self-
reported sexual health
information, to help
them connect with
others in the queer
community.

8. Complete Profile:
Users’ completed
profile is their chosen
representation of
themselves and their
identity on the
platform, and enables
them to find and be
found by those they
are interested in.

Age

Height

Weight

Body Type

Paosition

Ethnicity
Relationship Status

My Tribes

Hey there 26

o 786 feet away

A

0

Connecting: Grindr helps users find meaningful connections easily and enjoyably. Grindr is unique in its “many-
to-many” connection model: on “the cascade” (a grid of profiles nearby) users can actively browse many profiles at once,
and be found by multiple others searching for them. They can browse, search, and filter profiles nearby or anywhere across
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the globe, based on identity, key characteristics, and interests. They are notified when others have viewed or expressed an
interest in them (“taps”). These connectivity features create multiple avenues to meaningful interactions quickly, easily,

and in a fun and engaging way.

2. Filters: Users can
personalize their
cascade by filtering for
key characteristics they © Online Now
are interested in.

1. The Cascade: Users
are instantly immersed
in the community
when they arrive on
The Cascade: Grindr’s
industry-defining user
interface — a grid of
profiles with location
information, creating
many connections
quickly and easily.

4. Tags: Users can find
community by
browsing custom
cascades composed of

3. Search: Users can
find others with
specific interests and
community affiliations

by searching for others adventuraus profiles sharing the
with specific tags on - same tags.
their profile.

art

bi

brunch

6. Viewed Me: Users
can see those who may
be interested in them,
having recently viewed e Vit
their profile.

5. Explore: Users can
also explore cascades
of other users in
locations across the
globe, forming
meaningful
connections anywhere.

Visitin

mizway @ 53
1§
e b 1 - -
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8. Favorites: Users
can maintain Favorites
meaningful
connections by
favoriting profiles,
and seeing a custom
cascade of all their
favorites anytime.

7. Taps: Users can
express their interest
in others by “tapping”
the profile of someone
they have viewed.

Interacting: Once users find one another, Grindr helps them form meaningful connections with a fun and
engaging messaging experience. Grindr is unique in its open messaging model: users can initiate a message with any
profile, regardless of whether interest has been expressed beforehand, a key aspect of our engagement engine. Within the
messaging feature, users can form meaningful connections and deepen them over time by sharing rich media and with a

variety of messaging formats.

2. Inbox: Users
manage the many
messages they can send
through our unique and receive through the
open messaging inbox, with a special
platform. They can “taps” section for those =Y,
initiate one or multiple who’ve expressed an ﬁ ¥ Hey how are you?
messages from profiles interest in them. i
on their cascades, or
respond to messages
sent to them.

1. Open Messaging:
users can interact with
anyone of interest

Q

X G VB i M
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3. Share Photos: Users
can have rich and
meaningful
interactions by sharing
additional photos with
one another through
the messaging feature.

5. Share video and
audio: Users can also
deepen connections by
sharing video or audio
with one another
through the messaging
feature.

7. Group messaging:
Multiple users can
interact and meet one
another through the
group messaging
feature.

Safety and support. Creating a trustworthy and safe environment is central to the health of our platform and for
our community. Grindr provides users with a variety of tools, features, proactive assistance, help and guidance across their

4. Albums: Users can
further meaningful
interactions by
creating private
albums, which they
can share with select
individuals with
whom they have a
special connection.

6. Live Video Calls:
Users can also interact
with live video calls to
further get to know
one another, or
confirm their mutual
interests.

Y
8"

Time remaining 3:21

8. Location sharing:
When users have built
up a trusting
connection, they can
choose to share their
location and make
plans to meet in real LUCE O
life.

O

Send Location

be unsen!

aMaps

experience to maintain the highest standards of trust and safety.
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1. Sexual health +
testing information:
Users can express their
sexual health and testing
information on their
profile, and view the
same information from
users who have chosen
to share it. They can
also choose to receive
testing reminders to help
maintain their health.

3. Reporting and
proactive monitoring:
Users may report
behavior that may
violate the terms of the
platform. Grindr
provides reactive and
proactive moderation
services to support the
user and platform safety.

It's About That Time

According to your profil
were last tested 3 montt

Why are you reporting this user?

Illegal Activity

Spam

Harassment or Bullying
Hate Speech/Discrimination

Nudity or Pornography

Underage

2. Blocking: Users may
block other profiles if
they are not having a
positive or meaningful
interaction.

4. Help Center: Users
are provided with easy
access to helpful safety
information at any time
in the app and at various
points throughout the
service.

Block

Are you sure you want to block
this user?

» Community Resources

Community Resources
Sexual health

HIV testing
Consent
Sex and COVID

Sexually-transmitted infections [STis or
STDs)

Premium Services: The free version of our service provides many of the features above on a limited basis for a
valuable initial experience. Users can pay a subscription for premium features and services, giving them greater access to
more profiles, and additional control over the experience of finding others and forming meaningful connections.

The Grindr free ad-supported service provides:

*  Access to view 100 profiles on the Nearby Cascade

e Use of some basic filters to find others

»  Use of all tags to search for users with similar interest

»  Tapping others to express interest

*  Viewing user profiles in the explore tab

*  Messaging openly with anyone from the Nearby Cascade

»  Sharing photos and location information through messages to facilitate meaningful connections

Grindr XTRA provides an initial set of premium features for a subscription fee:

» 600 profiles: access to 5x more (up to 600) profiles on our Nearby Cascade than our free version of the app
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No ads: removal of banner and interstitial ads, providing XTRA users with an ad-free experience

Advanced filters: e.g. height, weight, body type, relationship status, online status, photos, and prior chat history
XTRA Explore: increased utility of Explore mode, including the ability to chat with, tap, and favorite users
Premium messaging features: e.g. frequently used phrases and message read receipts

Grindr Unlimited provides unlimited access, control and customization for a premium price. Grindr Unlimited

includes all of the features of XTRA plus:

XTRA
1. 600 Profiles

3. Advanced Filters

Unlimited profiles: allowing users to view unlimited profiles on the Nearby, Explore, and Tag cascades
Viewed Me: allowing users to see who is looking at their profile

Incognito: allowing users to browse without being seen

Unsend: allows users to undo sent messages and photos

Typing status: allowing users to know when someone is in the process of messaging them

Translate: allowing users to translate messages in different languages

2. No Ads

Out of sight Back in town

m‘ ¥ A =

4. Saved phrases and
read receipts

9 Online Now

Saved Phrases

Add New
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Unlimited (all XTRA features plus):

1. Unlimited profiles

UNLIMITED

3. Incognito

Edit Profile

Commu

2. Viewed Me

4.Typing status +
unsend

18
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Grindr is a Lifestyle

Users derive significant value from Grindr today across many areas of
their life, providing many avenues for future growth and expansion

CASUAL DATING: HERE AND NOW

| met up with someone last night and it
was so easy and efficient. The attraction
was there and he was clear about what
he was looking for.

94

ROMANCE AND LOVE

5 years ago | sent him ‘hey’ on Grindr. It
was almost midnight and | wasn’t

looking for anything serious. We talked
all night, the next day we met, and we've
been together ever since.”
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FRIENDS

I've actually met some of my best
friends on Grindr. We even have a
Dungeons and Dragons group chat
thread on Grindr that we use to arrange
meetups.

COMMUNITY

Grindr doesn’t just help you find people.
The grid shows you the community of
the place you are in. You're never alone
when you have Grindr.

Hey there 26

¥ 786 feet away

COMING OUT

When | started using Grindr, | was at the
point where | was not out and | was
using it to meet other people. Grindr
was a place to explore my interests and
my identity.
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TRAVEL, NIGHTLIFE AND EVENTS

1 used Grindr when visiting Paris recently
and | met someone who told me where all
the fun gay parties and clubs were. If you
don’t use Grindr while traveling, it's like
having a TV without cable.

COUPLES

Just because we’re married doesn’t
mean that we don’t want to meet new
people. Grindr connects us to the queer
world around us.
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GRINDR 4 EQUALITY

| appreciate when | see Grindr for
Equality safety warnings for my area.
It's important information that |
wouldn’t have gotten elsewhere.

LOCAL BUSINESSES

NETWORKING

| have that I'm a barber on my Grindr
profile. It's helped me find new clients.
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Social Responsibility—Grindr for Equality

We launched G4E in 2012, with a mission to promote safety, health, and human rights for LGBTQ people around
the world through collaborations with advocacy groups in various countries. G4E leverages the Grindr App’s global reach
and leadership to conduct research, spread information, and empower our users in the fight for LGBTQ rights. We also
fund innovative projects through G4E aimed at improving the welfare of the LGBTQ community, particularly in regions
where protections are either lacking or nonexistent, such as Russia, Egypt, and India. For example, in India, we worked
with the Indian gender and sexuality organization, Varta Trust, and Chennai-based not-for-profit Solidarity and Action
Against the HIV Infection in India (SAATHII), to develop an innovative and one-of-a-kind LGBTQ resource database and
online HIV test center location guide for the country. Through G4E, we work with various groups worldwide to make HIV
testing more accessible, encourage voting, and fight homophobia, biphobia, and transphobia.

GA4E is a key way for us to connect with and serve the LGBTQ community and to strengthen our brand affinity
within this community, especially in parts of the world where LGBTQ people are still highly marginalized. For advocacy
groups with limited budgets, our platform is a helpful tool for them to reach a wider audience and promote their services
and resources. We hope to continue to increase our financial commitment to G4E, thereby furthering our continued and
active advocacy for, and defense and support of, the LGBTQ community worldwide.

We encourage members of the LGBTQ community to have a voice, express their opinions and help fight against
oppression. Our geolocation technology enables us to send messages targeted towards specific areas and groups of users to
keep them updated on the issues most relevant to them.

Our Competitive Advantages

While the broader global landscape of mobile-based social platforms is highly competitive with many different
players, the number of players that are specifically addressing the unique needs of the global LGBTQ community is
limited. There are a number of key factors that drive demand for certain platforms specifically dedicated to the LGBTQ
community versus those that target the general population. For instance, LGBTQ users have heightened and special
concerns relating to privacy, particularly with respect to identity protection, making it important that independent online
platforms dedicated to serving LGBTQ users provide a safe and secure place for users to express themselves. Additionally,
general social platforms are less likely to offer LGBTQ-specific community opportunities to meet other LGBTQ users,
whereas LGBTQ dedicated social networking platforms substantially improve the ability of LGBTQ users to find and join
LGBTQ centric social activities. As a result, LGBTQ social networking users tend to show higher engagement and
retention on LGBTQ dedicated platforms.

We believe certain advantages will continue to provide us with sustainable differentiation and success relative to
our competitors:

»  The Largest Global LGBTQ Focused Mobile Social Platform. We were established in 2009 as one of the first
global social platforms exclusively addressing the needs of the LGBTQ community. We built our mobile social
platform to address the broadly underserved LGBTQ community’s need for a comprehensive digital platform to
connect, share, and consume content. Driven by our first-mover advantage, we have rapidly built the world’s
largest LGBTQ social platform in terms of users in 2021, according to the Frost & Sullivan Study commissioned
by Grindr. In 2022, we had approximately 12.2 million MAUs and users in over 190 countries and territories, with
our Grindr App available in over 21 language versions. We have users in several markets as of December 31,
2022, including developed markets such as the United States, the U.K., France, Spain, and Canada, and emerging
markets such as Brazil, Mexico, India, Chile, and the Philippines.

*  Large, Highly Engaged, and Growing User Base. Our large and highly engaged global user base drives the
continuous growth of our daily operations. The Grindr App had approximately 12.2 million MAUs in 2022.
During the same period, our users on average sent over 260 million chats and each individual user spent an
average of 58 minutes per day on our Grindr app.

*  Preeminent Brand within the LGBTQ Community. Our brand is one of the most well-known in the LGBTQ
community and has become broadly associated with LGBTQ culture. According to the Morning Consult Survey,
Grindr is the best-known gay dating app among Gay, Bisexual, Transgender and Queer people, with 85% brand
awareness, and is also the best-known gay dating app among the general population. We are frequently mentioned
by world-class media, including the BBC, CNN, and other influential media platforms, and we have more social
media followers than most of our competitors on nearly every platform, which helps to constantly reinforce the
social exposure of our brand. Additionally, our G4E campaigns have further strengthened our brand awareness and
our position as a leader within the LGBTQ community. Our G4E campaigns proactively promote justice, health,
safety, and other LGBTQ rights. The various elements of our growing platform combine online and offline aspects
of our users’ social presence to engage our users in novel and meaningful ways, helping to embed us as a core part
of the LGBTQ culture.

*  Organic and Viral Growth Driven by Network Effects. As a pioneer in the LGBTQ social networking space, we
have benefited from a substantial first mover advantage and reached a scale that continues to propel the viral

23



growth of our business, brand awareness, and user acquisition. Leveraging this strong brand awareness and
significant user network, our historical growth has been driven primarily by network effects, including strong
word of mouth referrals and other organic means. The large scale of our user base offers ample opportunities for
potential connections and leads to a better experience for our users. The superior user experience of our products
and services attracts more users to our platform and increases our rankings in search engines and app stores. As a
result, we believe we achieve a higher frequency of word-of-mouth referrals from satisfied users, which further
drives our scale while maintaining low user acquisition costs. In the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021,
sales and marketing, excluding personnel-related expenses, comprised 1.5% and 0.9%, respectively, of our
revenue over the same time period.

*  Superior User Experience. We believe the superior user experience we offer distinguishes us from our
competitors. We have devoted substantial resources to continuously improving our products and services and
enhancing the user experience. We emphasize technology and product innovations based on robust data compiled
from product usage, competitive studies, customer feedback, and our industry experience. Our geolocation
technology, grid display interface, complex filter functions, and other innovative features and functionalities
enable users to discover and connect to each other effortlessly and seamlessly. Our profiles spent an average of 58
minutes per day each on the Grindr App in December 2022, which ranks us number one among apps targeting the
LGBTQ community, according to the Frost & Sullivan Study commissioned by Grindr.

*  Strong Margins and Profitable Business Model. Our business model generates strong margins and high cash
flow given our revenue model and low paid user acquisition spend. Our margins have increased over time as a
result of scaling revenue and achievement of cost efficiencies, despite continual investment in our brand, product,
technology, and anti-abuse platform. In the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, our net margin was 0.4%
and 3.5% respectively, and our Adjusted EBITDA Margin was 43.5% and 52.8%, respectively.

Our Growth Strategies

We believe there is significant opportunity in our core product driven by the rising growth of the global LGBTQ
population, especially younger users that are more technology savvy. We believe we are still in the early stages of our user
growth and user monetization journeys and believe that our brand and global reach uniquely position us to take advantage
of the broader market growth trends.

Key elements of our growth strategy include:

»  Expand Monetization Capabilities. We believe we can improve our monetization capabilities by continuing to
optimize and develop our subscription offerings, introducing more stand-alone premium functions, and further
optimizing our indirect revenue offerings, as described in more detail below:

»  Continue to optimize and develop our subscription offerings. We plan to continue to optimize our subscription
conversion through features like introductory offers, discounted trials, and win-back offers. We plan to
continue to develop our subscription offerings by adding more premium features to our XTRA and Unlimited
products and services, such as more advanced filters and Cascade navigation, improvements to Viewed Me,
and more premium messaging features. We also expect to continue to optimize subscription pricing globally.

* Introduce more stand-alone paid features. We intend to introduce more stand-alone paid features in addition
to existing subscription services. For example, we plan to allow some premium features to be purchased on a
stand-alone basis, including better profile positions, appearance management, and other functions.

*  Further optimize our indirect business. We intend to further optimize our indirect business by leveraging our
advertising partnerships, brand sales team, and self-serve advertising system. We will continue to experiment
and evaluate opportunities to increase indirect revenue through brand partnerships, unique advertising units,
and merchandise.

e Grow Our User Base. We plan to deepen our penetration in our current markets, including in our key established
markets such as the United States and Europe. We will continue to introduce additional features that boost user
engagement, increase retention, and stimulate existing users to make word-of-mouth referrals. We also plan to
enhance our marketing initiatives in these core regions. We also plan to grow our user base by targeting
geographic regions outside of our current core markets that have a large number of untapped potential users and
fast-growing economies. In order to attract users in these new markets, we may offer innovative and customized
products and services and features adapted to specific market conditions and demands. To supplement our organic
user growth, we plan to selectively invest in paid online channels, digital video channels and, where appropriate,
offline channels, to further improve our penetration and market share in certain markets.

e Continue to Innovate and Develop New Features. We plan to continue to improve our products and services and
introduce new features and functions for better user experiences and higher user engagement. These features and
functions may be broadly implemented or strategically targeted at select regions. For example, we released tags
globally in the first quarter of 2022, a feature designed to allow our users to filter and find people with specific
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interests highlighted on user profiles. We evaluate new functions and features in small target audiences and then
roll out features with high test ratings to the larger global user base. For example, we recently released private
albums first in Australia and New Zealand. After collecting initial feedback and improving the product, we
released it globally in 2022. We will also continue to enhance user experiences and engagement by continuously
improving our existing features and functions, including through optimization of stability, loading speed, and user
interface design.

»  Diversify Our Products and Services and Platform. We will continue to diversify our offerings both vertically
and horizontally. Our global reach and scale have given us insights into the unique challenges our user base
experiences. We believe these insights will enable us to diversify our product into other areas that touch or
concern our users. We are in the early stages of building a web-based product that will allow our privacy-focused
users a way to use our product without downloading an app through an app ecosystem. Additionally, we are
collaborating with several partners in related industries to explore complementary functions and products and
services to serve the core social interaction needs of our users.

»  Invest in Machine Learning and Data Science. We will continue to invest in data to improve our product, protect
our users, fight abuse and spam on our platform, and attract new users. We believe our efforts in machine learning
and data science will help our users have more successful connections and improve the overall experience on our
platform.

*  Pursue Strategic Investments and Acquisitions. In addition to organic growth, we also plan to make strategic
investments and acquisitions in targeted markets. We are continually seeking opportunities for potential strategic
investments in, or acquisitions of, related or complementary businesses to help build a stronger social ecosystem
for the LGBTQ community.

Technology

Our technology and product development process, designed for the unique needs of our user base, is what
differentiates our platform from other social networks. Our platform development principle is “user privacy and protection
first” and all technology and product decisions stem from this key tenet. We have a global team of engineers, data
scientists, and product managers who work closely with our data privacy team to drive the development of our product and
platform. We aim to build technology that protects our users and enables them to make connections safely.

Key components of our technology platform include:

*  Location-based Technologies. We have built a large-scale location search system to connect our online users’
locations in real-time so they can seamlessly engage with their hyper-local community. This scale and accuracy of
our system differentiates us from competitors. Our technology manages millions of users’ real-time locations
every second of every day. We have developed a carefully optimized system capable of handling thousands of
location update requests as well as thousands of location search requests per second at the same time. The system
powers the main cascade user interface in our Grindr App where a user sees others who are also using the Grindr
App at that moment based on distance and filter criteria.

*  Data Management, Protection, and Privacy. We process over ten terabytes of user data generated on our platform
on a daily basis; from that we persist over seven terabytes of data per day. In order to do this, we have built our
own data warehouse infrastructure on top of world class third-party platforms. We have also built and deployed
tools that allow for easy data summarization, ad hoc querying, and analysis of large datasets. These technologies
help us provide each user with a personalized experience.

e Our Information Security and Data Protection Program closely aligns with the National Institute of Standards
and Technologies’ (“NIST”) Cybersecurity Framework. In order to protect our data estate we have devised
many procedures and controls to ensure our data is confidential, available, and maintains integrity. The level
of controls utilized to maintain confidentiality, availability, and integrity of our data is based upon a data
matrix that takes into account the sensitivity and criticality of the data. Our controls implore the usage of
industry standard one-way hashing, and both symmetric and asymmetric encryption for data at rest and in
transit.

* Access to data stores is made available by the usage of a virtual private network (“VPN”) device and is
further gated by role-based access controls of privileged accounts. If data access is required for business
reasons, it is granted to a specific individual for a specific data asset. All permission requests are approved by
a data custodian and all access is monitored and reviewed on a regular basis.

*  Large-scale Infrastructure. We have invested considerable resources and investments on our underlying
architecture to serve more than a billion daily application programmable interface (“API”) requests. We have also
invested resources in adopting container technologies, which allow us to scale our backend systems more easily.
We run services in multiple availability zones (data centers) for redundancy. As a cloud-first company, everything
we build is designed to scale and run in a stateless environment. Externally, we process over four billion API
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requests per day. During January 2023, we processed over 10.3 billion messages. We believe these systems will
easily continue to scale as we grow.

*  Client first technologies. Our APIs are designed to support real-time product features agnostic of the clients
(mobile or web). We believe in the approach of build once and leverage across several clients to deliver superior
uniform user experience. It’s common for users to switch between devices and other mediums and this system
ensures our users can pick up where they left off.

Commitment to our Community

Our diverse, global community is at the heart of everything we do at Grindr. While we support free speech and
expression, it cannot be at the expense of our community’s health or well-being. We balance the right to self-expression
with promoting a safe and inclusive environment. We take proactive measures to help protect our community and promote
safety throughout our users’ journey with us.

Our app has a suite of safety features, including safety notifications and messages (translated and customized to
the user’s region), a PIN to help keep our users’ accounts secure, discreet app icons which allow users to disguise Grindr’s
App, a range of features giving control over the sharing of images or messages and redacting them, and the ability to mute,
block, and report other users. We also provide video and audio chat so users can become comfortable with each other
before meeting. We also publish a holistic security guide and safety tips as guidance.

We believe education promotes healthy behavior, so we provide an extensive help center with resources and FAQ
on health, wellness, community, identity, and safety. We are focused on creating inclusive and forward-thinking moderation
policies and frameworks that honor the full expression of our users’ gender identity and support a positive, safe experience
for our whole global community. Our suite of tools and technology utilize a three-pillar approach to content moderation:

*  Automated Review. We implement preventative technologies to help mitigate risks of user misbehavior. We
automatically scan profiles upon creation and conduct ongoing scans for fraudulent behavior or violations of our
Community Guidelines. Our algorithms and automations remove many malicious profiles before they can interact
with our community. We utilize third party tooling to enhance our automated review capabilities. In addition, we
provide users with a robust appeals system which allows our users to have a manual human review of any
automated decision.

*  Manual Review. Our experienced human reviewers play an integral role in our moderation process. As of
December 31, 2022, we utilized a team of content review personnel dedicated to moderating content on the Grindr
App. We believe empathy with and understanding of our community is key to making good moderation decisions.
In addition to general moderation training, our moderators regularly receive specific training on bias, gender,
microaggressions, and discrimination, to help them make as fair and equitable decisions as possible. In addition to
removing and blocking profiles and illicit content, our moderators reinforce our Community Guidelines to our
users through our in-app warning system, which reminds our users of our expectations before their behavior
escalates.

*  Community Feedback. Our engaged user base also helps us maintain a safe, positive, and inclusive community.
Through in-app tools, we encourage users to report inappropriate content and misbehavior.

Branding and Marketing

We have grown primarily through user-driven organic means given the strength of our brand awareness and our
extensive user base. We benefit from the network effects and broad global brand awareness that resulted from first-mover
advantage and compound to create a positive cycle of user-generated, organic growth. Our valuable brand name and word-
of-mouth referrals means we’ve been able to keep user acquisition costs low, which has allowed us to focus our marketing
efforts to date largely on community centered campaigns that further our brand reputation while providing opportunities for
monetization through brand partnerships. We regularly evaluate opportunities across channels and geographies in which we
can invest further to strategically accelerate user and revenue growth. The combination of our strong brand and extensive
and global user base has been our most effective marketing tool to date and has enabled us to grow our users.

We also employ paid online and offline marketing initiatives to enhance our category leading brand reputation
within the LGBTQ community and to accelerate our growth. Key elements of our branding and marketing strategy include:

*  Online Initiatives. We attract new users and generate brand awareness through data and insight-driven content
marketing and social media initiatives, influencer marketing campaigns, and video and brand partnerships. In
addition, we leverage the Grindr App’s internal marketing tools and capabilities to connect external brands with
our user base, and to drive awareness for our own new features and initiatives. We also partner with G4E to
provide in-kind donations of digital marketing inventory to LGBTQ community groups around the world. We
regularly reassess growth opportunities across all of our organic, owned and operated, and paid channels. To date,
relatively little paid online user acquisition has been required for us to grow, given our brand awareness and word-
of-mouth referrals.
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*  Offline Initiatives. We organize and participate in a variety of offline events to increase brand awareness and
underscore commitment to the LGBTQ community. These events can also provide opportunities for monetization
through sponsorships. Examples include WorldPride sponsorships in New York and Copenhagen, the Outfest
premier of our first original scripted web series Bridesman, annual activations at San Francisco’s Folsom Street
Fair, and a partnership with GoFundMe for the Save Our Spaces campaign that supported historic LGBTQ social
venues affected by the pandemic and included hosting more than 30 Grindr-branded parties at local queer bars
across the U.S. We intend to continue to explore additional offline marketing opportunities.

Competition

The global LGBTQ social networking market is fast growing and far from being fully addressed. It is also highly
fragmented and competitive. We compete primarily with other global companies that provide dating and networking
products and services that have LGBTQ users, such as Tinder and OKCupid, and regional companies that provide dating
and networking products and services for LGBTQ users, such as Scruff and PlanetRomeo. We also compete with other
companies that provide similar social media platforms offering connection, sharing, discovery, and communication
products and services to users online, such as Instagram. In addition, while we compete with other social media platforms,
we also face competition from other traditional means of meeting people, such as in-person matchmakers, as well as other
forms of dating and networking that involve people meeting offline without the use of dating or networking products or
services altogether. We may also develop and introduce new products and services which could subject us to additional
competition.

Despite its competitive nature, the social networking industry is not a winner-take-all market, with users typically
using several different platforms at the same time. We believe very few of our competitors operate at our scale or level of
brand awareness. We believe our ability to compete successfully depends on various factors, including, but not limited to:

*  our ability to maintain and further develop our well-established brand;

*  our ability to continue to engage and grow our user base through technological innovation and introduction of new
products and services that meet user requirements;

*  our ability to efficiently distribute our products and services to new and existing users;

*  our ability to improve and maintain superior user experience of our platform, supported by well-designed products
and services and functions;

»  our ability to monetize our products and services;
»  our safety and security efforts and our ability to protect user data and to provide users with control over their data;
*  our ability to expand and maintain our global footprint;

* our ability to navigate the changing regulatory landscape, particularly the changes in regulations relating to
consumer digital media platforms, privacy and data protection;

e our ability to attract, retain and motivate talented employees, particularly software engineers, designers and
product managers; and

*  our ability to cost-effectively manage and grow our operations.
Employees

We believe our unique culture is one of the keys to our success. We are especially proud of how inclusive our
company culture is, particularly for members of the LGBTQ community. Our company culture emphasizes transparency,
collaboration, experimentation, a bias for action, and creating an environment in which everyone can bring their full and
best selves to work. More than half of our current employees identify as members of the LGBTQ community, which
contributes to our deep understanding of our users and our user-first mindset and approach.

We demonstrate our commitment to this community by aiming to align our employee benefits and support to meet
the unique needs of our LGBTQ employees and their dependents. For example, we recently announced a gender-
affirmation offering. This standard-setting offering provides low-friction assistance to employees who are transgender, non-
binary, or gender non-conforming through social affirmation, legal affirmation, and surgical affirmation assistance.
Additionally, we have partnered with providers to help our LGBTQ employees and their dependents find caregivers who
they believe are competent in and compassionate towards the unique health needs of members of the LGBTQ community.
By creating offerings that address the unique needs of all of our employees, we are demonstrating our commitment to not
just our employees but to the LGBTQ community in general. We believe we are setting a new expectation for what are
considered fair and equitable benefits, and we are quickly becoming regarded as best-in-class in this area.
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As of December 31, 2022, we had over 202 full-time employees globally, of which approximately 60% of
employees work in engineering and product development. While our headquarters is in West Hollywood, California, our
workforce is currently remote-first. This allows us to find the right talent to serve our users, regardless of location. We have
concentrations of employees in Los Angeles, the San Francisco Bay Area, Chicago, and New York City, which allows our
employees a mix of in-person and remote work. This approach continues to be an asset in our recruiting efforts, especially
as other tech companies begin to require employees to return to the office or take reductions in pay. Our non-US based
employees are located in Taiwan and Canada.

We will continue to strike a balance between being remote-first while facilitating in-person meetings to encourage
collaboration, and we will continue to evaluate our location strategy post-pandemic. We believe that people want to work at
a company that has purpose and aligns with their personal values, and therefore our ability to recruit talent is aided by our
mission and brand reputation. We compete for talent within the technology industry.

Intellectual Property

We have developed our proprietary intellectual property over the past thirteen years. Our patents, trademarks,
copyrights, domain names, trade secrets, and other intellectual property rights distinguish our products and services from
those of our competitors and contribute to our competitive advantage in the markets in which we operate. To protect our
intellectual property, we rely on a combination of patent, trademark, copyright and trade secret laws, confidentiality
agreements, non-compete agreements, and assignment-for-inventions agreements with our employees, contractors and
others and contracts with third parties. We also regularly monitor any infringement or misappropriation of our intellectual
property rights.

As of December 31, 2022, our intellectual property rights include the following:

(1) registration of over 80 domain names;

) over 50 trademarks and 4 trademark applications;

3) 12 copyright registrations; and

“4) 6 patents and 1 patent application.

As of December 31, 2022, we have secured six patents in the United States, each of which is set to expire in 2031.

We license technology and other intellectual property from our partners and rely on our license agreements with
those partners to use the intellectual property. Third parties may assert claims related to intellectual property rights against
our partners and us.

Government Regulation

We are subject to a number of U.S. federal and state laws and regulations, as well as foreign ones that involve
matters that are important to, or may otherwise impact, our business and that may affect companies conducting business on
the internet, including, but not limited to, Internet and eCommerce, labor and employment, anti-discrimination, payments,
whistleblowing and worker confidentiality obligations, product liability, intellectual property, consumer protection and
warnings, marketing, taxation, privacy, data security, competition, arbitration agreements and class action waiver
provisions, terms of service, and mobile application and website accessibility. These regulations are often complex and
subject to varying interpretations, in many cases due to their lack of specificity, and as a result, their application in practice
may change or develop over time through judicial decisions or as new guidance or interpretations are provided by
regulatory and governing bodies in the United States and abroad, such as federal, state, and local administrative agencies.
Many of these laws and regulations are subject to change or uncertain interpretation, and could result in claims, changes to
our business practices, monetary penalties, increased cost of operations, declines in user growth or engagement, negative
publicity, or other harm to our business. See the section titled “Risk Factors—Risks Related to Regulation and Litigation—
Our business is subject to complex and evolving U.S. and international laws and regulations. Many of these laws and
regulations are subject to change or uncertain interpretation, and could result in claims, changes to our business practices,
monetary penalties, increased cost of operations, declines in user growth or engagement, negatively publicity, or other
harm to our business.” As a result, we could be subject to actions based on negligence, various torts and trademark and
copyright infringement, among other actions. See the sections titled “Risk Factors—Risks Related to Regulation and
Litigation—We are subject to litigation, regulatory and other government investigations, enforcement actions, and
settlements, and adverse outcomes in such proceedings could have a materially adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, and results of operation,” “Risk Factors—Risks Related to Regulation and Litigation —The varying and rapidly
evolving regulatory framework on privacy and data protection across jurisdictions could result in claims, changes to our
business practices, monetary penalties, increased cost of operations, or declines in user growth or engagement, or
otherwise harm our business,” “Risk Factors—Risks Related to Regulation and Litigation —Activities of our users or
content made available by such users could subject us to liability,” “Risk Factors—Risks Related to Regulation and
Litigation —Online applications are subject to various laws and regulations relating to children’s privacy and protection,
which if violated, could subject us to an increased risk of litigation and regulatory actions,” and “Risk Factors—Risks
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Related to Information Technology Systems and Intellectual Property—From time to time, we are party to intellectual
property-related litigations and proceedings that are expensive and time consuming to defend, and, if resolved adversely,
could materially adversely impact our business, financial condition, and results of operations.”

In the ordinary course of our business, we may process a significant volume of personal information and other
regulated information from our users, employees and other third parties. Accordingly, we are, or may become, subject to
numerous privacy and data protection obligations, including federal, state, local, and foreign laws, regulations, guidance,
and industry standards related to privacy and data protection. Such obligations may include, without limitation, the Federal
Trade Commission Act, the Children’s Online Privacy Protection Act of 1998, the California Consumer Privacy Act of
2018 (“CCPA”), the California Privacy Rights Act (“CPRA”) (starting in 2023), the European Union’s General Data
Protection Regulation 2016/679 (“EU GDPR”), the EU GDPR as it forms part of United Kingdom (“UK”) law by virtue of
section 3 of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 (“UK GDPR”), and the ePrivacy Directive. In addition, several
states within the United States have enacted or proposed data privacy laws. For example, Virginia passed the Consumer
Data Protection Act, Colorado passed the Colorado Privacy Act, and Utah passed the Utah Consumer Privacy Act, all of
which become effective in 2023.

The CCPA, CPRA, EU GDPR and UK GDPR are examples of the increasingly stringent and evolving regulatory
frameworks related to personal data processing that may increase our compliance obligations and exposure for any
noncompliance. For example, the CCPA imposes obligations on covered businesses to provide specific disclosures related
to a business’s collection, use, and disclosure of personal data and to respond to certain requests from California residents
related to their personal data (for example, requests to know of the business’s personal data processing activities, to delete
the individual’s personal data, and to opt out of certain personal data disclosures). Also, the CCPA provides for civil
penalties and a private right of action for certain data breaches. In addition, the CPRA was expanded on January 1, 2023.
The CPRA, among other things, gave California residents the ability to limit use of certain sensitive personal data,
establish restrictions on personal data retention, expand the types of data breaches that are subject to the CCPA’s private
right of action, and establish a new California Privacy Protection Agency to implement and enforce the new law. U.S.
federal and state consumer protection laws also require us to publish statements that accurately and fairly describe how we
handle personal data and choices individuals may have about the way we handle their personal data.

Foreign data privacy and security laws (including the GDPR and UK GDPR) impose significant and complex
compliance obligations on entities that are subject to those laws. As one example, the GDPR applies to any company
established in the EEA and to companies established outside the EEA that process personal data in connection with the
offering of goods or services to data subjects in the EEA or the monitoring of the behavior of data subjects in the EEA—the
latter of which implicates us as we have no EEA/UK operations. These obligations may include limiting personal data
processing to only what is necessary for specified, explicit, and legitimate purposes; increasing transparency obligations to
data subjects; limiting the collection and retention of personal data; increasing rights for data subjects; requiring the
implementation and maintenance of technical and organizational safeguards for personal data; and mandating notice of
certain personal data breaches to the relevant supervisory authority(ies) and affected individuals. Users in the UK and EEA
transfer their personal data directly to us in the United States, and we notify users that United States may not afford the
same privacy protections as their country of residence. There are also a number of legislative proposals pending before the
U.S. Congress, various state legislative bodies and foreign governments concerning content regulation and data protection
that could affect us. See the section titled “Risk Factors—Risks Related to Regulation and Litigation—The varying and
rapidly evolving regulatory framework on privacy and data protection across jurisdictions could result in claims, changes
to our business practices, monetary penalties, increased cost of operations, or declines in user growth or engagement, or
otherwise harm our business.”

We take our data protection obligations seriously as any improper disclosure, particularly with regard to our
customers’ sensitive personal data, could negatively impact our business and/or our reputation. See the sections titled
“Risk Factors—Risks Relating to our Business—Security breaches and improper access to or disclosure of our data or user
data, or other hacking and phishing attacks on our systems, could harm our reputation and adversely affect our business”
and “—The processing, storage, use and disclosure of personal data could give rise to liabilities as a result of
governmental regulation, conflicting legal requirements or differing applications of privacy regulations.”

Available Information

Our website address is www.grindr.com. We make available on our website, free of charge, our Annual Reports on
Form 10-K, our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q and our Current Reports on Form 8-K and any amendments to those
reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act as soon as reasonably practicable after we
electronically file such material with, or furnish it to, the SEC. The SEC maintains a website that contains reports, proxy
and information statements and other information regarding our filings at www.sec.gov. The information found on our
website is not incorporated by reference into this Annual Report on Form 10-K or any other report we file with or furnish
to the SEC.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors
RISK FACTORS

Investing in our securities involves a high degree of risk. Before you make a decision to buy our securities, in addition
to the risks and uncertainties discussed above under “Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements,” you should
carefully consider the risks and uncertainties described below together with all of the other information contained in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K, including our financial statements and related notes appearing at the end of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K and in the section titled “Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results
of Operations,” before deciding to invest in our securities. If any of the events or developments described below were to
occur, our business, prospects, operating results, and financial condition could suffer materially, the trading price of our
securities could decline, and you could lose all or part of your investment. The risks and uncertainties described below are
not the only ones we face. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we currently believe to be
immaterial may also adversely affect our business.

Risks Related to our Brand, Products and Services, and Operations

Our business depends on the strength and market perception of the Grindr brand and if events occur that damage our
reputation and brand, our ability to expand our base of users may be impaired, and our business could be materially
and adversely affected.

We believe that our brand has significantly contributed to the success of our business. Our business and financial
performance are highly dependent on the strength and market perception of our brand. We have achieved significant
organic growth mainly through word-of-mouth referrals to our platform, without relying on traditional advertising for user
acquisition, and therefore we believe it is critical to ensure that our users remain favorably inclined toward the Grindr
brand. In addition, we believe that maintaining and enhancing our brand will be critical to expanding our user base,
advertising relationships, and other partnerships.

Maintaining and enhancing our brand will depend on an array of factors, including our ability to continue to provide
useful, fun, reliable, trustworthy, and innovative products and services, which we may not do successfully or as
successfully as we hope. Our products and services may not always appeal to our users, which may negatively affect our
brand and our ability to retain existing users, upgrade users to paid accounts or add new users. See “—If we fail to retain
existing users or add new users, or if our users decrease their level of engagement with our products and services or do not
convert to Paying Users, our revenue, financial results, and business may be significantly harmed.” In addition, the actions
of our advertisers or partners may negatively affect our brand if users have a negative impression of such brands or do not
have a positive experience using third-party products or services that are integrated into our platform. See “—The
distribution, marketing of, and access to our products and services depends, in large part, on third-party platforms and
mobile application stores, among other third-party providers. If these third parties limit, prohibit, fail to operate, or
otherwise interfere with the distribution or use of our products and services in any material way, it could adversely affect
our business, financial condition, and results of operations.” Moreover, illicit or inappropriate conduct by users,
advertisers, partners, or bad actors may adversely affect our brand, particularly if we fail to respond expeditiously to
objectionable content on our platform or otherwise to address user concerns. See “—I/nappropriate actions by certain of
our users could be attributed to us and damage our brand or reputation, or subject us to regulatory inquiries, legal action,
or other liabilities, which, in turn, could materially adversely affect our business.” We have also experienced, and expect to
continue to experience, media, legislative, and regulatory scrutiny, as well as legal action and regulatory investigations,
regarding user privacy and data protection, interactions between users, and other issues, which have harmed our reputation
and brand and may seriously harm our reputation and brand in the future. See “—Unfavorable media coverage could
materially and adversely affect our business, brand, or reputation.” 1f events occur that damage our reputation or brand,
our business, financial condition, and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.

Changes to our existing products and services, or the development and introduction of new products and services, could
fail to attract or retain users or generate revenue and profits.

Our ability to retain, expand, monetize and engage our user base, and to increase our revenue, depends heavily on our
ability to keep pace with user demands and technological changes in the industry by, among other things, continuing to
evolve our existing products and services and developing successful new products and services. We operate in an industry
characterized by rapidly changing technologies in response to evolving industry standards, frequent new product and
service announcements and enhancements, and changing user demands, and our competitors in the online social
networking industry are constantly developing new technologies and products and services. Our performance will therefore
depend on our ability to adapt in response to this environment by, among other things, continuing to improve the speed,
performance, features, ease of use, and reliability of our products and services, in response to evolving user demands and
competitive dynamics. Any failure to keep pace with rapid technological changes could cause us to lose market share and
thus have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operation.

In addition, our ability to retain, expand, monetize and engage our user base, and to increase our revenue, depends on
our ability to continue to improve our existing products and services and to develop and introduce successful new products
and services, both independently and together with third parties. We may introduce significant changes to our existing
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products and services or develop and introduce new or unproven products and services, including using technologies with
which we have little or no prior development or operating experience. While we believe we can further improve our
monetization capabilities by diversifying our subscription offerings, introducing more stand-alone premium functions, and
further optimizing our advertising offerings, these efforts may not ultimately be successful or translate into meaningful
additional revenue. If we do not continue to innovate and provide attractive products and services to our users, or if we fail
to consistently tailor our products and services to accommodate our users’ changing demands, we may not be able to retain
a large and active user base or to generate sufficient revenue, operating margin, or other value, to justify our investments,
any of which may materially adversely affect our business.

We have also invested in, and expect to continue to invest in new products and services and other initiatives, which
may involve unproven products, services, and technologies, to generate revenue. We regularly update our Grindr mobile
application (the “Grindr App”) to introduce new features and improve our Grindr App’s performance. However, there is no
guarantee that our investment in new products and services, new features, and other initiatives will succeed or generate
revenue or other benefits for us. New products, services, and features may provide temporary increases in engagement that
may ultimately fail to attract and retain users such that they may not produce the long-term benefits that we expect. We
may also introduce new products, services, features or terms of service or policies, and seek to find new, effective ways to
show our community new and existing products and services and alert them to events and opportunities to connect, that our
users do not like, which may negatively affect our brand. If our new or enhanced brand, products and services or product
extensions fail to engage users, marketers, or developers, or if our business plans are unsuccessful, we may fail to attract or
retain users or to generate sufficient revenue, operating margin, or other value to justify our investments, any of which may
materially adversely affect our business.

If we fail to retain existing users or add new users, or if our users decrease their level of engagement with our products
and services or do not convert to Paying Users, our revenue, financial results, and business may be significantly
harmed.

The size of our user base and our users’ level of engagement are critical to our success. Our financial performance has
been and will continue to be significantly determined by our success in adding, retaining, and engaging users of our
products and services and converting users into paying subscribers or premium add-on payers. We expect that the size of
our user base will fluctuate or decline in one or more markets from time to time. If our user growth rate slows down, our
business performance will become increasingly dependent on our ability to retain existing users and enhance user
engagement on our platform in current and new markets. In addition, although we have primarily grown our user base
organically, attracting and retaining additional users for our products and services may require increasingly large sales and
marketing expenditures. If our platform ceases to be one of the most frequently used social networking applications for
LGBTQ individuals, or if people do not perceive our products and services to be useful, reliable, and/or trustworthy, we
may not be able to attract or retain users or otherwise maintain or increase the frequency, duration, and depth of their
engagement.

Several other online social networking companies that achieved early popularity have since experienced slower growth
or declines in their user bases or levels of engagement. We may experience a similar erosion of our user base or
engagement levels, particularly as we achieve higher market penetration rates. User engagement can be difficult to
measure, particularly as we introduce new and different products and services. Any number of factors can negatively affect
user retention, growth, and engagement, including if:

» users increasingly engage with competing products or services;

» user behavior on any of our products and services change, including decreases in the quality of the user base and
frequency of use of our products and services;

e our competitors mimic our products and services or penetrate our markets (or markets we would like to enter) and
therefore harm our user retention, engagement, and growth;

« users have difficulty installing, updating, or otherwise accessing our products and services on mobile devices
because of actions by us or third parties that we rely on to distribute our products and services;

* we fail to introduce new and improved products and services that appeal to our users, or if we make changes to
existing products and services that do not appeal to our users;

* we are unable to continue to develop products and services that work with a variety of mobile operating systems,
networks, and smartphones;

» users are no longer willing to pay for premium (fee-based) subscriptions or premium add-ons;

» we are unable to successfully balance our efforts to provide a compelling user experience with the decisions we
make with respect to the frequency, prominence, and size of advertisements and other commercial content that we
display on our platform;
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* we fail to protect our brand image or reputation;

* we experience decreases in user sentiment related to the quality of our products and services, or based upon
concerns related to data privacy and the sharing of user data, safety, security, or well-being, among other factors;

* we, or other companies in the industry, are the subject of adverse media reports or other negative publicity,
including because of our data practices or other companies’ data practices;

» we fail to keep pace with evolving online, market, and industry trends (including the introduction of new and
enhanced digital services);

* initiatives designed to attract and retain users and engagement are unsuccessful or discontinued;

» we adopt terms, policies, or procedures concerning user data or advertising, among other areas, that are perceived
negatively by our users or the general public;

* we are unable to combat inappropriate or abusive use of our platform;
» we fail to address user or regulatory concerns related to privacy, data security, personal safety, or other factors;

* we are unable to manage and prioritize information to ensure users are presented with content that is interesting,
useful and relevant to them;

» we fail to provide adequate customer service to users, advertisers, or other partners;

» technical or other problems prevent us from delivering our products and services in a rapid and reliable manner or
otherwise affect the user experience, such as security breaches, distributed denial-of-service attacks or failure to
prevent or limit spam or similar content;

e our current or future products and services reduce user activity on Grindr by making it easier for our users to
interact and share on third-party websites;

e third-party initiatives that may enable greater use of our products and services, including low cost or discounted
data plans, are discontinued;

e there is decreased engagement with our products and services because of changes in prevailing social, cultural, or
political preferences in the markers in which we operate; and

*  there are changes mandated by legislation, regulations, or government actions.

From time to time, certain of these factors have negatively affected our user retention, growth, and engagement to
varying degrees. If we are unable to maintain or increase our user base and user engagement, our revenue and financial
results may be materially adversely affected. In addition, we may not experience rapid user growth or engagement in
countries where, even though mobile device penetration is high, due to the lack of sufficient cellular based data networks,
consumers rely heavily on Wi-Fi and may not access our products and services regularly throughout the day. Any decrease
in user retention, growth, or engagement could render our products and services less attractive to users, which is likely to
have a material and adverse impact on our revenue, business, financial condition, and results of operations. If our user
growth rate slows or declines, we will become increasingly dependent on our ability to maintain or increase levels of user
engagement and monetization to drive revenue growth.

Inappropriate actions by certain of our users could be attributed to us and damage our brand or reputation, or subject
us to regulatory inquiries, legal action, or other liabilities, which, in turn, could materially adversely affect our business.

Our platform allows users to freely connect and communicate with other users. Our platform may be misused by
individuals or groups of individuals to engage in illicit or otherwise inappropriate activities, which may adversely affect the
public perception of our brand and our ability to retain existing users or add new users. Our content moderation team
frequently detects and addresses user actions that violate our Terms and Conditions of Service, Communities Guidelines, or
other policies applicable to our platform, which prohibit, among other things, any form of harassment, hate speech,
violence of any kind, and other offensive content; profile pictures with nudity, pornography, or drugs; impersonation of
another person; minor activity on the platform (including uploading images depicting minors or communicating with
another user believed to be a minor); and illegal actions such as the advertising of sexual services or drugs. With a
combination of human moderation and automated tooling, violations are frequently detected and addressed by our content
moderation team, and we expect to continue to endeavor to detect and address these issues in the future.
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While we have systems and processes in place that aim to monitor and review the appropriateness of the content
generated on our platform, including our content moderation team, automated tools, and in-App features that allow users to
report illicit or otherwise inappropriate activity to us, and have adopted policies regarding the illicit or otherwise
inappropriate use of our products and services, our users have in the past, and could in the future, nonetheless engage in
activities on our platform that violate our policies or the law. These safeguards may not be sufficient to ensure the safety of
our users and this may harm our reputation and brand, especially if any instances of illicit or otherwise inappropriate
conduct become well-publicized, as has occurred in the past.

In addition, while our policies attempt to address the illicit or otherwise inappropriate use of our products and services,
and we publish and make available resources that provide users with information designed to help protect users’ digital
security, personal safety (both on, and off, our Grindr App), and self-care, we do not control what happens if our users
decide to meet in person after connecting on our platform.

Our platform allows users to freely connect and communicate with other users in the same geographic area or in the
other geographic areas around the world through the “Explore” feature. Users of our products and services have been, and
may in the future be, physically, financially, emotionally, or otherwise harmed by other individuals that they have met or
may meet through the use of our products and services. For example, we have in the past received, and could in the future
receive, complaints about users being assaulted or subjected to other forms of illicit conduct after meeting other users in
person through our products and services. When one or more of our users suffers or alleges to have suffered any harm
either on our platform or in person after meeting another user on our platform, we have in the past, and could in the future,
experience legal action, regulatory investigations, or negative publicity that could damage our brand and reputation. See
“—Risks Related to Regulation and Litigation—We are subject to litigation, regulatory and other government
investigations, enforcement actions, and settlements, and adverse outcomes in such proceedings could have a materially
adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operation.” Similar events with respect to users of our
competitors’ products and services could result in negative publicity for the overall social networking industry, or the
LGBTQ social networking industry more specifically, which could in turn negatively affect our business, financial
condition, and results of operation. See “—Unfavorable media coverage could materially and adversely affect our
business, brand, or reputation.”

Unfavorable media coverage could materially and adversely affect our business, brand, or reputation.

We receive a high degree of media coverage around the world, partly due to the social and cultural sensitivity
associated with the unique demographic group that we serve, all of which has affected, and could in the future affect, the
reputation and market perception of our brand. Regardless of its accuracy or authenticity, negative publicity concerning us,
including media coverage regarding the actions of our users on or off our platform, our Terms and Conditions of Service or
privacy practices, the quality or safety of our products and services, the actions of our advertisers or other partners,
litigation or regulatory activity, and/or the actions of other companies that provide similar services to us, could materially
and adversely affect our brand, which could, in turn, materially and adversely affect the size, engagement, and loyalty of
our user base, as well as the number and quality of advertisers that choose to advertise on our platform. For example, since
at least 2016, multiple news outlets and research groups have identified ways to allegedly determine the precise
geolocation of users of Grindr and similar services. Although we do not always use the full precision of the user’s location,
and our users have the choice not to display their relative location in the Grindr cascade, trilateration, the process of
estimating a user’s location by combining the distance measurement from three points surrounding a user, is a common risk
in location-based apps and could be perceived as a threat to users’ location privacy in some jurisdictions. These risks have
led to multiple regulatory inquiries. See “Risks Related to Regulation and Litigation—The varying and rapidly evolving
regulatory framework on privacy and data protection across jurisdictions could result in claims, changes to our business
practices, monetary penalties, increased cost of operations, or declines in user growth or engagement, or otherwise harm
our business.”

Additionally, in 2018, negative media reports raised concerns, leading to multiple regulatory inquiries, regarding our
sharing of user-provided HIV status with service providers that we engaged to perform analytics services to help us
improve the user experience. Although our users had consented to sharing their profile data with service providers, we had
contractual protections limiting service provider use of user data, and the user data was shared in compliance with those
contractual obligations and with applicable law, in response to the media reports and investigations, we discontinued
sharing user-provided HIV status information with these service providers, among other measures. This unfavorable media
coverage created negative sentiment regarding our brand and our privacy practices among our current and potential user
base, advertisers, platform partners, and other stakeholders as well as the general public, some of which continues to this
day. See “—Risks Related to Regulation and Litigation—The varying and rapidly evolving regulatory framework on
privacy and data protection across jurisdictions could result in claims, changes to our business practices, monetary
penalties, increased cost of operations, or declines in user growth or engagement, or otherwise harm our business.”
Furthermore, in 2021, a religious blog claimed to have used a “commercially available” data set which contains “signal”
data which allegedly included Grindr’s “data,” among other unidentified sources, to reveal that a Catholic priest had
utilized Grindr’s app, resulting in that priest resigning his position. Although in response to the blog we took steps to
clarify our data practices (and to inquire into the potential data sources relied on by the blog), the blog may have created
negative sentiment regarding our brand and our privacy practices, regardless of the accuracy or authenticity of the blog.

We cannot assure you that we will be able to defuse negative publicity about us and/or our services to the satisfaction
of our users, advertisers, platform partners, and other stakeholders. If we fail to protect our brand or reputation, given our
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reliance on the strength of our brand and organic growth, we may experience material adverse effects to the size,
demographics, engagement, and loyalty of our user base, resulting in decreased revenue, fewer Grindr App installs (or
increased Grindr App uninstalls), fewer conversions to premium subscription versions of our Grindr App, or slower user
growth rates, among other negative effects. Negative publicity, especially when it is directly addressed against us, may also
require us to engage in defensive media campaigns which, in turn, may cause us to increase our marketing expenses and
divert our management’s attention and may adversely impact our business and results of operations. If events occur that
damage our brand and reputation and we fail to respond promptly or if we incur excessive expenses in these types of
efforts, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected. See “—Our
business depends on the strength and market perception of the Grindr brand. If events occur that damage our reputation
and brand, our ability to expand our base of users may be impaired, and our business could be materially adversely
affected”.

The online social networking industry in which we operate is highly competitive, and if we cannot compete effectively
our business will suffer.

The online social networking industry is highly competitive, with a consistent stream of new products and services and
entrants. We compete primarily with other global companies that provide dating and networking products and services that
have LGBTQ users, such as Tinder and OKCupid, and regional companies that provide dating and networking products
and services for LGBTQ users, such as Scruff and PlanetRomeo. Some of our competitors may enjoy better competitive
positions in certain geographical regions, user demographics, or other key areas that we currently serve or may serve in the
future. These advantages could enable these competitors to offer products and services that are more appealing to users and
potential users than our products and services, or to respond more quickly and/or cost-effectively than us to new or
changing opportunities. In addition, to the extent that some of our competitors were first movers in particular geographic
regions, their positions in those regions could create barriers to our entry.

In addition, within the social networking industry more generally, costs for users to switch between products and
services are low, and users have a propensity to try new approaches to connecting with other people and to use multiple
products and services at the same time. As a result, new products and services, entrants, and business models are likely to
continue to emerge. It is possible that a new product could gain rapid scale at the expense of existing brands through
harnessing a new technology or distribution channel, or a new or existing distribution channel, creating a new approach to
connecting people or some other means.

Potential competitors include larger companies that could devote greater resources to the promotion or marketing of
their products and services, take advantage of acquisition or other opportunities more readily than we do, or develop and
expand their products and services more quickly than we do. Potential competitors also include established social media
companies, which may develop products and services, features, or services that compete with ours, and which may have
easier access to new markets or potential users than we do. For example, Facebook recently launched Facebook Dating in
North America, Europe, and other markets around the globe. Facebook and similar competitors could gain competitive
advantages over Grindr through, for example, their access to existing large pools of potential users and preexisting
information about those potential users and/or their strong or dominant positions in one or more markets, or by offering
different product features or products and services at low or no cost to users. Our competitors may develop products and
services, features, or services similar to ours or that achieve greater market acceptance than our products and services,
features, or services, they may undertake more far-reaching and successful product development efforts or marketing
campaigns than we do, or they may adopt more aggressive pricing policies than we do. Any of these efforts, if successful,
may enable our competitors to acquire and engage users at the expense of our user growth or engagement, which may have
a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operation. See “—If we fail to retain existing
users or add new users, or if our users decrease their level of engagement with our products and services or do not convert
to Paying Users, our revenue, financial results, and business may be significantly harmed.”

Moreover, in emerging international markets, where mobile devices often lack large storage capabilities, among other
technical limitations, we may compete with other applications for the limited space available on a user’s mobile device. We
also face competition from traditional and online media businesses for advertising budgets. As we introduce new products
and services, as our existing products and services evolve, or as other companies introduce new products and services, we
may become subject to additional competition.

In addition, we believe that our ability to compete effectively depends upon many factors both within and beyond our
control, including:

» the usefulness, ease of use, performance, and reliability of our products and services compared to our competitors;
» the size and demographics of our user base;

» the scale, growth, and engagement of our users with our products and services relative to those of our competitors;
*  our ability to acquire efficiently new users for our products and services;

» the timing and market acceptance of our products and services;
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*  our ability to introduce new, and improve on existing, features, products and services, and services in response to
competition, user sentiment or requirements, online, market, social, and industry trends, the ever-evolving
technological landscape, and the ever-changing regulatory landscape (in particular, as it relates to the regulation of
online social networking platforms);

*  our ability to continue monetizing our products and services;

» the frequency, size, and relative prominence of the ads and other commercial content displayed by us or our
competitors;

*  our customer service and support efforts;

» the reputation of our brand for trust and safety and privacy and data protection, among other things;
» adverse media reports or other negative publicity;

» the effectiveness of our advertising and sales teams;

» continued growth in internet access and smartphone adoption in certain regions of the world, particularly
emerging markets;

» changes mandated by legislation, regulatory authorities, or litigation, including settlements and consent decrees,
some of which may have a disproportionate effect on us;

* acquisitions or consolidations within our industry, which may result in more formidable competitors;
* our ability to attract, retain, and motivate talented employees, particularly software engineers;

*  our ability to protect our intellectual property, including against our competitors’ possible attempts to mimic or
copy aspects of our Grindr App;

*  our ability to cost-effectively manage and grow our operations; and
*  our ability to maintain the value and reputation of our brand relative to our competitors.

If we are not able to effectively compete against our current or future competitors and products and services that may
emerge, our user base and level of user engagement may decrease, which could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition, and results of operations.

We have grown rapidly in recent years and certain members of our management team have joined us recently. If we are
unable to manage our growth effectively, our brand, company culture, and financial performance may suffer.

Since launching our platform in 2009, we have experienced rapid growth and demand for our services. We have
expanded our operations rapidly worldwide, and certain members of our management team have joined us recently. As we
grow, our business becomes increasingly complex and the process of implementing operations at scale takes time. We have
increased our employee headcount, and we expect our headcount growth to continue for the foreseeable future. To
effectively manage and capitalize on our growth, we must continue to expand our sales and marketing, focus on innovative
product and content development, and upgrade our information systems and other processes, among other changes. Our
continued growth could strain our existing resources, and we could experience ongoing operating difficulties in managing
our business across numerous jurisdictions, including difficulties in hiring, training, and managing a diverse, remote-first,
and growing employee base. We expect to continue to make investments to maintain and improve the capacity, capability
and reliability of our infrastructure. To the extent that we do not effectively address capacity constraints as we grow and
continually develop our technology and infrastructure to accommodate actual and anticipated changes in technology, our
business and results of operations may be negatively affected. Failure to scale and preserve our company culture with
growth could harm our future success, including our ability to retain and recruit personnel and to focus on and pursue our
corporate objectives effectively. If our management team does not effectively manage our growth, we may experience
erosion to our brand, the quality of our products and services may suffer, and our company culture may be harmed.
Moreover, we have been, and may in the future be, subject to legacy claims or liabilities arising from policies, systems,
and/or controls in earlier periods of our rapid development.

The rapidly evolving nature of the markets in which we operate creates substantial uncertainty concerning how these
markets may develop, and reduce our ability to accurately forecast quarterly or annual revenue and future growth. Failure
to manage our future growth effectively could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and
operating results.
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Our quarterly operating results and other operating metrics may fluctuate from quarter to quarter, which makes these
metrics difficult to predict.

Our quarterly operating results and other operating metrics have fluctuated in the past and may continue to fluctuate
from quarter to quarter, which makes them difficult to predict. Our financial condition and operating results in any given
quarter can be influenced by numerous factors, many of which we cannot predict or are outside of our control, including:

» fluctuations in the rate at which we retain existing users and attracts new users, the level of engagement by our
users, or our ability to convert users from the free version of the platform to premium (fee-based) subscriptions;

» our development, improvement, and introduction of new products and services, services, technology, and features,
and the enhancement of existing products and services, services, technologies, and features;

» successful expansion into international markets, particularly in emerging markets;
» errors in our forecasting of user demand;

* increases in engineering, product development, marketing, or other operating expenses that we may incur to grow
and expand operations and to remain competitive;

» changes in our relationship with Apple, Google, or other third parties;

* announcements by competitors of significant new products and services, services, licenses, or acquisitions;
» the diversification and growth of our revenue sources;

*  our ability to maintain gross margins and operating margins;

»  fluctuations in currency exchange rates and changes in the proportion of our revenue and expenses denominated in
foreign currencies;

» changes in our effective tax rate;

»  changes in accounting standards, policies, guidance, interpretations, or principles;

e the continued development and upgrading of our technology platform;

e our ability to effectively prevent and remediate system failures or breaches of security or privacy;

e our ability to obtain, maintain, protect and enforce intellectual property rights and successfully defend against
claims of infringement, misappropriation, or other violations of third-party intellectual property;

e adverse litigation judgments, settlements, or other litigation-related costs;

e changes in the legislative or regulatory environment, including with respect to privacy, intellectual property,
consumer product safety, and advertising, or enforcement by government regulators, including fines, orders, or
consent decrees; and

e changes in business or macroeconomic conditions, including the impact of the current COVID-19 outbreak,
inflation, lower consumer confidence in our business or in the social networking industry generally, recessionary
conditions, increased unemployment rates, stagnant or declining wages, political unrest, armed conflicts, natural
disasters, as well as financial market instability or disruptions to the banking system due to bank failures,
particularly in light of the recent events that have occurred with respect to Silicon Valley Bank ("SVB").

Any one of the factors above or the cumulative effect of some of the factors above may result in significant
fluctuations in our results of operations.

The variability and unpredictability of our quarterly operating results or other operating metrics could result in our
failure to fully meet the expectations or those of analysts that could cover us or investors with respect to revenue or other
operating results for a particular period. If we fail to meet or exceed such expectations, the market price of the stock could
fall substantially, and we could face costly lawsuits, including securities class action suits.
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The distribution, marketing of, and access to our products and services depend, in large part, on third-party platforms
and mobile application stores, among other third-party providers. If these third parties limit, prohibit, or fail to operate,
or otherwise interfere with the distribution or use of our products or services in any material way, it could materially
and adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

We market and distribute our products and services primarily through the Apple App Store and Google Play Store. We
are subject to the standard terms, conditions, and guidelines of these platforms for App developers, which govern the
promotion and distribution of our products and services on their respective platforms, and our ability to market the Grindr
brand on any given property or channel is subject to the policies of the relevant third party. In addition, there is no
guarantee that these popular mobile platforms will continue to feature or make available our products, or that we will be
able to comply with the standard terms, conditions, and guidelines of these platforms, such that our products and services
continue to be available through these platforms. Apple App Store and Google Play Store have and may continue to impose
access restrictions for users in Russia and other geopolitical regions in relation to the conflict between Russia and Ukraine
or other events that are beyond Grindr’s control, such as terrorism, public health crises, or political unrest, which could
result in the inability to access and use our products and services and other negative experiences for our users and, in turn,
harm our user reputation and adversely affect our business. In addition, there is no guarantee that users will continue to use
our products and services rather than competing products and services.

We also depend on the interoperability of our products and services with popular mobile operating systems, networks,
technologies, products and services, and standards that we do not control, such as the iOS and Android operating systems.
Any changes, bugs, or technical issues in these systems, or changes in our relationships with third party product or service
providers such as our mobile operating system partners, handset manufacturers, or mobile carriers, or changes in their
agreements, terms of service or policies that degrade our products and services’ functionality, reduce or eliminate our
ability to update or distribute our products and services, give preferential treatment to competitive products and services,
limit our ability to deliver, target, or measure the effectiveness of ads, or charge fees related to the distribution of our
products and services or our delivery of ads, could impact the usage of our products and services on mobile devices and
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations. For example, starting with
10S version 14, Apple has required App developers to ask users for their permission to track them or to access their
device’s advertising identifier (known as the IDFA). Tracking refers to the act of linking user or device data collected from
one App with user or device data collected from other companies’ Apps, websites, or offline properties for targeted
advertising (e.g., personalized ads) or advertising measurement purposes. A low opt-in rate to grant IDFA by iOS App users
will, and may continue to, significantly limit the ability of advertisers to accurately target and measure their advertising
campaigns at the user level and App developers may experience increased cost per registration.

In addition, certain channels have, from time to time, limited or prohibited advertisements for similar products and
services, including because of poor behavior by other industry participants. There is no assurance that we will not be
limited or prohibited from using certain current or prospective marketing channels or providing certain features in the
future.

Further, many users historically registered for (and logged into) our Grindr App exclusively through their Apple IDs,
Google usernames, or Facebook profiles. While we have alternate authentication methods that allow users to register for
(and log into) our Grindr App using an email address or their mobile phone numbers, there can be no assurances that users
will use these other methods. Apple, Google, and Facebook have broad discretion to change their terms and conditions in
ways that could limit, eliminate, or otherwise interfere with our ability to use Apple IDs, Google usernames, or Facebook
profiles as a registration method or to allow these entities to use such data to gain a competitive advantage. If Apple,
Google, or Facebook did so, our business, financial condition, and results of operations could be materially adversely
affected. Additionally, if security on Apple, Google, or Facebook is compromised, if our users are locked out from their
accounts, or if Apple, Google, or Facebook experiences an outage, our users may be unable to access our products and
services. If our ability to distribute our products and services to our users is impaired, even if for a temporary period, user
growth and engagement on our service could be materially adversely affected, even if for a temporary period. Any of these
events could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Privacy concerns relating to our products and services and the use of user information could negatively impact our user
base or user engagement, which could have a material and adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and
results of operations.

We collect user profile, precise user location, and other personal data from our users to provide them with our products
and services and to better facilitate connections among our users. As discussed above, despite the increased level of social
acceptance of the LGBTQ community, identification as LGBTQ remains stigmatized, marginalized, and deemed illegal in
certain parts of the world. Grindr embraces all sexual orientations and gender identities, including those who identify
expressly as straight, gay, bi+ (i.e., those open to multiple genders like pansexual, polysexual, queer, fluid, and flexible),
transexual, lesbian, demisexual, among others. However, certain of our existing and potential users may prefer not to
associate with our platform publicly, not to identify themselves publicly as LGBTQ, not to have assumptions or
perceptions formed about their sexual orientation or gender identity, and/or not to have their sexual orientations and gender
identities known by others in the LGBTQ community.

While we will endeavor to monitor adverse legal developments globally, including legislative action and restrictive
regulatory interpretations related to the processing of personal data, including special categories of personal data which we
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collect and process, and attempt to comply with these legal developments, we may in the future be subject to more
stringent obligations or claims under such adverse legislation or regulatory interpretations, which can materially impact our
ability to provide our services in certain locales with restrictive data privacy regulatory frameworks.

In addition, although our products and services aim to create an environment inclusive of all people (both within and
outside of the LGBTQ community), our potential users may be reluctant to use our products and services out of fear of the
ramifications of being associated with our platform or identified or perceived as a potential member of the LGBTQ
community. Concerns about being identified or perceived in a certain way, as well as concerns about the collection, use,
disclosure, or security of personal information or chat history or other privacy-related matters, even if unfounded, could
damage our reputation and discourage potential users from choosing our platform, all of which may adversely affect our
business, financial condition, and results of operations. See “—Adverse social and political environments for the LGBTQ
community in certain parts of the world, including actions by governments or other groups, could limit our geographic
reach, business expansion, and user growth, any of which could materially and adversely affect our business, financial
condition, and results of operation.”

Any incidents where our users’ information is accessed without authorization, or is improperly used, or incidents that
otherwise violate our policies or do not comply with applicable laws and best practices, could damage our reputation and
diminish our competitive position. Affected users or government authorities could initiate legal or regulatory actions
against us over these incidents, which could cause us to incur significant expense and liability or result in orders or consent
decrees forcing us to modify our business practices. In addition, our advertising and other business partners also have
varying expectations and demands with respect to data privacy and protection measures and practices, and our failure to
fully meet such expectations or demands may cause our advertising or other business partners to take adverse actions,
including without limitation suspension, termination, or other unexpected changes in the business relationship which may
materially and adversely affect our financial condition, business outlook, or reputation. Our success depends, in part, on
our ability to access, collect, and use personal data about our users and to comply with applicable privacy and data
protection laws and industry best practices. See “—Risks Related to Regulation and Litigation—QOur success depends, in
part, on our ability to access, collect, and use personal data about our users and to comply with applicable privacy and
data protection laws and industry best practices.”

In addition, from time to time, we receive requests or demands for information from law enforcement agencies that
seek access to our user content. In some cases, these requests or demands seek information that we are not able to provide
or have determined it is not appropriate to provide due to technical limitations, privacy concerns, or retention practices.
Maintaining the trust of our users is important to sustain our user growth, retention, and engagement. Concerns over our
privacy practices, whether actual or unfounded, could damage our reputation and brand and deter users, advertisers, and
partners from using our products and services, any of which may adversely affect our business, financial condition, and
results of operations.

We rely primarily on the Apple App Store and Google Play Store as the channels for processing of payments. In
addition, access to our products and services depends on mobile App stores and other third parties such as data center
service providers, as well as third-party payment aggregators, computer systems, internet transit providers and other
communications systems and service providers. Any deterioration in our relationship with Apple, Google or other such
third parties may negatively impact our business.

Our products and services mainly depend on mobile App stores and the continued services and performance of other
third parties such as data center service providers, third party payment aggregators, computer systems, internet transit
providers, and other communications systems and service providers. We primarily make our Grindr App available to users
through, and therefore largely depend upon, the Apple App Store and the Google Play Store. While our Grindr App is
generally free to download from these stores, we offer our users the opportunity to purchase subscriptions and premium
add-ons. We determine the prices for these subscriptions and premium add-ons, but at this time, they are primarily
processed through the in-App payment systems provided by Apple and Google. We also utilize Stripe in order to process
payments related to certain legacy subscriptions. Apple and Google, as well as other third parties such as Stripe, have broad
discretion to make changes to their operating systems or payment services or change the manner in which their mobile
operating systems function and their respective terms and conditions applicable to the distribution of our Grindr App,
including the amount of, and requirement to pay, certain fees associated with purchases required to be facilitated by such
third parties through our Grindr App, and to interpret their respective terms and conditions in ways that may limit,
eliminate, or otherwise interfere with our products and services, our ability to distribute our Grindr App through their
stores, our ability to update our Grindr App, including to make bug fixes or other feature updates or upgrades, the features
we provide, the manner in which we market our in-App products and services, our ability to access native functionality or
other aspects of mobile devices, and our ability to access information about our users that they collect.

To the extent such third parties do so, our business, financial condition, and results of operations could be materially
adversely affected. For example, our business could suffer materially if Apple or Google, including other third parties,
albeit to a lesser extent, change their standard terms and conditions, interpretations, or other policies and practices in a way
that is detrimental to us or if they determine that we are in violation of their standard terms and conditions and prohibit us
from distributing our Grindr App on their platforms.

There can be no assurance that Apple or Google, or any other similar third party, will not limit, delay, eliminate, or
otherwise interfere with the distribution of our Grindr App, or that we will not be limited or prohibited from using certain
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current or prospective distribution or marketing channels in the future. For example, either Apple or Google could block or
delay the distribution of a new version of our platform or our products and services based upon alleged non-compliance
with their policies concerning safety or in-App content, technical performance, or design, among other issues. In addition,
Google could immediately terminate our Google Play distribution agreement if we experience a change of control, which
would have a material adverse effect on our business. If Apple or Google took any such actions, or if we experience a
deterioration in either relationship, our business, financial condition, and results of operations could be materially adversely
affected.

Apple recently announced that it would allow app developers to process payments for subscriptions and other
premium add-ons outside of Apple’s payment system. However, there can be no assurance that we will be successful in our
effort to process payments outside of Apple’s payment systems.

In addition, we rely on a wide array of additional third parties in various other aspects of our operations, including
software developers, computing, storage, and bandwidth service providers, suppliers of technology infrastructures, mobile
application optimization and analytics firms, sales and marketing channels, contract engineers, contract content
contributors, as well as LGBTQ rights advocacy organizations around the world. Any deterioration in our relationships
with these third-party suppliers, vendors, and business partners, or any adverse change in the terms and conditions
governing these relationships, could have a negative impact on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Our user growth, engagement, and monetization on mobile devices depend upon effective operation with mobile
operating systems, networks, and standards that we do not control.

To deliver a high-quality user experience, our products and services must work well across a range of mobile operating
systems, networks, technologies, mobile devices, and standards that we do not control. We may not be successful in
developing relationships with key participants in the mobile industry or in developing services that operate effectively with
these mobile operating systems, handset manufacturers, networks, mobiles devices, mobile carriers, and standards. In
addition, any future changes to mobile operating systems, networks, mobile devices, mobile carriers, or standards may
impact the accessibility, speed, functionality, and other performance aspects of our products and services. These issues
may, and likely will, occur in the future from time to time. If users experience issues accessing or using our products and
services, particularly on their mobile devices, or if our users choose not to access or use our products and services on their
mobile devices, our user growth, retention, and engagement could be harmed, and our business, financial condition, and
results of operation could be adversely affected.

As discussed above, we market, distribute, and make our products and services available across several mobile
operating systems and devices (e.g., iOS and Android) and through a number of third-party publishers and distribution
channels (e.g., the Apple App Store and Google Play Store). There can be no guarantee that popular mobile devices will
continue to feature our products and services, or that mobile device users will continue to use our products and services
over competing products and services. In addition, if the number of platforms for which we develop our products and
services increases, our costs and expenses will also increase, as will the risks of bugs, outages, or other technical issues.
Moreover, our products and services require high-bandwidth data capabilities. If the costs of data usage increase, our user
growth, retention, and engagement may be seriously harmed.

Adverse social and political environments for the LGBTQ community in certain parts of the world, including actions by
governments or other groups, could limit our geographic reach, business expansion, and user growth, any of which
could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operation.

While there has been substantial progress in the protection of LGBTQ rights in certain parts of the world,
identification as LGBTQ remains stigmatized, marginalized, and deemed illegal in many parts of the world. We have faced
and may continue to face incidents in which government authorities in certain countries use our products and services to
entrap and arrest LGBTQ individuals under charges of “promoting sexual deviancy” and “inciting immorality,” among
others.

In addition, some countries, including Pakistan and the Crimean Peninsula in Ukraine, have banned our products and
services and the products and services of other companies in the industry that provide services for and promote the LGBTQ
community. Access to our Grindr App in other countries, such as China, Turkey, Lebanon, Indonesia, the United Arab
Emirates, Saudi Arabia, and Qatar, may only be available through the use of services such as virtual private networks, or
VPNs, or via home wireless networks, thereby decreasing accessibility to our products and services. Adverse social and
political environments for the LGBTQ community in anti-LGBTQ countries could limit our geographical reach, business
expansion, and user growth, any of which could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, and
results of operation.

In addition, government authorities in various countries may seek to restrict user access to our products and services, if
they consider us to be in violation of their laws, a threat to public safety, or for other reasons, including if they consider the
content on our products and services to be immoral or indecent. In the event that content shown on our products and
services is subject to censorship, access to our products and services may be restricted (in whole or in part) in one or more
countries, we may be required to or elect to make changes to our operations or other restrictions may be imposed on our
products and services. If our competitors are able to successfully penetrate new geographic markets or capture a greater
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share of existing geographic markets that we cannot access or where we face other restrictions, our ability to retain,
expand, and engage our user base and qualify advertisers may be adversely affected, we may not be able to maintain or
grow our revenue as anticipated, and our business, financial condition, and results of operations could be materially
adversely affected.

Our success depends on the demographics of the community that we serve and our ability to foresee and respond to
changing market and user demands.

Our success depends heavily upon a variety of factors specific to the adult LGBTQ community that we serve. Changes
in the population size, gender distribution, disposable income, and other demographic characteristics of the global LGBTQ
community could have a significant impact on demand for our products and services and our attractiveness to advertisers
who pay to reach our user base.

In addition, changes in the demographic characteristics of the LGBTQ community could result in shifts in its
members’ demands and preferences. The significant diversity within the adult LGBTQ global population further imposes
challenges for us to successfully foresee and respond to the changing preferences and interests of this community. Should
we fail to adequately foresee and respond to the demands and preferences of the markets we serve, our business, financial
condition, and results of operations would be materially and adversely affected.

Our growth and monetization strategies may not be successfully implemented or generate sustainable revenue and
profit.

To sustain our revenue growth, we must effectively monetize our user base and expand the monetization of our
products and services. Our growth and monetization strategies are constantly evolving. We plan to offer our users more
types of subscription packages, additional offers to encourage conversion to premium (fee-based) subscriptions, and stand-
alone for-pay features, among other strategies. In addition, we intend to diversify our advertiser portfolio and strengthen
the performance of our online self-service advertising system. However, these efforts might not be successful and may not
justify our investment, or we may not be able to pursue them at all. We have limited and may continue to limit the user data
shared with third-party advertising partners, which could have a negative effect on our ability to maximize our advertising
revenue. In addition, we are continuously seeking to balance the growth objectives and monetization strategies with our
desire to provide an optimal user experience, and we may not be successful in achieving a balance that continues to retain
and attract users. If our growth and monetization strategies do not generate sustainable revenue, our business, financial
condition, and results of operations could be materially adversely affected.

Our product development, investment, and other business decisions may not prioritize short-term financial results and
may not produce the long-term benefits that we expect.

We frequently make product development and investment decisions that may not prioritize short-term financial results,
if we believe that the decisions benefit the aggregate user experience and will thereby improve our financial performance
over the long term. For example, we launched our Grindr 4 Equality initiative to better serve the LGBTQ community and
strengthen our brand image without focusing on immediate financial returns. Likewise, we occasionally launch features
that we cannot monetize (and may never be able to monetize), but those features aim to improve the overall user
experience and thus improve our long-term financial performance by driving user engagement and retention, among other
potential effects. However, these sorts of decisions may not produce the long-term benefits that we expect, in which case
our user growth and engagement, our relationships with partners and advertisers, and our business, financial conditions,
and results of operations could be materially adversely affected.

The failure to attract new advertisers, the loss of existing advertisers, a deterioration in any of our advertising
relationships, or a reduction in their spending could adversely harm our business.

We currently generate a material portion of our revenue from advertising on our products and services, which is
included under our Indirect Revenue. We attract third-party advertisers because of our extensive LGBTQ user base
worldwide, among other factors. Any decrease or a slower growth in our user base or user engagement may discourage
new or existing advertisers from advertising on our products and services. The advertisers control their respective
development and operation, and we have little input, if any at all, on how their platforms operate. In addition, we largely do
not have control over the type of advertisers or the content of their advertisements on our platform. Any deterioration in our
relationship with these platforms, any changes in how they operate their platforms or in the requirements regarding the
content on our platform, or any deterioration in the platforms’ relationships with advertisers that advertise on our platform
may materially adversely affect our advertising revenue. Any loss of existing advertisers or failure to attract new
advertisers will materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Our advertisers typically do not have long-term advertising commitments with us. The majority of our advertisers
spend only a relatively small portion of their overall advertising budget with us. In addition, certain advertisers may view
some of our products and services as controversial, experimental or unproven. Advertisers will not continue to do business
with us, or they will reduce the prices they are willing to pay to advertise with us, if we do not deliver ads and other
commercial content in an effective manner, or if they do not believe that their investment in advertising with us will
generate a competitive return relative to other alternatives. Moreover, we rely on the ability to collect and disclose data and
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metrics for our advertisers to attract new advertisers and retain existing advertisers. Any restriction, whether by law,
regulation, policy, or any other reason, on our ability to collect and disclose data to our advertisers would impede our
ability to attract and retain advertisers. Our ability to collect and disclose data may also be adversely affected by third-
parties, such as third-party publishers and platforms. See “—The distribution, marketing of, and access to our products and
services depend, in large part, on third-party platforms and mobile application stores, among other third-party providers.
If these third parties limit, prohibit, or otherwise interfere with the distribution or use of our products and services in any
material way, it could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.”

In addition, we believe that our advertising revenue could also be adversely affected by many factors both within and
beyond our control, including:

* decreases in monthly active users and user growth and engagement, including time spent on our products and
services;

» decreased user access to and engagement with us through our mobile products and services;

» the degree to which our users cease or reduce the number of times they engage with ads placed through our
products and services;

»  changes in our demographics that make us less attractive to advertisers;

»  product changes or inventory management decisions that we make that reduce the size, frequency, or prominence
of ads and other commercial content displayed on our products and services;

*  our inability to improve our analytics and measurement solutions that demonstrate the value of our ads and other
commercial content;

* loss of advertising market share to our competitors;

» adverse legal developments relating to advertising, including legislative action, regulatory developments, and
litigation;

*  competitive developments or advertiser perception of the value of our products and services that change the rates
we can charge for advertising or the volume of advertising on our products and services;

» adverse media reports or other negative publicity involving us or other companies in our industry;

*  our inability to create new products and services that sustain or increase the value of our ads and other commercial
content;

» changes in the pricing of online advertising;

« difficulty and frustration from advertisers who may need to reformat or change their advertisements to comply
with our guidelines;

» the impact of new technologies that could block or obscure the display of our ads and other commercial content;
and

* the impact of macroeconomic conditions and conditions in the advertising industry in general.

The occurrence of any of these or other factors could result in a reduction in demand for our ads and other commercial
content, which may reduce the prices we receive for our ads and other commercial content, or cause advertisers to stop
advertising with us altogether, any of which could negatively affect our business, financial condition, and results of
operation.

We may not be able to charge subscription fees or premium add-on fees at a sufficient level or raise these fees.

We currently offer two premium (fee-based) subscription versions of our platform, Grindr Xtra and Grindr Unlimited,
each of which offers a wide range of premium services to subscribers through additional features. Subscribers can choose
different subscription packages for different periods, with deeper discounts typically being offered to subscribers who
select longer subscription periods. In addition, we at times offer users the option to purchase certain premium add-ons, such
as one-day day pass memberships to our premium subscription versions of the platform, among other premium add-on
offers. Given the increasing market competition that we face, the constantly changing user demands and preferences that
we must address, and the uncertainties in the overall economic environment, we may not be able to charge fees at a
sufficient level or raise fees, especially in emerging markets.
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In addition, our pricing strategies may fail to gain acceptance among users or compete effectively against our
competitors, especially in emerging markets where we have less of an operating history. Moreover, we may be unable to
convert our users from our free products and services to our subscription-based products and services at a sufficient rate, or
at all. In any of these events, our business, financial condition, and results of operations could be materially adversely
affected.

We have significant internationally sourced revenue and plan to expand our operations abroad in markets in which we
have more limited operating experience. As a result, we may face additional risks in connection with certain of our
international operations that could adversely affect our financial results.

We have significant internationally sourced revenue and plan to continue the international expansion of our business,
including through the translation of our products and services. As of December 31, 2022, we distribute the iOS and
Android versions of our Grindr App in 9 and 21 languages, respectively, and had registered users in most countries and
territories in which the Apple App Store and Google Play Store operate (except Cuba, China, Iran, Sudan and Ukraine).
Our international revenues represented 37.4% and 35.8% of total revenue for the years ended December 31, 2022 and
2021, respectively.

We may enter new international markets and expand our operations in existing international markets, where we have
limited or no experience in marketing, selling, and deploying our products and services. In addition, some or all of our
products or services may not be permitted or made available in certain markets due to legal and regulatory complexities
and different societal perceptions of LGBTQ identities. See “—Adverse social and political environments for the LGBTQ
community in certain parts of the world, including actions by governments or other groups, could limit our geographic
reach, business expansion, and user growth, any of which could materially and adversely affect our business, financial
condition, and results of operation.” If we fail to deploy, manage, or oversee our international expansion successfully, our
business may suffer.

In addition, we believe that operating internationally, particularly in countries in which we have more limited
experience, exposes us to a number of additional risks both within and beyond our control, including:

»  operational and compliance challenges caused by distance, language, and cultural differences;
*  political tensions, social unrests, or economic instability, particularly in the countries in which we operate;

« differing levels of social and technological acceptance of our products and services, or lack of acceptance of them
generally;

* low usage and/or penetration of internet-connected consumer electronic devices;

» risks related to the legal and regulatory environment in foreign jurisdictions, including with respect to privacy,
data security and unexpected changes in laws, regulatory requirements, and enforcement;

*  potential damage to our brand and reputation due to compliance with local laws, including potential censorship or
requirements to provide user information to local authorities;

e our lack of a critical mass of users in certain markets;

»  fluctuations in currency exchange rates;

» higher levels of credit risk and payment fraud;

» enhanced difficulties of integrating any foreign acquisitions;

*  burdens of complying with a variety of foreign laws, including multiple tax jurisdictions;
e competitive environments that favor local businesses;

» reduced protection for intellectual property rights in some countries;

» difficulties in staffing and managing global operations and the increased travel, infrastructure, and legal
compliance costs associated with multiple international locations;

» regulations that might add difficulties in repatriating cash earned outside the U.S. and otherwise preventing us
from freely moving cash;

e import and export restrictions and changes in trade regulations;
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e political unrest, terrorism, military conflict (such as the conflict involving Russia and Ukraine), war, health and
safety epidemics (such as the COVID-19 pandemic and the 2022 mpox outbreak) or the threat of any of these
events;

*  export controls and economic sanctions administered by the U.S. Department of Commerce Bureau of Industry
and Security and the U.S. Department of the Treasury Office of Foreign Assets Control and similar regulatory
entities in other jurisdictions;

» compliance with the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, the U.K. Bribery Act, and similar anti-corruption laws in
other jurisdictions; and

* compliance with statutory equity requirements and management of tax consequences.

Moreover, geopolitical tensions in or involving countries in which we operate, such as Russia, may prevent us from
operating in certain countries or increase our costs of operating in those countries. See “—A downturn in the global
economy, especially in the United States and Europe, where a substantial majority of our revenue is generated could
adversely harm our business.” In addition, if enforcement authorities demand access to our user data, our failure to comply
could lead to our inability to operate in such countries or other punitive acts. For example, in 2018, Russia blocked access
to the messaging app Telegram after it refused to provide access to the Russian government to encrypted messages.

The occurrence of any of these or other factors or our failure to effectively manage the complexity of our global
operations could materially adversely affect our international operations, which could, in turn, negatively affect our
business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Our business and results of operations may be materially adversely affected by the recent COVID-19 pandemic, the
2022 mpox outbreak, or other similar outbreaks.

Our business could be materially adversely affected by the outbreak of a widespread health epidemic or pandemic,
including the recent COVID-19 pandemic and newly declared public health emergencies such as the 2022 mpox outbreak.
The COVID-19 pandemic has reached across the globe, resulting in the implementation of significant governmental
measures, including lockdowns, closures, quarantines, and travel bans intended to control the spread of the virus. While
some of these measures have been relaxed over the past few months in various parts of the world, ongoing social
distancing measures, and future prevention and mitigation measures, as well as the potential for some of these measures to
be reinstituted in the event of repeat waves of the virus, are likely to have an adverse impact on global economic conditions
and consumer confidence and spending, and could materially adversely affect demand, or our users’ ability to pay, for our
products and services. The 2022 mpox outbreak has spread to many regions of the world, including to regions where we
conduct our business operations. We have seen slower active user growth in areas with significant mpox outbreaks. If the
mpox outbreak continues to spread, any resulting fluctuation in our user base and user activity may have a material adverse
effect on our business operations and financial results.

A public health epidemic, pandemic or public health emergency, including COVID-19 and 2022 mpox outbreak, poses
the risk that we or our employees, contractors, vendors, and other business partners may be prevented or impaired from
conducting ordinary course business activities for an indefinite period, including due to shutdowns necessitated for the
health and well-being of our employees, the employees of business partners, or shutdowns that may be requested or
mandated by governmental authorities. In addition, in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, we have taken several
precautions that may adversely impact employee productivity, such as moving to a remote-first work environment,
imposing travel restrictions within the U.S. and internationally, and temporarily closing office locations.

A widespread epidemic, pandemic, or other health crisis could also cause significant volatility in global markets. The
COVID-19 pandemic has caused disruption in financial markets, which if it continues or intensifies, could reduce our
ability to access capital and thereby negatively impact our liquidity.

We have in the past experienced, and may in the future experience volatility in our user and revenue growth rates as a
result of the COVID-19 pandemic and the 2022 mpox outbreak. We intend to continue to execute on our strategic plans and
operational initiatives; however, the uncertainties may result in delays or modifications to these plans and initiatives. Part
of our growth strategy includes increasing the number of international users and expanding into additional geographies.
The timing and success of our international expansion may be negatively impacted by COVID-19, the 2022 mpox outbreak
or other disease outbreaks, which could impede our anticipated growth. As we experience volatility or decline in growth
rates, investors’ perceptions of our business may be adversely affected, and the trading price of our shares of Common
Stock may decline.

The ultimate extent of the impact of any epidemic, pandemic, or other health crisis on our business will depend on
multiple factors that are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted, including its severity, location and duration, and actions
taken to contain or prevent further its spread. In addition, the COVID-19 pandemic and the 2022 mpox outbreak could
increase the magnitude of many of the other risks described in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and may have other
material adverse effects on our operations that we are not currently able to predict. If our business and the markets in which
it operates experience a prolonged occurrence of adverse public health conditions, such as COVID-19, the 2022 mpox
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outbreak and other similar outbreaks, it could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of
operations.

The forecasts and projections herein are based upon certain assumptions, analyses, and estimates. If these assumptions,
analyses or estimates prove to be incorrect or inaccurate, our actual results may differ materially from those forecasted
or projected.

The forecasts and projections, including projected revenue growth, Adjusted EBITDA Margin and the anticipated
market opportunity, growth and penetration, are subject to significant uncertainty and are based on certain assumptions,
analyses and estimates, including with reference to third-party forecasts, any or all of which may prove to be incorrect or
inaccurate. These include assumptions, analyses and estimates about future pricing and future costs, all of which are
subject to a wide variety of business, regulatory and competitive risks and uncertainties. If these assumptions, analyses or
estimates prove to be incorrect or inaccurate, our actual results may differ materially from those forecasted or projected,
adversely affecting the value of Common Stock.

We depend on our key personnel and we may not be able to operate or grow our business effectively if we lose the
services of any of our key personnel or are unable to attract qualified personnel in the future.

We currently depend on the continued services and performance of our key personnel, including members of senior
management, product development and revenue teams, engineering personnel, and privacy and information security
employees, among other key staff. In addition, some of our key technologies and systems have been, or may be in the
future, custom-made for our business by our key personnel. If one or more of our senior management or other key
employees cannot or chooses not to continue their employment with us, we might not be able to replace them easily, in a
timely manner, or at all. In addition, the risk that competitors or other companies may poach our talent increases as we
continue to build our brand and become more well-known. Our key personnel likely have been, and may continue to be,
subject to poaching efforts by our competitors and other internet and high-growth companies, including well-capitalized
players in the social media and consumer internet space. The loss of key personnel, including members of management,
product development and revenue teams, engineering personnel, and privacy and information security employees, could
disrupt our operations and have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Our future success will depend upon our continued ability to identify, hire, develop, motivate, and retain highly skilled
individuals across the globe, with the continued contributions of our senior management being especially critical to our
success. We face intense competition in the industry for well-qualified, highly skilled employees and our continued ability
to compete effectively depends, in part, upon our ability to attract and retain new employees. While we have established
programs to attract new employees and provide incentives to retain existing employees, particularly our senior
management, we cannot guarantee that we will be able to attract new employees or retain the services of our senior
management or any other key employees in the future. Additionally, we believe that our culture and core values have been,
and will continue to be, a key contributor to our success and our ability to foster the innovation, creativity, and teamwork
that we believe we need to support our operations. If we fail to effectively manage our hiring needs and successfully
integrate our new hires, or if we fail to effectively manage remote work arrangements resulting from the COVID-19
pandemic, among other factors, our efficiency and ability to meet our forecasts and our ability to maintain our culture,
employee morale, productivity, and retention could suffer, and our business, financial condition, and results of operations
could be materially adversely affected.

Finally, effective succession planning will be important to our future success. If we fail to ensure the effective transfer
of senior management knowledge and to create smooth transitions involving senior management across our various
businesses, our ability to execute short and long term strategic, financial, and operating goals, as well as our business,
financial condition, and results of operations generally, could be materially adversely affected.

We have limited insurance coverage with respect to our business and operations.

Although we maintain property insurance, professional liability insurance, technology error and omission/cyber
liability insurance, and commercial general liability insurance, we cannot assure you that our insurance coverage will be
sufficient or that future coverage will be available at reasonable costs. Accordingly, we may determine that we cannot
obtain insurance on acceptable terms or at all. However, we have in the past, and may in the future, experience issues
obtaining cyber insurance that provides third-party reimbursement or obtaining such insurance on favorable terms.

In addition, our business disruption insurance covers only loss of business income sustained due to direct physical loss
or damage to property on our premises, and insurance policies covering damage to our IT infrastructure or information
technology systems are limited. Any disruptions to our IT infrastructures or systems or an uncovered business disruption
event could result in substantial cost to us and diversion of our resources.

Problems with any insurer, or the general limitations of our insurance policies, including any applicable retentions or
caps, could result in limited coverage for us and cause us to incur significant operating expenses. Additionally, if a
significant loss, judgment, claim or other event is not covered by insurance, the loss and related expenses could harm our
business, financial condition and results of operations. The occurrence of any of these or other factors could negatively
affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.
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We rely on certain key operating metrics that have not been independently verified to manage our business, we may
periodically change our metrics, and real or perceived inaccuracies in such metrics may harm our reputation and
negatively affect our business.

We regularly review metrics, such as MAUEs, to evaluate growth trends, measure our performance, and make strategic
decisions. The MAUSs are calculated using unique devices that demonstrate activity on our Grindr App on a calendar month
basis and the devices counted may not exactly correlate to the number of users of our Grindr App. The MAUs are also
calculated using internal company data gathered on analytics platforms that we developed or deployed and operate, and
they have not been validated by an independent third party. In addition, our internal systems measure MAUs by detecting
user activity when users open our Grindr App on their devices, regardless of whether the users engage in any further
activities using the application, and therefore these metrics cannot measure the extent to which our users use our products
and services, or accurately estimate the impact that it may have on our financial results. See “Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Key Operating and Financial Metrics” for more details.
While these metrics are based on what we believe to be reasonable estimates of our user base for the applicable periods,
there are inherent challenges in measuring how our products and services are used across large populations globally and in
accounting for spam accounts (as opposed to genuine users). Our user metrics are also affected by technology on certain
mobile devices that automatically runs in the background of our Grindr App when another phone function is used, and this
activity can cause our system to miscount the user metrics associated with such an account. The methodologies used to
measure these metrics require significant judgment and are also susceptible to algorithm or other technical errors. In
addition, we are continually seeking to improve our estimates of our user base, and such estimates may change due to
improvements or changes in our methodology.

Errors or inaccuracies in our metrics or data could also result in incorrect business decisions and inefficiencies. For
instance, if a significant understatement or overstatement of MAUs were to occur, we may expend resources to implement
unnecessary business measures or fail to take required actions to attract a sufficient number of users to satisfy our growth
strategies. We continually seek to address technical issues in our ability to record such data and improve our accuracy, but
given the complexity of the systems involved, the rapidly changing nature of mobile devices and systems, how our
platform manages identity, and the way our users use the Grindr App, we expect these issues to continue. We are currently
exploring and developing an alternative identifier in an effort to capture different use cases on our platform, such as when a
user logs into their account from multiple devices or when users periodically uninstall and then reinstall our Grindr App.
This identifier may not be applicable retroactively to historical data. This technology is still nascent, and it may be some
time before we determine the resultant data is reliable or useful. To the extent we switch to reporting MAU data in the
future based on this alternative identifier, it may be difficult for investors to evaluate period over period comparisons of
these metrics. We may periodically change the metrics we use for internal or external reporting purposes. If advertisers,
partners, or investors do not perceive our user, geographic, or other demographic metrics to be accurate representations of
our user base, or if we discover material inaccuracies in our user, geographic, or other demographic metrics, our reputation
may be senously harmed. If customers, platform partners, or investors do not perceive our user, geographlc or other
demographic metrics to be accurate representations of our user base or user engagement, or if we discover material
inaccuracies in our user, geographic, or other demographic metrics, our reputation may be materially adversely impacted
and users, platform partners, and investors may be less willing to allocate their resources or spending to our Grindr App,
any of which could materially negatively affect our business, financial condition, and results of operation.

Foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations could materially adversely affect our results of operations.

We operate in various international markets. During the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, our international
revenue represented 37.4% and 35.8% of our total revenue, respectively. We translate international revenues into U.S.
dollar-denominated operating results, and during periods of a strengthening U.S. dollar, our international revenues will be
reduced when translated into U.S. dollars. In addition, as foreign currency exchange rates fluctuate, the translation of our
international revenues into U.S. dollar-denominated operating results affects the period-over-period comparability of such
results and can result in foreign currency exchange gains and losses.

We have exposure to foreign currency exchange risk related to transactions carried out in a currency other than the
U.S. dollar, and investments in foreign subsidiaries with a functional currency other than the U.S. dollar.

Brexit has caused, and may continue to cause, volatility in currency exchange rates between the U.S. dollar and the
British pound, or GBP, and the full impact of Brexit remains uncertain. To the extent that the U.S. dollar strengthens
relative to the GBP, the translation of our international revenues into U.S. dollars will reduce its U.S. dollar denominated
operating results and will affect their period-over-period comparability. See “—Risks Related to Regulation and
Litigation—Legal, political, and economic uncertainty surrounding the exit of the United Kingdom from the European
Union, or Brexit, and the implementation of the trade and cooperation agreement between the United Kingdom and the
European Union could have a material adverse effect on our business.”

Significant foreign exchange rate fluctuations, in the case of one currency or collectively with other currencies, could
materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.
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Risks Related to Information Technology Systems and Intellectual Property

Security breaches, unauthorized access to or disclosure of our data or user data, other hacking and phishing attacks on
our systems, or other data security incidents could compromise sensitive information related to our business and/or user
personal data processed by us or on our behalf and expose us to liability, which could harm our reputation, generate
negative publicity, and materially and adversely affect our business.

Our products and services and the operation of our business involve the collection, storage, processing, and
transmission of data, including personal data regarding our users. The information systems that store and process such data
are susceptible to increasing threats of continually evolving cybersecurity risks. Cyber-attacks by third parties seeking
unauthorized access to confidential or sensitive data, including personal data regarding our users, or seeking to disrupt our
ability to provide services, have become prevalent in our industry. We may also face attempts to create false or undesirable
user accounts or take other actions for the purposes of spamming, spreading misinformation or other objectionable ends.
Given our Grindr App's popularity and user demographics, bad actors may attempt to target or exploit our systems or users.
We face an ever-increasing number of threats to our information systems from a broad range of potential bad actors,
including foreign governments, criminals, competitors, computer hackers, cyber terrorists, and politically or socially
motivated groups or individuals, and we have previously experienced various attempts to access our information systems.
These threats include physical or electronic break-ins, security breaches from inadvertent or intentional actions by our
employees, contractors, consultants, and/or other third parties with otherwise legitimate access to our systems, website, or
facilities, or from cyber-attacks by malicious third parties which could breach our data security and disrupt our systems.
The motivations of such actors may vary, but breaches that compromise our information technology systems can cause
interruptions, delays, or operational malfunctions, which, in turn, could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition, and results of operations.

In addition, the risks related to a security breach or disruption, including through a distributed denial-of-service, or
DDoS, attack, computer and mobile malware, worms, viruses, social engineering (predominantly spear phishing attacks),
attempts to misappropriate customer information, including credit card information and account login credentials, and
general hacking, have become more prevalent in our industry and these risks have generally increased as the number,
intensity, and sophistication of attempted attacks and intrusions from around the world have increased. Ransomware
attacks, including those perpetrated by organized criminal threat actors, nation-states, and nation-state supported actors, are
also becoming increasingly prevalent and severe and can lead to significant interruptions in our operations, loss of data and
income, reputational harm, and diversion of funds. Extortion payments may alleviate the negative impact of a ransomware
attack, but we may be unwilling or unable to make such payments due to, for example, applicable laws or regulations
prohibiting payments.

Security incidents or disruptions have occurred on our systems in the past, and they will continue to occur in the future
and may be inherently difficult to detect for long periods of time. As a result of our market leader position, the size of our
user base, and the types and volume of personal data on our systems, we believe that we are a particularly attractive target
for such breaches and attacks, including from highly sophisticated, state-sponsored, or otherwise well-funded actors.
Though it is difficult to determine what, if any, harm may directly result from any specific interruption or attack, any
failure to maintain performance, reliability, security, and availability of our products and services and technical
infrastructure to the satisfaction of our users may harm our reputation and our ability to retain existing users and attract
new users, as well as generate negative publicity.

Although we have devoted and continue to devote significant resources to protect our data and user data, we cannot
assure you that such measures will provide absolute security and we may also incur significant costs in protecting against
or remediating cyberattacks. In addition, some of the user data we collected is stored in facilities provided by third parties
which are beyond our control. Any failure to prevent or mitigate security breaches and unauthorized access to or disclosure
of our data or user data, including personal information, content, or payment information from users, or information from
marketers, could result in the loss, modification, disclosure, destruction, or other misuse of such data, which could subject
us to legal liability, including investigations by regulatory authorities and/or litigation that could result in liability to third
parties, harm our business and reputation, and diminish our competitive position. We may incur significant costs in
protecting against or remediating such incidents and as cybersecurity incidents continue to evolve, we may be required to
expend significant additional resources to continue to modify or enhance our protective measure or to investigate and
remediate any information security vulnerabilities. Our efforts to protect our confidential and sensitive data, the data of our
users or other personal information we receive, and to disable undesirable activities on our platform, may also be
unsuccessful due to software bugs or other technical malfunctions; employee, contractor, or vendor error or malfeasance,
including defects or vulnerabilities in our service providers’ information technology systems or offerings; government
surveillance; breaches of physical security of our facilities or technical infrastructure; or other threats that may surface or
evolve.

In addition, third parties may attempt to fraudulently induce employees or users to disclose information to gain access
to our data or our users’ data. Although we have developed systems and processes that are designed to protect our data and
user data, to prevent data loss, to disable undesirable accounts and activities on our platform, and to prevent or detect
security breaches, we cannot assure you that such measures will be successful, that we will be able to anticipate or detect
all cyber-attacks or other breaches, that we will be able to react to cyber-attacks or other breaches in a timely manner, or
that our remediation efforts will be successful. We may also incur significant legal and financial exposure, including legal
claims, higher transaction fees, and regulatory fines and penalties because of any compromise or breach of our systems or
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data security, or the systems and data security of our third-party providers. Any of the foregoing could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Moreover, supply-chain attacks have increased in frequency and severity, and we cannot guarantee that third parties
and infrastructure in our supply chain have not been compromised or that they do not contain exploitable defects or bugs
that could result in a breach of or disruption to our information technology systems (including our products and services) or
the third-party information technology systems that support us and our services. Some of our partners may receive or store
information provided by us or by our users through mobile or web applications integrated with our Grindr App, and we use
third-party service providers to store, transmit, and otherwise process certain confidential, sensitive, or personal
information on our behalf. If these third parties fail to adopt or adhere to adequate data security practices, or in the event of
a breach of their networks, our data or our users’ data may be improperly accessed, used, or disclosed, which could subject
us to legal liability. We cannot control such third parties and cannot guarantee that a security breach will not occur on their
systems. Although we may have contractual protections with our third-party service providers, contractors, and consultants,
any actual or perceived security breach could harm our reputation and brand, expose us to potential liability or require us to
expend significant resources on data security and in responding to any such actual or perceived breach. Any contractual
protections we may have from our third-party service providers, contractors, or consultants may not be sufficient to
adequately protect us from any such liabilities and losses, and we may be unable to enforce any such contractual
protections.

While our insurance policies include liability coverage for certain of these matters, if we experience a significant
security incident, we could be subject to liability or other damages that exceed our insurance coverage and we cannot be
certain that such insurance policies will continue to be available to us on economically reasonable terms, or at all, or that
any insurer will not deny coverage as to any future claim. See “—Risks Related to our Brand, Products and Services, and
Operations—We have limited insurance coverage with respect to our business and operations.” The successful assertion of
one or more large claims against us that exceed available insurance coverage, or the occurrence of changes in our insurance
policies, including premium increases or the imposition of large deductible or coinsurance requirements, could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

The occurrence of any of these or other factors could negatively affect our business, financial condition, and results of
operations.

Our success depends, in part, on the integrity of our information technology systems and infrastructures and on our
ability to enhance, expand, and adapt these systems and infrastructures in a timely and cost-effective manner.

Our reputation and ability to attract, retain, and serve users depends on the reliable performance of our products and
services and our underlying technology infrastructure. Our products and services and systems rely on highly technical and
complex software and hardware, and they depend on the ability of such software and hardware to store, retrieve, process,
and manage immense amounts of data. While we have not experienced any material outages in the recent past, we have in
the past experienced performance delays and other glitches, and we expect to face similar issues in the future. In addition,
our systems may not be adequately designed with the necessary reliability and redundancy to avoid performance delays,
other glitches, or outages that could make some or all of our systems or data temporarily unavailable and prevent our
products and services from functioning properly for our users. Any such interruption could arise for any number of reasons,
including human errors, and could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of
operations.

Moreover, our systems and infrastructures are vulnerable to damage from fire, power loss, hardware and operating
software errors, cyber-attacks, technical limitations, telecommunications failures, acts of God, and similar events. While
we have back-up systems in place for certain aspects of our operations, not all of our systems and infrastructures have
redundancies or back-up systems. In addition, disaster recovery planning can never account for all possible eventualities
and our property and business interruption insurance coverage may not be adequate to compensate us fully for any losses
that we may suffer. Any interruptions or outages, regardless of the cause, could negatively impact our users’ experiences
with our products and services, tarnish our reputations and decrease demand for our products and services, and result in
significant negative publicity, any of which could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results
of operations. Moreover, even if detected, the resolution of such interruptions may take a long time, during which
customers may not be able to access, or may have limited access to, our products and services.

We also continually work to expand and enhance the efficiency and scalability of our technology and network systems
to improve the experience of our users, accommodate substantial increases in the volume of traffic to our various products
and services, ensure acceptable load times for our products and services, and keep up with changes in technology and user
preferences. Any failure to do so in a timely and cost-effective manner could materially adversely affect our users’
experience with our various products and services, thereby negatively impacting the demand for our products and services,
and could increase our costs, any of which could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of
operations.
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If the security of personal and confidential or sensitive user information that we maintain and store is breached, or
otherwise accessed by unauthorized persons, it may be costly to remediate such breach, it may generate negative
publicity, and our reputation could be harmed.

We receive, process, store, and transmit a significant amount of personal information regarding our users and other
confidential or sensitive information, including user-to-user communications, and personal information of our employees
and users, and enable our users to share their personal information, including some which may be interpreted as special or
sensitive information under certain privacy and data protection regulations, with each other through their public Grindr
profiles or private in-App messages. In some cases, we engage third-party service providers to store this information. We
continuously develop and maintain systems to protect the security, integrity, and confidentiality of this information, but we
have experienced past incidents of inadvertent or unauthorized use or disclosure of such information. See “—Risks Related
to our Brand, Products and Services, and Operations—Unfavorable media coverage could materially and adversely affect
our business, brand, or reputation.” In addition, we may in the future experience additional incidents of inadvertent or
unauthorized use or disclosure of information, or third parties may gain unauthorized access to information despite our
efforts. When such incidents occur, we may not be able to remedy them, we may be required by law to notify regulators
and individuals whose personal information was used or disclosed without authorization, we may be subject to claims
against us, including government enforcement actions or investigations, fines and litigation, we may be subject to negative
publicity, and we may have to expend significant capital and other resources to mitigate the impact of such events,
including developing and implementing protections to prevent future events of this nature from occurring. When breaches
of our or our third-party service providers’ and partners’ information technology systems occur or unauthorized access to
any of the confidential, sensitive, or other personal information that we collect or process occurs, the perception of the
effectiveness of our security measures, the security measures of our partners, and our reputation may be harmed, we may
lose current and potential users and the recognition of our brand and our brand’s competitive positions may be diminished,
any of which could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

The occurrence of any of these or other factors could negatively affect our business, financial condition, and results of
operations.

We are subject to risks related to credit card payments, including data security breaches and fraud that we or third
parties experience or additional regulation, any of which could materially adversely affect our business, financial
condition, and results of operations.

In addition to purchases through the Apple App Store and the Google Play Store, we accept payment from our users
through certain other online payment service providers, and we expect to explore and implement additional payment
mechanisms based in part upon Apple’s recent announcement that it would allow app developers to process payments for
subscriptions and other premium add-ons outside of Apple’s payment system. See “—Risks Related to our Brand, Products
and Services, and Operations—We rely primarily on the Apple App Store and Google Play Store as the channels for
processing of payments. In addition, access to our products and services depends on mobile app stores and other third
parties such as data center service providers, as well as third party payment aggregators, computer systems, internet
transit providers and other communications systems and service providers. Any deterioration in our relationship with
Apple, Google either of them or other such third parties may negatively impact our business.” The ability to process credit
card information or other account charges on a real-time basis without having to proactively reach out to the consumer each
time we process an auto-renewal payment or a payment for the purchase of a premium feature on any of our products and
services will be critical to our success and to a seamless experience for our users. When we experience or a third party
experiences a data security breach involving credit card information, affected cardholders will often cancel their credit
cards. In the case of a breach experienced by a third party, the more sizable the third party’s customer base and the greater
the number of credit card accounts impacted, the more likely it is that our users would be impacted by such a breach. To the
extent our users are ever affected by such a breach experienced by us or a third party, affected users would need to be
contacted to obtain new credit card information and process any pending transactions. It is likely that we would not be able
to reach all affected users, and even if we could, some users’ new credit card information may not be obtained and some
pending transactions may not be processed, which could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, and
results of operations.

In addition, even if our users are not directly impacted by a given data security breach, they may lose confidence in the
ability of service providers to protect their personal information generally, which could cause them to stop using their
credit cards online and choose alternative payment methods that are not as convenient for us or restrict our ability to
process payments without significant cost or user effort.

Moreover, if we fail to adequately prevent fraudulent credit card transactions, we may face litigation, fines,
governmental enforcement action, civil liability, diminished public perception of our security measures, significantly
higher credit card-related costs and substantial remediation costs, or refusal by credit card processors to continue to process
payments on our behalf, any of which could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of
operations.

Finally, the passage or adoption of any legislation or regulation affecting the ability of service providers to periodically
charge consumers for, among other things, recurring subscription payments may materially adversely affect our business,
financial condition, and results of operations. In addition, many U.S. states are considering similar legislation or regulation,
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or changes to existing legislation or regulation governing subscription payments. While we will monitor and attempt to
comply with these legal developments, we may in the future be subject to claims under such legislation or regulation.

The occurrence of any of these or other factors could negatively affect our business, financial condition, and results of
operations.

Our success depends, in part, on the integrity of third-party systems and infrastructures and on continued and
unimpeded access to our products and services on the internet.

We rely on third parties, primarily data center and cloud-based, hosted web service providers, such as Amazon Web
Services, as well as software development services, computer systems, internet transit providers, and other communications
systems and service providers, in connection with the provision of our products and services generally, as well as to
facilitate and process certain transactions with our users. See “—Risks Related to our Brand, Products and Services, and
Operations—The distribution, marketing of, and access to our products and services depends, in large part, on third-party
platforms and mobile application stores, among other third-party providers. If these third parties limit, prohibit, or
otherwise interfere with the distribution or use of our products and services in any material way, it could adversely affect
our business, financial condition, and results of operations.” We have no control over any of these third parties or their
operations. While we seek actively reduce risk by trying to minimize reliance on any single third party or our operations,
and by creating back-up systems where possible, we cannot guarantee that third-party providers will not experience system
interruptions, outages or delays, or deterioration in the performance.

Problems or insolvency experienced by any of these third-party providers, the telecommunications network providers
with which we or they contract, the systems through which telecommunications providers allocate capacity among their
customers, or any other providers or related services, could also materially and adversely affect us. Any changes in service
levels at our data centers or any interruptions, outages, or delays in our systems or those of our third-party providers, or
deterioration in the performance of these systems, could impair our ability to provide our products and services or process
transactions with our users, which could materially adversely impact our business, financial condition, and results of
operations. In addition, if we need to migrate our business to different third-party providers because of any such problems
or insolvency, it could impact our ability to retain our existing users or add new users, among other materially adverse
effects. See “—Risks Related to our Brand, Products and Services, and Operations—If we fail to retain existing users or
add new users, or if our users decrease their level of engagement with our products and services or do not convert to
Paying Users, our revenue, financial results, and business may be significantly harmed.”

The occurrence of any of these or other factors could negatively affect our business, financial condition, and results of
operations.

Our products and services and internal systems rely on highly technical software and, if it contains undetected errors or
vulnerabilities, we could be subject to liability and our business could be materially adversely affected.

As explained above, our products and services and internal systems rely on highly technical and complex software,
including software developed or maintained internally and/or by third parties. In addition, our products and services and
internal systems depend on the ability of such software to store, retrieve, process, and manage immense amounts of data.
The software on which we rely has contained, and may now and in the future contain, undetected errors, bugs, or
vulnerabilities. Some errors may only be discovered after the code has been released for external or internal use and can
manifest in any number of ways in our products and services, including through diminished performance, security
vulnerabilities, malfunctions, or even permanently disabled products and services. Errors, bugs, vulnerabilities, or other
defects within the software on which we rely have in the past, and may in the future, result in a negative experience for
users and marketers who use our products and services, delay product introductions or enhancements, result in targeting,
measurement, or billing errors, compromise our ability to protect the data of our users and/or our intellectual property,
result in negative publicity, or lead to reductions in our ability to provide some or all of our services. In addition, any
errors, bugs, vulnerabilities, or defects discovered in the software on which we rely, and any associated degradations or
interruptions of service, could result in damage to our reputation, loss of users, loss of revenue, or liability for damages,
any of which could adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

We could also face claims for product liability, tort, breach of warranty, or other causes of action. Although our Terms
and Conditions of Service contain provisions relating to warranty disclaimers and liability limitations, among other
provisions our Terms and Conditions of Service or, these contractual terms may not be upheld or enforceable in all
jurisdictions in which we distribute our products and services, and they may not offer us any protections from liability in
potential legal action. In addition, defending a lawsuit, regardless of its merit, is costly and may divert management’s
attention and seriously harm our reputation and our business. Moreover, if our liability insurance coverage proves
inadequate or future coverage is unavailable on acceptable terms or at all, our business could be adversely affected. See “—
Risks Related to our Brand, Products and Services, and Operations—We have limited insurance coverage with respect to
our business and operations.”

The occurrence of any of these or other factors could negatively affect our business, financial condition, and results of
operations.
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From time to time, we are party to intellectual property-related litigations and proceedings that are expensive and time
consuming to defend, and, if resolved adversely, could materially adversely impact our business, financial condition,
and results of operations.

We may become party to disputes from time to time over rights and obligations concerning our intellectual property or
intellectual property held by third parties, and we may not prevail in these disputes. Companies on the internet, technology,
and social media industries are frequently involved in litigation based upon allegations of infringement of intellectual
property rights, unfair competition, invasion of privacy, defamation, and other violations of other parties’ rights. Many
companies in these industries, including many of our competitors, have substantially larger intellectual property portfolios
than we do (and substantially more resources), which could make us a target for litigation as we may not be able to assert
counterclaims against parties that sue us for infringement, misappropriation, or other violations of patent or other
intellectual property rights. In addition, various “non-practicing entities” that own patents and other intellectual property
rights often attempt to assert claims to extract value from technology companies. Given that these patent holding
companies or other adverse intellectual property rights holders typically have no relevant product revenue, our own issued
or pending patents and other intellectual property rights may provide little or no deterrence to these rights holders in
bringing intellectual property rights claims against us. From time to time we receive claims from third parties which allege
that we have infringed upon their intellectual property rights, and we have also been a party to several patent infringement
litigations from such third parties. Further, from time to time we may introduce new products and services, product features
and services, including in areas where we currently do not have an offering, which could increase our exposure to patent
and other intellectual property claims from competitors and non-practicing entities. In addition, some of our agreements
with third-party partners require us to indemnify them for certain intellectual property claims asserted against them, which
could require us to incur considerable costs in defending such claims and may require us to pay significant damages in the
event of an adverse ruling. Such third-party partners may also discontinue their relationships with us because of injunctions
or otherwise, which could result in loss of revenue and adversely impact our business operations.

In addition, although we try to ensure that our employees and consultants do not use the proprietary information or
know-how of others in their work for us, we may be subject to claims that we or our employees or consultants have
inadvertently or otherwise used or disclosed intellectual property, including trade secrets, software code or other
proprietary information, of a former employer or other third parties. Litigation may be necessary to defend against these
claims and, if we fail in defending any such claims, in addition to paying monetary damages, we may lose valuable
intellectual property rights or personnel. Furthermore, although we generally require our employees and contractors who
may be involved in the conception or development of intellectual property to execute agreements assigning such
intellectual property to us, we may be unsuccessful in executing such an agreement with each party who, in fact, conceives
or develops intellectual property that we regard as our own. Moreover, any such assignment of intellectual property rights
may not be self-executing, the assignment agreements may be breached or the agreements may not effectively assign
ownership of relevant intellectual property rights to us, and we may be forced to bring claims against third parties, or
defend claims that they may bring against us, to determine the ownership of what we regard as our intellectual property.

As we face increasing competition and develop new products and services, we expect the number of patent and other
intellectual property claims against us may grow. There may be intellectual property or other rights held by others,
including issued or pending patents, that cover significant aspects of our products and services, and we cannot be sure that
we are not infringing or violating, and have not infringed or violated, any third-party intellectual property rights or that we
will not be held to have done so or be accused of doing so in the future.

Any litigation of this nature, regardless of outcome or merit, could result in substantial costs and diversion of
management and technical resources. Some of our competitors have substantially greater resources than we do and can
sustain the costs of complex intellectual property litigation to a greater degree and for longer periods of time than we could.
The outcome of any litigation is inherently uncertain, and there can be no assurances that favorable final outcomes will be
obtained in all cases. In addition, third parties may seek, and we may become subject to, preliminary or provisional rulings
during any such litigation, including potential preliminary injunctions requiring us to cease some or all of our operations.
We may decide to settle such lawsuits and disputes on terms that are unfavorable to us or that require us to make material
changes to our business. Similarly, if any litigation to which we are a party is resolved adversely, we may be subject to an
unfavorable judgment that may not be reversed upon appeal, including being subject to a permanent injunction and being
required to pay substantial monetary damages, including treble damages and attorneys’ fees, if we are found to have
willfully infringed a party’s intellectual property rights. The terms of such a settlement or judgment may require us to cease
some or all of our operations or pay substantial amounts to the other party. In addition, we may have to seek a license to
continue practices found to be in violation of a third-party’s rights. If we are required or choose to enter into royalty or
licensing arrangements, such arrangements may not be available on reasonable terms, or at all, and may significantly
increase our operating costs and expenses. Such arrangements may also only be available on a non-exclusive basis such
that third parties, including our competitors, could have access to the same licensed technology to compete with us. As a
result, we may also be required to develop or procure alternative non-infringing technology, which could require significant
effort, time and expense or discontinue use of the technology or practices, which could negatively affect the user
experience or may not be feasible. There also can be no assurance that we would be able to develop or license suitable
alternative technology to permit us to continue offering the affected products or services. If we cannot develop or license
alternative technology for any allegedly infringing aspect of our business, we would be forced to limit our products and
services and may be unable to compete effectively. Furthermore, because of the substantial amount of discovery required in
connection with intellectual property litigation, there is a risk that some of our confidential information could be
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compromised by disclosure during this type of litigation. Any of the foregoing, and any unfavorable resolution of such
disputes and litigation, would materially and adversely impact our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

The occurrence of any of these or other factors could negatively affect our business, financial condition, and results of
operations.

We may fail to adequately protect our intellectual property rights or to prevent third parties from making unauthorized
use of such rights, and our registered intellectual property is subject to challenge.

Our intellectual property is a material asset of our business, and our success depends in part on our ability to protect
our proprietary rights and intellectual property. For example, we heavily rely upon our trademarks, designs, copyrights, and
related domain names, social media handles, and logos to market our brand and to build and maintain brand loyalty and
recognition. We rely upon patented and patent-pending proprietary technologies and trade secrets, as well as a combination
of laws, and contractual restrictions, including confidentiality agreements with employees, customers, users, suppliers,
affiliates, and others, to establish, protect, and enforce our various intellectual property rights. For example, we have
generally registered and continue to apply to register and renew, or secure by contract where appropriate, trademarks and
service marks as they are developed and used, and reserve, register, and renew domain names and social media handles as
we deem appropriate. If our trademarks and trade names are not adequately protected, then we may not be able to build and
maintain name recognition in our markets of interest and our business may be adversely affected. In addition, effective
intellectual property protection may not be available or may not be sought in every country in which our products and
services are made available, or in every class of goods and services in which we operate, and contractual disputes may
affect the use of marks governed by private contract. Our registered or unregistered trademarks or trade names may be
challenged, infringed, circumvented, declared generic, or determined to be infringing on other marks. Our competitors may
also adopt trade names or trademarks like ours, thereby impeding our ability to build brand identity and possibly leading to
market confusion. Similarly, not every variation of a domain name or social media handle may be available or be registered
by us, even if available. The occurrence of any of these events could result in the erosion of our brand and limit our ability
to market our brand using our various domain names and social media handles, as well as impede our ability to effectively
compete against competitors with similar technologies or products and services, any of which could materially adversely
affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

We cannot guarantee that our efforts to obtain and maintain intellectual property rights are adequate, that we have
secured, or will be able to secure, appropriate permissions or protections for all of the intellectual property rights we use or
rely on. Even in cases where we seek intellectual property registration or other protections, there is no assurance that the
resulting registration, issuance or other protection will effectively protect every significant feature of our products and
services. Moreover, even if we can obtain intellectual property rights, any challenge to our intellectual property rights could
result in them being narrowed in scope or declared invalid or unenforceable. In addition, third parties may also knowingly
or unknowingly infringe our proprietary rights, third parties may challenge proprietary rights held by us, and pending and
future trademark and patent applications may not be approved. Other parties may also independently develop technologies
that are substantially similar or superior to ours and we may not be able to stop such parties from using such independently
developed technologies from competing with us. These circumstances make it challenging for us to protect our intellectual
property rights and may materially adversely impact our business.

In addition, our intellectual property rights and the enforcement or defense of such rights may be affected by
developments or uncertainty in laws and regulations relating to intellectual property rights. Moreover, many companies
have encountered, and may in the future encounter, significant problems in protecting and defending intellectual property
rights in foreign jurisdictions, particularly in emerging markets. The legal systems of some foreign jurisdictions may not
favor the enforcement of patents, trade secrets, and other intellectual property protection, which could make it difficult for
us to stop the infringement, misappropriation, or other violation of our intellectual property or marketing of competing
products and services in violation of our intellectual property rights generally.

We also may be forced to bring claims against third parties to determine the ownership of what we regard as our
intellectual property or to enforce our intellectual property against infringement, misappropriation, or other violations by
third parties. However, the measures we take to protect our intellectual property from unauthorized use by others may not
be effective and there can be no assurance that our intellectual property rights will be sufficient to protect against others
offering products or services that are substantially similar or superior to ours and that compete with our business. We may
not prevail in any intellectual property-related proceedings that we initiate against third parties. In addition, in any such
proceedings or in proceedings before patent, trademark, and copyright agencies, our asserted intellectual property could be
found to be invalid or unenforceable, in which case we could lose valuable intellectual property rights. Moreover, even if
we are successful in enforcing our intellectual property against third parties, the damages or other remedies awarded, if any,
may not be commercially meaningful. Regardless of whether any such proceedings are resolved in our favor, such
proceedings could cause us to incur significant expenses and could disrupt our business and distract our personnel from
their normal responsibilities. Accordingly, our efforts to enforce our intellectual property rights around the world may be
inadequate to obtain a significant commercial advantage from the intellectual property that we develop or license.

In addition, despite any measures we take to protect our intellectual property, our intellectual property rights may still
not be protected in a meaningful manner, challenges to contractual rights could arise, or third parties could copy or
otherwise obtain and use our intellectual property without authorization. The occurrence of any of these events could result
in the erosion of our brand and limit our ability to market our products and services using our intellectual property, as well
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as impede our ability to effectively compete against competitors with similar technologies, any of which could adversely
affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations. The occurrence of any of these or other factors could
negatively affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

We have obtained certain patents that are material to the operation of our applications, e.g., our patent titled “Systems
and methods for providing location-based cascading displays” (the “Cascade Patent”). However, we cannot offer any
assurances that the Cascade Patent or any other patent we may obtain in the future may be found valid or enforceable if
challenged or otherwise threatened by third parties. Any successful opposition to these patents or any other patents owned
by or, if applicable in the future, licensed to us could deprive us of rights necessary for the successful commercialization of
products and services that we may develop. Since patent applications in the United States and most other countries are
confidential for a period of time after filing (in most cases 18 months after the filing of the priority application), we cannot
be certain that we were the first to file on the technologies covered in several of the patent applications related to our
technologies or products and services. Furthermore, a derivation proceeding can be provoked by a third party, or instituted
by the United States Patent and Trademark Office (“USPTQO”), to determine who was the first to invent any of the subject
matter covered by the patent claims of our applications.

Patent law can be highly uncertain and involve complex legal and factual questions for which important principles
remain unresolved. In the United States and in many international jurisdictions, policy regarding the breadth of claims
allowed in patents can be inconsistent and/or unclear. The United States Supreme Court and the Court of Appeals for the
Federal Circuit have made, and will likely continue to make, changes in how the patent laws of the United States are
interpreted. Similarly, international courts and governments have made, and will continue to make, changes in how the
patent laws in their respective countries are interpreted. We cannot predict future changes in the interpretation of patent
laws by United States and international judicial bodies or changes to patent laws that might be enacted into law by United
States and international legislative bodies.

Moreover, in the United States, the Leahy-Smith America Invents Act, or the Leahy-Smith Act, enacted in September
2011, brought significant changes to the United States patent system, including a change from a “first to invent” system to
a “first to file” system. Other changes in the Leahy-Smith Act affect the way patent applications are prosecuted, redefine
prior art and may affect patent litigation. The USPTO developed new regulations and procedures to govern administration
of the Leahy-Smith Act, and many of the substantive changes to patent law associated with the Leahy-Smith Act became
effective on March 16, 2013. The Leahy-Smith Act and its implementation could increase the uncertainties and costs
surrounding the prosecution of our patent applications and the enforcement or defense of our issued patents, which could
have a material adverse effect on our business and financial condition.

Our use of “open-source” software could subject our proprietary software to general release, adversely affect our ability
to sell our products and services, and subject us to possible legal action.

From time to time, we make software source code and other technology we develop available for licensing under
open-source licenses. In addition, we or third parties include open-source software in connection with a portion of our
products and services, and we expect to continue to use open-source software in the future. Open-source software is
generally licensed by its authors or other third parties under open-source licenses. From time to time, companies that use
third-party open-source software have faced claims challenging the use of such open-source software and requesting
compliance with the open-source software license terms.

Furthermore, from time to time, we may face claims from others challenging our use of open-source software,
claiming ownership of, or seeking to enforce the license terms applicable to such open-source software, including by
demanding release of the open-source software, derivative works, or the proprietary source code that we have developed
using such software. We may also be subject to suits by parties claiming ownership of what we believe to be open-source
software or claiming non-compliance with the applicable open-source licensing terms. These claims could result in
litigation and could require us to make our software source code freely available, seek licenses from third parties to
continue offering our products and services for certain uses, or cease offering the products and services associated with the
open-source software unless and until we can re-engineer them to avoid infringement, any of which may materially
adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations. In addition, if the license terms for the open-
source code change, we may be forced to re-engineer our software or incur additional costs, which could be very costly.
Moreover, the terms of many open-source licenses to which we are subject have not been interpreted by U.S. or foreign
courts. Accordingly, we face a risk that open-source software licenses could be construed in a manner that imposes
unanticipated conditions or restrictions on our ability to market or provide our products and services.

In addition, the use of third-party open-source software typically exposes us to greater risks than the use of third-party
commercial software because open-source licensors generally do not provide warranties or controls on the functionality or
origin of the software. Use of open-source software may also present additional security risks because the public
availability of such software may make it easier for hackers and other third parties to determine how to compromise our
platform.

The occurrence of any of these or other factors could negatively affect our business, financial condition, and results of
operations.
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If the use of third-party cookies or other tracking technology is rejected by our users, restricted by third parties outside
of our control, or otherwise subject to unfavorable regulation, our performance could be negatively impacted and we
could incur revenue loss.

We employ a number of technologies that collect information about our users. For instance, we use third-party
Software Development Kits (“SDKs”) within our Grindr App. SDKs are industry-standard technology which allows app
developers to develop applications for specific platforms. SDKs also allow app developers to enhance app functionality
and offer features such as advertising, account creation via third-party platforms (e.g., Login with Google), and user
analytics. Similar to SDKs on our mobile app, we utilize small text files, commonly referred to as “cookies,” placed
through a browser on a user’s machine which corresponds to a data set that we keep on our servers, to gather relevant data
when users visit our website. Our cookies collect personal information regarding the user’s visits and experiences, such as
location-based information about the user’s device through the use of our cookies and other tracking technologies. We use
these technologies to provide a more seamless user experience and collect, aggregate and/or detect and prevent irregular or
fraudulent activities. However, users may delete or block cookies in their internet browsers, and users can decline consent
for certain non-essential SDKs via our mobile consent management platform (“CMP”). In addition, companies such as
Google have disclosed their intention to move away from third-party cookies to another form of persistent unique
identifier, or ID, to identify individual internet users or internet-connected devices. If our cookies cannot function as
designed or companies do not use shared IDs across the entire ecosystem, then our ability to recognize, record or track
users could be negatively affected, which may reduce the effectiveness of our services and marketing efforts.

We may also experience challenges in obtaining appropriate consent to our use of cookies from users, which may
adversely affect our operations and business. In addition, we may not be able to develop or implement additional tools that
compensate for the lack of data associated with cookies. Even if we are able to do so, such additional tools may be subject
to further regulation, time consuming to develop or costly to obtain, and less effective than the current use of cookies,
which may, in turn, materially and adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Risks Related to Regulation and Litigation

We have identified a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting which, if not corrected, could
affect the reliability of our consolidated financial statements, and have other adverse consequences.

As discussed elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we completed the Business Combination on November
18, 2022. Prior to the Business Combination, we were a special purpose acquisition company formed for the purpose of
effecting a merger, capital stock exchange, asset acquisition, stock purchase, reorganization or other similar business
combination with one or more operating businesses. As a result, previously existing internal controls are no longer
applicable or comprehensive enough as of the assessment date as our operations prior to the Business Combination were
insignificant compared to those of the consolidated entity post-Business Combination. The design of internal controls over
financial reporting for the Company post-Business Combination has required and will continue to require significant time
and resources from management and other personnel. As a result, management was unable, without incurring unreasonable
effort or expense to conduct an assessment of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022.
Accordingly, we are excluding management’s report on internal control over financial reporting pursuant to Section 215.02
of the SEC Division of Corporation Finance's Regulation S-K Compliance & Disclosure Interpretations.

A material weakness is a deficiency or combination of deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting such that
there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of our consolidated financial statements would not be
prevented or detected on a timely basis. As of December 31, 2022, a material weakness in our internal control over
financial reporting was identified in relation to the accuracy and timeliness of our financial statement closing process. In
connection with the Business Combination, we began to implement actions to remediate the material weakness and our
planned measures include the following:

*  hiring additional personnel to bolster our accounting capabilities and capacity;

»  designing and implementing appropriate modules in our financial systems to automate manual reconciliations and
calculations; and

» evaluating, designing and implementing the internal controls and procedures with respect to the closing process,
including the measures stated above, to limit human judgment and clerical errors and enhance adequacy of
reviews to assure timely and accurate financial reporting.

We believe all the remediation efforts taken as a whole will result in comprehensive financial reporting reviews and a
reduction in manual processes to ensure a timely close and accurate financial reporting. However, we cannot assure you the
measures we are taking to remediate the material weakness will be sufficient or that they will prevent future material
weaknesses. Additional material weaknesses or failure to maintain effective internal control over financial reporting could
cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations as a public company and may result in a restatement of our financial
statements for prior periods.
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If not remediated, this material weakness could result in further material misstatements to our annual or interim
consolidated financial statements that might not be prevented or detected on a timely basis, or in delayed filing of required
periodic reports. If we are unable to assert that our internal control over financial reporting is effective, or if our
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm is unable to express an unqualified opinion as to the effectiveness of the
internal control over financial reporting, investors may lose confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial
reports, the market price of the stock could be adversely affected, and we could become subject to litigation or
investigations by the NYSE, the SEC, or other regulatory authorities, which could require additional financial and
management resources.

Our success depends, in part, on our ability to access, collect, and use personal data about our users and to comply with
applicable privacy and data protection laws and industry best practices.

We and other companies in the industry have been criticized by consumer protection groups, privacy groups,
governmental bodies, and other individuals and entities for certain data practices or for perceptions about data practices.
Increased attention to or regulation of data utilization practices, including self-regulation or findings under existing laws
that limit our ability to collect, transfer, and use information and other data, could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition, and results of operation. In addition, if we or our third-party vendors were to disclose data
about our users in an objectionable manner, if we or our third-party vendors are perceived to have disclosed data about our
users in an objectionable manner, or if we or our third-party vendors fail to comply with applicable privacy and data
protection laws and industry best practices, our business reputation could be materially adversely affected. We may receive
negative publicity, and we could face potential legal claims or regulatory investigations that could impact our operating
results. We and/or our third-party vendors have in the past been subject to such matters and we expect to face similar issues
in the future.

In addition, we may become subject to additional and/or more stringent legal obligations concerning our treatment of
user data and other personal information, such as laws regarding data collection, localization and/or restrictions on data
transfers, particularly internationally. Recent legal developments in Europe have created complexity and uncertainty
regarding transfers of personal data subject to the GDPR and UK GDPR to organizations established in third countries,
including the U.S.

European data protection legislation, including the GDPR and the United Kingdom’s GDPR (i.e., the GDPR as it
continues to form part of the law of the United Kingdom after its withdrawal from the European Union, by virtue of section
3 of the EU (Withdrawal) Act 2018 and as subsequently amended) (“U.K. GDPR”)), generally restricts the transfer of
personal information from Europe, including the European Economic Area, United Kingdom. and Switzerland, to the
United States and most other countries unless the parties to the transfer have implemented specific safeguards to protect the
transferred personal information. One of the primary safeguards allowing U.S. organizations to import personal
information from the EEA and the United Kingdom, as in the case of certain data collection by us, has been certification to
the EU-U.S. Privacy Shield frameworks administered by the U.S. Department of Commerce. However, in July 2020, the
Court of Justice of the European Union (“CJEU”) issued a decision invalidating the EU-U.S. Privacy Shield framework.
The same decision also raised questions about whether one of the primary alternatives to the EU-U.S. Privacy Shield,
namely, the European Commission’s Standard Contractual Clauses (“SCCs”), can lawfully be used for personal
information transfers from the EEA to the United States or most other countries. The CJEU stated that controllers or
processors, acting as exporters, are responsible for verifying, on a case-by-case basis and, where appropriate, in
collaboration with the importer in the third country, if the law or practice of the third country impinges on the effectiveness
of the appropriate safeguards offered by the data transfer tool. In those cases, the CJEU still leaves open the possibility for
exporters to implement supplementary measures that fill these gaps in the protection and bring it up to the level required by
European data protection legislation. The CJEU does not specify which measures these could be. However, the CJEU
underlines that exporters will need to identify them on a case-by-case basis.

To align with the CJEU’s decision in respect of the E.U.-U.S. Privacy Shield, on September 8, 2020, the United
Kingdom’s government similarly invalidated the use of the EU-U.S. Privacy Shield as a mechanism for lawful personal
data transfers from the United Kingdom to the U.S. under the UK GDPR and the Swiss Federal Data Protection and
Information Commissioner announced that the Swiss-U.S. Privacy Shield regime was also inadequate for the purposes of
personal data transfers from Switzerland to the U.S. entities who had self-certified under the Swiss Privacy Shield.

On June 4, 2021, the European Commission adopted new SCCs, which impose additional obligations on companies
relating to data transfers, including the obligation to conduct a transfer impact assessment (“TIA”) and depending on a
party’s role in the transfer, to implement additional security measures and to update internal privacy practices. The United
Kingdom has also adopted the international data transfer agreement (“IDTA”), the international data transfer addendum to
the European Commission’s SCCs (“Addendum”) and a document setting out transitional provisions, which came into
force on March 21, 2022. The IDTA and Addendum replaced the SCCs as a transfer tool to comply with Article 46 of the
UK GDPR when making restricted transfers from the United Kingdom.

Where we elect to rely on the SCCs, the IDTA or the Addendum for data transfers, we may be required to incur
significant time and resources to update our contractual arrangements, to perform TIAs and to comply with new
obligations. The SCCs, the IDTA or the Addendum may increase the legal risks and liabilities associated with cross-border
data transfers, and result in material increased compliance and operational costs. At present, there are few, if any, viable
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alternatives to the SCCs, the IDTA or the Addendum, which are mechanisms on which we have relied for onward transfers
of personal information from the EEA and the United Kingdom to third countries. If we are unable to implement a valid
solution for personal information transfers from the EEA and the United Kingdom, we may face increased exposure to
regulatory actions, substantial fines, and injunctions against processing or transferring personal information from the EEA
and the United Kingdom to third countries, and we may be required to increase our data processing capabilities in multiple
jurisdictions at significant expense. Inability to collect personal information from EEA or UK users or to transfer their
personal information to the United States or other countries may decrease demand for our products and services, as some of
our users are established in the EEA and the United Kingdom, therefore, they may seek alternatives that do not involve
their personal information being processed or transferred out of Europe. Limitations on our ability to import personal
information to the United States and other countries where our key vendors are established may decrease the functionality
or effectiveness of our products and services and adversely impact our marketing efforts, plans and activities. European
Union regulators and the UK Information Commissioner’s Office (“ICO”) may aggressively enforce these laws restricting
data transfers to the U.S. and other countries without a legally sound transfer mechanism, and it is possible that European
Union regulators and the ICO could prevent us from transferring any personal data out of the European Union or the
United Kingdom to certain countries like the U.S. or to our vendors established in countries not offering an adequate level
of protection.

These and related developments may require us to review and amend the legal mechanisms by which we make and/or
receive personal data transfers to/in the United States and other third countries. In particular, we are undertaking a process
to enhance its Data Processing Agreement to ensure it complies with the GDPR and UK GDPR data transfer requirements,
which includes the EU SCCs issued by the European Commission and the IDTA and the Addendum issued by the ICO.
Furthermore, these and related developments, including the obligation to perform TIAs in certain scenarios, may oblige us
to suspend or prevent us to transfer personal information to third parties if we are unable to implement effective
supplementary measures. As supervisory authorities issue further guidance on personal data export mechanisms, including
circumstances where we need to perform a TIA and the SCCs, IDTA or the Addendum may need to be supplemented with
additional safeguards, and/or start taking enforcement action, we could suffer additional costs, complaints and/or regulatory
investigations or fines if our compliance efforts are not deemed sufficient with the most recent regulatory guidance on
measures regarding supplement transfer tools. In addition, if we are otherwise unable to transfer personal data between and
among countries and regions in which we operate and/or use key vendors, it could affect the manner in which we provide
our solutions, the geographical location or segregation of our relevant systems and operations, reduce demand for our
solutions and this could adversely affect our financial results.

In the event any court blocks personal data transfers to or from a particular jurisdiction, this could give rise to
operational interruption in the performance of services for customers, greater costs to implement permissible alternative
data transfer mechanisms, regulatory liabilities, or reputational harm and negative publicity. Failure to comply with the
evolving interpretation of privacy and data protection laws could subject us to liability, and to the extent that we need to
alter our business model or practices to adapt to these obligations, or to respond to inquiries regarding our compliance with
privacy and data protection laws, we could incur additional and significant expenses, which may in turn materially
adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Privacy activist groups have also previously provided, and may continue to provide, resources to support individuals
who wish to pursue privacy claims or put pressure on companies to change data processing practices. High-profile brands
such as ours risk being targeted by such groups and, due to the nature of the data that we hold, there is a risk that, if a user
became disgruntled with our data processing practices, they could leverage support from such privacy activist groups to
take legal action, cause the initiation of regulatory investigation, or gain publicity for their cause. There is also a risk that
these groups will seek to challenge our practices, particularly in relation to our consent practices, third-party advertising
practices, and/or international data transfers, among other data and privacy practices. Any such campaign could require
significant resources to mount a response, it could disrupt our operations or distract management, and it could lead to
negative publicity and potential investigation from regulators, among other negative effects, any of which may materially
adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

The occurrence of any of these or other factors could negatively affect our business, financial condition, and results of
operations.

Investments in our business may be subject to U.S. foreign investment regulations which may impose conditions on or
limit certain investors’ ability to purchase our stock, potentially making the stock less attractive to investors. Our future
investments in U.S. companies may also be subject to U.S. foreign investment regulations.

The Committee on Foreign Investment in the United States (“CFIUS”) is an interagency body of the U.S. government
authorized to review certain foreign investment transactions in U.S. businesses (“Covered Transactions”) in order to
determine the effect of such transactions on the national security of the United States. If a Covered Transaction could pose
a risk to the national security of the United States, CFIUS can recommend that the President of the United States address
such risks by suspending, prohibiting, or unwinding the transaction. CFIUS could also enter into a negotiated mitigation
agreement with the parties to a Covered Transaction in order to address U.S. national security concerns raised by the
Covered Transaction. As widely reported in media coverage, we have previously been the subject of CFIUS scrutiny in
connection with a prior Covered Transaction.
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Certain investments in our business by foreign investors may be Covered Transactions subject to CFIUS jurisdiction
for review depending on the nationality of the foreign investor, the structure of the transaction, and the governance and
voting interests to be acquired. Submission of a notification to CFIUS with respect to a Covered Transaction related to our
business could result in significant transaction delays, as CFIUS’ review of a Covered Transaction can last between thirty
days and several months, depending on the form of the filing, the complexity of the transaction, the nationality and identity
of the parties, and the underlying national security risks associated with the Covered Transaction.

In the event CFIUS reviews a Covered Transaction relating to our business, there can be no assurances that the
relevant foreign investor will be able to maintain, or proceed with, participation in the Covered Transaction on terms
acceptable to such foreign investor. Potential restrictions on the ability of foreign persons to invest in us could affect the
price that an investor may be willing to pay for our shares of Common Stock. In some circumstances, moreover, we may
choose not to pursue certain investments or other transactions, which are otherwise attractive, solely or in part based on an
evaluation of the associated CFIUS risks.

The parties to the Merger Agreement sought CFIUS approval for the Business Combination. On March 6, 2023,
CFIUS concluded its review of the Business Combination and determined that there are no unresolved national security
concerns. As part of the resolution of the CFIUS review, we entered into a National Security Agreement (“NSA”) with
certain CFIUS monitoring agencies (“CMAs”). Pursuant to the NSA, we have agreed to protect our data, including by
implementing a data security plan, appointing a security officer, and periodically meeting with and reporting to the CMAs.
Our operating results may be negatively affected by increased compliance costs associated with the NSA measures and if
we fail to comply with our obligations under the NSA, we may be subject to potential penalties.

Our business is subject to complex and evolving U.S. and international laws and regulations. Many of these laws and
regulations are subject to change or uncertain interpretation, and could result in claims, changes to our business
practices, monetary penalties, increased cost of operations, declines in user growth or engagement, negative publicity,
or other harm to our business.

We are subject to a variety of laws and regulations in the U.S. and other jurisdictions that involve matters that may
impact our business, including broadband internet access, online commerce, advertising, user privacy, data protection,
content moderation, intermediary liability, online terms and agreements, protection of minors, consumer protection, sex
trafficking, and taxation, among other areas. The introduction of new products and services, expansion of our activities in
certain jurisdictions, or other actions that we may take may subject us to additional laws, regulations, or other scrutiny by
governmental agencies and other entities. In addition, foreign laws and regulations can impose different obligations or be
more restrictive than those imposed upon us in the U.S., which may harm our business or subject us to liability.

These U.S. federal, state, and municipal and foreign laws and regulations, which in some cases can be enforced by
private parties in addition to government entities, are constantly evolving and can be subject to significant change. For
example, as explained above, the Fight Online Sex Trafficking Act of 2017, or FOSTA, provides potential civil remedies
for certain victims of online sex trafficking crimes. See ‘“—Risks Related to our Brand, Products and Services, and
Operations—Inappropriate actions by certain of our users could be attributed to us and damage our brand or reputation,
or subject us to regulatory inquiries, legal action, or other liabilities, which, in turn, could materially adversely affect our
business.” In addition, as explained above, the introduction of new products and services, expansion of our activities in
certain jurisdictions, or other actions that we may take may subject us to additional laws, regulations, or other scrutiny by
governmental agencies and other entities. The application, interpretation, and enforcement of these laws and regulations are
often uncertain, particularly in the new and rapidly evolving industry in which we operate. In addition, these laws and
regulations may be interpreted and applied inconsistently from state-to-state and country-to-country, and they may be
inconsistent with our current policies and practices. These laws and regulations, as well as any associated inquiries, legal
action, investigations, or any other government actions, may be costly to comply with and may delay or impede the
development of new products and services, result in negative publicity, increase our operating costs, require significant
management time and attention, and subject us to liability to remedies that may harm our business, including fines,
demands, or orders that we modify or cease existing business practices. For example, a variety of laws and regulations
govern the ability of users to cancel subscriptions and auto-payment renewals. Likewise, a variety of laws and regulations
govern the application and enforcement of arbitration clauses and limitations on liability, like those set forth in our Terms
and Conditions of Service. We have in the past and may in the future be subject to claims under a variety of U.S. and
international laws and regulations that could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of
operation.

In addition, the promulgation of new laws or regulations, or the new interpretation of existing laws and regulations,
that restrict or otherwise unfavorably impact our business, or our ability to provide our products and services, could require
us to change certain aspects of our business and operations to ensure compliance, which could decrease demand for our
products and services, reduce revenues, increase costs, and subject us to additional liabilities. For example, in February
2019, the Secretary of State for Digital, Culture, Media and Sport of the United Kingdom indicated in public comments
that his office intends to inquire as to the measures utilized by online dating platforms to prevent access by underage users.
In addition, in April 2019, the United Kingdom published proposed legislation which would establish a new regulatory
body to establish duties of care for internet companies and to assess compliance with these duties of care. Under the
proposed law, failure to comply could result in fines, blocking of services, and personal liability for senior management.
There have also been calls for legislation to limit or remove the protections afforded technology platforms under the
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Communications Decency Act in the United States and under the e-Commerce Directive in the European Union. To the
extent this or other initiatives require us to implement any new or more stringent measures, our business, financial
condition, and results of operations could be materially adversely affected.

In addition, concerns about harms and the use of dating products and services and social networking platforms for such
illegal and harmful conduct have produced and could continue to produce future legislation or other governmental action.
For example, in January 2020, the Committee on Oversight Subcommittee on Economic and Consumer Policy of the U.S.
House of Representatives launched an investigation into the online dating industry’s user safety policies, including certain
of our practices relating to the identification and removal of registered sex offenders and underage individuals from our
platforms. As set forth above, the United Kingdom and European Union have also been considering legislation on this
topic, with the United Kingdom having released its Online Harms White Paper which resulted in the United Kingdom’s
Online Safety Bill, and the European Union introducing the Digital Services Act, which in each case, would expose
platforms to similar or more expansive liability. See “—Risks Related to Regulation and Litigation—The varying and
rapidly evolving regulatory framework on privacy and data protection across jurisdictions could result in claims, changes
to our business practices, monetary penalties, increased cost of operations, or declines in user growth or engagement, or
otherwise harm our business.” Any proposed legislation on these or other topics could expose platforms to liability similar
to existing legislation in other jurisdictions or, in some cases, more expansive liability. For instance, the Digital Services
Act proposed in the European Union intends to limit or remove protections afforded to online platforms under the e-
Commerce Directive. Likewise, proposed legislation in the United States, including the EARN IT Act, the PACT Act, the
BAD ADS Act, and others, purport to limit or remove the critical protections provided to technology platforms under the
Communications Decency Act, which protects technology platforms from civil liability for certain type of content and
actions of the platform’s users. The Federal Communications Commission (“FCC”) also is considering a Trump
Administration petition to adopt rules limiting the protection available under the Communications Decency Act. There is
no schedule for action by the FCC on the petition, although the Democratic members of the FCC, who now control its
agenda, have indicated that they oppose the proposal. In addition, there are pending cases before the judiciary that may
result in changes to the protections afforded to internet platforms, including a lawsuit by former President Trump that, if
successful, would greatly limit the scope of the Communications Decency Act protections. If these proposed or similar
laws are passed, if future legislation or governmental action is proposed or taken to address concerns regarding such harms,
and if existing protections are limited or removed, changes could be required to our products and services that could restrict
or impose additional costs upon the conduct of our business, subject us to additional liability, or cause users to abandon our
products or services, any of which may materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of
operations.

In addition, we depend on the ability of our users to access the internet. Many users receive internet access from
companies that have significant market power in the broadband and internet access marketplace, including incumbent
telephone companies, cable companies, mobile communications companies, government-owned service providers, device
manufacturers and operating system providers, any of which could take actions that degrade, disrupt, or increase the cost of
user access to our products or services, which would, in turn, negatively impact our business. The adoption of any laws or
regulations that adversely affect access to, or the growth, popularity, or use of, the internet, including laws governing
internet neutrality, could decrease the demand for, or the usage of, our products and services and increase our cost of doing
business, which would, in turn, negatively impact our business. For example, the FCC has, in the past, adopted “open
internet rules” to prohibit mobile providers in the United States from impeding access to most content, or otherwise
unfairly discriminating against content providers like us. These rules also prohibited mobile providers from entering into
arrangements with specific content providers for faster or better access over their data networks. While those rules largely
were repealed in an order adopted in December 2017, and that order generally was affirmed by a federal appeals court,
petitions for reconsideration of the order remain pending at the FCC, and Democratic control of the Executive Branch,
Congress, and the FCC following the 2020 elections increases the likelihood of legislative or FCC action to reverse the
2017 decision or adopt new network neutrality rules. In addition, a number of states have adopted or are adopting or
considering legislation or executive actions that would regulate the conduct of broadband providers. The European Union
similarly requires equal access to internet content. If the FCC, Congress, the European Union, or the courts modify these
open internet rules, mobile providers may be able to limit our users’ ability to access our products and services or make our
products and services a less attractive alternative to our competitors’ products and services. If that occurred, our business
would be seriously harmed. Additionally, as part of its Digital Single Market initiative, the European Union may impose
network security, disability access, or 911-like obligations on “over-the-top” services such as those provided by us, which
could increase our costs and, in turn, negatively impact our business. Any of these developments may adversely affect our
business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Moreover, the adoption of any laws or regulations that adversely affect the popularity or growth in use of the internet
or our products and services, including laws or regulations that undermine open and neutrally administered internet access,
could decrease user demand for our service offerings and increase our cost of doing business. For example, in December
2017, the FCC adopted an order reversing net neutrality protections in the United States, including the repeal of specific
rules against blocking, throttling or “paid prioritization” of content or services by internet service providers. Numerous
parties filed judicial challenges to the order, and on October 1, 2019, the United States Court of Appeals for the District of
Columbia Circuit released a decision that rejected nearly all of the challenges to the new rules, but reversed the FCC’s
decision to prohibit all state and local regulation targeted at broadband internet service, requiring case-by-case
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determinations as to whether state and local regulation conflicts with the FCC’s rules. The court also required the FCC to
reexamine three issues from the order but allowed the order to remain in effect, while the FCC conducted that review. On
October 27, 2020, the FCC adopted an order concluding that the three issues remanded by the court did not provide a basis
to alter its conclusions in the 2018 order. Petitions for reconsideration of this decision are pending. Democratic control of
the Executive Branch, Congress, and the FCC following the 2020 elections increases the likelihood of legislative or FCC
action to reverse the 2018 decision or adopt new network neutrality rules. In addition, a number of states have adopted or
are adopting or considering legislation or executive actions that would regulate the conduct of broadband providers. A
federal court judge denied a request for injunction against California’s state-specific network neutrality law, and as a result,
California began enforcing that law on March 25, 2021. On March 10, 2021, trade associations representing internet
service providers appealed the district court’s ruling denying the preliminary injunction, and the appeal was denied on
January 28, 2022. The trade associations have sought rehearing with the full court of appeal. Nevertheless, to the extent
internet service providers engage in such blocking, throttling or “paid prioritization” of content, or engaged in similar
actions because of the reversal of net neutrality protections, our business, financial condition, and results of operations
could be materially adversely affected.

In addition, concerns about various sorts of harms and the use of similar products and services and social networking
platforms for illicit or otherwise inappropriate conduct, such as romance scams and financial fraud, could result in future
legislation or other governmental action that affects the overall social networking industry. For example, in April 2018,
FOSTA became effective in the U.S. FOSTA created new federal crimes against entities that operate websites that promote
or facilitate sex trafficking, as well as civil remedies for certain victims of online sex trafficking crimes. In addition,
FOSTA eliminated any immunity under the Communications Decency Act of 1996 from certain civil claims and state
criminal prosecutions. U.S. legislators have proposed several additional bills that would reduce or eliminate platform
liability protections. In addition, the European Union and the United Kingdom have launched consultations aimed at
considering potential legislation to address online harms, and the United Kingdom has released an Online Harms White
Paper regarding proposed legislation that would expose platforms to more expansive liability than FOSTA. If these
proposed laws are passed, or if future legislation or governmental action is proposed or taken to address concerns regarding
these sorts of harms, changes could be required to our products and services that could restrict or impose additional costs
upon our business and/or cause users to abandon our products and services, and we may be subject to legal action.

In addition, the international nature of our business exposes us to compliance obligations and related risks under
economic sanctions, export controls and anti-corruption laws administered and enforced by various governments. We are
subject to rules and regulations of the United States and other jurisdictions relating to export controls and economic
sanctions, including economic sanctions administered by the Office of Foreign Assets Control of the U.S. Department of
the Treasury, as well as the Export Administration Regulations administered by the Bureau of Industry and Security of the
U.S. Department of Commerce. Economic sanctions and export controls laws and regulations restrict the ability of persons
subject to their jurisdiction to invest in, or otherwise engage in dealings with or involving, certain individuals, entities,
governments or countries (collectively, “Sanction Targets”), including individuals and entities resident, domiciled or
incorporated in Cuba, Syria, North Korea, Iran or the Crimea Region, the so-called Donetsk People’s Republic or Luhansk
People’s Republic located in Ukraine, unless such activities are authorized pursuant to regulatory authorizations or general
or specific licenses. These regulations may limit our ability to market, sell, distribute, or otherwise transfer our products
and services or technology to certain countries or persons. Changes in our products and services and technology or changes
in export controls or economic sanctions laws and regulations may create delays in the introduction of our products and
services into international markets or, in some cases, prevent the provision or expansion of our business and our products
and services to or for certain countries, governments or persons altogether.

Pursuant to the applicable economic sanctions and export controls laws and regulations of the United States and other
relevant jurisdictions, we may be obliged to limit business activities, may incur costs in order to implement and maintain
compliance programs, and may be subject to investigations, enforcement actions or penalties relating to actual or alleged
instances of noncompliance with such laws and regulations. It may also be necessary for us to take certain actions in order
to maintain compliance with, or satisfy obligations under, economic sanctions and export controls, which could have an
adverse effect on the business and results of operation. We maintain policies and procedures that we believe to be adequate
and customary to support our compliance with applicable economic sanctions and export controls. We can provide no
assurances, however, that our products and services are not provided inadvertently in violation of such laws, despite the
precautions we take.

We are also subject to the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended, (commonly known as the FCPA),
the U.S. domestic bribery statute contained in 18 U.S.C. § 201, (commonly known as the U.S. Travel Act), the United
Kingdom Bribery Act 2010, (commonly known as the Bribery Act), and other anti-corruption, anti-bribery, and similar
laws in the United States and other countries in which we conduct activities. Anti-corruption and anti-bribery laws
generally prohibit companies and their employees, agents, intermediaries and other third parties from directly or indirectly
promising, authorizing, making or offering improper payments or other benefits to government officials and others in the
private sector. We may be held liable for the corrupt or other illegal activities of third-party business partners and
intermediaries, or our employees, representatives, contractors, and other third parties, even if we do not explicitly authorize
such activities. We maintain policies and procedures that we believe to be adequate and customary to support our
compliance with applicable anti-corruption and anti-bribery laws. However, there can be no assurance that our
implementation of such policies and procedures will prevent, at all times, all Grindr employees, representatives,
contractors, partners, agents, intermediaries or other third parties that we engage to interact with government officials or
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commercial counterparties on its behalf, from taking actions in the future in violation of our polices or applicable anti-
corruption or anti-bribery laws and regulations.

In recent years, U.S. and other governments have increased their oversight and enforcement activities with respect to
these economic sanctions, export controls and anti-corruption laws and regulations and it is expected that the relevant
agencies will continue to increase such investigative and enforcement activities. A violation of these laws or regulations,
including through certain dealings with Sanction Targets, could result in severe criminal or civil penalties and reputational
harm, which could negatively affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

The varying and rapidly evolving regulatory framework on privacy and data protection across jurisdictions could result
in claims, changes to our business practices, monetary penalties, increased cost of operations, or declines in user
growth or engagement, or otherwise harm our business.

As discussed above, we process a significant volume of personal information and other regulated information from our
users, employees and other third parties. The many countries in which we operate impose numerous laws regarding data
security, privacy, and the storage, sharing, use, processing, disclosure, and protection of this kind of information. In
addition, the scope of these laws is constantly changing, and in some cases, they may be inconsistent, conflicting, and
subject to differing interpretations, as new laws of this nature are proposed and adopted. At any time one of the numerous
regulators to which we are subject could argue that we are non-compliant with its country’s data protection regulation or
that we have not sufficiently operationalized all of our legal obligations with all such varying laws. In addition, these laws
are becoming increasingly rigorous and could be interpreted and applied in ways that may have a material adverse effect on
our business, financial condition, and results of operations. We have experienced enforcement actions related to certain of
these laws, we have ongoing enforcement actions related to certain of these laws, and future enforcement actions are likely
to continue for the foreseeable future.

In recent years, there has been an increase in attention to and regulation of data protection and data privacy across the
globe, including in the United States, the European Union and the United Kingdom. We are subject to the European
Union’s General Data Protection Regulation (“GDPR”), that became effective in May 2018 and the UK GDPR (i.e., the
GDPR as it continues to form part of the law of the United Kingdom by virtue of section 3 of the EU (Withdrawal) Act
2018 and subsequently amended); the California Consumer Privacy Act (“CCPA”), which took effect in January 2020; and
the Brazilian General Data Protection Law (“LGPD”), which entered into effect in September 2020 and imposes
requirements similar to the GDPR on products and services offered to users in Brazil. LGPD penalties may include fines of
up to 2% of the organization’s revenue in Brazil in the previous year or 50 million reais (approximately $9.3 million U.S.
dollars). In addition, China’s Personal Information Protection Law of the P.R.C. (“PIPL”), which became effective in
November 2021, has many aspects that are similar to the GDPR. The PIPL sets rules for the processing activities such as
collection, use, sharing, transfer, and disclosure of personal information in China. If we fail to comply with the
requirements of the PIPL, we could incur severe penalties, including a fine of up to RMBS50 million or 5% of our annual
turnover in the preceding year and revocation of our license to do business in China. Other comprehensive data privacy or
data protection laws or regulations have been passed or are under consideration in other jurisdictions, including India and
Japan, as well as various U.S. states. Laws such as these give rise to an increasingly complex set of compliance obligations
on us, as well as on many of our service providers. These obligations include, without limitation, imposing restrictions on
our ability to gather personal data, providing individuals with the ability to opt out of personal data collection, imposing
obligations on our ability to share data with others, and potentially subject us to fines, lawsuits, and regulatory scrutiny.

The GDPR and the UK GDPR greatly increased the jurisdictional reach of the European Union and United Kingdom’s
laws and added a broad array of requirements related to the handling of personal data. Under the GDPR, European Union
member states must enact, and many have enacted, certain implementing legislation that adds to and/or further interprets
the GDPR’s requirements and potentially extends our obligations and potential liability for failing to meet these
obligations. The GDPR and the UK GDPR also include obligations and restrictions concerning the consent and rights of
individuals to whom the personal data relates, the transfer of personal data out of the European Economic Area and the
United Kingdom, security breach notifications, and the security and confidentiality of personal data more generally. In
addition, individuals have a right to compensation under the GDPR and the UK GDPR for financial or non-financial losses.

Under the GDPR and the UK GDPR we may be subject to fines of up to €20 million/£17,500,000 or up to 4% of the
total worldwide annual group turnover of the preceding financial year (whichever is higher), as well as face claims from
individuals based on the GDPR and UK GDPR’s private right of action. The GDPR and UK GDPR have been, and will
continue to be, interpreted respectively by European Union data protection regulators and the ICO, which may require that
we make changes to our business practices, which could be time-consuming and expensive, and could generate additional
risks and liabilities.

We are also subject to evolving European Union and United Kingdom privacy laws on cookies and e-marketing. In the
European Union and the United Kingdom, regulators are increasingly focusing on compliance with requirements in the
online behavioral advertising ecosystem, and current national laws that implement the ePrivacy Directive are highly likely
to be replaced by an EU regulation known as the ePrivacy Regulation which will significantly increase fines for non-
compliance when implemented. In the European Union and the United Kingdom, informed consent is required for the
placement of a cookie or similar technologies on a user’s device and/or for the access to data stored on a user’s device, and
for direct electronic marketing. The GDPR and the UK GDPR also impose conditions on obtaining valid consent, such as a
prohibition on pre-checked consents and a requirement to ensure separate consents are sought for each type of cookie or
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similar technology. While the text of the ePrivacy Regulation is still under development, a recent European court decision,
regulators’ recent guidance and recent campaigns by a not-for-profit organization are driving increased attention to cookies
and tracking technologies. If regulators start to enforce the strict approach in recent guidance, this could lead to substantial
costs, require significant systems changes, limit the effectiveness of our marketing activities, divert the attention of our
technology personnel, adversely affect our margins, increase costs and subject us to additional liabilities. Regulation of
cookies and similar technologies, and any decline of cookies or similar online tracking technologies as a means to identify
and potentially target users, may lead to broader restrictions and impairments on our marketing and personalization
activities and may negatively impact our efforts to understand users. We treat data protection and privacy, compliance
seriously. However, to the extent we are determined to be not in compliance with the GDPR, UK GDPR or e-Privacy
legislation, such determination could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Because we do not have a main establishment in the European Union, we are subject to inquiries from any of the EU
data protection regulators. Over the last few years, we have received and responded to inquiries from the Norwegian Data
Protection Authority, the Spanish Data Protection Authority, the Slovenian Data Protection Authority, and the Austrian Data
Protection Authority, among other non-EU data protection authorities, including the ICO and various U.S. regulators. For
example, in January 2021, the Norwegian Data Protection Authority (“Datatilsynet”) notified us of its preliminary decision
that we had disclosed personal data to third parties without a legal basis in violation of Article 6(1) GDPR and that we
disclosed special categories of personal data to third parties without a valid exemption from the prohibition in Article 9(1)
GDPR. In addition, Datatilsynet notified us of their preliminary intent to impose an administrative fine for these alleged
violations of NOK 100,000,000 (approximately $11,700,300). We responded to the preliminary decision on March 8, 2021,
by contesting the draft findings and the proposed fine. On December 13, 2021, Datatilsynet issued a final administrative
fine against us in the reduced amount of NOK 65,000,000 (approximately $7,375,187.30). We submitted our appeal to the
Datatilsynet’s fine and decision on February 14, 2022 and will consider our options as that matter unfolds. Although we are
challenging the administrative fine imposed by Datatilsynet, the proceeding has caused us to incur significant expense, we
have been the subject of negative publicity, and the existence of the proceeding has, and may continue to, negatively
impact our efforts to retain existing users and add new users and deteriorated our relationships with advertisers and other
third parties. The ultimate outcome of this proceeding may materially adversely affect our business, financial condition,
and result of operations.

In addition, Brexit (as defined below) and ongoing developments in the United Kingdom could result in the
application of new data privacy and protection laws and standards to our activities in the United Kingdom and our handling
of personal data of users located in the United Kingdom. The relationship between the United Kingdom and the European
Union in relation to certain aspects of data protection law remains unclear, and it is unclear how UK data protection laws
and regulations will develop in the medium to longer term, and how data transfers to the United Kingdom from the EEA
will be regulated in the long term. For example, though the European Commission has adopted an adequacy decision in
favor of the United Kingdom, enabling data transfers from the EEA to the United Kingdom, the decision will automatically
expire in June 2025 unless the European Commission re-assesses and renews/ extends that decision, and remains under
review by the Commission during this period. As a consequence of Brexit, we are exposed to two parallel regimes (the
GDPR and the UK GDPR), each of which potentially authorizes similar, but separate, fines and other potentially divergent
enforcement actions for the same alleged violations. Other countries have also passed or are considering passing laws
requiring local data residency and/or restricting the international transfer of data. As set forth above, over the last few
years, we have received and responded to inquiries from the ICO.

In addition, multiple legislative proposals concerning privacy and the protection of user information are being
considered by both U.S. state and federal legislatures, and certain U.S. state legislatures, such as California, have already
passed and enacted privacy legislation. For example, the CCPA requires covered companies to provide new disclosures to
California consumers (including employees), and provide such consumers new data protection and privacy rights,
including the ability to opt-out of certain sales of personal information. In addition, the CCPA allows for statutory fines for
noncompliance (up to $7,500 per violation), as well as a private right of action for certain data breaches that result in the
loss of personal information. This private right of action may increase the likelihood of, and risks associated with, data
breach litigation. Moreover, the California Privacy Rights Act of 2020 (“CPRA”), which becomes operative on January 1,
2023 (with a look back for certain obligations to January 2022), will significantly modify the CCPA. For example, the
CPRA will expand consumers’ rights with respect to certain sensitive personal information, among other modifications.
The CPRA also creates a new state agency that will be vested with the authority to implement and enforce the CPRA.

New legislation proposed or enacted in various other U.S. states imposes or has the potential to impose additional
obligations on companies that collect, store, use, retain, disclose, transfer, and otherwise process sensitive and personal
information, and will continue to shape the data privacy environment nationally. For example, Virginia passed its
Consumer Data Protection Act, Colorado passed the Colorado Privacy Act, and Utah passed the Utah Consumer Privacy
Act, all of which differ from the CPRA and become effective in 2023. State laws are changing rapidly and there is
discussion in Congress of a new federal data protection and privacy law, which if enacted, would be applicable to us.
Moreover, governmental agencies like the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau and the Federal Trade Commission have
adopted, or are considering adopting, laws and regulations concerning personal information and data security. For example,
the Federal Trade Commission has increased its focus on privacy and data security practices at digital companies, as
evident from its imposition of a $5 billion fine against Facebook for privacy violations and increasing fines against
companies found to be in violation of the Children’s Online Privacy Protection Act (“COPPA”).
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As discussed above, the myriad, overlapping international and U.S. privacy and data breach laws are not consistent,
and compliance in the event of a widespread data breach is difficult and may be costly. Moreover, states have been
frequently amending existing laws, requiring constant attention to ever-changing legal and regulatory requirements. In
addition to government regulation, privacy advocates and industry groups have from time to time proposed, and may in the
future continue to propose, self-regulatory standards. These and other industry standards may legally or contractually apply
to us, or we may elect to comply with such standards to keep pace with best practices in the industry. We expect that there
will continue to be new proposed laws and regulations concerning data privacy and security, and we cannot yet determine
the impact such future laws, regulations, and standards may have on our business. Because the interpretation and
application of data protection laws, regulations, standards, and other obligations are still uncertain, and often contradictory
and in flux, it is possible that the scope and requirements of these laws may be interpreted and applied in a manner that is
inconsistent with our practices and our efforts to comply with the evolving data protection rules may be unsuccessful. To
the extent we are determined to be not in compliance with any U.S. laws, such determination could materially adversely
affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

In 2018 and 2019, after media reports regarding our data sharing practices, multiple State Attorneys General (the
“Multistate”) informed us that they had opened investigations into our sharing of user-shared HIV status with two service
providers that performed analytics services and helped us improve the user experience, and into our practices around the
security and processing of user geolocation information. Since that time, we have responded to multiple requests for
information and discontinued the sharing of user-shared HIV status. In October 2022, we were advised by the Multistate
that the investigation had been closed without action and with no further action anticipated. While this particular
investigation concluded in our favor, we may in the future be the subject of similar types of investigations or proceedings,
which could result in substantial costs and a diversion of our management’s attention and resources. Any adverse
determination of such investigation or proceeding may materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, and
result of operations, particularly if penalties are levied.

We make public statements about our use and disclosure of personal information through our Privacy Policy,
information provided on our website, and through blog posts and press statements. Although we endeavor to comply with
our blog posts, public statements, and documentation regarding our use and disclosure of personal information, we may at
times fail to do so or be alleged to have failed to do so. We may be subject to potential government or legal action if such
policies or statements are found to be deceptive, unfair, or misrepresentative of our actual practices. In addition, from time
to time, concerns may be expressed about whether our products and services compromise the privacy of our users and
others. Any concerns about our data privacy and security practices (even if unfounded), or any failure, real or perceived, by
us to comply with our posted privacy policies or with any legal or regulatory requirements, standards, certifications or
orders, or other privacy or consumer protection-related laws and regulations applicable to us, could cause our users to
reduce or stop their use of our products and services.

While we make great effort to comply with industry standards and applicable laws and regulations relating to privacy
and data protection in all material respects, there can be no assurance that we will not be subject to claims that we have
violated applicable laws, regulations, or industry standards, that we will be able to successfully defend against such claims,
or that we will not be subject to significant fines and penalties in the event of a finding of non-compliance with any
applicable laws or industry standards. We have been subject to these types of claims in the past and we may be subject to
additional claims in the future. Moreover, if state-level privacy and data protection laws continue to be introduced with
inconsistent or conflicting standards and there is no federal law to preempt such laws, compliance with such laws could be
difficult to achieve and noncompliance could lead to fines and penalties in these jurisdictions.

Furthermore, enforcement actions and investigations by regulatory authorities related to data security incidents and
privacy violations continue to increase. We have in the past received, and may continue to receive in the future, inquiries
from various international and U.S. regulators regarding our data privacy practices, some of which remain ongoing. Any
failure or perceived failure by us (or the third parties with whom we have contracted to process such information) to
comply with applicable privacy and security laws, policies or related contractual obligations, or any compromise of
security that results in unauthorized access, or the use or transmission of, personal user information, could result in a
variety of claims against us, including governmental enforcement actions and investigations, class action privacy litigation
in certain jurisdictions, and/or proceedings by data protection authorities, among other potential legal action. We could also
be subject to significant fines, other litigation, claims of breach of contract and indemnity by third parties, and negative
publicity. When such events occur, our reputation may be harmed, we may lose current and potential users, the competitive
positions of our brand might be diminished, and we could incur additional costs and expenses, any of which could
materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations. In addition, if our practices are not
consistent or viewed as not consistent with legal and regulatory requirements, including changes in laws, regulations, and
standards, or new interpretations or applications of existing laws, regulations, and standards, we may become subject to
audits, inquiries, whistleblower complaints, negative publicity, investigations, loss of export privileges, or severe criminal
or civil sanctions, any of which may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of
operations.
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We are subject to litigation, regulatory and other government investigations, enforcement actions, and settlements, and
adverse outcomes in such proceedings could have a materially adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and
results of operation.

We are, have been, and may from time to time become, subject to litigation and various legal proceedings that involve
claims for substantial amounts of money or for other relief that might necessitate changes to our business or operations,
including litigation and proceedings related to intellectual property matters, privacy and consumer protection laws, class
action lawsuits, litigation by former employees, legal claims brought by our users, and other matters. In addition, we are,
have been, and may from time to time become, subject to investigations or inquiries from regulators and government
entities, both domestically and internationally, regarding our compliance with laws and regulations, many of which are
evolving and subject to interpretation. See “—Risks Related to our Brand, Products and Services, and Operations—The
varying and rapidly evolving regulatory framework on privacy and data protection across jurisdictions could result in
claims, changes to our business practices, monetary penalties, increased cost of operations, or declines in user growth or
engagement, or otherwise harm our business.” As set forth above, we have an ongoing regulatory inquiry before
Datatilsynet and active civil litigation in the U.S. and internationally. As we continue to grow and expand our operations,
we have been and expect to continue to be the subject of investigations, inquiries, data requests, actions, and audits in the
U.S., Europe, or in other parts of the world, particularly in the areas of privacy, data protection, law enforcement, consumer
protection, and competition.

The defense of these actions is time consuming and expensive, disruptive to our operations, and a distraction for
management. We evaluate these litigation claims and legal proceedings to assess the likelihood of unfavorable outcomes
and to estimate, if possible, potential losses. Based on these assessments and estimates, we may establish reserves and/or
disclose the relevant litigation claims or legal proceedings, as and when required or appropriate. These assessments and
estimates are based on information available to management at the time of such assessment or estimation and involve a
significant amount of judgment. As a result, actual outcomes or losses could differ materially from those envisioned by our
current assessments and estimates. Our failure to successfully defend or settle any of these litigation or legal proceedings
could result in liability that, to the extent not covered by our insurance, could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition, and results of operations.

We may be held liable for information or content displayed on, retrieved from, or transmitted over our platform, as well
as interactions that result from the use of our platform.

We have faced and may continue to face claims relating to information or content that is displayed on, retrieved from,
or transmitted over our platform by our users or otherwise. In particular, the nature of our business exposes us to claims
related to defamation, civil rights infringement, negligence, copyright or trademark infringement, invasion of privacy,
discrimination, and personal injury, among other claims brought by users based upon interactions they have on or off the
platform. Such proceedings have, and could cause us to incur significant expense, become the subject of negative publicity,
and negatively impact our efforts to retain existing users or add new users as well as our relationships with advertisers and
other third parties.

The risk of these or similar claims is enhanced in certain jurisdictions outside of the U.S. where our protection from
liability for third-party actions may be unclear or nonexistent, where there are decreased legislative protections for the
LGBTQ community, and where we may be less protected under local laws than we are in the U.S. We could incur
significant costs in investigating and defending against claims arising from information displayed on, retrieved from, or
transmitted over our platform, even if we ultimately are not held liable. If any of these events occurs, our revenue could be
adversely affected, or we could incur significant additional expense, any of which could have a material adverse effect on
our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Activities of our users or content made available by such users could subject us to liability.

We provide products and services that enable our users to exchange information and engage in various online
activities, so our products and services include substantial user-generated content. For instance, users can provide
information in their Grindr App public profiles, share images via their profile and in messages with other Grindr App users
and generate audio and video messages. User content or activity may be infringing, illegal, hostile, offensive, unethical, or
inappropriate or may violate our terms of service. We have in the past been, and may be in the future, subject to lawsuits
arising from the conduct of our users, or subject to other regulatory enforcement actions relating to their contents or
actions. Even if claims against us are ultimately unsuccessful, defending against such claims will increase our legal
expenses and divert management’s attention from the operation of our business, which could materially and adversely
impact our business and results of operations, and our brand, reputation, and financial results may be harmed.

We and other intermediate online service providers rely primarily on two sets of laws in the U.S. to shield us from
legal liability with respect to user activity. The Digital Millennium Copyright Act (“DMCA”), provides service providers a
safe harbor from monetary damages for copyright infringement claims, provided that service providers comply with
various requirements designed to stop or discourage infringement on their platforms by their users. Section 230 of the
Communications Decency Act (“CDA”), protects providers of an interactive computer service from liability with respect to
most types of content provided over their service by others, including users. Both the DMCA safe harbor and Section 230
of the CDA face regular calls for revision, including without limitation in a number of CDA reform bills currently being
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considered by legislators. Furthermore, recent litigation involving cloud hosting companies has created uncertainty with
respect to the applicability of DMCA protections to companies that host substantial amounts of user content. For these
reasons and others, now or in the future, the DMCA, CDA, and similar provisions may be interpreted as not applying to us
or may provide us with incomplete or insufficient protection from claims.

We do not fully monitor the contents or activities of our users, so inappropriate content may be posted or activities
executed before we are able to take protective action, which could subject us to legal liability. Even if we comply with
legal obligations to remove or disable content, we may continue to allow use of our products or services by individuals or
entities who others find hostile, offensive, or inappropriate. The activities or content of our users may lead us to experience
adverse political, business and reputational consequences, especially if such use is high profile. Conversely, actions we take
in response to the activities of our users, up to and including banning them from using our products, services, or properties,
may harm our brand and reputation.

In addition to liability based on our activities in the United States, we may also be deemed subject to laws in other
countries that may not have the same protections or that may impose more onerous obligations on us, which may impose
additional liability or expense on us, including additional theories of intermediary liability. For example, in 2019, the
European Union approved a copyright directive that will impose additional obligations on online platforms, and failure to
comply could give rise to significant liability. Other recent laws in Germany (extremist content), Australia (violent
content), India (intermediary liability) and Singapore (online falsehoods), as well as other new similar laws, may also
expose cloud-computing companies like us to significant liability. We may incur additional costs to comply with these new
laws, which may have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations, and financial condition. Potential litigation
could expose us to claims for damages and affect our operations.

Online applications are subject to various laws and regulations relating to children’s privacy and protection, which if
violated, could subject us to an increased risk of litigation and regulatory actions.

In recent years, a variety of laws and regulations have been adopted aimed at protecting children using the internet,
including the COPPA and Article 8 of the GDPR and the UK GDPR. We implement certain precautions designed to prevent
minors from gaining access to our product and services, and we use a combination of human and automated tooling to
identify and block accounts that may be associated with minors. Despite these and other measures, minors may gain access
to our products and services and there can be no assurances that the measures we take will be sufficient to eliminate
minors’ potential access which could result in allegations of COPPA and related violations, which could expose us to
significant liability, penalties, reputational harm, and loss of revenue, among other things. We have been in the past, and
may be in the future, subject to litigation or allegations relating to our products and services being accessed by minors.
Additionally, new regulations are being considered in various jurisdictions to require the monitoring of user content or the
verification of users’ identities and age. Any such new regulations, or changes to existing regulations, could increase the
cost of our operations and expose us to significant liability, penalties, reputational harm, and loss of revenue, among other
things. Our policy and practice are that when we learn that Child Sexual Abuse Materials (“CSAM”) have been transmitted
on the platform, we ban the user, remove the content, and submit a report to the National Center for Missing and Exploited
Children. However, we may not always identify circumstances in which CSAM is transmitted on the platform.

The occurrence of any of these or other factors could negatively affect our business, financial condition, and results of
operations.

We are subject to taxation-related risks in multiple jurisdictions and may have exposure to greater than anticipated tax
liabilities.

We are a U.S.-based multinational company subject to taxes in multiple U.S. and foreign tax jurisdictions. Our income
tax obligations are based on our corporate operating structure and third party and intercompany arrangements, including
the way we develop, value, manage, protect and use our intellectual property and the valuations of our intercompany
transactions. The tax laws applicable to our international business activities, including the laws of the U.S., Canada and
other jurisdictions, are subject to change and uncertain interpretation. The taxing authorities of the jurisdictions in which
we operate may challenge our methodologies for valuing developed technology, intercompany arrangements, or transfer
pricing, which could increase our worldwide effective tax rate and the amount of taxes we pay and seriously harm our
business. In addition, our future income taxes could be adversely affected by earnings being lower than anticipated in
jurisdictions that have lower statutory tax rates and higher than anticipated in jurisdictions that have higher statutory tax
rates, by changes in the valuation of our deferred tax assets and liabilities, or by changes in tax laws, regulations, or
accounting principles. Taxing authorities may also determine that the way we operate our business is not consistent with
how we report our income, which could increase our effective tax rate and the amount of taxes we pay and harm our
business. We are subject to regular review and audit by U.S. federal and state and foreign tax authorities. Any adverse
outcome from a review or audit could have a negative effect on our business, financial condition, results of operation and
cash flows.

In addition, tax laws are frequently being re-examined and evaluated globally. New laws and interpretations of the law
are considered for financial statement purposes in the quarter or year in which they become applicable. Tax authorities are
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increasingly scrutinizing the tax positions of companies. Many countries in the European Union, as well as several other
countries and organizations such as the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development and the European
Commission, are actively considering changes to existing tax laws that, if enacted, could increase our tax obligations in
countries where we conduct our business. These proposals include changes to the existing framework to calculate income
taxes, as well as proposals to change or impose new types of non-income taxes, such as taxes based on a percentage of
revenue. For example, several countries in the European Union have proposed or enacted taxes applicable to digital
services, which includes business activities on social media platforms and online marketplaces and would likely apply to
our business. Many questions remain about the enactment, form, and application of these digital services taxes. The
interpretation and implementation of the various digital services taxes (especially if there is inconsistency in the application
of these taxes across tax jurisdictions) could have a materially adverse impact on our business, results of operations, and
cash flows. For example, recently published Treasury Regulations may limit or eliminate the availability of foreign tax
credits for some or all of any digital services taxes we pay in non-U.S. jurisdictions, thereby increasing our overall tax
burden. Moreover, if the U.S., Canada or other foreign tax authorities change applicable tax laws, our overall taxes could
increase, and our business, financial condition or results of operations may be adversely impacted.

In addition, the determination of our worldwide provision for income taxes and other tax liabilities requires significant
judgment by management, and there are many transactions where the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. Although we
believe that our estimates are reasonable and consistent with the tax laws in the jurisdictions in which we conduct our
business, the ultimate tax outcome may differ from the amounts recorded in our financial statements and our positions may
be challenged by jurisdictional tax authorities, any of which may materially affect our financial results in the period or
periods for which such determination is made. Therefore, our future income tax obligations could be volatile and difficult
to predict due to changes in tax laws, regulation or accounting principles.

Legal, political, and economic uncertainty surrounding the exit of the United Kingdom from the European Union, or
Brexit, and the implementation of the trade and cooperation agreement between the United Kingdom and the European
Union could have a material adverse effect on our business.

Because we conduct business in the United Kingdom and the European Union, we face risks associated with the
potential uncertainty and disruptions related to the withdrawal of the United Kingdom from the European Union,
commonly referred to as “Brexit.” Although the United Kingdom and the European Union have entered into a trade and
cooperation agreement (the “Trade and Cooperation Agreement”), the long-term nature of the United Kingdom’s
relationship with the European Union following the Brexit and the implementation and application of the Trade and
Cooperation Agreement remain uncertain, including with respect to volatility in exchange rates and interest rates,
disruptions to the free movement of data, goods, services, people and capital between the United Kingdom and the
European Union, and potential material changes to the regulatory regime applicable to our operations in the United
Kingdom. The uncertainty concerning the United Kingdom’s future legal, political, and economic relationship with the
European Union could adversely affect political, regulatory, economic, or market conditions in the European Union, the
United Kingdom and worldwide, and could contribute to instability in global political institutions, regulatory agencies, and
financial markets. These developments, or the perception that any of them could occur, have had, and may continue to
have, a material adverse effect on global economic conditions and the stability of global financial markets, and they could
significantly reduce global market liquidity and limit the ability of key market participants to operate in certain financial
markets. Brexit could also lead to a period of considerable uncertainty in relation to the United Kingdom financial and
banking markets, as well as to the regulatory process in Europe. Asset valuations, currency exchange rates, and credit
ratings may also be subject to increased market volatility.

As a result of Brexit, we may also face new regulatory costs and challenges that could have a material adverse effect
on our operations. For example, as of January 1, 2021, the United Kingdom lost the benefits of global trade agreements
negotiated by the European Union on behalf of its members, which may result in increased trade barriers that could make
our ability to conduct business in areas that are subject to such global trade agreements more difficult. In addition, Brexit
could lead to legal uncertainty and potentially divergent national laws and regulations as the United Kingdom determines
which laws of the European Union to replace or replicate. For example, Brexit could lead to potentially divergent laws and
regulations, such as with respect to data protection and data transfer laws, that could be costly and difficult for us to comply
with. There may continue to be economic uncertainty surrounding the consequences of Brexit that adversely impact
customer confidence resulting in customers reducing their spending budgets on our services. While we continue to monitor
these developments, the full effect of Brexit on our operations is uncertain and our business, financial condition, and results
of operations could be materially and adversely affected.

Risks Related to Our Indebtedness

Our indebtedness could materially adversely affect our financial condition, our ability to raise additional capital to fund
our operations, operate our business, react to changes in the economy or our industry, meet our obligations under our
outstanding indebtedness, including significant operating and financial restrictions imposed on us by our debt
agreements, and it could divert our cash flow from operations for debt payments.

As of December 31, 2022, we had total outstanding indebtedness (net) of approximately $360.6 million, consisting of
outstanding borrowings under our senior secured credit facilities. In November 2022, we incurred an additional
$170.8 million in indebtedness under the senior secured credit facilities. See Note 11 to our consolidated financial
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statements for the year ended December 31, 2022 included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for further
information.

In June 2020, as part of San Vicente Holdings LLC’s (“SVH”) indirect acquisition of approximately 98.6% interest in
Legacy Grindr (and its subsidiaries) from Kunlun Grindr Holdings Limited (“Kunlun”), San Vicente Acquisition LLC, an
indirect subsidiary of SVH (“SV Acquisition”) agreed to pay what, after adjustments provided for in the acquisition
agreement, amounted to a $230.0 million deferred consideration payment liability to Kunlun, payable on the second and
third anniversary of the closing date (the “Deferred Payment”). In connection with the acquisition, SV Acquisition assigned
the obligations for the Deferred Payment to Legacy Grindr, and subsequently, through a series of assumption agreements,
SV Acquisition re-assumed the obligations for the Deferred Payment. In June 2022, Legacy Grindr declared a distribution
of $83.3 million to its members, including an affiliate of SV Acquisition, on a pro rata basis. Legacy Grindr paid this
distribution in June and July 2022. SV Acquisition’s affiliate, San Vicente Group Holdings LLC (“SV Group Holdings”),
received its ratable share of this distribution, being $75.0 million, and distributed that amount through intermediate holding
companies to SV Acquisition, which then paid such amount to Kunlun in partial satisfaction of the Deferred Payment
obligation, thereby reducing such obligation to $155.0 million. The cash transfer to Kunlun was effected by Legacy Grindr
at the instruction of SV Group Holdings. The Deferred Payment obligation was fully repaid within ten (10) business days
of Closing. See the section titled “ Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations—Financing Arrangements” that appears elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for further
information. The obligations under the Credit Agreement are subject to automatic acceleration upon a voluntary or
involuntary bankruptcy event of default, and are subject to acceleration at the election of the lenders upon the continuance
of any other event of default, including a material adverse change in the business, operations or conditions of the Company.

The Credit Agreement that governs our senior secured credit facilities imposes significant operating and financial
restrictions on us. These restrictions will limit our ability and/or the ability of our subsidiaries to, among other things:

* incur or guarantee additional debt;

* incur certain liens;

» effect change of control events;

e make certain investments;

* make certain payments or other distributions;
» declare or pay dividends;

e enter into transactions with affiliates;

*  prepay, redeem or repurchase any subordinated indebtedness or enter into amendments to certain subordinated
indebtedness in a manner materially adverse to the lenders; and

e transfer or sell assets.

In addition, the Credit Agreement requires us to maintain a total leverage ratio of no greater than 3.25 to 1.00. As a
result of these and other restrictions, we may be limited as to how we conduct business, and we may be unable to raise
additional debt or equity financing to compete effectively or to take advantage of new business opportunities. The terms of
any future indebtedness that we may incur could include similar or more restrictive covenants. We cannot assure you that
we will be able to maintain compliance with these covenants in the future and, if we fail to do so, that we will be able to
obtain waivers from the lenders and/or amend the covenants. Our failure to comply with the restrictive or financial
covenants described above, as well as the terms of any future indebtedness could result in an event of default, which, if not
cured or waived, could result in us being required to repay these borrowings before their due date. If we are forced to
refinance these borrowings on less favorable terms or if it is unable to refinance these borrowings, our business, financial
condition, and results of operations could be materially adversely affected.

Furthermore, we may be able to incur substantial additional indebtedness in the future. The terms of the credit
agreements governing our indebtedness limit, but do not prohibit, us from incurring additional indebtedness, and the
additional indebtedness incurred in compliance with these restrictions could be substantial. These restrictions will also not
prevent us from incurring obligations that do not constitute “Indebtedness” as defined in the agreements governing our
indebtedness. If new indebtedness is added to our current debt levels, the related risks that we now face could intensify.

The obligations under the Credit Agreement are subject to automatic acceleration upon a voluntary or involuntary
bankruptcy event of default, and are subject to acceleration at the election of the lenders upon the continuance of any other
event of default, including a material adverse change in the business, operations or conditions of the Company. A default
interest rate of an additional 2.0% per annum will apply on all outstanding obligations during the occurrence and
continuance of an event of default. The Credit Agreement includes restrictive non-financial and financial covenants,
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including the requirement to maintain a total leverage ratio no greater than 3.25:1.00. See the section titled “Management's
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Financing Arrangements” that appears
elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for further information.

Risks Related to Ownership of our Securities

We have a limited operating history and, as a result, our past results may not be indicative of future operating
performance.

As explained above, our management team has limited history working together, which makes it difficult to forecast
our future results. See “—Risks Related to our Brand, Products and Services, and Operations—We have grown rapidly in
recent years and certain members of our management team have joined us recently. If we are unable to manage our
operations or growth effectively, our brand, company culture, and financial performance may suffer.” You should not rely
on our past annual or quarterly operating results as indicators of future performance. In addition, you should consider and
evaluate our prospects in light of the risks and uncertainties frequently encountered by companies in rapidly evolving
markets like ours, as well as the information included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Our reported financial results may be adversely affected by changes in accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States.

Generally accepted accounting principles in the United States are subject to interpretation by the Financial Accounting
Standards Board (“FASB”), the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the SEC and various bodies formed to
promulgate and interpret appropriate accounting principles. A change in these principles or interpretations could have a
significant effect on our reported financial results, and could affect the reporting of transactions completed before the
announcement of a change.

There is no guarantee that our warrants will be in the money at the time they become exercisable, and they may expire
worthless.

The exercise price for our warrants, which consist of certain private placement warrants, public warrants and warrants
originally issued to certain equityholders of Legacy Grindr (collectively, the “Warrants™) is $11.50 per warrant. We believe
the likelihood that warrant holders will exercise their warrants, and therefore the amount of cash proceeds that we would
receive, is dependent upon the trading price of our Common Stock. If the trading price for our Common Stock is less than
$11.50 per share, we believe holders of our Warrants will be unlikely to exercise their warrants. There is no guarantee that
the Warrants will be in the money following the time they become exercisable and prior to their expiration, and as such, the
warrants may expire worthless.

The requirements of being a public company may strain our resources, divert management’s attention and affect our
ability to attract and retain executive management and qualified board members.

As a public company, we are subject to the reporting requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended
(the “Exchange Act”), the listing standards of NYSE and other applicable securities rules and regulations. The
requirements of these rules and regulations will continue to increase our legal, accounting and financial compliance costs,
make some activities more difficult, time-consuming, and costly, and place significant strain on our personnel, systems and
resources. Furthermore, several members of our management team do not have prior experience in running a public
company. The Exchange Act requires, among other things, that we file annual, quarterly and current reports with respect to
our business and results of operations. As a result of the complexity involved in complying with the rules and regulations
applicable to public companies, our management’s attention may be diverted from other business concerns, which could
harm our business, results of operations and financial condition. Although we have already hired additional employees to
assist us in complying with these requirements, we may need to hire more employees in the future or engage outside
consultants, which will increase our operating expenses. In addition, changing laws, regulations and standards relating to
corporate governance and public disclosure are creating uncertainty for public companies, increasing legal and financial
compliance costs and making some activities more time-consuming. These laws, regulations and standards are subject to
varying interpretations, in many cases due to their lack of specificity, and, as a result, their application in practice may
evolve over time as new guidance is provided by regulatory and governing bodies. This could result in continuing
uncertainty regarding compliance matters and higher costs necessitated by ongoing revisions to disclosure and governance
practices. We intend to invest substantial resources to comply with evolving laws, regulations and standards, and this
investment may result in increased general and administrative expenses and a diversion of management’s time and
attention from business operations to compliance activities. If our efforts to comply with new laws, regulations and
standards differ from the activities intended by regulatory or governing bodies due to ambiguities related to their
application and practice, regulatory authorities may initiate legal proceedings against us and our business may be harmed.
We also expect that being a public company that is subject to these new rules and regulations will make it more expensive
for us to obtain director and officer liability insurance, and we may be required to accept reduced coverage or incur
substantially higher costs to obtain coverage. These factors could also make it more difficult for us to attract and retain
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qualified members of our board of directors (the “Board”), particularly members who can serve on our audit committee,
and qualified executive officers. As a result of the disclosure obligations required of a public company, our business and
financial condition will become more visible, which may result in an increased risk of threatened or actual litigation,
including by competitors and other third parties. If such claims are successful, our business, results of operations and
financial condition would be harmed, and even if the claims do not result in litigation or are resolved in our favor, these
claims, and the time and resources necessary to resolve them, would divert the resources of our management and harm our
business, results of operations and financial condition.

We have incurred and expect to continue to incur significantly increased costs and devote substantial management time
as a result of operating as a public company.

As a public company, we will incur significant legal, accounting and other expenses that we would not incur as a
private company. For example, we are subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, and are required to
comply with the applicable requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer
Protection Act, as well as rules and regulations of the SEC and NYSE, including the establishment and maintenance of
effective disclosure and financial controls, changes in corporate governance practices and required filing of annual,
quarterly and current reports with respect to our business and results of operations. Any failure to develop or maintain
effective controls or any difficulties encountered in their implementation or improvement could harm our results of
operations or cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations. Our compliance with these requirements increases our legal
and financial compliance costs and makes some activities more time-consuming and costly. In addition, our management
and other personnel need to divert attention from operational and other business matters to devote substantial time to these
public company requirements. In particular, we incur significant expenses and devote substantial management effort
toward ensuring compliance with the requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, which will increase when we
are no longer an emerging growth company. We are in the process of hiring additional accounting personnel and, as a
public company, may need to hire additional accounting and financial staff with appropriate public company experience
and technical accounting knowledge and may need to establish an internal audit function.

Operating as a public company makes it more expensive for us to obtain director and officer liability insurance, and we
may be required to accept reduced coverage or incur substantially higher costs to obtain same or similar coverage. This
could also make it more difficult for us to attract and retain qualified people to serve on our Board, board committees or as
executive officers.

NYSE may be unable to maintain the listing of our securities on NYSE, which could limit investors’ ability to make
transactions in our securities and subject us to additional trading restrictions.

In connection with the Business Combination, in order to continue to obtain the listing of our securities on NYSE, we
were required to demonstrate compliance with NYSE’s initial listing requirements, which are more rigorous than NYSE’s
continued listing requirements. Although we successfully had our securities listed on NYSE, we may be unable to maintain
the listing of its securities in the future.

If we fail to maintain our listing, and if NYSE or another national securities exchange ceases to list our securities on its
exchange, our shareholders could face significant material adverse consequences, including:

* alimited availability of market quotations for our securities;
» reduced liquidity for our securities;

* adetermination that our Common Stock is a “penny stock” which will require brokers trading our Common Stock
to adhere to more stringent rules and possibly result in a reduced level of trading activity in the secondary trading
market for our securities;

* alimited amount of news and analyst coverage; and
* adecreased ability to issue additional securities or obtain additional financing in the future.

The National Securities Markets Improvement Act of 1996, which is a federal statute, prevents or preempts the states
from regulating the sale of certain securities, which are referred to as “covered securities.” If our securities are no longer
listed on the NYSE, such securities would not qualify as covered securities and we would be subject to regulation in each
state in which it offers its securities because states are not preempted from regulating the sale of securities that are not
covered securities.

The price of our securities may be volatile.
The price of our securities may fluctuate due to a variety of factors, including:

» changes in the industry in which we operate;
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» the success of competitive services or technologies;

* developments involving our competitors;

» regulatory or legal developments in the United States and other countries;

* developments or disputes concerning our intellectual property or other proprietary rights;
» the recruitment or departure of key personnel;

» actual or anticipated changes in estimates as to financial results, development timelines or recommendations by
securities analysts;

*  variations in our financial results or those of companies that are perceived to be similar to us;

»  general economic, industry and market conditions, such as the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic, the 2022 mpox
outbreak, recessions, interest rates, inflation, international currency fluctuations, political instability and acts of
war or terrorism; and

» the other factors described in this “Risk Factors” section.

These market and industry factors may materially reduce the market price of our Common Stock regardless of our
operating performance, including our businesses acquired in the Business Combination.

Future resales of our Common Stock and/or Warrants may cause the market price of our securities to drop
significantly, even if our business is doing well.

Pursuant to that certain Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement entered into at Closing by and among
Grindr, the Sponsor, the independent directors of Tiga and certain former members of Grindr (the “A&R Registration
Rights Agreement”), the Sponsor and Tiga's founders, including their respective affiliates, are contractually restricted from
selling or transferring any shares of Common Stock (the “Lock-up Shares”), other than (i) any transfer to an affiliate of a
holder, (ii) distribution to profit interest holders or other equity holders in such holder or (iii) as a pledge in a bona fide
transaction to third parties as collateral to secure obligations under lending arrangements with third parties. Such
restrictions began at Closing and end on the earliest of (i) 365 days after the date of the Closing; (ii) the first day after the
date on which the closing price of the Common Stock equals or exceeds $12.00 per share (as adjusted for stock splits, stock
dividends, reorganizations, recapitalizations and the like) for any 20 trading days within any 30-trading day period
commencing at least 150 days after the date of the Closing; or (iii) the date on which we complete a liquidation, merger,
capital stock exchange, reorganization or other similar transaction that results in all of our public shareholders having the
right to exchange their Common Stock for cash, securities or other property.

However, following the expiration of such lockup, the Sponsor and Tiga's founders, including their respective
affiliates, will not be restricted from selling shares of our Common Stock and/or Warrants held by them, other than by
applicable securities laws. Additionally, neither the forward purchase shareholders nor the Legacy Grindr unitholders party
to the A&R Registration Rights Agreement will be restricted from selling any of their shares of Common Stock following
the closing of the Business Combination. As such, sales of a substantial number of shares of Common Stock in the public
market could occur at any time. These sales, or the perception in the market that the holders of a large number of shares
intend to sell shares, could reduce the market price of our Common Stock. The Lock-up Shares may be sold after the
expiration of the applicable lock-up period under the A&R Registration Rights Agreements. As restrictions on resale end
and registration statements (filed after the Closing to provide for the resale of such shares from time to time) are available
for use, the sale or possibility of sale of these shares could have the effect of increasing the volatility in our share price or
the market price of our Common Stock could decline if the holders of currently restricted shares sell them or are perceived
by the market as intending to sell them.

In addition, we may issue additional shares of our Common Stock or other equity securities without the approval of
investors, which would reduce investors’ proportionate ownership interests and may depress the market price of our
Common Stock.

Sales of our Common Stock and/or Warrants or the perception of such sales, by us or by significant stockholders, in the
public market or otherwise, could cause the market price for our securities to decline, even though certain significant
stockholders would still realize a profit on sales at lower prices. Resales of the significant volumes of our securities may
cause the market price of such securities to drop significantly, even if our business is doing well.

We have previously filed a Registration Statement on Form S-1 (the “Prospectus”) in order to register the resale under
the Securities Act of the Common Stock and certain warrants held by certain holders, including the founders of Tiga,
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certain affiliates of Tiga and the Legacy Grindr unitholders. We will not receive any of the proceeds from such sales, except
with respect to amounts received by us upon exercise of warrants, which depends on the relative price of our Common
Stock and the extent to which such warrants are exercised for cash. If the warrants are out of the money, the warrant
holders may not exercise their warrants.

The sale of our Common Stock in the public market or otherwise or the perception that such sales could occur, could
harm the prevailing market price of our Common Stock. These sales, or the possibility that these sales may occur, also
might make it more difficult for us to sell equity securities in the future at a time and at a price that we deem appropriate.
Resales of our Common Stock may cause the market price of our securities to drop significantly, even if our business is
doing well. In addition, certain significant stockholders hold a disproportionately large portion of our outstanding Common
Stock. For example, our two largest stockholders, G. Raymond Zage, III and James Fu Bin Lu, who beneficially own
approximately 72.7% of our issued and outstanding Common Stock in the aggregate as of March 14, 2023, are able to sell
all of their securities held for so long as the Prospectus is in effect, subject to any applicable lock-up restrictions. Such
restrictions began at the Closing and end on the earliest of (i) 365 days after the date of the Closing; (ii) the first day after
the date on which the closing price of the Common Stock equals or exceeds $12.00 per share (as adjusted for stock splits,
stock dividends, reorganizations, recapitalizations and the like) for any 20 trading days within any 30-trading day period
commencing at least 150 days after the date of the Closing; or (iii) the date on which we complete a liquidation, merger,
capital stock exchange, reorganization or other similar transaction that results in all of our public stockholders having the
right to exchange their Common Stock for cash, securities or other property. See “—Future resales of our Common Stock
and/or Warrants may cause the market price of our securities to drop significantly, even if our business is doing well” in
this “Risk Factors” section and “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related
Stockholder Matters” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for more information on lock-up restrictions. Even if the trading
price of our Common Stock falls to or significantly below the current trading price, the significant stockholders may still
have an incentive to sell and profit due to the nominal purchase prices paid by such significant stockholders, which are
significantly lower than the purchase prices paid by other securityholders. Certain of our significant stockholders acquired
the Common Stock at prices that are significantly lower than the current trading price of our Common Stock. The founders
of Tiga paid approximately $0.0036 per share for each share of Common Stock and $1.00 per private placement warrant
for each private placement warrant being offered pursuant to the Prospectus. While such stockholders may experience a
positive rate of return based on the current trading price of our Common Stock, other securityholders may not experience a
similar rate of return on the securities they purchased due to differences in the purchase prices and the trading price at the
time of such sales.

Additionally, a portion of our Common Stock, including Common Stock held by Messrs. Zage and Lu, are subject to a
lock-up and restricted from immediate resale; however, upon expiration of their respective lock-up periods, the sale of
shares of such Common Stock or the perception that such sales may occur, could cause the market price of our Common
Stock to drop significantly.

We may be subject to securities litigation, which is expensive and could divert management attention.

The market price of our securities may be volatile and, in the past, companies that have experienced volatility in the
market price of their securities have been subject to securities class action litigation. We may be the target of this type of
litigation in the future. Securities litigation against us could result in substantial costs and divert management’s attention
from other business concerns, which could seriously harm our business.

Reports published by analysts or the ceasing of publication of research or reports about us, including projections in
those reports that differ from our actual results, could adversely affect the price and trading volume of our securities.

Securities research analysts may establish and publish their own research and reports, including periodic projections,
for our stock, and the trading market for our stock will be influenced by such research and reports or the lack thereof.
These research and reports may vary widely and may not accurately predict the results we actually achieve. Our share price
may decline if its actual results do not match the projections of these securities research analysts. Similarly, if one or more
of the analysts who write reports on Grindr downgrades our stock or publishes inaccurate or unfavorable research about our
business, our stock price could decline. If one or more of these analysts ceases coverage of Grindr or fails to publish
reports on Grindr regularly, our securities price or trading volume could decline. While we expect research analyst
coverage to continue, if analysts cease to continue coverage of Grindr, we could use visibility in the financial markets, and
the market price and volume for our securities could be adversely affected.

We do not intend to pay cash dividends for the foreseeable future.

We intend to retain our future earnings, if any, to finance the further development and expansion of our business and
do not intend to pay cash dividends in the foreseeable future. Any future determination to pay dividends will be at the
discretion of our Board and will depend on our financial condition, results of operations, capital requirements and future
agreements and financing instruments, business prospects and such other factors as our Board deems relevant. As a result,
you may not receive any return on an investment in our Common Stock unless you sell our Common Stock for a price
greater than that which you paid for it.
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General Risk Factors

A downturn in the global economy or other adverse macroeconomic disruptions, especially in the U.S. and Europe,
where a substantial majority of our revenue is generated could adversely harm our business.

Our performance depends, at least in part, on global economic conditions and their impact on levels of spending by our
subscribers and advertisers. A decline in general economic conditions, including but not limited to recent inflationary
movements, especially in the U.S. and Europe, where we generate a substantial majority of our revenue, may adversely
affect levels of consumer discretionary spending, the demands for our products and services, as well as advertising
expenditures, any of which could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

In addition, given the cyclical nature of the global economy, a recessionary period may occur in the future, which
could negatively affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations. The ongoing U.S.-China trade tension
and other international diplomatic issues, as well as geopolitical conflicts, including the military conflict involving Russia
and Ukraine, and the economic sanctions imposed on Russia, present additional uncertainties for the U.S. and global
economies. In addition, the Company’s operations and access to capital may be impacted by disruptions to the banking
system and financial market volatility resulting from bank failures, particularly in light of the recent events that have
occurred with respect to SVB. There can be no assurances that future economic conditions in the U.S. or elsewhere around
the world will be favorable to our business.

Our employees could engage in misconduct that materially adversely affects us.

Our employees could engage in misconduct that could have a materially adverse effect on us. We may not be able to
prevent or detect misconduct by our employees, either personal or in the course of their duties on behalf of us, and the
precautions we take to prevent and detect this activity may not be effective. See “—Risks Related to Regulation and
Litigation—Online applications are subject to various laws and regulations relating to children’s privacy and protection,
which if violated, could subject us to an increased risk of litigation and regulatory actions.” If any of our employees were
to engage in or be accused of misconduct, we could be exposed to legal liability, negative publicity, our business and
reputation could be materially adversely affected, and we could fail to retain key employees. See “—Risks Related to our
Brand, Products and Services, and Operations—Unfavorable media coverage could materially and adversely affect our
business, brand, or reputation.”

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 2. Properties

We currently maintain our headquarters at 750 N. San Vicente Blvd., Suite RE 1400 West Hollywood, California
90069, where we lease and occupy approximately 25,000 square feet of office space pursuant to an operating lease that
expires in 2026. We also lease space at several co-working locations across the United States and globally, including in
Brooklyn, Chicago, and Taipei, Taiwan.

We consider our current office space adequate to meet our ongoing needs, particularly in light of our recently
adopted work from anywhere remote policy. However, from time to time we may evaluate additional or substitute office
spaces. We believe that we will be able to obtain additional facilities, as needed, on commercially reasonable terms.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

In the ordinary course of business, we are involved in various claims, lawsuits, government investigations,
settlements and proceedings relating to our operations. Although the results of the claims, lawsuits, government
investigations, and proceedings in which we are involved cannot be predicted with certainty, we do not believe the final
outcome of certain matters will have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, or results of operations,
other than those proceedings for which it is too early to determine the materiality and probability of outcome. Information
relating to various commitments and contingencies is described in Note 13 to our consolidated financial statements
included in Part II, Item 8 in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and the information discussed therein is incorporated by
reference into this Part I, Item 3.

In the future, we may be subject to additional legal proceedings, the scope and severity of which is unknown and
which could adversely affect our business. In addition, from time to time, others may assert claims against us and we may
assert claims and legal proceedings against other parties, including in the form of letters and other forms of
communication.
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The results of any current or future legal proceedings cannot be predicted with certainty and, regardless of the
outcome, can have an adverse impact on us because of defense and settlement costs, diversion of management resources
and other factors.

For more information, see the section titled “Risk Factors—Risks Related to Regulation and Litigation—We are
subject to litigation, regulatory and other government investigations, enforcement actions, and settlements, and adverse
outcomes in such proceedings could have a materially adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of
operation.”

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.

71



PART 11

Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity
Securities

Market Information
Our Common Stock and Public Warrants are listed on NYSE under symbols “GRND” and “GRND.WS”, respectively.

Holders

As of close of business on March 14, 2023, there were 14 holders of record of our Common Stock, 3 holders of record of
our Private Warrants and 1 holder of record of our Public Warrants. The actual number of holders of our Common Stock
and Public Warrants is greater than the number of record holders, and includes holders who are beneficial owners, but
whose shares or warrants are held in street name by brokers or other nominees.

Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid any dividends on our Common Stock and do not anticipate paying any dividends on our
Common Stock in the foreseeable future. Any future determination to pay dividends will be at the discretion of our Board
and will depend on our financial condition, results of operations, capital requirements and future agreements and financing
instruments, business prospects and such other factors as our Board deems relevant.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans
Information about our equity compensation plans in Item 12 of Part III of this Annual Report on Form 10-K is incorporated

herein by reference.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Equity Securities
None.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
None.

Item 6. [Reserved.]
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION
AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in
conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form
10-K. In addition to the audited consolidated financial information, the following discussion contains forward-looking
statements that reflect our plans, estimates, beliefs and expectations that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results
and the timing of events could differ materially from those discussed in these forward-looking statements. Factors that
could cause or contribute to these differences include those discussed below and elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form
10-K, particularly in Item 1A. “Risk Factors” and “Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements.”

Overview

Grindr is the world’s largest social network focused on the LGBTQ community with approximately 12.2 million
MAUSs and approximately 788 thousand Paying Users in 2022. Our Paying Users were over 788 and 601 thousand for the
years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. According to the Frost & Sullivan study commissioned by Grindr
in 2021 and 2022, Grindr is the largest and most popular gay mobile app in the world, with more MAUSs than other
LGBTQ social networking applications. Our mission is to connect queer people with one another and the world. Since our
inception in 2009 as a casual dating app for gay men, we have evolved into a global LGBTQ social network platform
serving and addressing the needs of the entire LGBTQ queer community. We believe Grindr is a vital utility for the
LGBTQ community and our users, as evidenced by our user engagement. Our users are some of the most engaged,
spending, on average, 61 minutes per day on our platform in 2021 compared to 10-20 minutes on dating apps, according to
the Frost & Sullivan Study commissioned by Grindr, and 25-35 minutes on social networking apps, according to Statista.

We have grown significantly over the years since our product launch. In 2022, we generated $195.0 million of
revenue, representing a year-over-year growth of 33.7% as compared to the 2021 period, and had approximately 788
thousand Paying Users, which is 31% higher than our Paying Users from 2021. We have users in over 190 countries or
territories and support 21 languages on our platform. On average, profiles on our platform sent over 308 million daily
messages in 2022.

Despite our growth, we believe we are just beginning to scratch the surface of our market opportunity and financial
potential. According to the Frost & Sullivan Study commissioned by Grindr, the LGBTQ population is growing faster than
the overall population and younger generations are driving this growth. We expect this trend to continue as social norms
shift, more progressive attitudes surface, and people become more comfortable expressing themselves openly. As this
group grows, gains influence, and becomes more digitally connected, we believe we are well positioned to continue to be
the leading platform for this group to connect with each other. The Frost & Sullivan Study commissioned by Grindr
estimates the global LGBTQ population at 538.4 million in 2022 with approximately $10.9 trillion of GDP at purchasing
power parity. In 2022, our MAUs and revenue imply we have only captured more than 2.0% of the LGBTQ population and
less than 0.01% of the spend. As the world’s largest social network focused on the LGBTQ community, we have significant
opportunities to grow both our users and our revenue through new products and services and additional monetization
features.

On June 10, 2020, Grindr was acquired by San Vicente Group Holdings LLC ("SVH"). Prior to the June 10, 2020
acquisition by SVH, we experienced many years of user, revenue, and Adjusted EBITDA growth. As a result of our
growth, our infrastructure and systems were not keeping pace, just like many high growth tech companies in similar
situations. Following the June 10, 2020 acquisition by SVH, we spent the next several months focused on reassessing
strategic priorities, updating our technology infrastructure, upgrading our data systems, stabilizing our product, and
optimizing our cost structure. As a result, by 2022 we had a nimbler company with modern tools that resulted in a better
and more stable product. This positioned us to take advantage of growth opportunities in 2022 and beyond.

The Grindr mobile application ("Grindr App") is free to download and provides certain services and features to
Grindr's users for free, and then offers a variety of additional controls and features for users who subscribe to our premium
products and services, Grindr XTRA and Grindr Unlimited. A substantial portion of our revenues are derived directly from
users in the form of recurring subscription fees, providing our users access to a bundle of features for the period of their
subscription, or add-ons to access premium features. Leveraging strong brand awareness and significant user network
stemming from our first mover advantage in the LGBTQ social networking space, our historical growth in number of users
has been driven primarily by word-of-mouth referrals or other organic means.
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While we have users in over 190 countries and territories, our core markets are currently North America and Europe,
from which we derived 86.9% and 89.5% of our total revenues for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021,
respectively. We intend to grow our user base and revenues by providing innovative and customized products and services
and features to users in targeted geographic regions outside of our current core markets that have a large number of
untapped potential users, favorable regulatory environments, and fast-growing economies.

In addition to our revenue generated from subscription fees and premium add-ons, we generate a portion of our
revenues from both first-party and third-party advertising. Our advertising business provides advertisers with the unique
opportunity to directly target and reach the LGBTQ community, which is characterized by a higher-than-average
proportion of well-educated, brand-conscious individuals with substantial aggregate global purchasing power. Advertisers
on our Grindr App span across many different industries, including healthcare, gaming, travel, automotive, and consumer
goods. We offer a diverse range of advertising initiatives to advertisers, such as in-app banners, full-screen interstitials, and
other customized units, typically sold on an impressions basis. Additionally, we contract with a variety of third-party
advertisement sales platforms to market and sell digital and mobile advertising inventory on our Grindr App. We will
continue to evaluate opportunities to increase inventory with unique advertising units and offerings.

Consolidated Results for the Years Ended December 31, 2022 and 2021
For the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, we generated:

*  Revenue of $195.0 million and $145.8 million, respectively. The increase for the year ended December 31, 2022
compared to the year ended December 31, 2021 was $49.2 million, or 33.7%.

*  Net income of $0.9 million and $5.1 million, respectively. The decrease for the year ended December 31, 2022
compared to the year ended December 31, 2021 was $(4.2) million, or (82.4)%.

*  Adjusted EBITDA of $85.2 million and $77.1 million, respectively. The increase for the year ended December 31,
2022 compared to the year ended December 31, 2021 was $8.1 million, or 10.6%. See “Management s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Result of Operations—Non-GAAP Financial Measures—Adjusted
EBITDA” for more details on the calculations and reconciliations.

The Business Combination and Public Company Costs

On May 9, 2022, Grindr, Tiga and Merger Sub I entered into the Merger Agreement pursuant to which Grindr was
merged with and into Merger Sub I, with Grindr surviving the First Merger as a wholly owned subsidiary of Tiga, and
promptly afterwards and as part of the same overall transaction as the First Merger, the merger of such surviving company
with and into Merger Sub II, with Merger Sub II being the surviving entity of the Second Merger, in accordance with the
terms and conditions of the Merger Agreement. The transaction was completed on November 18, 2022 (the "Business
Combination") and provided Grindr with $105.1 million of gross proceeds, including $5.1 million from the trust account,
$50.0 million from the sale of forward purchase shares and forward purchase warrants and an additional $50.0 million from
the sale of backstop shares and backstop warrants, prior to the payment of outstanding expenses, payment of outstanding
obligations (including the deferred payment previously outstanding to Kunlun Group Holdings Limited ("Kunlun") and the
distribution made by Grindr to its unitholders prior to the Closing). In connection with the Business Combination, the
Company increased its secured senior loan by $170.2 million, and Catapult GP II paid approximately $12.0 million to
Grindr to partially repay the outstanding Catapult loan. See Note 3 to Grindr's audited consolidated financial statements
included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information. Grindr was deemed the accounting
predecessor and the combined entity is the successor registrant with the SEC, meaning that Grindr’s consolidated financial
statements for previous periods will be disclosed in Grindr’s future periodic reports filed with the SEC.

While the legal acquirer in the Merger Agreement was Tiga, for financial accounting and reporting purposes under
U.S. GAAP, Legacy Grindr was the accounting acquirer and the Business Combination was accounted for as a “reverse
recapitalization.” A reverse recapitalization (i.e., a capital transaction involving the issuance of stock by Tiga for the stock
of Grindr) did not result in a new basis of accounting, and the consolidated financial statements of the combined entity
represent the continuation of the consolidated financial statements of Legacy Grindr in many respects. Accordingly, the
consolidated assets, liabilities and results of operations of Legacy Grindr became the historical consolidated financial
statements of Grindr, and Tiga’s assets, liabilities, and results of operations were consolidated with Legacy Grindr
beginning on the acquisition date. Operations prior to the Business Combination are presented as those of Legacy Grindr
and will be presented as such in future reports. The net assets of Tiga were recognized at historical cost (which was
consistent with carrying value), with no goodwill or other intangible assets recorded upon execution of the Business
Combination.
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As a consequence of the Business Combination, Grindr became the successor to an SEC-registered and NY SE-listed
company, which required Grindr to hire additional personnel and implement procedures and processes to address public
company regulatory requirements and customary practices. Grindr expects to incur additional annual expenses as a public
company for, among other things, directors’ and officers’ liability insurance, director fees and additional internal and
external accounting, legal and administrative resources, including increased audit and legal fees. The Company is classified
as an Emerging Growth Company, as defined under the Jumpstart Our Business Act (the “Jobs Act”), which was enacted
on April 5, 2012. As a result of the Business Combination, the Company is provided certain disclosure and regulatory
relief, provided by the SEC, as an Emerging Growth Company and Smaller Reporting Company.

Grindr’s future results of consolidated operations and financial position may not be comparable to historical results as
a result of the Business Combination.

How We Generate Revenue

We currently generate revenue from two revenue streams—Direct Revenue and Indirect Revenue. Direct Revenue is
revenue generated by our users who pay for subscriptions or add-ons to access premium features. Indirect Revenue is
generated by third parties who pay us for access to our users, such as advertising or partnerships.

Direct Revenue is driven predominately by our subscription revenue and premium add-ons. Our current subscription
offerings are Grindr XTRA and Grindr Unlimited. Our subscription revenue has grown through organic user acquisition
and the viral network effects enabled by our brand and market position. We utilize a freemium model to drive increased
user acquisition, subscriber conversions, and monetization on the Grindr App. Many of our users choose to pay for
premium features and functionalities, such as access to more user profiles, ad-free environments, advanced filters,
unlimited blocks and favorites, and the ability to send multiple photos at the same time, to enhance their user experience.
By continuously introducing new premium features, we continue to increase our Paying Users and average revenue per
paying user.

For the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, our Direct Revenue accounted for 83.7%% and 79.6%% of our total
revenue, respectively, our Adjusted Direct Revenue (as defined below) accounted for 83.7% and 80.2% of our total
revenue, respectively.

Indirect Revenue primarily consists of revenue generated by third parties who pay us for access to our users, including
advertising, partnerships, merchandise, and other non-direct revenue. Our advertising business provides advertisers with
the unique opportunity to directly target and reach the LGBTQ community, which generally consists of well-educated
individuals with significant global purchasing power. We have attracted advertisers from a diverse array of industries,
including healthcare, gaming, travel, automotive, and consumer goods. We offer a diverse range of advertising initiatives to
advertisers, such as in-app banners, full-screen interstitials, rewarded video, and other customized units, typically on a
CPM basis. We contract with a variety of third-party ad platforms to market and sell digital and mobile advertising
inventory on our Grindr App. In exchange for facilitating the advertising process, we pay the relevant third-party ad
platform a share of the revenue derived from the advertisements they place on the Grindr App. We intend to continue to
grow our Indirect Revenue through advertising, partnerships, merchandise, and other non-direct initiatives.

Operating and Financial Metrics

Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, December 31,

(in thousands, except Adjusted ARPPU, ARPPU and ARPU) 2022 2021

Key Operating Metrics

Average Paying Users 788 601
Adjusted Average Direct Revenue per Paying User ("Adjusted ARPPU") $ 1728 § 16.21
Average Direct Revenue per Paying User ("ARPPU") $ 1728  $ 16.08
Monthly Active Users 12,246 10,799
Average Total Revenue per User ("ARPU") $ 133 § 1.13
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Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, December 31,

($ in thousands) 2022 2021
Key Financial and Non-GAAP Metrics™”

Revenue 195,015 $§ 145,833
Adjusted Direct Revenue $ 163,308 $ 116,931
Indirect Revenue 31,707 29,802
Net income $ 852 $ 5,064
Net income margin 0.4 % 35%
Adjusted EBITDA $§ 85,192 $ 77,054
Adjusted EBITDA Margin 43.7 % 52.8 %
Net cash provided by operating activities § 50,644 $ 34,430

(1) See “Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Non-GAAP Financial Measures” for additional
information and a reconciliation of net income to Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin and reconciliation of Direct Revenue to
Adjusted Direct Revenue.

Paying Users. A Paying User is a user that has purchased or renewed a Grindr subscription and/or purchased a
premium add-on on the Grindr App. We calculate Paying Users as a monthly average, by counting the number of
Paying Users in each month and then dividing by the number of months in the relevant measurement period.
Paying Users is a primary metric that we use to judge the health of our business and our ability to convert users to
purchasers of our premium features. We are focused on building new products and services and improving on
existing products and services, as well as launching new pricing tiers and subscription plans, to drive payer
conversion.

ARPPU. We calculate average revenue per Paying User (“ARPPU”) based on Direct Revenue in any measurement
period, divided by Paying Users in such a period divided by the number of months in the period.

Adjusted ARPPU. We calculate adjusted ARPPU based on Adjusted Direct Revenue (excluding purchase
accounting adjustments) in any measurement period, divided by Paying Users in such a period divided by the
number of months in the period.

MAUs. A MAU, or Monthly Active User, is a unique device that demonstrated activity on the Grindr App over the
course of the specified period. Activity on the app is defined as opening the app, chatting with another user, or
viewing the cascade of other users. We also exclude devices where all linked profiles have been banned for spam.
We calculate MAUs as a monthly average, by counting the number of MAUs in each month and then dividing by
the number of months in the relevant period. We use MAUs to measure the number of active users on our platform
on a monthly basis and to understand the pool of users we can potentially convert to Paying Users.

ARPU. We calculate average total revenue per user (“ARPU”) based on Total Revenue in any measurement
period, divided by our MAUs in such a period divided by the number of months in the period. As we expand our
monetization product offerings, develop new verticals, and grow our community of users, we believe we can
continue to increase our ARPU.

Non-GAAP Profitability

We use net income and net cash provided by operating activities to assess our profitability and liquidity, respectively.
In addition to net income and net cash provided by operating activities, we also use the following measure:

Adjusted EBITDA. We define Adjusted EBITDA as net income excluding income tax (benefit) provision, interest
expense, depreciation and amortization, stock-based compensation expense, non-core expenses/losses (gains).
Non-core expenses/losses (gains) include purchase accounting adjustments related to deferred revenue,
transaction-related costs, asset impairments, management fees, interest income from the related party loan to
Catapult GP II, and change in fair value of warrant liability. Adjusted EBITDA Margin represents Adjusted
EBITDA as a percentage of revenue.

Adjusted Direct Revenue. We define Adjusted Direct Revenue as Direct Revenue adjusted for the release of the
fair value adjustment of deferred revenue into revenue of the acquired deferred revenue due to the June 10, 2020,
acquisition by SVH.

Adjusted EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA Margin and Adjusted Direct Revenue are key measures we use to assess our

financial

performance and are also used for internal planning and forecasting purposes. We believe Adjusted EBITDA,
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Adjusted EBITDA Margin and Adjusted Direct Revenue are helpful to investors, analysts, and other interested parties
because they can assist in providing a more consistent and comparable overview of our operations across our historical
financial periods. In addition, these measures are frequently used by analysts, investors, and other interested parties to
evaluate and assess performance.

See “Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Non-GAAP Financial
Measures” for additional information and a reconciliation of net income to Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA
Margin and reconciliation of Direct Revenue to Adjusted Direct Revenue.

Key Factors Affecting our Performance

Our results of operations and financial condition have been, and will continue to be, affected by a number of factors
that present significant opportunities for us but also pose risks and challenges, including those discussed below and in Item
1A. "Risk Factors" in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Growth in User Base and Paying Users

We acquire new users through investments in marketing and brand as well as through word of mouth from existing
users and others. We convert these users to Paying Users by introducing premium features which maximize the probability
of developing meaningful connections, improve the experience, and provide more control. For the years ended December
31, 2022 and 2021, we had over 788 thousand and 601 thousand Paying Users, respectively, representing an increase of
31.0% year over year. We grow Paying Users by acquiring new users and converting new and existing users to purchasers
of one of our subscription plans or in-app offerings. As we scale and our community grows larger, we are able to facilitate
more meaningful interactions as a result of the wider selection of potential connections. This in turn increases our brand
awareness and increases conversion to one of our premium products and services. Our revenue growth primarily depends
on growth in Paying Users. While we believe we are in the early days of our opportunity, at some point we may face
challenges increasing our Paying Users, including competition from alternative products and services and lower adoption
of certain product features.

Expansion into New Geographic Markets

We are focused on growing our platform globally, including through entering new markets and investing in under-
penetrated markets. Expanding into new geographies will require increased costs related to marketing, as well as
localization of product features and services. Potential risks to our expansion into new geographies will include
competition and compliance with foreign laws and regulations. As we expand into certain new geographies, we may see an
increase in users who prefer to access premium features through our add-on options rather than through our subscription
packages, which could impact our ARPPU. We may also see a lower propensity to pay as we enter certain new markets
with additional competitors and cost and revenue profiles.

Growth in ARPPU

We have developed a sophisticated understanding of the value our users derive from becoming Paying Users on our
platform. We continually develop new monetization features and improve existing features in order to increase adoption of
premium add-ons and our subscription programs. Many variables will impact our ARPPU, including the number of Paying
Users, mix of monetization offerings on our platform, effect of demographic shifts, geographic differences on all of these
variables, and changes in mobile app store policies. Our pricing is in local currency and may vary between markets. As
foreign currency exchange rates change, translation of the statements of operations into U.S. dollars could negatively
impact revenue and distort year-over-year comparability of operating results. To the extent our ARPPU growth slows, our
revenue growth will become increasingly dependent on our ability to increase our Paying Users.

Investing in Growth While Driving Long-Term Profitability

Key investment areas for our platform include machine learning capabilities, including continually improving our
technology; features that prioritize security and privacy; and new premium offerings that add incremental value to Paying
Users.

Attracting and Retaining Talent

Our business relies on our ability to attract and retain our talent, including engineers, data scientists, product designers
and product developers. As of December 31, 2022, we had 202 full-time and part-time employees; of which employees,
approximately 60% work in engineering and product development. We believe that people want to work at a company that
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has purpose and aligns with their personal values, and therefore our ability to recruit talent is aided by our mission and
brand reputation. We compete for talent within the technology industry.

Factors Affecting the Comparability of Our Results

General macroeconomic trends and events. General economic trends and events, including pandemics, demographic
changes, employment rates, job growth, user confidence, and disposable income, have a substantial effect on both our
users’ ability and desire to purchase premium subscriptions and advertisers’ ability and willingness to advertise on our
network, thereby affecting both of our major revenue streams and our financial results over time and the year-over-year
comparability of operating results. For instance, we believe the COVID-19 pandemic was a factor that suppressed user
activity, particularly between March 2020 to July 2020, when in-person engagement across the markets in which we
operate was severely impacted, and caused some users to be less active or cancel their subscriptions.

Governmental regulations. New governmental policies and regulations can affect our business in meaningful ways,
even when such policies and regulations are not specifically related to the LGBTQ community. For example, the
implementation of GDPR in Europe has given end-users more control over how their data and personal information are
utilized and has thereby adversely affected our European advertisers’ ability to specifically target these users. This new
regulation has had a stagnating effect on our indirect revenue growth trajectory in Europe. The implementation of similar
regulations in other regions of the world, or new regulations that affect our ability to monetize the data received from our
users, could have a significant impact on our operating results and ability to grow our business.

Temporary variability in general advertising spend. Our ability to maintain consistently high advertiser demand for
our platform can be affected by seasonal or temporary trends in advertisers’ appetites to engage with our users or our brand.
For example, events that result in temporary positive or negative publicity for our company (even if unfounded) may play a
significant role in our advertisers’ desire to continue to advertise on our platform. Further, general economic conditions
may lead to changes in advertising spending in general, which could have a significant impact on our results of operations.
Such fluctuations in advertising demand are often unpredictable and likely temporary, but could have a significant impact
on the financial condition of our business.

International market pricing and changes in foreign exchange rates. The Grindr App has MAUs in over
190 countries and territories. Our international revenues represented 37.4% and 35.8% of total revenue for years ended
December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. We vary our pricing to align with local market conditions and our international
businesses typically earn revenues in local currencies. In addition, some of the parties we work with utilize internally
generated foreign exchange rates that may differ from other foreign exchange rates, which could impact our results of
operations.

Key Components of Our Results of Operations

Revenues

We currently generate revenue from two revenue streams—Direct Revenue and Indirect Revenue. Direct Revenue is
revenue generated by our users who pay for subscriptions or premium add-ons to access premium features. Indirect
Revenue is generated by third parties who pay us for access to our users, such as advertising and partnerships. As we
continue to expand and diversify our revenue streams, we anticipate increasing monetization from premium add-ons,
contributing to increase in revenues over time.

Direct Revenues. Direct Revenues are reported gross of fees for subscriptions and premium add-ons as we are the
primary party obligated in our transactions with customers and therefore, we act as the principal. Our subscription revenues
are generated through the sale of monthly subscriptions that are currently offered in one, three, six and twelve-month
subscription periods. Subscribers pay in advance, primarily through third party partners, including iTunes, Google Play,
and Stripe, according to our terms and conditions. Subscription revenues, net of taxes and chargebacks, are recognized on a
monthly basis over the term of the subscription.

Indirect Revenues. Indirect Revenues primarily consists of revenue generated by third parties who pay us for access to
our users, including advertising, partnerships, and merchandise.

Our advertising business provides advertisers with the unique opportunity to directly target and reach the LGBTQ
community, which generally consists of well-educated individuals with significant global purchasing power. We have
attracted advertisers from a diverse array of industries, including healthcare, gaming, travel, automotive, and consumer
goods. We offer a diverse range of advertising initiatives to advertisers, such as in-app banners, full-screen interstitials,
rewarded video, and other customized units, typically on a CPM basis. We contract with a variety of third-party ad
platforms to market and sell digital and mobile advertising inventory on our Grindr App. In exchange for facilitating the
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advertising process, we pay the relevant third-party ad platform a share of the revenue derived from the advertisements
they place on the Grindr App.

Cost of Revenue and Operating Expenses

Cost of Revenue. Cost of revenue consists primarily of the distribution fees which we pay to Apple and Google,
infrastructure costs associated with supporting the Grindr App and our advertising efforts, which stem largely from our use
of Amazon Web Services, and costs associated with content moderation, which involve our outsourced teams in Honduras
and the Philippines ensuring that users are complying with our community standards.

Selling, General, and Administrative Expenses. Selling, general and administrative expenses consists primarily of sales
and marketing expenditures, compensation and other employee-related costs for our employees, costs related to outside
consultants and general administrative expenses, including for our facilities, information technology and infrastructure
support. We plan to continue to expand sales and marketing efforts to attract new users, retain existing users and increase
monetization of both our new and existing users.

Product Development Expense. Product development expense consists primarily of employee-related and contractor
costs for personnel engaged in the design, development, testing and enhancement of product offerings, features, and related
technology.

Depreciation and Amortization. Depreciation is primarily related to computers, equipment, furniture, fixtures, and
leasehold improvements. Amortization is primarily related to capitalized software, acquired intangible assets (customer
relationships, technology, etc.) as well as trademarks, patents, and copyrights.

Other (Expense) Income

Interest (Expense) Income, Net. Interest (expense) income, net consists of interest income received on related party
loans, interest expense incurred in connection with our long-term debt and loss on extinguishment of Deferred Payment
(defined below).

Other (Expense) Income, Net. Other (expense) income, net consists of realized exchange rate gains or losses,
unrealized exchange rate gains or losses, charitable contributions and transaction costs allocated to warrants.

Income Tax (Benefit) Provision. Income tax (benefit) provision represents the income tax expense associated with our
operations based on the tax laws of the jurisdictions in which we operate. Foreign jurisdictions have different statutory tax
rates than the United States. Our effective tax rates will vary depending on the relative proportion of foreign to domestic
income, changes in the valuation of our deferred tax assets and liabilities, and changes in tax laws.
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Results of Operations

Year Ended December 31, 2022 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2021

Results of Operations

Year Ended % of Year Ended % of
December 31, Total December 31, Total
(3 in thousands) 2022 Revenue 2021 Revenue
Consolidated Statements of Operations and
Comprehensive Income
Revenue $ 195,015 100.0 % $ 145,833 100.0 %
Operating costs and expenses
t of reven xclusive of depreciation an
COzfm(z)rtiez\z]ifiolrlles(}?milrtl Sse\;)eaSatSf}? bezecloavv;)....%.l...(.1 .............. 21280 26.3 % 37358 25.6 %
Selling, general and administrative expense................... 75,295 38.6 % 30,618 21.0 %
Product development eXpense ..........cccceevveeeeeeeeneeenneenen. 17,900 9.2 % 10,913 7.5 %
Depreciation and amortization..............ccceeeveeeereeenneenne. 37,505 192 % 43,234 29.6 %
Total operating costs and eXPenses..........ceeeeeressereesens 181,980 933 % 122,123 83.7 %
Income from operations 13,035 6.7 % 23,710 163 %
Other expense
Interest eXPense, Net.........ccevverueerieeienieneeeeeeseeeieenes (31,538) (16.2)% (18,698) 12.8)%
Other (expense) iNCOME, Nt ..............cocvvevrrrererrrrnens (2,799) (1.4)% 1,288 0.9 %
Change in fair value of warrant liability ........................ 21,295 10.9 % — — %
Total other expense (13,042) (6.7)% (17,410) (11.9)%
Net (loss) income before income tax..........ceceevcvennees (7) — % 6,300 43 %
Income tax (benefit) provision (859) (0.4)% 1,236 0.8 %
Net income $ 852 0.4 %$ 5,064 3.5 %
Net income per share $ 0.01 $ 0.03
Revenues

Revenues for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 were $195.0 million and $145.8 million, respectively. The
$49.2 million increase, or 33.7% growth rate was primarily due to an increase in Direct Revenue of $47.3 million, or 41%,
to $163.3 million and an increase in Indirect Revenue of $1.9 million, or 6.4%, to $31.7 million. The increase in Direct
Revenue was driven by both an increase in ARPPU and Paying Users. ARPPU increased by 7.5%, or $1.20, to $17.28 in
2022 from $16.08 in the year ended December 31, 2021. Our ARPPU increased as we improved product mix with growth
in our Unlimited tier and optimized pricing on legacy plans during the year ended December 31, 2022. In 2022, Paying
Users increased by 187 thousand to 788 thousand, from 601 thousand in December 31, 2021, as we increased Paying User
penetration of our overall user base as a result of launching new premium add-ons and features to drive greater subscription
conversion. The increase in Indirect Revenue was primarily driven by year-over-year growth in advertising revenue.

Revenues from operations in the United States increased by $28.4 million, or 30.3%, in the year ended December 31,
2022 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2021. During this same period, revenues from operations in the United
Kingdom increased by $3.6 million, or 33.6%, and revenues from operations in the remainder of the world increased by
$17.2 million, or 41.4%. These changes are consistent with revenue changes previously noted.

Cost of revenue

Cost of revenue for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 was $51.3 million and $37.4 million, respectively.
Cost of revenue increased by $13.9 million, or 37.2%, in the year ended December 31, 2022 as compared to the year ended
December 31, 2021. This increase was primarily due to growth in distribution fees (consistent with direct revenue growth)
and increased infrastructure costs associated with our primary information systems vendors.

Selling, general and administrative expense

Selling, general and administrative expense for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 was $75.3 million and
$30.6 million, respectively. Selling, general and administrative expenses increased $44.7 million, or 146.1% in the year
ended December 31, 2022 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2021, primarily due to stock-based compensation
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expense increase of approximately $23.7 million resulting from the Series P unit modification that occurred in the second
quarter of 2022, as well as approximately $6.0 million increase of full-time employee-related expenses associated with
headcount growth, and approximately $7.0 million increase in spending for outside service fees for audit, tax, legal,
recruiting, and other consulting services. The increase was also due to higher branding and marketing costs, as well as
other general and administrative expenses, such as general liability insurance, office software, and business travel and
entertainment.

Product development expense

Product development expense for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 was $17.9 million and $10.9 million,
respectively. Product development expense increased $7.0 million, or 64.2%, in the year ended December 31, 2022 as
compared to the year ended December 31, 2021, due to higher contractor expenses and increased full-time employee-
related expenses.

Depreciation and amortization

Depreciation and amortization for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 was $37.5 million and $43.2 million,
respectively. Depreciation and amortization decreased $5.7 million, or 13%, in the year ended December 31, 2022 as
compared to the year ended December 31, 2021, due to acquired intangibles amortization from our acquisition in June
2020 and as certain intangible assets were amortized under an accelerated amortization schedule, with higher amounts
expensed in 2021.

Interest expense, net

Interest expense, net for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 was $31.5 million and $18.7 million,
respectively.

Interest expense, net increased by $12.8 million in the year ended December 31, 2022 as compared to the year ended
December 31, 2021, primarily due to the additional interest expense associated with raising additional debt as well as rising
interest rates and loss on extinguishment of debt in connection with the Business Combination.

Interest income for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 primarily relates to a $30 million promissory note
from Catapult GP II in conjunction with the common units purchased on April 27, 2021. Total promissory note bears
interest at 10.0% per annum. Total amount of interest income related to the note for the years ended December 31, 2022
and 2021 were $2.8 million and $2.0 million, respectively. See Note 9 and Note 20 to Grindr’s audited consolidated
financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information.

Interest expense relates primarily to the Company's credit agreement. Total amount of interest expense related to the
credit agreement for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 were $22.7 million and $20.7 million, respectively. See
Note 11 to Grindr’s audited consolidated financial statements for additional information included elsewhere in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K for additional information.

We agreed to settle the Deferred Payment (defined below) with Kunlun. The difference between the assumed carrying
value of the Deferred Payment at the time of settlement and the $155.0 million obligation is recognized in the amount of
$11.9 million, which has been recorded as a loss on extinguishment of debt included in Interest expense, net in the
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income in the period it was extinguished. See Note 3 to our
audited consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional
information.

Other (expense) income, net

Other income (expense), net for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 was $(2.8) million and $1.3 million,
respectively.

Other income (expense), net decreased by $4.1 million in the year ended December 31, 2022 as compared to the year
ended December 31, 2021, primarily due to transaction costs allocated to warrants related to the Business Combination as
other expense in 2022. Additionally, we had other income of $1.5 million for loan forgiveness for our Paycheck Protection
Program Loan in October 2021. See Note 11 to our audited consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information
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Change in fair value of warrant liability

Change in fair value of warrant liability represents the change in the fair value of our Warrants between measurement
dates. The Warrants remained unexercised and were remeasured to fair value of $17.9 million as of December 31, 2022,
resulting in a gain of $21.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2022 recognized in the consolidated statements of
operations and comprehensive income.

Income tax provision (benefit)

We recorded income tax provision (benefit) as follows:

Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, December 31,
2022 2021

Current income tax provision:

FEACTAL ... ettt e $ 8,606 $ 4,828

AL Lttt ettt e e e e et e e e ae e e ta e e e ae e e taeeeaaeeeaaeaenreeenbeeerreeans 1,647 711

INterNAtioNaAl.........ooiviiiiiii e 17 9
Total current tax provision: 10,360 5,548
Deferred income tax benefit: e e

FEACTAL......cuiiiiieieceeceee ettt ettt e et e et e e e e te e saeeeaaeeaseenseensaeraens (9,791) (4,436)

AL Lttt ettt e et e e e e e ae e e ta e e e baeeeaaeaebreeenbaeerreeans (1,428) 124

INEEIMALIONAL ..ottt ettt ettt ettt aesbe et ebesbeeneenae e — —
Total deferred tax benefit: (11,219) (4,312)
Total income tax (benefit) ProVISION .......cc.evveeierierierierieetieiesieetieeesieeteeeereeaenaens $ 859) $ 1,236

Legacy Grindr restructured immediately prior to the Business Combination. The restructuring created two tax periods,
one for Legacy Grindr through the restructuring, and one for Grindr through the remainder of the year. The decrease in
income tax (benefit) provision is primary due to the tax effect on the increase in stock-based compensation and decrease in
foreign derived intangible income deduction and research tax credit in Legacy Grindr’s short tax period, and the tax effect
on the change in fair value of warrant liability in Grindr’s short tax period resulting in a taxable loss position.

Our effective tax rates in fiscal 2022 and future periods may fluctuate, as a result of changes in our forecasts where
losses cannot be benefited due to the existence of valuation allowances on our deferred tax assets, changes in actual results
versus our estimates, or changes in tax laws, regulations, accounting principles, or interpretations thereof.

Net income

Net income for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 was $0.9 million and $5.1 million, respectively. Net
income decreased by $4.2 million for the reasons explained above.
Non-GAAP Financial Measures

To supplement our consolidated financial statements, which are prepared and presented in accordance with GAAP, we
use Adjusted Direct Revenue and Adjusted EBITDA, as described below, to understand and evaluate our core operating
performance. These non-GAAP financial measures, which may differ from similarly titled measures used by other
companies, is presented to enhance investors’ overall understanding of our financial performance and should not be
considered a substitute for, or superior to, the financial information prepared and presented in accordance with GAAP.

Adjusted Direct Revenue

We define Adjusted Direct Revenue as Direct Revenue adjusted for the release of the fair value adjustment of deferred
revenue into revenue of the acquired deferred revenue due to the June 10, 2020 acquisition (See Note 3 to Grindr’s audited
consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information).
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The following table presents the reconciliation of Direct Revenue to Adjusted Direct Revenue for the years ended
December 31, 2022 and 2021.

Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, December 31,
($ in thousands) 2022 2021
Reconciliation of Direct Revenue to Adjusted Direct Revenue
Direct Revenue $ 163,308 $ 116,031
Adjustments — 900
Adjusted Direct Revenue $ 163,308 $ 116,931

Adjusted EBITDA

The primary financial measure we use is Adjusted EBITDA. EBITDA is defined as earnings before interest, taxes,
depreciation, and amortization. We define Adjusted EBITDA as net income excluding income tax provision, interest
expense, depreciation and amortization, stock-based compensation expense, non-core expenses/losses (gains), including
purchase accounting adjustments related to deferred revenue, transaction-related costs, litigation related costs, management
fees, change in fair value of warrant liability and interest income from the related party loan to Catapult GP II. Our
management uses this measure internally to evaluate the performance of our business and this measure is one of the
primary metrics by which our internal budgets are based and by which management is compensated. We exclude the above
items as some are non-cash in nature, and others are non-recurring that they may not be representative of normal operating
results. This non-GAAP financial measure adjusts for the impact of items that we do not consider indicative of the
operational performance of our business. While we believe that this non-GAAP financial measure is useful in evaluating
our business, this information should be considered as supplemental in nature and is not meant as a substitute for the
related financial information prepared and presented in accordance with GAAP.

Adjusted EBITDA Margin is calculated by dividing Adjusted EBITDA for a period by revenue for the same period.

The following table presents the reconciliation of net income to Adjusted EBITDA for, the years ended December 31,
2022 and 2021.

Year Ended Year Ended

December 31, December 31,
(8 in thousands) 2022 2021
Reconciliation of net income to adjusted EBITDA
INEE ITICOIMIE ...ttt et e et e e e e e s e e et ee s eaaeesaaeeeeaaeeseaaeesaaeesenneas 852 $ 5,064
Interest expense, NEt (... ........ooiiiiiiiiieieieceeeeeeee e 31,538 18,698
Income tax (benefit) EXPense .......cceevveriieiiieriierieeie e (859) 1,236
Depreciation and amOTtIZATION .......oo.eertieiie ittt ettt ettt eiee et et et e sieeeneeeneeeteenbeenneeaneas 37,505 43,234
Transaction-related COSES @)..... ..ottt anea 6,499 3,854
Litigation related COSES B).....ouiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieicieiisieteet ettt ettt se b s b e seseeseseesesessesenee 1,722 1,913
Stock-based COMPENSAION EXPEIISE ......eeuvieeeuiiiieiieiieieeieeitete sttt ete sttt et sbeeseenbeeseenee e 28,586 2,485
Management TEES ) .. ......ocviuiiiiiiiiiieeie ettt ettt ettt eb e se b s s s s s e 644 728
Purchase accounting adjuStmMeNt .........cc.eeiuieiiiiiiiit ettt — 900
Oher INCOME ()....iiiiiiiiieiiietieteee ettt ettt ettt ettt et e st ese st esesteseseeseneeseneeseneenesenes — (1,058)
Change in fair value of warrant Hability © ............ccocvevieiiiiiiiiiieeeiececee e (21,295) —
Adjusted EBITDA ....c.ooiiiiiiiiiiieieee ettt sttt s § 85,192 § 77,054
REVEIIUE ... e e ettt ettt et e et et ae et et e e et e e eee e $ 195,015 $ 145,833
Adjusted EBITDA Margin 43.7 % 52.8 %

(1) Interest expense, net for the year ended December 31, 2022 included the loss on extinguishment of Deferred Payment (defined below).

(2) Transaction-related costs consist of legal, tax, accounting, consulting, and other professional fees related to the Business Combination and other
potential acquisitions, that are non-recurring in nature.

(3) For the years ended December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, litigation related costs primarily represent external legal fees associated with the
outstanding litigation or regulatory matters such as the potential Datatilsynet fine or the CFIUS review of the Business Combination, which are
unrelated to Grindr’s core ongoing business operations.
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(4) Management fees represent administrative costs associated with SVH's administrative role in managing financial relationships and providing
directive on strategic and operational decisions, which ceased to continue after the Closing.

(5) For the year ended December 31, 2021, other income primarily represents costs incurred from reorganization events that are unrelated to Grindr's
core ongoing business operations, including severance and employment related costs of $0.5 million, offset by PPP Loan forgiveness income of $1.5
million.

(6) Change in fair value of warrant liability relates to our warrants that were remeasured to fair value of $17.9 million as of December 31, 2022,

resulting in a gain of $21.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2022.

Adjusted EBITDA increased by $8.1 million, or 10.6%, in the year ended December 31, 2022 as compared to the year
ended December 31, 2021, primarily due to an increase in revenue, which was partially offset by an increase in higher
operating expenses (excluding one-time, non-recurring, and other expenses, as outlined in the Adjusted EBITDA
definition).

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We measure liquidity in terms of our ability to fund the cash requirement of our business operations, including
working capital and capital expenditure needs, contractual obligations and other commitments, with cash flows from
operations and other sources of funding. Our current working capital needs relate mainly to the monthly cash flow
requirements of our operational and selling, general and administrative expenses. Our ability to expand and grow our
business will depend on many factors, including our working capital needs and the evolution of our operating cash flows.

We had $10.1 million in cash and cash equivalents, including restricted cash, as of December 31, 2022.

Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2022 and 2021

The following table summarizes our total cash and cash equivalent:

Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, December 31,
($ in thousands) 2022 2021
Cash and cash equivalents, including restricted cash (as of the end of period) § 10,117  $ 17,170
Net cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities $ 50,644 § 34,430
Investing activities (5,585) (3,797)
Financing activities (52,112) (56,249)
Net change in cash and cash equivalents $ (7,053) $ (25,616)

Cash flows provided by operating activities

Net cash provided by operating activities are primarily dependent on our revenues affected by timing of receipts from
subscription and advertising sales. It is also dependent on managing our operating expenses, such as salaries and employee-
related costs, selling and marketing expenses, transaction costs, and other general and administrative expenses. We expect
to maintain strong operating cash flows given our historical performance. We will continue to invest in the right resources
to support longer term profitable growth. Our operating cash flows should continue to cover our operating and financing
costs.

During the year ended December 31, 2022, our operations provided $50.6 million of cash, which was primarily
attributable to net income of $0.9 million, an increase of $37.5 million in depreciation and amortization, an increase of
$11.9 million in loss in extinguishment of Deferred Payment (defined below), a decrease of $21.3 million in the fair value
change in warrant liability and an increase of $19.3 million in other non-cash adjustments. Cash flows provided by
operating activities were further attributable to a decrease of $2.5 million from changes in operating assets and liabilities.

During the year ended December 31, 2021, our operations provided $34.4 million of cash, which was primarily
attributable to net income of $5.1 million, an increase of $43.2 million in depreciation and amortization and a decrease of
$2.9 million in other non-cash adjustments. Cash flows provided by operating activities were further attributable to a
decrease of $10.9 million from changes in operating assets and liabilities.
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Cash flows used in investing activities

Net cash used in investing activities in the year ended December 31, 2022 consisted of additions to capitalized
software of $5.2 million as well as purchases of property and equipment of $0.4 million.

Net cash used in investing activities in the year ended December 31, 2021 consisted of additions to capitalized
software of $3.5 million as well as purchases of property and equipment of $0.3 million. We expect our capital investments
to increase over time as we further enhance our platform and product. However, historically this has not been significant, as
it has primarily comprised capitalized engineering labor costs and computer hardware costs for employees. Other increases
could come from potential acquisitions or other platform extensions.

Cash flows used in by financing activities

Net cash used in financing activities in the year ended December 31, 2022 consisted of $5.2 million in proceeds from
the issuance of Common Stock in the Business Combination, $100.0 million in exercise of the Forward Purchase
Agreement to Tiga, $2.0 million in proceeds from exercise of employee stock options, $230.8 million in proceeds from
issuance of debt, $1.8 million in payment of related party note payable, $155.0 million in payment of deferred purchase
price to Kunlun, $196.3 million in distributions paid, $3.5 million related to principal paydown of our long-term debt as
well as $5.1 million in debt issuance costs.

Net cash used in financing activities in the year ended December 31, 2021 consisted of $1.4 million in proceeds from
exercise of employee stock options, $56.6 million related to principal paydown of our long-term debt as well as
$1.0 million in debt issuance costs.

Sources of Liquidity

Since our inception, we have financed our operations and capital expenditures primarily through cash flows generated
by operations, a senior secured credit facility, the private sales of equity securities, and recently, the public sales of equity
securities as a result of the Business Combination.

To the extent existing cash and investments and cash from operations are not sufficient to fund future activities, we
may need to raise additional funds. We may seek to raise additional funds through equity, equity-linked or debt financings.
If we raise additional funds through the incurrence of indebtedness, such indebtedness may have rights that are senior to
holders of our equity securities and could contain covenants that restrict operations. Any additional equity financing may
be dilutive to existing stockholders. We may enter into investment or acquisition transactions in the future, which could
require us to seek additional equity financing, incur indebtedness, or use cash resources.

Financing Arrangements

Through December 31, 2022, we completed the following transactions:

Deferred Payment

In June 2020, as part of SVH’s indirect acquisition of approximately 98.6% interest in Grindr (and its subsidiaries)
from Kunlun, SV Acquisition agreed to pay what, after adjustments provided for in the acquisition agreement, amounted to
a $230.0 million deferred consideration payment liability to Kunlun, payable on the second and third anniversary of the
closing date (the “Deferred Payment”). In connection with the acquisition, SV Acquisition assigned the obligations for the
Deferred Payment to Grindr, and subsequently, through a series of assumption agreements, SV Acquisition re-assumed the
obligations for the Deferred Payment. In June 2022, Grindr declared and then paid a distribution of $83.3 million to its
members, including an affiliate of SV Acquisition, on a pro rata basis. Grindr paid this distribution in June and July 2022.
SV Acquisition’s affiliate, SV Group Holdings, received its ratable share of this distribution, being $75.0 million, and
distributed that amount through intermediate holding companies to SV Acquisition, which then paid such amount to
Kunlun in partial satisfaction of the Deferred Payment obligation, thereby reducing such obligation to $155.0 million. The
cash transfer to Kunlun was effected by Grindr at the instruction of SV Group Holdings. Substantially simultaneously with
Closing, the remaining Deferred Payment obligation was fully repaid. For further information on the Deferred Payment,
refer to Note 3 of our audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2022 included elsewhere
in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information.
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Fortress Credit Corp. Loan

On June 10, 2020, Grindr Gap LLC (f/k/a San Vicente Gap LLC), Grindr Capital LLC (f/k/a San Vicente Capital LLC)
(the “Borrower™), Fortress Credit Corp. (“Fortress”) and the other credit parties and lenders party thereto entered into a
credit agreement (the “Credit Agreement™), which permitted the Borrower to borrow up to $192.0 million through a senior
secured credit facility. The full amount of $192.0 million was drawn on June 10, 2020. If amounts are repaid, they may not
be reborrowed. The Borrower used such proceeds to pay part of the total purchase consideration in connection with the SV
Acquisition and related fees and other transaction costs. The Borrower, Fortress and the other credit parties and lenders
entered into Amendment No. 2 to the Credit Agreement on June 13, 2022, which permitted the Borrower to borrow an
additional $60.0 million through several supplemental term loans (the “Supplemental Term Loans”). The full amount of the
Supplemental Term Loans was drawn on June 13, 2022. Amounts paid or repaid in respect of the Supplemental Term
Loans may not be reborrowed. The proceeds of the Supplemental Term Loans were used by the Borrower to fund a
restricted payment permitted under the Credit Agreement, the proceeds of which (after taking into account minority
interests) were in turn paid to Kunlun in partial satisfaction of the Deferred Payment and to pay fees and other transaction
costs incurred in connection with such payment (the “Supplemental Term Loan Payment”). The Borrower, Fortress and the
other credit parties and lenders entered into Amendment No. 3 to the Credit Agreement on November 14, 2022, which
permitted the Borrower to borrow an additional $170.8 million through several supplemental term loans (the
“Supplemental Term Loans II”’). The full amount of the Supplemental Term Loans II was drawn on November 14, 2022 (in
the amount of $140.8 million) and November 17, 2022 (in the amount of $30.0 million).

The Borrower is a direct subsidiary of Grindr Gap, LLC, which is a direct subsidiary of Legacy Grindr. Legacy Grindr
is a direct subsidiary of Grindr Inc. Borrowings under the Credit Agreement are guaranteed by all of the subsidiaries of
Legacy Grindr (other than the Borrower and Grindr Canada Inc.) and are collateralized by the capital stock and/or certain
assets of all of the subsidiaries of Legacy Grindr. Borrowings under the Credit Agreement are repayable in full on various
dates ranging from May 17, 2024 to November 14, 2027 based on the drawdown dates of the loans with quarterly
mandatory principal repayments equal to 0.5% of the original principal amount of the relevant loans. The Borrower is also
required (among other things) to make mandatory prepayments of the Credit Agreement equal to a defined percentage rate
(determined based on our leverage ratio) of excess cash flow. Borrowings under the Credit Agreement are index rate loans
or Term SOFR loans, at the Borrower’s discretion. Index rate loans bear interest at the index rate plus applicable margin
based on the consolidated total leverage ratio, currently 7.0%. Term SOFR loans bear interest at Term SOFR (as defined in
the Credit Agreement) plus an applicable margin based on the consolidated total leverage ratio, currently 8.0%, in each
case, except for $30.0 million of the Supplemental Term Loans II for which the applicable margin is currently 3.2% for
index rate loans and 4.2% for Term SOFR loans.

The Credit Agreement also required the Borrower to make a lump-sum principal repayment in the amount of $48.0
million plus related accrued interest on or before February 28, 2021. This repayment date was amended to November 30,
2021 by an amendment to the Credit Agreement entered into on February 25, 2021. In addition to this mandatory
repayment, the Borrower was required to pay a premium of 10.0% of the principal repayment, or $4.8 million together with
the mandatory lump-sum principal repayment. The repayment was made in November 2021.

The obligations under the Credit Agreement are subject to acceleration at the election of the required lenders during
the continuance of any event of default. A default interest rate of an additional 2.0% per annum will apply on all
outstanding obligations after the occurrence of an event of default. The Credit Agreement includes restrictive non-financial
and financial covenants, including the requirement to maintain a total leverage ratio no greater than a specified level,
currently 4.50:1.00.

See Note 13 to our audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2022 included
elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for further information. A portion of the borrowings under the Credit
Agreement were used to pay the Deferred Payment.

Contractual obligations and contingencies

Our principal commitments consist of obligations under the Credit Agreement and operating leases for office space.
See Note 11 and Note 13 to our audited consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K for additional information.

Off-balance sheet arrangements

We have no significant off-balance sheet arrangements.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

We have based our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Due to the inherent uncertainty involved in making
these estimates, actual results reported in future periods could differ from our estimates.
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We believe that the following critical accounting policy reflects the more significant estimates, assumptions, and
judgments used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements. These estimates, judgments, and assumptions
impact the reported amount of assets, liabilities, revenues, and expenses and the related disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities as of the date of the consolidated financial statements. Because of the size of the financial statement elements to
which they relate, some of our accounting policies and estimates have a more significant impact on our consolidated
financial statements than others. What follows is a discussion of our more significant accounting policy and estimate. For
additional information, see the disclosure included in Note 2 to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in
this Form 10-K.

Stock-based Compensation

Prior to the Business Combination

We granted stock options and restricted stock awards to employees that vest based solely on continued service, or
service conditions under the 2020 Equity Incentive Plan ("2020 Plan"). The fair value of each option award containing
service conditions is estimated on the grant date using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. We recognized stock-based
compensation expense on a straight-line basis of the requisite service periods of the awards, which is generally four years.
In addition, we also granted service-based and performance-based profit units. Refer to Note 17 of our audited consolidated
financial statements elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information on stock-based
compensation awards.

Determining the fair value of service-based stock-based awards at the grant date requires judgment. We estimated the
fair value of our stock options granted using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. Our use of the Black-Scholes option-
pricing model required the input of subjective assumptions, such as the fair value of the Common Stock, the expected term
of the option, the expected volatility of the price of our Common Stock, risk-free interest rates, the expected dividend yield
of our Common Stock, and the expected term option holders will retain their vested awards before exercising them. The
assumptions used in our valuation models represent management’s best estimates. The assumptions and estimates are as
follows:

*  Fair value of Common Stock. The fair value of our Common Stock was estimated because our Common Stock had
not yet been publicly traded prior to the Business Combination.

»  Expected term. The expected option term represented the period that the options were expected to be outstanding
and is based on historical experience of similar awards, giving consideration to the contractual terms, vesting
schedules and expectations of future employee behavior.

»  Expected volatility. The expected volatility was based on the historical and implied volatility of comparable
publicly traded companies’ Common Stock over a similar expected term.

»  Expected dividend yield. The expected dividend yield was zero as we had never declared or paid cash dividends.

In addition, given the absence of a public trading market, Legacy Grindr’s Board of Managers, along with
management, exercised reasonable judgment and considered numerous objective and subjective factors to determine the
fair value of our Common Stock including, but not limited to: (i) contemporaneous valuations performed by an
independent valuation specialist (ii) our operating and financial performance (iii) issuances of preferred and ordinary units
(iv) the valuation of comparable companies; (v) current condition of capital markets and the likelihood of achieving a
liquidity event, such as an initial public offering and (vi) the lack of marketability of its Common Stock.

Subsequent to the Business Combination

Immediately prior to the completion of the Business Combination, Legacy Grindr's compensation plan was terminated
and each option outstanding and unexercised at the effective time of the Closing was converted into the right to receive an
option to purchase our Common Stock upon substantially the same terms and conditions as the unit options immediately
prior to the Business Combination. In addition, all vested profit units were exchanged for our Common Stock.

In connection with our Business Combination, on November 18, 2022, the Board of Directors adopted the 2022 Equity
Incentive Plan (the “2022 Plan”), which permits the grant of incentive awards, nonstatutory stock options, stock
appreciation rights, restricted stock awards, restricted stock unit awards, performance awards, and other awards.

We measure the fair value of restricted stock units containing service conditions based on the fair value on the grant
date of our Common Stock as of the date of grant. Compensation expense for restricted stock units with time-based vesting
conditions is recognized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period.

We measure the fair value of restricted stock units that are subject to market conditions and are liability-classified
using a Monte Carlo simulation model. Our use of the Monte Carlo simulation model requires estimates, including the
expected term, the expected volatility, the risk-free interest rate, and the dividend yield. Prior to vesting, compensation
expense is recognized over the derived service period. At the end of each financial reporting period prior to the vesting
date, the fair value of these awards is remeasured using a Monte Carlo simulation model.
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Recently Issued and Adopted Accounting Pronouncements
For a discussion of recent accounting pronouncements, see Note 2 to our audited consolidated financial statements

included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
We are a smaller reporting company as defined by Item 10 of Regulation S-K and are not required to provide the
information otherwise required under this item.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of Grindr Inc.
Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Grindr Inc. and Subsidiaries (the "Company") as of
December 31, 2022 and 2021, the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income, stockholders'
equity and cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2022, and the related notes (collectively
referred to as the “consolidated financial statements™). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly,
in all material respects, the financial position of the Company at December 31, 2022 and 2021, and the results of its
operations and its cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2022, in conformity with U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles.

Adoption of ASU No. 2016-02

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed its method for accounting for leases
in 2022 due to the adoption of ASU No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842).

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on the Company’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the
Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and
Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement,
whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its
internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control
over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal
control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test
basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of
the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2020.

Los Angeles, California
March 17, 2023
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Grindr Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in thousands, except share data)

December 31,

December 31,

2022 2021
Assets
Current Assets
Cash and cash eqUIVALETIES ........cc.oiiiiiiiiiiiie ettt e $ 8,725 § 15,778
Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $336 and $53 at December 31, 2022 and
December 31, 2021, 1@SPECHIVELY ..eevvviieiieiieiieiie ettt 22,435 17,885
PrEPaid EXPEIISES ..uvievieiiieiiieieetiestieette ettt eteesseesteeesseesseesseeseesseesssessseanseanseensaensaeasseanseenses 7,622 2,330
Deferred ChaTZES. ... eeeieiieiie ettt ettt 3,652 4,611
OtRET CUTTENT ASSELS ..vvveeeeeiiiiee e ettt e eeete e e e et e e e e tee e e e eeaeeeeeeaeeeeeeesaseeesesaeeeseenseseeeensneeens 750 3,308
TOAL CUITEINT ASSEES. . .uvvviiiiiiiei ettt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e r e et eeeeeeeeennnneaeeees 43,184 43912
RESIICTEA CASN....coiiiiiiiieeieee e e e e e e e e et e e e e et e e e e eenneeeeeennees 1,392 1,392
Property and eqUIPMENT, NET.......c..cvvieriierieeieerieiee e eteere et esteestaeeeaessseesseeseesseessseesseennas 2,021 2,374
Capitalized software development COStS, NET.........ccviieiiieiriireeiiieeeiie e eree e 7,385 3,637
INtAN@IDIE ASSELS, NEL.....eiviiiiieiieiieiieetie et ettt et et e et e et e et e e staeetaeesseesseessaeseesseessseensas 104,544 139,708
RGN OF USE ASSELS ..v.voveeecvvvececeeeeee ettt ettt s ettt s et en e s sn e 4L —
GOOAWILL....oe et ettt ettt et e e e et e eaae e eeaeeeaeeeaneas 275,703 258,619
OtNET @SSELS. .. vt euvietietieetieette ettt et et e eteeetteesteeaseenseenseenseessseesseesseanssenseesssesnsensseenneensaensaansnens 64 84
Total assets $ 438,828 $ 449,726
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities
ACCOUNTS PAYADIE. .......eoviiviitiiiieieiieieete ettt ettt et eteeb et et essesseaeesessesessenseseeseesenes $ 5,435 $ 2,437
Accrued expenses and other current l1abilities ...........coouerviieriiniinieiieiceceeee, 15,681 3,539
Current maturities of long-term debt, NEt ..........ccieriiiiieiiiiiii e 22,152 3,840
Deferred TEVEINUE .....eocuviiiciiie e ettt et et e e eareeeaeeeens 18,586 20,077
Total CUrTeNt HADIIITIES .. ..vveeiiiiiiie ettt e et e e e et e e e et e e e e eeaaeeeeeearaeeeeennnneeas 61,854 29,893
Long-term debt, NET ......cc.eeiiieieiiieii ettt ettt ettt e st e eseeesbeensaesaesnaeenseennas 338,476 133,279
WATTANE ADIILY ...ttt en e een 17128)3) —
L68S€ LHADIIILY ..ottt 3,658 —
DEferred INCOME TAXES .....vveiieieeieeieeeeeieeeeeeee e e eeie e e e eeae e e e eeaaeeeeeeaeeeeeeeaseeeeeetsseeseanseeesennees 12,528 20,912
Other NON-CUITENt HHADIIITIES . .. ..uvveiiiiiieiee e e e e e e aaaaaees 327 2,405
Total liabilities $ 434776  $ 186,489
Commitments and Contingencies (Note 13)
Stockholders’ Equity
Preferred stock, par value $0.0001; 100,000,000 shares and unlimited shares
authorized; none issued and outstanding at December 31, 2022 and December 31, — —
2021, TESPECHIVELY 1.veeeiiiiiieeiie ettt ettt ettt et et e et eesbeesbeestbeeebeesseesseesbaesaessseesseensas
Common stock, par value $0.0001; 1,000,000,000 shares and unlimited shares
authorized; 173,524,360 and 155,541,074 shares issued and outstanding at 17 16
December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, respectively ........ceeveeruierieenienienieaienne,
Additional paid-in CaPItal.........eeviiiiiiiieit et 9,078 269,116
AccumMUIAtEd AEfICTL.. ... eiiieiiieiiecie ettt et enae e (5,043) (5,895)
Total stockholders’ equity $ 4,052 $ 263,237
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 438,828 $ 449,726

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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Grindr Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income
(in thousands, except per share data)

Year Ended December 31,
2022 2021

Revenue $ 195,015 $ 145,833
Operating costs and expenses
Cost of revenue (exclusive of depreciation and amortization shown separately below).. 51,280 37,358
Selling, general and adminiStrative XPENnSe .............ceueveerueveverereeeereeeeeeeeeeeseseeeeseseneeeen. 75,295 30,618
Product develoPmeEnt EXPENSE..............cuvvveeueuerereereesesessseesesesseesesesseesesesesesessesesesesenas. 17,900 10,913
Depreciation and amOTtiZation.................co.cveeeveveieeeeeereeeeeeeee e, 37,505 43,234
Total operating costs and expenses 181,980 122,123
Income from operations 13,035 23,710
Other expense
INEETESt EXPENSE, TEL.......veveieieereieieceeseseeeeesesesssssae st sese s st s st s e sse s s s s s (31,538) (18,698)
Other (EXPENSE) INCOME, TEL ....eervvereireriertieriieeteereeteesseesseessseasseasseasseesseesseesssessseesseeseens (2,799) 1,288
Change in fair value of warrant Hability ..............ccocooveieuivieecieeeeeceeeeeee e, 21,295 —
Total other expense (13,042) (17,410)
Net (loss) income before income tax @) 6,300
Income tax (benefit) provision (859) 1,236
Net income $ 852 $ 5,064
Net income per share:

BSIC 1.ttvtetitiettie ettt ettt ettt et st b st b st b st b st b e st b e te ettt se s esenns $ 0.01 $ 0.03

DHIUEEA -ttt ettt et et e bt et et e e aeens e bt eneenbeeneenseebeenee b e $ 0.01 $ 0.03
Weighted-average shares outstanding:

BaSIC ..ttt h e a e h et he e ne et e aeent et e eneenbenbeene et ns 157,882,535 152,811,130

DHIULEA .ttt ettt ettt e st e et et e e st ens e be e st ensesseensenreenaensens 159,166,872 152,867,466

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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Grindr Inc. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(in thousands)

Operating activities
Net INCOME......eeviriiieiiiieeieeee

Share/Unit-based compensation.........

Gain on Paycheck Protection Program loan fOrgiveness ...........ccccveeveeieevieesienieesieeieennenns

Fair value change in warrant liability

Transaction costs allocated to warrant Hability ............cccoeoiiiiiieiiiniiii e

Loss on extinguishment on deferred purchase price paid to Kunlun ...........cccccoooeiincnnen.

Accrual of premium on debt..............
Amortization of debt issuance costs...

Interest income on promissory note from mMember .............cccveieviieeeiiieeiieeeiee e eieeeevee s

Depreciation and amortization...........
Provision for doubtful accounts.........
Deferred income taxes ............cc.........

Prepaid expenses and deferred charges...........ccooovevieiiiiiieiieeeee e

Other current assets...........cc.......
Other assetS....ccoouvvveveeeeeeeeeeeeeeas
Accounts payable...........c..co......

Accrued expenses and other current liabiliti€s ...........cccoeoiviieiiiiiieniiie e

Deferred revenue ..........ccccoeeeee..
Due to/(from) related party.........
Lease liability........ccccccvevveriennnn.
Other liabilities ..........cccoceeveeneen.

Net cash provided by operating activities

Investing activities

Purchase of property and eqUIPMENL. .........cc.eevuierierieiieiieeieeeieeseesee e eneeneeneesseenes

Additions to capitalized software
Net cash used in investing activities

Year Ended December 31,
2022 2021
852 § 5,064
28,422 2,602
— (1,535)
(21,295) _
2,302 _
11,851 .
— 1,118
1,281 1,180
(2,842) (2,038)
37,505 43,234
282 53
(11,218) (4,312)
1,050 —
(4,832) (6,105)
(4,440) (1,777)
2,558 (3,292)
20 37
1,802 1,845
10,211 (7,481)
(1,491) 6,547
— 10
(1,989) _
615 (720)
50,644 § 34,430
(430) $ (269)
(5,155) (3,528)
(5,585) § (3,797)
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Grindr Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (continued)
(in thousands)

Financing activities

Proceeds from issuance of common stock in the Business Combination......................

Proceeds from exercise of Forward Purchase Agreement..................
Transaction costs paid in connection with the Business Combination
Payment of related party note payable...........cccoeeeevieiienieniienieenen.
Payment of deferred purchase price to Kunlun.............cccceviennnin.

Proceeds from exercise of stock Options..........cceceveevveeiierieiiesneennenn
Distributions Paid.........cc.eeoierierieiieee e
Proceeds from issuance of debt...........ccoecuieiieriiiiiiiiiieiieece e
Payment of debt........cccvvviiiiiiiieiiceee e
Payment of debt iSSUANCE COSES.....ecvreruirriieiiieeieeieeieerieesiieeeeeeveennes

Net cash used in financing activities

Net decrease in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, beginning of the period

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, end of the period
Reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash

Cash and cash equivalents ...........ccccceeeviieeeriiieiiieecieeciee e
Restricted cash........ooveoieiiiiiiiii e
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash..........c.coccoevvievienieniennns

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:

Cash interest Paid......c..eeecveeerieeiiiieeciee et eee e s e seeeeneeennneeas
INCOME taX@S PALA ...ovveeiieiiieiieeiie et

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash financing activities:

Paycheck Protection Program loan forgiveness..........c..ccoceeveeruenenne.

Repayment of principal and interest on the promissory note to a member from

AISTIIDULIONS .ttt e e e e eaaeeeeeens

Promissory note to Group Holdings in relation to the Distribution (defined below)....

Member diStrIDULIONS .........eeeeviieeirieeeieeeiee et eereeeereeeeaee e
Transaction costs incurred but not yet paid...........cccceevvevierieniennnns

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021
$ 5,182 $ —
100,000 —
(28,460) —
(1,780) —
(155,000) —
2,023 1,351
(196,305) —
230,800 —
(3,480) (56,640)
(5,092) (960)
$  (52,112) $  (56,249)
$ (7,053) §  (25,616)
17,170 42,786
$ 10,117 § 17,170
$ 8,725 $ 15,778
1,392 1,392
$ 10,117 $ 17,170
$ 18,054 § 22,751
$ 2236 $ 9,514
$ — 3 1,535
$ 15,809 $ —
$ 155,000 $ —
$  (170,809) $ —
$ (1,196) $ —



Grindr Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(in thousands, except per unit and share amounts and unit and share data)

1. Nature of Business

Grindr Inc. (“Grindr” or the “Company”) is headquartered in Los Angeles, California and manages and operates the
Grindr app, a global LGBTQ social network platform serving and addressing the needs of the entire LGBTQ queer
community. The Grindr app is available through Apple’s App Store for iPhones and Google Play for Android. The
Company offers both a free, ad-supported service and a premium subscription version. The Company also manages a
dating service app called Blendr, for a broader market.

Grindr was originally incorporated in the Cayman Islands on July 27, 2020 under the name Tiga Acquisition Corp.
(“Tiga”), a special-purpose acquisition company for the purpose of effecting a merger, capital stock exchange, asset
acquisition, stock purchase, reorganization or engaging in any other similar business combination with one or more
businesses or entities. On May 9, 2022, Grindr Group LLC and its subsidiaries (“Legacy Grindr”) entered into an
Agreement and Plan of Merger (as amended on October 5, 2022, the “Merger Agreement”) with Tiga, in which Legacy
Grindr would become a wholly owned subsidiary of Tiga (the “Business Combination”). On November 17, 2022, Tiga was
redomiciled to the United States (the “Domestication). Upon the closing of the Business Combination on November 18,
2022 (the “Closing”), Tiga was renamed to “Grindr Inc.”

Prior to the Business Combination, Legacy Grindr was a wholly owned subsidiary of San Vicente Group Holdings
LLC (“Group Holdings”), which was the joint subsidiary of San Vicente Group TopCo LLC (“SVG”), a wholly owned
subsidiary of San Vicente Acquisition LLC (“SVA”), and San Vicente Equity Joint Venture LLC (“SVE”), a related party
and subsidiary of SVA. SVA was a wholly owned subsidiary of San Vicente Parent LLC (“SV Parent”), which was a
wholly owned subsidiary of San Vicente Offshore Holdings (Cayman) Limited (“SV Cayman”), which was a wholly
owned subsidiary of San Vicente Investments 11, Inc. (“SV Investments 11”), a wholly owned subsidiary of San Vicente
Investments, Inc. (“SV Investments™).

Immediately prior to the Business Combination, SVE was liquidated and Group Holdings, SVG, SVA, SV Parent, SV
Cayman, and SV Investments II merged down with and into Legacy Grindr. The accounting treatment for each of these
transactions is reflected as a contribution of assets and liabilities between entities under common control, which does not
result in a change in reporting entity requiring retrospective restatement of the historical financial statements. See Note 3 —
Reverse Recapitalization for more information.

Throughout the notes to the consolidated financial statements, unless otherwise noted, the “Company” refers to Legacy
Grindr and its subsidiaries prior to the consummation of the Business Combination, and Grindr and its subsidiaries after the
consummation of the Business Combination.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Business Combination and Basis of Presentation

The Business Combination has been accounted for as a reverse recapitalization under U.S. GAAP. Under this method
of accounting, Tiga has been treated as the acquired company for financial reporting purposes. This determination is
primarily based on the Legacy Grindr unitholders having a relative majority of the voting power of Grindr, Legacy Grindr
unitholders having the ability to nominate the majority of the members of the board of directors, Legacy Grindr senior
management comprising the senior management roles of Grindr and are responsible for the day-to-day operations, and for
the strategy and operations of Grindr continue Legacy Grindr’s historical strategy and operations. Accordingly, for
accounting purposes, the financial statements of Grindr represent a continuation of the financial statements of Legacy
Grindr with the Business Combination being treated as the equivalent of Legacy Grindr issuing shares for the net assets of
Tiga, accompanied by a recapitalization. The net assets of Tiga were recognized as of the Closing at historical cost, with no
goodwill or other intangible assets recorded. Operations prior to the Business Combination are presented as those of
Legacy Grindr and the accumulated deficit of Legacy Grindr has been carried forward after Closing.

All periods prior to the Business Combination have been retrospectively adjusted using the exchange ratio for the
equivalent number of shares outstanding immediately after the Closing to effect the reverse recapitalization (the "Exchange
Ratio"). In addition, all granted and outstanding unvested Legacy Grindr unit options were converted using the Exchange
Ratio into options exercisable for shares of Grindr common stock with the same terms and vesting conditions. See Note 17
to the financial statements for a discussion of the Company’s stock-based compensation plans.
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The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”) and include the operating results of the Company and
its wholly owned subsidiaries. Intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Accounting Estimates

Management of the Company is required to make certain estimates, judgments, and assumptions during the
preparation of its consolidated financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP. These estimates, judgments, and
assumptions impact the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue, and expenses, and the related disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities. Actual results could differ from these estimates. On an ongoing basis, the Company
evaluates its estimates and judgments including those related to: the useful lives and recoverability of property and
equipment and definite-lived intangible assets; the recoverability of goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets; the
carrying value of accounts receivable, including the determination of the allowance for doubtful accounts; the fair value of
acquisition-related contingent consideration arrangements; the fair value of common stock warrant liabilities; valuation
allowance; unrecognized tax benefits; legal contingencies; the incremental borrowing rate for the Company's leases; and
the valuation of stock-based compensation, among others.

Segment Information

The Company operates in one segment. The Company’s operating segments are identified according to how the
performance of its business is managed and evaluated by its chief operating decision maker, the Company’s Chief
Executive Officer (“CEO”). Substantially all of the Company’s long-lived assets are attributed to operations in the U.S.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist entirely of cash and money market accounts. The Company considers all highly
liquid short-term investments purchased with an original maturity of ninety days or less at the time of purchase to be cash
equivalents.

Restricted Cash

Cash and cash equivalents that are restricted as to withdrawal or use under the terms of certain contractual agreements
are recorded as a non-current asset on the consolidated balance sheets. The restricted cash balance as of December 31, 2022
and December 31, 2021 was related to a letter of credit held with a financial institution for leased office space secured by
the Company as described in Note 13.

Foreign Currency Transactions

Transaction gains and losses denominated in a currency other than the functional currency are included in “Other
income (expense), net” on the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income.

Fair Value Measurements

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in the principal or
most advantageous market in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. Valuation
techniques used to measure fair value maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs.
The fair value hierarchy is based on three levels of inputs, of which the first two are considered observable and the last is
considered unobservable:

Level 1 - Observable inputs obtained from independent sources, such as quoted market prices for identical assets and
liabilities in active markets.

Level 2 - Other inputs, which are observable directly or indirectly, such as quoted market prices for similar assets or
liabilities in active markets, quoted market prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that
are not active, and inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data.

Level 3 - Unobservable inputs for which there is little or no market data and require the Company to develop its own
assumptions, based on the best information available in the circumstances, about the assumptions market
participants would use in pricing the assets or liabilities.
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Recurring Fair Value Measurements

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of each class of financial assets and
liabilities for which it is practicable to estimate fair value:

®* Money market funds — The carrying amount of money market funds approximates fair value and is classified
within Level 1 because the fair value is determined through quoted market prices.

¢ Liability-classified awards — Executives were granted liability-classified compensation awards requiring fair
value measurement at the end of each reporting period. The Company used the Monte Carlo simulation model to
value the awards, utilizing Level 3 inputs.

*  Warrant liability — Public Warrants are classified within Level 1 as these securities are traded on an active public
market. Private Warrants are classified within Level 2. For the periods presented, the Company utilized the value
of the Public Warrants as an approximation of the value of the Private Warrants as they are substantially similar to
the Public Warrants, but not directly traded or quoted on an active market.

The Company’s remaining financial instruments that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis consist primarily
of cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable, accrued expenses, and other current liabilities. The Company believes their
carrying values are representative of their fair values due to their short-term maturities. For disclosure in Note 11, the fair
values of the Company’s Credit Agreement balances were measured by comparing their prepayment values and observable
market data consisting of interest rates based on similar credit ratings.

Nonrecurring Fair Value Measurements

Assets acquired and liabilities assumed in business combinations are initially measured at fair value on the acquisition
date on a nonrecurring basis using Level 3 inputs.

The Company is required to measure certain assets at fair value on a nonrecurring basis after initial recognition. These
include goodwill, intangible assets, and long-lived assets, which are measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis as a
result of impairment reviews and any resulting impairment charge. Impairment is assessed annually in the fourth quarter or
more frequently if an event occurs or circumstances change that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of the
reporting unit or assets below the carrying value, as described below. The fair value of the reporting unit or asset groups is
determined primarily using cost and market approaches (Level 3).

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment, including leasehold improvements, are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation. For
property and equipment acquired through a business combination, it is carried at the fair value as of the acquisition date
less subsequent accumulated depreciation. Depreciation expense is calculated using the straight-line method over the
estimated useful lives of the assets, and in the case of leasehold improvements, the lease term, if shorter, as follows:

Estimated Useful
Lives
COMPULET EQUIPINENL. .vveeeuevreeeerreeeesreeesesseeeeaseesesssseeessssesessssesessssssessssssesssseesssssessnnns 3 years
FUINIUTE ANA FIXTUIES...0eevreeiereeeseeeieeesteeesteesseeeseeessseessseessseeesseeesssaessseessseesseeenseeans 5 years
Leasehold IMPIOVEIMENTS. «..u.eeuuneruntetietin et ittt eern ettt etueeetnenneeennernesenneennnsenneernnsennnsees 5 to 10 years

Maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred and additions and improvements are capitalized. Upon the
sale or retirement of property and equipment, the accounts are relieved of the cost and the related accumulated
depreciation, with any resulting gain or loss included in “Selling, general and administrative expense” on the consolidated
statements of operations and comprehensive income.

Goodwill and Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets

The Company assesses goodwill on its one reporting unit and indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment
annually in the fourth quarter, or more frequently if an event occurs or circumstances change that would more likely than
not reduce the fair value of the reporting unit or the fair value of an indefinite-lived intangible asset below its carrying
value.

When the Company elects to perform a qualitative assessment and concludes it is not more likely than not that the fair
value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying value, no further assessment of that reporting unit’s goodwill is
necessary; otherwise, a quantitative assessment is performed and the fair value of the reporting unit is determined. If the
carrying value of the reporting unit exceeds its fair value, an impairment loss equal to the excess is recorded.
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The Company foregoes a qualitative assessment and tests goodwill for impairment when it concludes that it is more
likely than not there may be an impairment. If needed, the annual or interim quantitative test of the recovery of goodwill
involves a comparison of the estimated fair value of the Company’s reporting unit to its carrying value, including goodwill.
If the estimated fair value of the reporting unit exceeds its carrying value, goodwill of the reporting unit is not impaired. If
the carrying value of the reporting unit exceeds the estimated fair value, an impairment loss equal to the excess is recorded.

In the fourth quarters of the fiscal years ended 2022 and 2021, the Company performed its qualitative assessment and
determined that it was not more likely than not that the recorded goodwill was impaired.

The Company uses a qualitative approach to test indefinite-lived intangible assets (which currently consists of
tradenames) for impairment by first assessing qualitative factors to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair
value of an indefinite-lived intangible asset is impaired as a basis for determining whether it is necessary to perform
quantitative impairment testing. The Company evaluated the qualitative factors of the indefinite-lived intangible assets in
connection with the annual impairment testing for the periods presented. The results of the qualitative analysis of the
Company’s indefinite-lived intangible assets indicated that the fair value of the indefinite- lived intangible assets exceeded
their carrying value.

The Company foregoes a qualitative assessment and tests indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment when it
concludes that it is more likely than not there may be an impairment. If needed, the annual or interim quantitative test of
the recovery of indefinite-lived intangible assets involves a comparison of the estimated fair value of the indefinite-lived
assets to their carrying value. If the estimated fair value of the indefinite-lived assets exceeds their carrying value, the
indefinite-lived intangible assets are not impaired. If the carrying value of the indefinite-lived assets exceeds the estimated
fair value, an impairment loss equal to the excess is recorded.

Long-Lived Assets and Intangible Assets with Definite Lives

Long-lived assets, which consist of property and equipment, right-of-use ("ROU") assets, capitalized software, and
intangible assets with definite lives, are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying value of an asset may not be recoverable. If the carrying value is deemed not to be recoverable, an
impairment loss is recorded equal to the amount by which the carrying value of the long-lived asset exceeds its fair value.
Amortization of long-lived intangible assets is computed either on a straight-line basis or based on the pattern in which the
economic benefits of the asset will be realized.

Capitalized Software Development Costs and Cloud Computing Arrangements

The Company capitalizes the costs associated with software developed or obtained for internal use, including costs
incurred in connection with the development of its app and functionalities within the app. The Company capitalizes certain
costs when (i) the preliminary project stage is completed, (ii) management has authorized further funding for the
completion of the project and (iii) it is probable that the project will be completed and performed as intended. These
capitalized costs include personnel and related expenses for employees and costs of third-party contractors and vendors
who are directly associated with and who devote time to internal-use software projects. Capitalization of these costs ceases
once the project is substantially complete and the software is ready for its intended purpose. Costs incurred for significant
upgrades and enhancements to the software solutions are also capitalized. Costs incurred for training, maintenance, and
minor modifications or enhancements are expensed as incurred. Capitalized software development costs are amortized
using the straight-line method over an estimated useful life of three years.

The Company capitalizes certain implementation costs incurred related to cloud computing arrangements that are
service contracts. Such costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over the term of the associated hosting arrangement plus
any reasonably certain renewal period. Any capitalized amounts related to such arrangements are recorded within “Other
assets” on the consolidated balance sheets.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized when or as a customer obtains control of promised services. The amount of revenue recognized
reflects the consideration which the Company expects to be entitled to in exchange for these services. A contract with a
customer exists when (i) the Company enters into an enforceable contract with a customer that defines each party’s rights
regarding the services to be transferred and identifies the payment terms related to these services, (ii) the contract has
commercial substance and, (iii) the Company determines that collection of substantially all consideration for services that
are transferred is probable based on the customer’s intent and ability to pay the promised consideration. Sales tax,
including value added tax, is excluded from reported revenue.
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The Company derives substantially all of its revenue from subscription revenue and advertising revenue. As permitted
under the practical expedient available under ASU 2014-09, the Company does not disclose the value of unsatisfied
performance obligations for (i) contracts with an original expected length of one year or less, (ii) contracts with variable
consideration that is allocated entirely to unsatisfied performance obligations or to a wholly unsatisfied promised
accounted for under the series guidance, and (iii) contracts for which the Company recognizes revenue for the amount at
which the Company has the right to invoice for services performed.

Direct Revenue

Direct revenue consists of subscription revenue. Subscription revenue is generated through the sale of monthly
subscriptions that are currently offered in one, three, six, and twelve-month lengths. Subscription revenue is presented net
of taxes, credits, and chargebacks. Subscribers pay in advance, primarily through mobile app stores, and, subject to certain
conditions identified in the Company’s terms and conditions, generally all purchases are final and nonrefundable. Revenue
is initially deferred and is recognized using the straight-line method over the term of the applicable subscription period.

Indirect Revenue

Indirect revenue consists of advertising revenue and other non-direct revenue. The Company has contractual
relationships with advertising service providers and also directly with advertisers to display advertisements in the Grindr
app. For all advertising arrangements, the Company’s performance obligation is to provide the inventory for
advertisements to be displayed in the Grindr app. For contracts made directly with advertisers, the Company is also
obligated to serve the advertisements in the Grindr app. Providing the advertising inventory and serving the advertisement
is considered a single performance obligation, as the advertiser cannot benefit from the advertising space without its
advertisements being displayed.

The pricing and terms for all advertising arrangements are governed by either a master contract or insertion order. The
transaction price in advertising arrangements is generally the product of the number of advertising units delivered (e.g.,
impressions, offers completed, videos viewed, etc.) and the contractually agreed upon price per advertising unit. Further,
for advertising transactions with advertising service providers, the contractually agreed upon price per advertising unit is
generally based on the Company’s revenue share or fixed revenue rate as stated in the contract. The number of advertising
units delivered is determined at the end of each month, which resolves any uncertainty in the transaction price during the
reporting period.

Transaction Price

The objective of determining the transaction price is to estimate the amount of consideration the Company is due in
exchange for its services, including amounts that are variable. The Company determines the total transaction price,
including an estimate of any variable consideration, at contract inception and reassesses this estimate each reporting period.
There are no instances where variable consideration is considered material in any of the Company’s arrangements.

The Company excludes from the measurement of transaction price all taxes assessed by governmental authorities that
are both (i) imposed on and concurrent with a specific revenue-producing transaction and (ii) collected from customers.
Accordingly, such tax amounts are not included as a component of revenue or cost of revenue.

For contracts that have an original duration of one year or less, the Company uses the practical expedient available
under ASU 2014-09 applicable to such contracts and does not consider the time value of money.

Principal/Agent Considerations

In arrangements where another party (e.g., advertising service provider) is involved in providing advertising services
to an advertiser, the Company evaluates whether it is the principal or agent. In instances where the Company does not
retain control of advertising inventory and does not have discretion in establishing price, the Company is the agent. In
those cases, the Company does not have discretion to set pricing in its arrangements because it receives a percentage of the
amount the advertising service provider charges the advertiser and it does not have a contractual relationship with the
advertiser. Accordingly, the Company recognizes revenue related to advertising service providers on a net basis.

Account Receivables, net of allowance for doubtful accounts

The majority of app users access the Company’s services through mobile app stores. At December 31, 2022 and
December 31, 2021, two mobile app stores accounted for approximately 43.3% and 15.9%, and 43.6% and 14.4%,
respectively, of the Company’s gross accounts receivables. The Company evaluates the credit worthiness of these two
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mobile app stores on an ongoing basis and does not require collateral from these entities. The Company generally collects
these balances between 30 and 45 days following the purchase by the customer.

Accounts receivable also include amounts billed and currently due from advertising customers. The Company
maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts to provide for the estimated amount of accounts receivable that will not be
collected. The allowance for doubtful accounts is based upon a number of factors, including the length of time accounts
receivable are past due, the Company’s previous loss history, and the specific customer’s ability to pay its obligation. The
time between the Company issuance of an invoice and payment due date is not significant; payments that are not collected
in advance of the transfer of promised services are generally due between 30 and 60 days from the invoice date. The
accounts receivable balances, net of allowances, were $22,435 and $17,885 as of December 31, 2022 and December 31,
2021, respectively. The opening balance of accounts receivable, net of allowances, was $11,833 as of January 1, 2021.

Deferred Charges

The Company defers certain costs as an asset, primarily mobile app store distribution fees paid to the Company’s
mobile app store download platforms, and recognizes such costs in cost of revenue, along with deferred revenue, as the
services are provided, which is consistent with the subscription period. The fee differs based on the agreed upon percentage
depending on the country from which the revenue originated and the length of consecutively paid subscriptions, generally
approximating 30.0% of revenues for initial subscriptions. For the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company
recognized cost of revenue of $36,907 and $29,020, respectively, related to these costs.

Contract Liabilities

Deferred revenue consists of advance payments that are received or are contractually due in advance of the Company’s
performance. The Company classifies subscription deferred revenue as current and recognizes revenue ratably over the
terms of the applicable subscription period or expected completion of the performance obligation which range from one to
twelve months. The deferred revenue balances were $18,586 and $20,077 as of December 31, 2022 and December 31,
2021, respectively. The opening balance of deferred revenue was $13,530 as of January 1, 2021.

For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company recognized $20,077 of revenue that was included in the deferred
revenue balance as of December 31, 2021. For the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company recognized $13,530 of
revenue that was included in the deferred revenue balance as of December 31, 2020.

Disaggregation of Revenue

The following tables summarize revenue from contracts with customers for the year ended December 31, 2022 and
2021, respectively:

Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021
DILECE TEVEIUE ........veeveeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e eseeeeseeeeeeee s es et eseseee s et enseseesesenseseneesene s anesens $ 163,308 $ 116,031
TNAITECE TEVEIUE ... 31,707 29,802

$ 195,015 $ 145,833

Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021
UIIEEA SEALES ...ttt ettt et e eae et e e e eaeees $ 121,958 $ 93,628
United KiNGAOM ......oouiiiiiiiieiieiieeee ettt enees 14,339 10,704
ReSt OF the WOTLA ......ovviiiiiieiie e 58,718 41,501

$ 195,015 $ 145,833

Cost of revenue

Cost of revenue consists primarily of mobile app store distribution fees, as well as credit card processing fees. Cost of
revenue also includes third-party vendor costs related to customer care functions such as customer service, data center and
hosting fees, moderators, and other auxiliary costs associated with providing services to customers.

Selling, general and administrative expense

Selling, general and administrative expense consists of compensation expense (including unit and stock-based
compensation expense) and other employee related costs for personnel engaged in selling and marketing, sales support
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functions, executive management, finance, legal, tax, and human resources. Selling expenses also include advertising,
brand marketing, digital and social media spend, and field marketing expenses. General and administrative expense also
include transaction costs, allocated expenses associated with facilities, information technology, external professional
services, legal costs and settlement of legal claims and other administrative expenses.

Product development expense

Product development expense consists primarily of compensation (including stock and unit-based compensation
expense) and other employee-related costs for personnel engaged in the design, development, testing, and enhancement of
product offerings and related technology.

Depreciation and amortization expenses

Depreciation and amortization expenses are primarily related to computer equipment, leasehold improvements,
furniture and fixtures, customer relationships, technology, and capitalized software development costs.

Advertising Costs

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Advertising costs totaled $3,014 and $1,293 for the years ended
December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. Advertising costs are included in “Selling, general and administrative expense”
in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income.

Leases
Accounting for Leases prior to the adoption of Topic 842

Periods prior to fiscal year 2022 reflect the provisions of Topic 840, Leases (“Topic 840). Under Topic 840, rent
expense was recorded on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The difference between cash payments for rent and the
expense recorded was reported on a straight-line basis as current and non-current deferred rent within accrued expenses
and other current liabilities and other long-term liabilities, and as prepaid rent within other current assets and other assets,
respectively, in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Adoption of Topic 842: Company as a lessee

An arrangement is assessed to determine if it is or contains a lease at contract inception. Right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities, which are disclosed in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets, are recognized at the commencement date
of the lease based on the present value of the lease payments over the lease term using the Company’s incremental
borrowing rate on the lease commencement date. At the date of adoption of Topic 842 (refer to "Recently Adopted
Accounting Pronouncements" below), the incremental borrowing rate for the Company's existing lease was determined
based on the initial lease term. If the lease contains an option to extend the lease term, the renewal option is considered in
the lease term if it is reasonably certain that the Company will exercise the option.

Operating lease expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Short-term leases, defined as
leases with an initial term of twelve months or less, are not recorded on the consolidated balance sheets.

Adoption of Topic 842: Company as a lessor
Rental income from operating leases is recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

See Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements and Note 13 for additional information on the adoption of Topic
842.

Income Taxes

Legacy Grindr restructured immediately prior to the Business Combination. The restructuring created two tax periods,
one for Legacy Grindr through the restructuring, and one for Grindr through the remainder of the year. Legacy Grindr has
elected to be treated as a C corporation for taxation purposes. The Company uses the asset and liability method when
accounting for income taxes. Under this method, deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognized for future tax
consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities
and their respective tax bases, and operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are
expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in
income in the period that includes the enactment date. The Company records a valuation allowance to reduce deferred tax
assets to an amount for which realization is more likely than not. The Company recognizes the effect of income tax
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positions only if those positions are more likely than not of being sustained. Changes in recognition or measurement are
reflected in the period in which the change in judgment occurs. Valuation allowances are provided against tax assets when
it is determined that it is more-likely-than-not that the assets will not be realized.

The Company evaluates and accounts for uncertain tax positions using a two-step approach. Recognition (step one)
occurs when the Company concludes that a tax position, based on its technical merits, is more likely than not to be
sustainable upon examination. Measurement (step two) determines the amount of the benefit that is greater than 50% likely
to be realized upon ultimate settlement with a taxing authority that has full knowledge of all relevant information. De-
recognition of a tax position that was previously recognized would occur when the Company subsequently determines that
a tax position no longer meets the more likely than not threshold of being sustained. The provision for income taxes
included the effects of any resulting tax reserves, or unrecognized tax benefits, that are considered appropriate, as well as
the related interest and penalties.

Stock-based Compensation

The Company issues stock-based compensation awards to employees, officer, directors, and non-employees in the
form of stock options and restricted stock units (“RSUs”). Compensation expense related to employee and non-employee
stock-based awards is measured and recognized in the consolidated financial statements based on the fair value of the
awards granted.

The Company’s stock-based compensation includes compensation expense related to the grant of service-based RSUs
("Time-Based Awards") and RSUs containing a market condition ("Market Condition Awards") granted under the 2022
Plan, service-based stock options and restricted units granted under the 2020 Plan, and the service-based and performance-
based Series P Units (defined in Note 17) granted by SVE to employees and consultants of Legacy Grindr. Forfeitures of
stock-based compensation awards are recognized as they occur.

The Company measures the fair value of the Time-Based Awards based on the fair value on the grant date of the
Company’s common stock. Compensation expense for RSUs with time-based vesting conditions is recognized on a
straight-line basis over the requisite service period.

The fair value of the Market Condition Awards that are liability-classified is estimated using a Monte Carlo simulation
model. Prior to vesting, compensation expense is recognized over the derived service period using the accelerated
attribution approach based on the fair market value of the award at the time of grant, regardless of whether the market
condition is satisfied. At the end of each financial reporting period prior to the vesting date, the fair value of these awards is
remeasured using a Monte Carlo simulation model.

The Company granted stock options to employees under the 2020 Plan that vest based solely on continued service, or
service conditions. Prior to the Business Combination, the fair value of each option award containing service conditions
was estimated on the grant date using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The use of the Black-Scholes model
requires a number of estimates, including the expected option term, the expected volatility in the price of the Company’s
common stock, the risk-free rate of interest and the dividend yield on the Company’s common stock. The Company
recognizes stock-based compensation expense on a straight-line basis of the requisite service periods of the awards, which
is generally four years. Upon completion of the Business Combination, all outstanding and unvested unit option awards
granted under the 2020 Plan were converted using the Exchange Ratio into options exercisable for shares of Grindr
common stock with the same terms and vesting conditions. See Note 17 to the financial statements for a discussion of the
Company’s stock-based compensation plans.

The estimated fair value of the Series P performance-based profit units awards is determined using the Black-Scholes
valuation model which approximated the option pricing model valuation model. Performance-based profit units require
management to make assumptions regarding the likelihood of achieving Legacy Grindr’s performance goals and the
Company recognizes compensation expense when the likelihood of the achievement of the performance-based criteria is
probable, using an accelerated attribution method. Forfeitures are recognized as they occur.

In addition, prior to the Business Combination, given the absence of a public trading market, Legacy Grindr’s Board of
Managers, along with management, exercised reasonable judgment and considered numerous objective and subjective
factors to determine the fair value of the Company’s common stock including, but not limited to: (i) contemporaneous
valuations performed by an independent valuation specialist; (ii) the Company’s operating and financial performance; (iii)
issuances of preferred and ordinary units; (iv) the valuation of comparable companies; (v) current condition of capital
markets and the likelihood of achieving a liquidity event, such as an initial public offering; and (vi) the lack of
marketability of its common stock. Following the Business Combination, the fair value of the Company’s common stock is
determined based on the quoted market price of its common stock.
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Modification of equity classified award

On the modification date, the Company determines the type of modification of the equity award by assessing whether
the equity awards are probable or improbable to vest before and after the modification. The Company estimates the fair
value of the awards immediately before and immediately after modification for those equity awards that are probable of
vesting before and after the modification. Any incremental increase in fair value is recognized as an expense immediately
to the extent the underlying equity awards are vested and on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period using the
related expense attribution method to the extent that they are unvested. For equity awards that are improbable of vesting
before the modification and probable of vesting after the modification, the Company recognizes expense measured as the
fair value of the modified award on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period using the related expense
attribution method based on the fair value of the awards at the modification date.

See Note 17 to the financial statements for a discussion of the Company’s stock-based compensation plans.

Concentration of Risks

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to a significant concentration of credit risk consist
primarily of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, and accounts receivable. The Company maintains its cash balances
with one major commercial bank. Cash balances are generally in excess of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation
(“FDIC”) insurance limit of $250. The Company has not experienced any losses in such accounts.

For the year ended December 31, 2022, no customers accounted for 10% or more of the Company’s revenue, and three
vendors accounted for 56.7%, 15.6% and 15.3% of the Company’s cost of revenue.

For the year ended December 31, 2021, no customers accounted for 10% or more of the Company’s revenue, and three
vendors accounted for 54.5%, 23.2% and 12.3% of the Company’s cost of revenue.

As of December 31, 2022, one customer accounted for 11.2% of the Company’s accounts receivables, and four
vendors accounted for 23.3%, 16.6%, 14.6% and 12.8% of the Company’s accounts payable balance.

As of December 31, 2021, one customer accounted for 10.5% of the Company’s accounts receivables, and four
vendors accounted for 23.9%, 23.2%, 12.3% and 10.2%% of the Company’s accounts payable balance.

Net Income per Share of Common Stock

Basic net income per share is calculated by dividing net income attributable to common stockholders by the weighted-
average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the year. Diluted net income per share is based upon the
diluted weighted-average number of shares outstanding during the year. Diluted net income per share gives effect to all
potentially dilutive common share equivalents, including stock options. restricted stock units, and warrants, to the extent
they are dilutive. See Note 19 for additional information.

Warrant Liability

The Company accounts for warrants for shares of the Company’s common stock that are not indexed to its own stock
as liabilities at fair value on the balance sheet. Liability-classified warrants are subject to remeasurement to fair value as of
any respective exercise date and as of each subsequent balance sheet date with changes in fair value recorded in the
Company’s consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income. See Note 15 for additional information on
the Company’s warrants.

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

From time to time, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) or other standards setting bodies issue new
accounting pronouncements. Updates to the FASB ASC are communicated through issuance of an Accounting Standards
Update (“ASU”).

As an “emerging growth company”, the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012 (“JOBS Act”), allows the
Company to delay adoption of new or revised pronouncement applicable to public companies until such pronouncements
are made applicable to private companies. The Company has elected to use the adoption dates applicable to private
companies. As a result, the Company’s financial statements may not be comparable to the financial statements of issuers
who are required to comply with the effective date for new or revised accounting standards that are applicable to public
companies.
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Effective January 1, 2022, the Company adopted ASU No. 2016-02, Leases (“Topic 842”) using the modified
retrospective transition approach by applying the new standard to all leases existing at the date of initial application. The
new standard provides a number of optional practical expedients in transition. The Company elected the package of
practical expedients, which permits the Company not to reassess under the new standard its prior conclusions about lease
identification, lease classification and initial direct costs. The Company also elected to combine the lease and non-lease
components and to keep leases with an initial term of 12 months or less off the balance sheet and recognize the associated
lease payments in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the
lease term. Results and disclosure requirements for reporting periods beginning after January 1, 2022 are presented under
Topic 842, while prior period amounts have not been adjusted and continue to be reported in accordance with historical
accounting under Topic 840.

The adoption of Topic 842 resulted in the recognition of right-of-use assets and related lease liabilities of $5,585 and
$5,646, respectively as of January 1, 2022, which were determined in accordance with the implementation guidance of
Topic 842.

See Note 13 - Commitments and Contingencies for additional information on the adoption of Topic 842.

Effective January 1, 2022, the Company adopted the ASU 2021-04, Earnings Per Share (Topic 260), Debt—
Modifications and Extinguishments (Subtopic 470-50), Compensation—Stock Compensation (Topic 718), and Derivatives
and Hedging—Contracts in Entity’s Own Equity (Subtopic 815-40): Issuer’s Accounting for Certain Modifications or
Exchanges of Freestanding Equity-Classified Written Call Options. This new standard provides clarification and reduces
diversity in an issuer’s accounting for modifications or exchanges of freestanding equity-classified written call options
(such as warrants) that remain equity classified after modification or exchange. An issuer should measure the effect of a
modification or exchange as the difference between the fair value of the modified or exchanged warrant and the fair value
of that warrant immediately before modification or exchange and then apply a recognition model that comprises four
categories of transactions and the corresponding accounting treatment for each category (equity issuance, debt origination,
debt modification, and modifications unrelated to equity issuance and debt origination or modification). As the Company
does not have any equity-classified written call options, there was no immediate impact on the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended December 31, 2022. The future application of this new standard is not expected to have a
material impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2022, the FASB issued ASU 2022-03, Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820): Fair Value Measurement of Equity
Securities Subject to Contractual Sale Restrictions (ASU 2022-03), which applies to all equity securities measured at fair
value that are subject to contractual sale restrictions. This change prohibits entities from taking into account contractual
restrictions on the sale of equity securities when estimating fair value and introduces required disclosures for such
transactions. The standard will become effective for the Company beginning on November 1, 2024 and will be applied
prospectively. Early adoption is permitted. Any future impact from the adoption of this guidance will depend on the facts
and circumstances of future transactions.

In October 2021, the FASB issued ASU 2021-08, Business Combinations (Topic 805): Accounting for Contract Assets
and Contract Liabilities from Contracts with Customers, which amends the accounting for contract assets acquired and
contract liabilities assumed from contracts with customers in business combinations. The amendment requires an acquirer
in a business combination to recognize and measure contract assets and contract liabilities in accordance with ASC Topic
600, resulting in a shift from previous guidance which required similar assets and liabilities to be accounted for at fair
value at the acquisition date. For public business entities, the guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2022, including interim periods within those fiscal years, with early adoption permitted. For all other
entities, the amendments are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023, including interim periods within
those fiscal years. The amendments in this Update should be applied prospectively to business combinations occurring on
or after the effective date of the amendments. While the Company is continuing to assess the timing of adoption and
potential impact of this guidance it does not expect the guidance to have a material effect, if any, on its consolidated
financial statements and related disclosures. The Company will continue to evaluate the impact of this guidance upon the
occurrence of future acquisitions.

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments — Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of
Credit Losses on Financial Instruments, which revises the measurement of credit losses for financial assets measured at
amortized cost from an incurred loss methodology to an expected loss methodology. The standard requires entities to use a
forward-looking approach based on expected losses to estimate credit losses on certain types of financial instruments,
including trade receivables, debt securities, net investment in leases, and most other financial assets that represent a right to
receive cash. Additional disclosures about significant estimates and credit quality are also required. The FASB has
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subsequently issued updates to the standard to provide additional clarification on specific topics. The ASU is effective for
the Company for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022, and interim periods within those fiscal years. The
Company is currently evaluating the impact of this standard on its financial statements.

3. Reverse Recapitalization

As discussed in Note 1, the closing of the Business Combination occurred on November 18, 2022. In connection with
the Business Combination:

As a result of the Domestication that occurred on November 17, 2022, each share of outstanding Tiga Class A
ordinary shares converted on a one-to-one basis into 485,233 shares of Tiga common stock upon the
Domestication, and into one share of Grindr common stock upon the Closing, and each issued and outstanding
warrant of Tiga converted on a one-to-one basis into one Tiga warrant upon the Domestication, and into one
warrant of Grindr upon the Closing.

The cancellation and conversion of all 111,294,372 issued and outstanding Legacy Grindr Series X Ordinary Units
into 156,139,170 shares of Grindr common stock after giving effect to the exchange ratio as defined in the Merger
Agreement (the “Exchange Ratio”)

The conversion on a one-to-one basis of 6,840,000 of founder shares held by Tiga Sponsor LLC (the “Sponsor™)
and 60,000 founder shares held by independent directors (the “Founder Shares”) into Tiga common stock upon the
Domestication, and into Grindr common stock upon the Closing,

The cancellation and exchange of all 3,635,681 granted and outstanding vested and unvested Legacy Grindr
Options into 5,100,637 options exercisable for shares of Grindr common stock with the same terms and vesting
conditions, as adjusted by the Exchange Ratio.

A total of 27,114,767 shares of the ordinary shares of Tiga were presented for redemption at a price of $10.50 per
share.

A total of 10,000,000 shares of Grindr common stock were issued to SV Parent at a price of $10.00 per share,
pursuant to a forward purchase agreement (“Forward Purchase Agreement”). For each share issued under the
Forward Purchase Agreement (“Forward Purchase Share”), the forward purchaser received 0.50 redeemable
warrants (“Forward Purchase Warrants”).

The following table reconciles the elements of the Business Combination to the consolidated statements of cash flows
and the consolidated statements of stockholders' equity for the year ended December 31, 2022:

Recapitalization
Cash - Tiga, trust and cash, net of TedeMPLIONS .........ccveeriiiiiieiieiiieie ettt $ 5,182
Cash - Exercise of Forward Purchase Agreement.............cocueeiieiiiiiiiiciiienieneenee e 100,000
....................................................................................................................................................... 105,182
Less: Non-cash net liabilities assumed from Tiga .......ccoceeiiiieiieiiiiiiii e (1,754)
Less: Fair value of Public and Private Warrants ..............ccoceerierieiieeiieeiiesieesie e (39,228)
Less: Transaction COSES FOT TIZA.....ceouiriiiiiriiiiieie ittt st (17,421)
Less: Transaction costs for Grindr allocated t0 €qUILY .......coueerueerierieeiieiieiie e eie et (9,933)
Net effect of Business Combination 0N €qUILY .........ccceceerieriiiieenieeiienie et 36,846
Less: Transaction costs for Grindr allocated to warrant Hability ...........cccoceevierieiieiienenieieneeeeene, (2,302)
Add: Transaction costs for Grindr not Yet paid...........ccceerieiiiiiiiiieieee e 1,196
Add: Non-cash net liabilities assumed from Tia..........cocoevieriiiiiiieniiiieiesiecee et 1,754
Add: Fair value of Public and Private WarrantS..........coooevuuviiiiiiiiiiieiiieeeeeeeee e e 39,228
Net cash contributions from Business Combination............coouuvvviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeeeeeeceeeeeeeeeee e $ 76,722
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As presented in the consolidated statements of stockholders' equity:

Issuance of common stock in the Business Combination, net of transaction costs $ (65,983)
Exercise of Forward Purchase Agreement 102,829
Net effect of Business Combination on equity $ 36,846

As presented in the consolidated statements of cash flows:

Proceeds from issuance of common stock in the Business Combination $ 5,182
Proceeds from exercise of Forward Purchase Agreement 100,000
Transaction costs paid in connection with the Business Combination (28,460)
Net cash contributions from Business Combination $ 76,722

The Company recorded transaction costs allocated to warrants in "Other (expense) income, net" in the consolidated
statements of operations and comprehensive income.

The number of shares of common stock issued immediately following the consummation of the Business Combination
was as follows:

Shares
Founder Shares 6,900,000
Class A common stock of Tiga, net of redemptions 485,233
Forward Purchase Agreement shares 10,000,000
Legacy Grindr units 156,139,170
Total 173,524,403

Other Related Events in Connection with the Business Combination

After the San Vicente Entities (as defined below) merged with and into Legacy Grindr in order for certain San Vicente
Entities to receive Grindr shares in connection with the Business Combination, Legacy Grindr and the San Vicente Entities
undertook an internal reorganization (the “SV Consolidation”) prior to the Business Combination. Prior to the
consummation of the SV Consolidation, Legacy Grindr had no obligation or responsibility for the Deferred Payment (as
defined below). Prior to the Closing, SVE was liquidated and each of SV Investments, SV Cayman, SV Parent, SVA, SVG,
Group Holdings and SV Investments 11, (collectively the “SV Entities”) merged with and into Legacy Grindr, with Legacy
Grindr as the surviving entity, resulting in SV Investments and the ultimate beneficial equity holders of Catapult Goliath
LLC (“Catapult Goliath), which liquidated prior to the Closing, as direct equity holders in Legacy Grindr. The Company
has reflected the effects of the SV Consolidation as a contribution of assets and liabilities between entities under common
control as follows:

In connection with the acquisition of Legacy Grindr in 2020, the SV Entities had a cash obligation to pay
$155,000 on June 20, 2023 to Kunlun Group Holdings Limited (“Kunlun”). This obligation was recorded by the
SV Entities at the present value of these payments due in the future (“Deferred Payment”). The Deferred Payment
was recorded as a liability by SVA and in connection with the SV Consolidation was contributed to Legacy Grindr
as an adjustment to equity.

In connection with the Business Combination, the board of managers of Legacy Grindr approved a distribution of
$2.55 per unit of Series X Ordinary Units of Grindr amounting to $283,801 to Series X Ordinary Unit holders as
of the close of business on November 23, 2022 (the “Distribution”). As part of the Distribution, Group Holdings
elected to receive a partial payment of its distribution in cash and the remainder of its distribution, $155,000, in
the form of a promissory note (the “Promissory Note) on November 15, 2022. Group Holdings in turn issued
promissory notes to its parent companies, SVEJV and SVG, totaling $155,000. SVEJV in turn issued a
promissory note for its pro rata portion to SVG, which then issued a promissory note in the amount of $155,000 to
SVA.

Prior to Closing and in connection with SV Consolidation, but after SV Parent satisfied in full its funding
obligations under the Forward Purchase Agreement to Tiga, SV Parent merged with and into Legacy Grindr (the
“SV Business Combination”). Upon the completion of the SV Business Combination, the intercompany
promissory notes were canceled, and the merger of SV Parent into the Company resulted in Grindr assuming the
$155,000 Deferred Payment to Kunlun. Refer to Note 12 for further information on the Distribution.
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The Company and Kunlun settled the Deferred Payment within ten business days of the Closing. The difference
between the assumed carrying value of the Deferred Payment at the time of settlement on November 23, 2022 and
the $155,000 obligation is $11,851, which has been recorded as a loss on extinguishment of debt included in
“Interest expense, net” in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income in the period it
was extinguished.

In consideration for Legacy Grindr’s assumption of SV Parent’s rights to receive the securities issuable by Tiga
under the Forward Purchase Agreement, Legacy Grindr issued 7,127,896 Legacy Grindr Series X Ordinary Units
to SV Cayman and entered into a warrant agreement with SV Cayman, pursuant to which, upon the terms and
subject to the conditions set forth therein, SV Cayman was entitled to purchase 3,563,948 Series X Ordinary Units
of Legacy Grindr at a purchase price per share of $16.13. Such warrants and the Legacy Grindr Series X Ordinary
Units were ultimately exchanged at the Closing for 10,000,000 shares of Grindr common stock and 5,000,000
Forward Purchase Agreement warrants in accordance with the terms of the Merger Agreement

4. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consist of the following:

December 31, December 31,

2022 2021
COMPULET CQUIPIMEILE ....eevenienienietieteeteteieseeteeueeteeteeeneeneeseeseesensenseneeseenessensenseneeneenens $ 1,038 $ 588
Furniture and fIXEUIES .........ooveriiiiiieiiiieeice e 326 346
Leasehold IMPrOVEMENES .....ccc.eeiuieiieiiieiieriieiie ettt et et e siee st et esteesbeesbeesaeeans 2,641 2,641
4,005 3,575
Less: Accumulated depreCiation ............occeevieriieeiieesiiesiiesieeieeeeeeeeseesteesseessaesnneens (1,984) (1,201)
$ 2,021  $ 2,374

Depreciation expense for property and equipment for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 amounted to $783

and $761, respectively. Depreciation expense is included within “Depreciation and amortization” on the consolidated
statements of operations and comprehensive income.

5. Goodwill and Intangibles
Goodwill and intangible assets, net, consist of the following:
December 31,
2022 2021
GOOAWILL ..ttt et ea e et e et e e e et e easeeseeeneeeaneeanas $ 275,703 $ 258,619
Intangible assets with definite lives, NEt .........cccociiiiiiieiieiieee e 38,700 73,864
Intangible assets with indefinite IVES ..........ccoeovieviieiiieiieiiecie e 65,844 65,844

$ 380,247 § 398327

The indefinite-lived intangible asset of $65,844 as of December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, represents the

Grindr tradename.

A rollforward of the goodwill balance as of December 31, 2022 and 2021 is as follows:

December 31,
2022 2021
Balance at beginning Of PETiod .........ccevieriiriiiiiniiiiieieeeeeee e $ 258,619 $ 258,619
Goodwill arising from the SV Consolidation (see Note 3) ......ccooevvevieiieiienniennnenne. 17,084 —
Balance at the end of Period...........cecuieiieiiiiiieii et $ 275,703 $ 258,619

108



As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, intangible assets with definite lives consist of the following:

December 31, 2022
Gross Weighted
Carrying  Accumulated Average
Value Amortization Net Useful Life
Customer relationShips...........ccocveveeeveieveeereeenenine. $ 94,874 $ (61,517) $ 33,357 5 years
TeChNOLOZY......eevieiieeiie et 37,041 (31,698) 5,343 3 years

§ 131915 § (93,215) $ 38,700

December 31, 2021
Gross Weighted
Carrying  Accumulated Average
Value Amortization Net Useful Life
Customer relationships............cccoeveeveieeeiieeienennen, $ 94,874 $ (38,700) $ 56,174 5 years
TechnOlogy......ceoveeiieiiiiiieiee e 37,041 (19,351) 17,690 3 years

$§ 131915 § (58,051) $ 73,864

The weighted average estimated remaining life for the intangible asset classes are as follows:

December 31,

2022 2021
Customer relatioNSNIPS .....ccveeevieeiieiieiieeiteeee et eteeteeteereeteesteesseeesseesseesseeseessaennes 2.5 years 3.5 years
TECRNOLOZY ..t sttt 0.5 years 1.5 years

Intangible assets amortization expense was $35,164 and $42,041 for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021,
respectively.

During the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company wrote-off $0 and $125, respectively, of intangible
assets related to acquired technology as the Company determined the technology would no longer be placed in service. The
write-off charge is included within “Depreciation and amortization” on the consolidated statements of operations and
comprehensive income.

As of December 31, 2022, amortization of long-lived intangible assets is estimated to be as follows:

2023 ettt e he e teeetteatteeateeate e be e aeeetteeaaeeateeaseense et e e st e enseenteenbaentaeneeeateenseenseenrean $ 22,214
2024 ettt ettt et e et e et e te e et e e et e et e eteeteeeteeete e et e etteeareenten 12,460
0 TP 4,026
TCTEATTE ...ttt e ettt e et e e ta e eta e e eabeeetbeeeabaeeeabeeetaeeeabeeeeabeeebaeeeareeaaes —

$ 38,700

6. Capitalized Software Development Costs

Capitalized software development costs consist of the following:

December 31,
2022 2021
Capitalized software development COSES .....uovuirierieriiieriinrieierteeeeieereereeae e e, $ 8,361 $ 3,724
Less: Accumulated amortiZation ............cceeeeeeiieriieieeieeieesieesieeseeereeseeseesseesseesenas (976) (87)
$ 7,385 $ 3,637

Amortization expense for capitalized software development for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021
amounted to $889 and $65, respectively. Amortization expense is included within “Depreciation and amortization” on the
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income.

The Company wrote-off capitalized software development costs of $669 and $242 for the years ended December 31,
2022 and 2021, respectively. The write off charge is included within “Depreciation and amortization” on the consolidated
statements of operations and comprehensive income.
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7. Income Tax

Legacy Grindr restructured immediately prior to the Business Combination. The restructuring created two tax periods,
one for Legacy Grindr through the restructuring, and one for Grindr through the remainder of the year. Legacy Grindr’s
short tax period is in a taxable income position, and Grindr’s short tax period is in a taxable loss position. The consolidated
statements of operations for the year ended December 31, 2022 include the results of both tax periods.

Net (loss) income before income tax includes the following components:

Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31,
2022 2021
UNIEEA STAES ....evvveeiveeeeeeteet ettt ettt ettt ettt st et et et e s et eas et ess et essesessesesseseseesese s ene s eseans $ (36) $ 6,265
INEEINATIONAL......oi oottt e e e e e e et e e e e etteeeeeenaaeeeeeaaeeeeeenes 29 35
$ (7) $ 6,300

Income tax (benefit) provision for the year ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, consisted of the following:

Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31,
2022 2021

Current income tax provision:

FOACTAL ..o e ettt ettt $ 8,696 $ 4,828

DAL .ottt ettt ettt et et e e ettt et e tteetaeeaa e e bt e te e taeeabeenteente et e eetaeenteenneenseentaensneenseenneans 1,647 711

INEEINAIONAL .....viiiiiieeciie ettt e et e et e e et e e e tneeenraeeennes 17 9
Total CUITENE tAX PIOVISION: ....veveevieriitisetceeeeeeeeeseeteeseeeseeseeseeseeseseseesseseeseeseesessenseseeseessesenseneens $ 10,360 $ 5,548
Deferred income tax benefit: e e,

FEACTAL....oovieeeeeeeeeeeee ettt ettt ettt ettt et ns et $ (9,791) $ (4,436)

N 721 (RSP R (1,428) 124

INEEINATIONAL ...c.viiitiieiii ettt ettt et e et e et e eabeebeesaaeesseeaseesseesseesaesssessseessaenseens — —
Total deferred tax benefit: $  (11,219) $ (4,312)
Total income tax (DENEfIt) PrOVISION ......cuvievierrieitieieiieieete et eiteeeteeetaeetveeeseebeesseesssesssaesseenseens $ (859) $ 1,236

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to portions of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are
as follows:
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December 31,

2022 2021
Deferred tax assets:
ACCTUEA EXPEIISES....viuviieririerieteeteeteete et e eteete et e te e s eeseeaeeseeaeeasebeessesseebeeaseseeasensenseeseanes $ 210 $ 189
EQUILY @WATAS. ..eeetieieieeie ettt ettt ettt et ettt et e e en 1,014 285
INEt OPETALING TOSSES ..euveeniieniiiiiieite ettt et ettt sttt e e eee 499 4
General DUSINESS CTEAIE ...eouvietiieiiieiiieii ettt et ettt et e st e et e eateenseebeesbeesaeeeneeens 415 300
DEferred TONL ...c.eiiiiicie ettt ettt ettt et e e e s e raeeneeenne e 47
ACCTUEd COMPENSALION .....eevvieeieieteeeieeetieeteeeteeetteesseesseeseesseessseesseesseesseeseenssesssessseesseeses 315 282
RIGNE-0f-USE @SS@L....c.eeeuiitieiieiiitiet ettt ettt eneas 1,171 —
Capitalized research eXpenditires.........ccveevieruiiiieiiieeiieie et ecieeeieeeeeeveereesreesreesaaeeee e 970 —
Tax original iSSUE AISCOUNT.......eiuiiiiiiiieiietiet ettt ettt et esaee e ees 359 491
Capitalized interest CarryfOrward...........ccoooiiiiiiieiie ettt 1,346 195
(071115, USSR STORTRRRORN 131 —
(€ (O TS (3 (S 1 B 2D G L] PR 6,430 1,793
Less: Valuation allOWanCe.........cc.eevvieriieriieriiiciiecie ettt ettt et eive b esveessaesaaeesae e (286) —
Total deferred TAX ASSEIS . .uviiiiieriie e e i eeeee et e e e et e e e e e e e e et e e e e eaaeeeeennareeeeenneens 6,144 1,793
Deferred tax liabilities:
INEANGIDIE ASSEES ... vveuiientietieti ettt ettt et et et et e et e et e eateenbeebeenbeesneeeneeens (17,168) (22,551)
LeaSE THADILIEY ..ottt ettt ettt ettt ettt et e e e neeen (1,089)
(015 1<) USRI (415) (154)
Total gross deferred tax liabilities: (18,672) (22,705)
Net deferred tax Habilities ...................c..ooiiiiiiiiii e $ (12,528) $ (20,912)

ASC 740 requires that the tax benefit of net operating losses, temporary differences and credit carryforwards be
recorded as deferred tax asset (“DTA”) to the extent that management assesses that realization is "more likely than not."
The Company considers evidence, both positive and negative, that could affect future realization of DTAs.

Tax credit carryforwards are as follows:

December 31, 2022
Amount Expiration Years
Net operating losses, federal (Post December 31, 2017) ..cc.eovieiieiiiieiiieniiiiieiieeeeeeieene $ 1,620 Do Not Expire
Net 0perating IoSSES, STALE.......evuiiiiiiiietieiie ettt ettt $ 2,863 2032 - 2042
TaxX CTEAItS, TEACTAL........oiiiuiiiiiie ettt et e e e et eeeaeeeenaee e naeeeneeeenaeesnneas $ 82 2042
TaX CTEAILS, STALC....evieuieieetietieie ettt ettt ettt sttt ettt ettt et etesbe e st e beeaeeneesbeeneensesbeeneensesneans $ 507 Do Not Expire
December 31, 2021
Amount Expiration Years
TAX CTEAILS, SEALE....euveetieitieiie et ettt ettt e ette e te ettt eteesteesateesteeaseenneeseeesaeesneenseenseenseesnsannnans $ 468 Do Not Expire
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The reconciliation between the Company’s income tax (benefit) provision on (loss) income before income tax and the
statutory tax rate is as follows:

Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31,
2022 2021

Income tax provision at the federal statutory rate of 21.0% .....coceeceeviriiiiiniiiiininiiiinicnns $ 1 S 1,323
STALE TAKXES ..vevverireeitieteertt ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt bt e bbbt et et ae e sttt enne e (138) 605
EqQUIty COMPENSAtION. ... .eviieiiieiiieiieetteeite et et e eteesteeeteeseeeesseesseeseesseessseenssesseessaesssesssesnseenses 5,167 277
TTANSACTION COSES..uuttuiteutieiietie ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt et e steeshteeateeate e bt e steeseeeembeenbeenbeesbeeanneas 482 —
Foreign derived intangible income deduction..............cccueevvieiiieriiecieeii e (1,475) (693)
Change in valuation alloOWanCE ..........c..eeiiiiiiiiieieeiee et 286 (74)
Warrant 1iability reValuationsS..........ocveeiiiiieii ettt eeeeneeenneennes (4,472) —
RESEAICH taX CIEAIL. . eeiiiiieeiieiicieee ettt ettt e taesabeesbeesbe e aaeesseenseennas (1,062) (46)
UNCEItain taX POSTEIONIS ...veuveeutiteriieitententeeitentesteeitestesteestestesteentesteeseestesbeensestesseensesaeeneensessens 260 113
OtIET TERIMIS. ..evtieuie ettt ettt ettt ettt et et e et e e tbeesbeesbeeteestbeesbeseseasseessaesssessseesseesseessaenssenssans 94 (269)
$ 859 $ 1,236

The following table summarized the activity related to the gross unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31, 2022
and December 31, 2021:

Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31,
2022 2021
Balance at the beginning of the Year............ccieviiiiiiiieiie e $ 341 § 232
Increase related to current year taX POSItIONS .......c.eerueeruierieiieeiieiiereiesieeeeeeete e eseeeeeee e 245 109
Balance at end of the Year..........oooiiiiiiiii e $ 586 § 341

All of the Company’s unrecognized tax benefits, if recognized, would change the effective rate. The Company does
not expect any material changes to the unrecognized tax benefits over the next 12 months. The Company recognizes a tax
benefit from an uncertain tax position when it is more likely than not that the position will be sustained upon examination,
including resolutions of any related appeals or litigation processes, based on the technical merits, and uncertain income tax
positions must meet a more likely than not recognition threshold to be recognized. The Company recognizes interest and
penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in “Income tax provision (benefit)” in the consolidated statements of
operations and comprehensive income. Interest and penalties are not material for each of the periods presented.

The Company believes it is more likely than not that all significant tax positions taken to date would be sustained by
the relevant taxing authorities. As of December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, there were no active taxing authority
examinations in any of the Company's major tax jurisdictions. The Company remains subject to examination for federal
and state income tax purposes for the tax years ended 2017 through 2022.

8. Other Current Assets

Other current assets consist of the following:

December 31, December 31,
2022 2021
INCOME tAX TECEIVADLE ....eeeeeeeeee ettt et e et e et e e eae e e e ne e e e e e eneeeeeeenne e $ — S 3,274
Cloud computing arrangements implementation COSES .........c.eecvrrrrerrrrerreerierienreereereeneenns 624 —
OthET CUITENT ASSEES...euviieiutieitiieitieerteeeteeesteeeteeesseeessseesseeessseeassesessseeassseessseeensseesnseeensses 126 34
$ 750 $ 3,308

9. Promissory Note from a Member

On April 27, 2021, Catapult GP II LLC (“Catapult GP II"’), a related party wherein certain members of Catapult GP II
are executives of the Company, purchased 5,387,194 common units of Legacy Grindr, which is converted using the
Exchange Ratio to 7,385,233 common shares of the Company upon Business Combination. In conjunction with the
common units of Legacy Grindr purchased, the Company entered into a full recourse promissory note with Catapult GP II
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with a face value of $30,000 (the “Note”). The Note, including all unpaid interest, is to be repaid the earlier of 1) the tenth
anniversary of the Note, 2) upon the completion of a liquidity event, or 3) upon completion of an initial public offering or a
special-purpose acquisition company transaction. The Note bears interest at 10% per annum on a straight-line basis.

The Note was partially paid with the distribution from Legacy Grindr (see Note 12 for further details). The total
amount outstanding on the Note, including interest, was $19,071 and $32,038 as of December 31, 2022 and December 31,
2021, respectively. The Note has been fully paid subsequent to December 31, 2022, see Note 21 for additional information.
The Note and the related accrued interest are reflected as a reduction to equity in the consolidated statements of
stockholders’ equity.

10. Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities consist of the following:

December 31,

2022 2021
Income and other taXes PAYADIE .......c.eiiuieuiriiiieieieiei ettt ettt eteere s saeseeseenes $ 5,360 $ 664
INEETESE PAYADLC .....ieviieiieiieciecie ettt ettt et e b e esbeeba e taeetaeenbeenbeenns 2,444 —
Accrued professional SETVICE FEES .......eiuuiriiiriiiiiiiiiiieeie et 2,317 184
AcCrued [8Al EXPEISE ......eiiuiieiieiie ittt ettt et 1,308 196
CEO make-whole bonus (S€€ NOLE 13)......ccuieiiieiieiieeiieie ettt esiie e eve e esaeeseee e eeneenneas 1,200 —
Lease liability, SHOTT-teIMN .....eiiiiiiieii et 1,050
Employee compensation and Denefits..........cceevieriieiiieiiieiiieiiecieeie e 813 320
Settlement payable to @ former dir€CtOr.........ooviiiviiiiiieieciiieie e 641 204
Accrued infrastructure expenses 214 —
Settlement payable of incentive units on 2016 Plan ..o — 1,060
Other ACCTUEA EXPEIISES. .. ..veueiauteetiertieetteeteenttesteeeteeetteeuteeseenueeateeaseeaneeanseenseesseeaneeenseenseennes 334 911
............................................................................................................................................. $ 15,681 § 3,539
11. Debt
Total debt for the Company is comprised of the following:
December 31, December 31,
2022 2021

(O (T TN a (1S 10 T L SO PRSP

CUITEIE ...ttt e ettt e et et e e eae e e e eat e et e eaeeeseeeaeeenaeenaeeneeeneeeseeerneas $ 22,152 $ 3,840

INODNECUITEIE ..ottt e e e e e e e e e et e e e e e eeeeeeeennssnneseeeeeeeeeeeenseasneeeeeeeeeeeannnns 345,328 136,320

$ 367,480 $140,160
Less: unamortized debt i1SSUANCE COSES ....oviiiuiiiiiiriiirieiieiieeteeieesteesteesteeeeeeeseesseesseessaenanans (6,852) (3,041)
$ 360,628 $ 137,119
Credit Agreement

On June 10, 2020, Grindr Gap LLC and Grindr Capital LLC (the "Borrower"), wholly owned subsidiaries of the
Company, and the other credit parties and lenders party thereto entered into a credit agreement (the “Credit Agreement”)
which permitted the Borrower to borrow up to $192,000. The full amount of $192,000 was drawn on June 10, 2020. The
amounts repaid may not be reborrowed. The Borrower used such proceeds to pay part of the total purchase consideration
for the Acquisition and related fees and other transaction costs. For the year ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, the
Company incurred and paid debt issuance costs of $5,092 and $960, respectively, in conjunction with the Credit
Agreement. Debt issuance costs paid are reflected on the balance sheet as a direct deduction from the carrying value of the
debt. The amortization of such debt issuance costs is included in “Interest income (expense), net” on the consolidated
statements of operations and comprehensive income.

The Borrower is a direct subsidiary of Grindr Gap LLC, which is a direct subsidiary of Legacy Grindr. Legacy Grindr
is a direct subsidiary of Grindr Inc. Borrowings under the agreement are guaranteed by all of the subsidiaries of Legacy
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Grindr, other than the Borrower and Grindr Canada Inc., and are collateralized by the capital stock and/or certain assets of
all of the subsidiaries of Legacy Grindr.

Borrowings under the Credit Agreement are repayable in full on various dates ranging from May 17, 2024 to
November 14, 2027 based on the drawdown dates of the loans with quarterly mandatory principal repayments equal to
0.50% of the original principal amount of the relevant loans, except for the Supplemental Facility II (as defined and
discussed below). The Borrower is also required, among other things, to make mandatory prepayments of the Credit
Agreement equal to a defined percentage rate, as determined based on the Company's leverage ratio, of excess cash flow.
No mandatory prepayment was required for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021.

Borrowings under the Credit Agreement are index rate loans or Term SOFR (as defined in the Credit Agreement)
loans, at the Borrower’s discretion. Index rate loans bear interest at the index rate plus applicable margin based on the
consolidated total leverage ratio, or currently 7%. Term SOFR loans bear interest at Term SOFR plus an applicable margin
based on the consolidated total leverage ratio, currently 8%, in each case, except for $30,000 of the term loans under the
Supplemental Facility II (as defined below) for which the applicable margin is currently 3.2% for index rate loans and
4.2% for Term SOFR loans. The interest rates in effect as of December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021 were 11.7%,
based on Term SOFR, and 9.5%, based on Term LIBOR (as defined in the Credit Agreement prior to the third amendment),
respectively.

The Credit Agreement also required the Borrower to make a lump-sum principal repayment in the amount of $48,000
plus related accrued interest on or before February 28, 2021. This repayment date was amended to November 30, 2021 by
the first amendment to the Credit Agreement entered into on February 25, 2021. In addition to this mandatory repayment,
the Borrower was required to pay a premium of 10% of the principal repayment, or $4,800, together with the mandatory
lump-sum principal repayment. The repayment was made in November 2021.

The premium was accrued over the term of the Credit Agreement through the initial repayment date in February 2021.
For the year ended December 31, 2021, $1,118 of the premium was accrued and recognized as interest expense in “Interest
expense, net” in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income.

On June 13, 2022, a second amendment to the Credit Agreement was entered into which allowed the Borrower to
borrow an additional $60,000, which the Borrower drew in conjunction with the closing of the amendment. The second
amendment to the Credit Agreement was accounted for as a debt modification. The Borrower capitalized and paid debt
issuance costs totaling $955 in conjunction with the second amendment. The borrowing under the second amendment has
the same terms as the Credit Agreement..

On November 14, 2022, a third amendment to the Credit Agreement was entered into which allowed the Borrower
to borrow multiple term loans. The term loans have the following maximum commitment amounts, $140,800
(“Supplemental Facility I’), and $30,000 (“Supplemental Facility I1”’). On November 14, 2022 and November 17, 2022, the
Borrower drew the full amount for Supplemental Facility I and Supplemental Facility II, respectively. The third
amendment to the Credit Agreement was accounted for as a debt modification for accounting purposes. The debt issuance
costs related to the third amendment are $3,387 and $750 for Supplemental Facility I and Supplemental Facility II,
respectively. All borrowings under the third amendment bear interest at the Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”),
with an applicable floor, plus an applicable margin as determined by the Company’s net leverage ratio. For Supplemental
Facility I, the Borrower is required to make quarterly amortization payments of $704 on the next business day of the end of
each March, June, September and December, beginning in June 2023, with the remaining aggregate principal amount
payable on the maturity date of November 14, 2027 (“Supplemental Facility I Maturity Date”). The Supplemental Facility [
Maturity Date may be accelerated if certain loans in the existing Credit Agreement or Supplemental Facility I are not
repaid on or before their respective maturity dates. The interest rate in effect for Supplemental Facility 1 as of
December 31, 2022 was 12.5%. For Supplemental Facility 11, the Borrower is required to make amortization payments of
$7,500 on the next business day of the end of June 2023 and December 2023, with the remaining aggregate principal
amount payable on the maturity date of May 17, 2024. The interest rate in effect for Supplemental Facility Il as of
December 31, 2022 was 8.7%.

The obligations under the Credit Agreement are subject to acceleration at the election of the required lenders during
the continuance of any event of default. A default interest rate of an additional 2% per annum will apply on all outstanding
obligations after the occurrence of an event of default. The prepayment premium on Supplemental Facility I is 2% of the
principal amount prepaid during the first year plus the payment of all interest that would have been accrued assuming no
change in Term SOFR and 2% of the principal amount prepaid during the second year. There is no prepayment premium
for the Supplemental Facility 11.

The Credit Agreement includes restrictive non-financial and financial covenants, including the requirement to
maintain a total leverage ratio no greater than a specified level, currently 4.50:1.00 prior to and through May 17, 2024 to
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the extent any Supplemental Facility II is outstanding, no greater than 4.75:1.00 prior to and through March 31, 2024 and
no greater than 4.25:1.00 thereafter. As of December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, the Borrower was in compliance
with the financial debt covenants.

The fair values of the Company's Credit Agreement balances were measured by the discounted cash flow method
or comparing their prepayment values and observable market data consisting of interest rates based on similar credit
ratings, which the Company classifies as a Level 2 input within the fair value hierarchy. The estimated fair value of the
Credit Agreement balances as of December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, was $394,785 and $142,963, respectively.

Future maturities of the Credit Agreement as of December 31, 2022, were as follows:

2023 ettt et ettt e te e eteeetae et e etbe e te e te e teeetaeatteeateebeeteente e et e etteeareenres $ 22,152
2024 .ottt ettt et e et te e ete e et e et e eteeeteeete e et e et e enteereenen 22,856
2002 ettt he bt et e e atteetbeetbeeab e e btehbeetteetbeeabeense e st e st e esaeenbeenbeenteenteeaseeesbeenbeenneen 36,225
2026 ..o e et e e e e e et—e e e ateeataeeabaeeaateeetaeeeteeeetbeeataeeeataeeataeeataeeanseeearaeeeteeenns 7,069
2027 ettt e bt bt et e et aeetbeeabeea bttt e tteetteatbeerbeenb e e st e st e esteenbeenbeenbeentteeteeesaeenbeennean 279,178
T @ATEOT ... ettt ettt et e ettt e ettt e etaeeeataeesaseeestaeeessaeessseeansaeeeasaeenssaeenseeennsaesnsaeennsaeenns —
.............................................................................................................................................................. $ 367,480

Paycheck Protection Program Loan

On April 24, 2020, the Company entered into a promissory note and received a loan in the amount of $1,512 (the “PPP
Loan”) under the Small Business Administration (“SBA”) Paycheck Protection Program enabled by the Coronavirus Aid,
Relief and Economic Security Act of 2020 (the “CARES Act”). The Company used the proceeds to support payroll costs,
rent and utilities in accordance with the relevant terms and conditions of the CARES Act.

The advance under the PPP Loan bears interest at a rate per annum of 1.0%. The term of the PPP Loan was two years,
ending April 23, 2022. The Company did not provide any collateral or personal guarantees for the PPP Loan, nor did the
Company pay any facility charge to the government or to the bank.

The Company applied for forgiveness of the full amount under the terms of the CARES Act in June 2021 and
subsequently was granted forgiveness for the full amount in October 2021. The amount of forgiveness of $1,512 of
principal and $23 of accrued interest was recorded in “Other expense, net” in the consolidated statements of operations and
comprehensive income in the year ended December 31, 2021.

12. Distributions

On June 10, 2022, Legacy Grindr's Board of Managers approved a special distribution of $0.75 per ordinary unit,
amounting to $83,313 to ordinary unit holders as of the close of business on June 10, 2022 (the "First Distribution"). In
addition, Catapult GP II elected to apply a portion of its distribution totaling $4,040 as a partial payment of the Note
described in Note 9, in the amount of $3,789, which comprised $3,362 of the accrued interest and $427 of the principal.
The First Distribution was partially paid in June 2022, and the balance was fully paid in July 2022.

On November 14, 2022, ahead of the Business Combination, see Note 3, Legacy Grindr's Board of Managers approved
a distribution of $2.55 per ordinary unit, amounting to $283,801 to ordinary unit holders as of the close of business on
November 14, 2022. (the “Second Distribution”). As part of the Second Distribution, $155,000 was issued to Group
Holdings in the form of a promissory note (the “Promissory Note”) on November 15, 2022. The Promissory Note, which
bore interest at 4.03% per annum beginning thirty days after issuance, was to be repaid no later than January 15, 2023 with
all accrued interest. Group Holdings in turn issued promissory notes to its parent companies SVE and SVG totaling
$155,000, SVE in turn issued a promissory note for its pro rata portion to SVG, and SVG issued a promissory note in the
amount of $155,000 to SV Parent. In addition, Catapult GP II elected to apply a portion of its distribution totaling $13,737
as a partial payment of the Note described in Note 9, in the amount of $12,020, which comprised $1,280 of the accrued
interest and $10,740 of the principal. The Second Distribution, excluding any amounts related to the items described above,
was paid on various dates in November 2022.

13. Commitments and Contingencies
Operating Leases

Company as a lessee

The Company has operating leases for office space. The leases have original lease periods expiring in 2026 with an
option to renew. Renewal options are not recognized as part of the right-of-use assets and lease liabilities as it was not
reasonably certain at the lease commencement date that the Company would exercise these options to extend the leases.
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The Company elected certain practical expedients under ASC 842 which allows for the combination of lease and non-
lease components of lease payments in determining right-of-use assets and related lease liabilities. The Company also
elected the short-term lease exception. Leases with an initial term of twelve-months or less that do not include an option to
purchase the under lying asset are not recorded on the consolidated balance sheets and are expensed on a straight-line basis
over the lease term.

Components of lease cost included in general and administrative expenses on the consolidated statements of operations
and comprehensive income are as follows:

Year Ended
December 31,
Lease cost 2022
OPETALING LEASE COSL....eeutieutieiieetie ettt ettt ettt ettt et e et e bt e saeeaaeeeabeenbeenseaaseeaneeenseanseanseeaneesnnesnneenne $ 1,652
VaTiable 1EASE COSL....ouuiitiiiiiitie ittt ettt ettt ettt et et e st e este et e e bt e ebeesbeeeneeenseenteens —
SHOTE-EEIM LEASE COSL..utteutientietieitie ettt ettt ettt ettt et et et e et e et e et e bt e bt e sbeeeneeeneeenseenbeaneeaneas —
SUDICASE TNCOMIE ....euvveeiieiiieiieiieeiieeite ettt et et e sttesebeeebeesseesseessaesssessseasseesseessaesssensseesseasseanseeseensses (738)
TOLAL LEASE COSE..ruvtuvinienieuietietestetet et et eteete st e st ese et e eueetesae s enteseeseeseesessenseneeseeseesees e s enseneaneeneaneenensensens $ 914
Supplemental cash flow information related to leases is as follows:
Year Ended
December 31,
2022
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities...........c.ccvevvierierienirennnnnn, $ 1,373
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for lease liabilities:
Leases recognized upon adoption 0f ASC 842 ........coiiiiiiiieiieiiecie ettt $ 5,585

Supplemental balance sheet information related to leases as of December 31, 2022 is as follows (in thousands, except
lease term and discount rate):

December 31, 2022

Assets:

RIGNE-0-USE @SSELS ...e.viuviuieiieiietiitiitetetete ettt ete st ettt eteete b e b esbeseeseeseebesessesseseeseesessessesseseeseesessesens, $ 4,535
Liabilities:

Accrued expenses and other current Habilities. ........cooouiiiiiiiieiieiieie e, $ 1,050
| BT T D21 o 1 RSP URRUURPPRIPRPRY 3,658
Total operating 1€aSe HHADIIITIES ........eeouieriieiiieiie ettt ettt $ 4,708
Weighted average remaining operating 1€ase term (YEAIS) ......ceevveereeeueeiureruiereieseenirenneeseesseesseenns 33
Weighted average operating 1ease diSCOUNT TALE .........cveevieriieriieriieeieeie ettt e eiee e eereeveereenns 11.41%

The Company’s leases do not provide a readily determinable implicit discount rate. The Company estimates its
incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate based on the information available at lease commencement. Future
maturities on lease liabilities as of December 31, 2022, are as follows:

2023 ettt ettt ettt ea e ettt ea s e ke euten b e ke ent et e ekt ent e ke ekt ent ekt entente ekt enteeteententeeteennenbens $ 1,529
2024 <.ttt ettt e b ettt eeheeat e b et e ett et e ete e st e b e etaenseehe st e beeteenseabeeseenseereesaenens 1,746
2025 ettt bttt h e ettt e h ettt eh e e a bt ekt eht et ekt ent ekt ekt eat ekt eh e et e ekt ente bt eheenteebeennenens 1,799
20206 ...ttt ettt ettt ettt b ettt e bttt eateaheett e s et e ett e beeteenteebeeteenseeheett e beereenseebeestenseereesaeneas 605
2027 et h ettt a ettt a ekt eh e a s ekt et et ekt en e ekt ekt ent ekt eh e e teeheenteebeehtenteebeeneetens —
5 1SS (e ) RSP SUPRPPPRRPPPURUR —
TOtal 1€8SE PAYIMENTS ..c.oeviieiiiiitieeieie ettt ettt et et e ete et e eteete e s e eteeseesseebeeseeseeasensesseessensesseensensenns $ 5,679
LesS: TMPULEA TNEETESE .....eeutieiieiiie ittt ettt ettt ettt et esbeeeat e et e e bt e sbeesbeeeateenbeenteens 971)
TOtal 1€ASE HADIIITIES .....vveieeeeiie ettt ettt e e e e e a e e eaeeeaeesaeeeaaeeeteeneesaeesanesnneenns $ 4,708
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As of December 31, 2021, prior to the Company’s adoption of Topic 842, annual minimum payments under
noncancelable operating leases were as follows:

2022 ettt ekttt a ettt a ekt ehtea bkt ee s en bt eh e ent ekt ekt en b ekt en s e te ekt ente ke ententeeheennetens $ 1,508
2023 ettt ettt ettt e e be et e ea b e teeatenbeeheett e beeaeense b e ehtenseeheestenteeteenseabeeseenseeteenaebens 1,696
2024 ettt ettt ettt a et e h e a bkt e et ekt e a e ekt bt en b ekt en e e beeheent e beehtenteebeentene s 1,746
2002 ettt ettt a ekt h e ettt ettt ekt n e ekt bt en s ekt ent e te bt ent e teeheenteebeentenens 1,799
TREIEATTRT ...ttt ettt ettt e bt e e et e e e e eab e e bt e bt e enbeeabeenbeenneeaneeeneeeaneenne 605
.......................................................................................................................................................... $ 7,354

Operating lease expense was $1,209 for the year ended December 31, 2021 under Topic 840.

There were no leases with residual value guarantees or executed leases that had not yet commenced as of
December 31, 2022.

Company as a lessor

The Company is a sublessor on one operating lease that expires in November 2023. The Company recorded $738 and
$656 in sublease income during the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

Future non-cancelable rent payments from the Company's sublease tenant as of December 31, 2022 were as follows:

0 SRRSO $ 631
TRETCATICT ...ttt e e e e e et e e e e e e e e ettt e e e e e e e e e raaaees —
$ 631

Purchase Commitments

In November 2018, the Company entered into a purchase commitment for the use of cloud services, with a
commitment to spend $3,100 annually between January 2020 and December 2022. Total purchases under the purchase
commitment were $8,238 and $4,809 for the year ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

CEO Bonus

George Arison became the Chief Executive Officer of Grindr on October 15, 2022. In connection with assuming his
position of the Company, Mr. Arison forfeited certain compensation with his former employer. As compensation to Mr.
Arison for such forfeiture, his employment agreement provides for a make-whole payment based on the target annual
bonus of up to $1,200 he would have received from his previous employer. As of December 31, 2022, the Company
recorded accrued bonuses payable to Mr. Arison of $1,200, which is included in "Accrued expenses and other current
liabilities" on the consolidated balance sheets. Refer to Note 17 — Stock-Based Compensation for further information on
Mr. Arison’s executive incentive awards.

Litigation

From time to time, the Company is subject to various legal proceedings and claims, either asserted or unasserted, that
arise in the ordinary course of business. Litigation can be expensive and disruptive to normal business operations.
Moreover, the results of complex legal proceedings are difficult to predict, and the Company’s view of these matters may
change in the future as the litigation and events related thereto unfold. The Company expenses legal fees as incurred. The
Company records a provision for contingent losses when it is both probable that a liability has been incurred and the
amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. Currently, it is too early to determine the outcome and probability of any
legal proceedings and whether they would have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business. As of December 31,
2022 and December 31, 2021, there were no amounts accrued that the Company believes would be material to its financial
position.

In January 2020, the Norwegian Consumer Council (“NCC”) submitted three complaints to the Norwegian Data
Protection Authority, (“NDPA”). Datatilsynet, under Article 77(1) of the General Data Protection Regulation (“GDPR”)
against the following parties: (1) Grindr and AdColony; (2) Grindr, Twitter, AppNexus, and OpenX; and (3) Grindr, and
Smaato. The complaints reference a report entitled “Out Of Control: How consumers are exploited by the online
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advertising industry”. The NCC argued that (1) the Company lacks valid consent for data sharing, (2) the Company shares
personal data under Article 9 and does not have a legal basis for processing personal data under Article 9, and (3) the
Company does not provide clear information about data sharing, which infringes the principle of transparency in Article
(5)(1)(a) GDPR. In April 2020, the Company received an Order to Provide Information from the Datatilsynet. The
Company responded to this Order and provided information to Datatilsynet in May 2020. In January 2021, the Datatilsynet
sent the Company an “Advance notification of an administrative fine” of 100,000 NOK (the equivalent of approximately
$10,217 using the exchange rate as of December 31, 2022) for an alleged infringement of the GDPR. This was notice of a
proposed fine to which Grindr was entitled to respond before Datatilsynet made a final decision. Datatilsynet alleged
(1) that Grindr disclosed personal data to third party advertisers without a legal basis in violation of Article 6(1) GDPR and
(i1) that Grindr disclosed special category personal data to third party advertisers without a valid exemption from the
prohibition in Article 9(1) GDPR. Grindr responded to the Advance notification on March 8, 2021, to contest the draft
findings and fine. A redacted copy of Grindr’s response was made public. On April 29, 2021, Datatilsynet issued its Order
To Provide Information - Grindr - Data Processors, asking, among other things, whether Grindr considered certain ad tech
partners to be processors or controllers. Datatilsynet later extended the deadline to respond to June 2, 2021, and Grindr sent
a response to Datatilsynet on that date. On October 11, 2021, Datatilsynet sent the Company a letter concerning Grindr’s
reply to the Advance notification. In the letter, Datatilsynet clarified that the Advance notification only “pertains to data
subjects on Norwegian territory,” and advised the Company of two additional complaints that had been filed (one in March
2021 and the other in September 2021) with Datatilsynet by the Norwegian Consumer Council. Datatilsynet requested any
further comments or remarks to the Advance notification by November 1, 2021, but later extended the deadline to
November 19, 2021. On November 19, 2021, Grindr served a response to Datatilsynet’s October 11, 2021 letter. On
November 26, 2021, Datatilsynet requested any redactions to the response based upon the expectation that third parties
may request a copy of Grindr’s November 19, 2021 response, and Grindr proposed redactions on the same day.

In December 2021, Datatilsynet issued a reduced administrative fine against the Company in the amount of 65,000
NOK, or approximately $6,642 using the exchange rate as of December 31, 2022, with an extended deadline for the
Company to appeal through February 14, 2022. On February 14, 2022, Grindr filed an appeal brief with the DPA. On July
5, 2022, DPA requested additional documentation from Grindr, specifically regarding whether ad tech partners have deleted
any Grindr user data. On August 3, 2022, Grindr, provided Datatilsynet with evidence documenting the Company standard
practice of directing terminated ad tech partners to delete any remaining Grindr user data they may have. On November 24,
2022, Grindr and Kunlun entered into an escrow agreement providing for Grindr's potential access to $6,500 of funding in
the event Grindr's appeal fails and Grindr is required to pay the fine. On December 7, 2022, Datatilsynet upheld the
reduced administrative fine against the Company and sent its decision to the Norwegian Privacy Board for review. On
February 10, 2023, Grindr submitted its response and Datatilsynet is currently continuing the process of the appeal of the
administrative fine before the Privacy Board. On, March 8, 2023, Grindr received notice of the Norwegian Consumer
Council's submission of comments. Grindr is preparing a response to these comments for the Privacy Review Board's
consideration. Grindr is not aware when the review by the Norwegian Privacy Board will be completed. It is too early to
determine the probability of there being any further proceedings, the outcome of any such proceedings, and whether such
proceedings may have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, including because of the uncertainty of (i) the
ultimate amount of the fine imposed, and (ii) whether Grindr may determine to appeal or further contest the fine. As a
result, an estimate of the ultimate loss cannot be made at this time. It is at least reasonably possible that a change in the
administrative fine may occur in the near term.

In Summer of 2018, Grindr was informed by multiple State Attorneys General (the “Multistate”) that the Multistate
was opening a formal investigation into the Company’s sharing of users’ HIV status and last tested date with third parties,
and its security and processing of user geolocation information. Since August 2018 the Company has responded to multiple
requests for information. In November 2020, the Multistate contacted the Company with its expected claims and findings
and general proposed settlement terms that included a settlement of $11,000. The Company responded in February 2021 by
providing the Multistate with a white paper detailing why the Multistate’s claims are factually and legally deficient. The
Company also met with the Multistate and presented its arguments via a presentation. In May 2021, the Multistate
contacted Grindr to request an extension of the tolling agreement from June 1, 2021 to October 1, 2021. On May 30, 2021,
Grindr entered into a tolling agreement extension with the State Attorneys General of Arkansas, Indiana, New Jersey, North
Carolina, Oregon, Vermont, and Washington, extending the tolling agreement from June 1, 2021 to August 1, 2021. In June
2021, the New Jersey Attorney General served supplemental requests on Grindr seeking, among other things, additional
information related to matters discussed in Grindr’s February 2021 white paper, as well as documents regarding
submissions made by Grindr to Datatilsynet. In July 2021, Grindr served initial responses and objections to the New Jersey
Attorney General’s supplemental requests and subsequently agreed to an extension of the tolling agreement from August 1,
2021 to October 1, 2021. Since that time, the New Jersey Attorney General agreed to limit the scope of the supplemental
requests, and Grindr agreed to provide certain information in response to the supplemental requests. In addition, Grindr
agreed to enter into an additional tolling agreement extension with the State Attorneys General of Arkansas, Indiana, New
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Jersey, North Carolina, Oregon, Vermont, and Washington, extending the tolling agreement from October 1, 2021 to
March 31, 2022. On March 16, 2022, May 27, 2022 and July 5, 2022, Grindr entered into additional extensions of the
tolling agreement with the Attorneys General until May 30, 2022, June 30, 2022 and September 1, 2022, respectively. In
October 2021, Grindr served an initial response to the New Jersey Attorney General’s supplemental requests, with
additional responses to supplemental requests served in November and December 2021. In January 2022, Grindr submitted
responses to the New Jersey Attorney General’s follow-up questions regarding the Company’s inquiry in response to The
Pillar blog. On October 6, 2022, the Company was advised by the Multistate that the investigation has been closed without
action and with no further action anticipated.

In December 2020, Grindr was named in a statement of claim and petition for certification of a class action in Israel
(Israeli Central District Court). The statement of claims generally alleges that Grindr violated users’ privacy by sharing
information with third parties without their explicit consent. The petitioner asserts several causes of action under Israeli
law, including privacy breaches, unlawful enrichment, and negligence, as well as causes of action under California law,
including privacy violations under the California Constitution and California common law, negligence, violation of the
Unfair Competition Law, and unjust enrichment. The statement of claims seeks various forms of monetary, declaratory, and
injunctive relief, in addition to certification as a class action. In June 2021, the petitioner attempted service of the statement
of claims and the associated filings (all in translated form as required under applicable law) on Grindr. In November 2021,
Grindr filed an initial response to the plaintiff’s Statement of Claim challenging the effectiveness of service. The plaintiff
then filed opposition to Grindr’s service-related motion, raising a series of technical challenges. During the Israeli court
hearing in January 2022, the Israeli court directed the plaintiff to start the service process from the beginning by seeking
court permission to pursue international service on Grindr. On February 8, 2022, the Court formally permitted the Plaintiff,
in ex parte, to serve the Company outside the jurisdiction. The Company should file its response to the Motion for
certification (and/or preliminary jurisdictional motions) within 90 days from the date it is served. On March 30, 2022,
Grindr received a package via U.S. Mail with the case documents. Grindr’s local Israeli counsel is preparing a motion
seeking the court’s preliminary ruling on the question of applicable law. On July 5, 2022, the Company filed a motion to
determine the governing law. Grindr believes that the claims lack merit, and it continues to consider and evaluate an
appropriate response. At this time, this matter remains in its nascent stages, and it is too early to determine the likely
outcome of this proceeding or whether the proceeding may ultimately have a material adverse effect on the Company’s
business, including because of the uncertainty of (i) whether Grindr will incur a loss, (ii) if a loss is incurred, what the
amount of that loss may be, and (iii) whether Grindr may determine to appeal or further contest the loss.

14. Employee Benefit Plan

The Company maintains a qualified 401(k) retirement plan (the “401k Plan). All employees are eligible to participate
in the 401k Plan beginning on the first day of the month following their date of hire. The 401k Plan permits eligible
employees to make contributions. The Company made $1,314 and $967 of 401(k) matching contributions for the year
ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

15. Warrants

In connection with Tiga’s initial public offering, Tiga issued (i) 18,560,000 private placement warrants (“Private
Warrants”) to its sponsor, Tiga Sponsor LLC (the “Sponsor”) and (ii) sold 13,800,000 public warrants. On November 18,
2022, in connection with the reverse recapitalization treatment of the Business Combination, the Company effectively
issued 37,360,000 warrants to purchase shares of Grindr’s common stock, which included 13,800,000 public warrants,
18,560,000 Private Warrants, 2,500,000 Forward Purchase Warrants, and 2,500,000 Backstop Warrants. The Forward
Purchase Warrants and the Backstop Warrants have the same terms and are in the same form as the public warrants (as
such, will collectively be known as the “Public Warrants”).

The Public Warrants, which entitle the registered holder to purchase one share of the Company's common stock, have
an exercise price of $11.50, became exercisable 30 days after the completion of the Business Combination and are set to
expire five years from the completion of the Business Combination, or earlier upon redemption.

Redemptions of warrants when the price per share equals or exceeds $18.00

At any time while the warrants are exercisable, the Company may redeem not less than all of the outstanding warrants
(except as described with respect to the Private Warrants, below):

® in whole and not in part;
e ataprice of $0.01 per warrant;

* upon a minimum of 30 days prior written notice of redemption to each warrant holder; and
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e if, and only if, the closing price of the Company’s common shares equals or exceeds $18.00 per share (as
adjusted) on the trading day prior to the date on which the Company sends the notice of redemption to the warrant
holders.

Redemptions of warrants when the price per share equals or exceeds $10.00

At any time while the warrants are exercisable, the Company may redeem not less than all of the outstanding warrants
(except as described with respect to the Private Warrants, below):

* in whole and not in part;
* ata price of $0.10 per warrant;

* upon a minimum of 30 days prior written notice of redemption provided holders will be able to exercise their
warrants on a “cashless basis” prior to redemption and receive that number of shares determined by reference to
an agreed table based on the redemption date and the fair market value of the Company’s common stock; and

e if, and only if, the closing price of the Company’s common stock equals or exceeds $10.00 per share (as adjusted)
on the trading day prior to the date on which the Company sends the notice of redemption to the warrant holders.

If the Company calls the Public and Private Warrants for redemption, the Warrants may be exercised for cash or, as
described above, the warrant holder may elect to exercise on a cashless basis if the price per share equals or exceeds
$10.00, as described in the warrant agreement. In addition, at any time after notice of redemption has been given by the
Company, holders of Private Warrants may exercise such warrants on a cashless basis so long as such Private Warrants are
held by the Sponsor or a permitted transferee. The exercise price and number of common shares issuable upon exercise of
the Public Warrants are to be adjusted in certain circumstances including in the event of a share dividend, extraordinary
dividend or recapitalization, reorganization, merger or consolidation.

Each Private Warrant entitles the registered holder to purchase one share of the Company’s common stock. The Private
Warrants also have an exercise price of $11.50 and became exercisable 30 days after the completion of the Business
Combination. The Private Warrants are set to expire five years from the completion of the Business Combination, or earlier
upon redemption.

The Private Warrants are identical to the Public Warrants underlying the shares sold in Tiga’s initial public offering,
except that they are subject to certain transfer and sale restrictions and are not optionally redeemable when the Company's
common stock price is above $18.00 so long as they are held by the initial purchasers or their permitted transferees.
Additionally, the Private Warrants are exercisable on a cashless basis. If the Private Warrants are held by someone other
than the initial purchasers or their permitted transferees, the Private Warrants will be redeemable by the Company and
exercisable by such holders on the same basis as the Public Warrants.

The Warrants were recognized at Closing as a liability with a fair value of $39,228. The Warrants remained
unexercised and were remeasured to fair value of $17,933 as of December 31, 2022, resulting in a gain of $21,295 for the
year ended December 31, 2022 recognized in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income.

16. Stockholders’ Equity

The number of authorized, issued and outstanding stock, after the effect of the reverse acquisition, were as follows:

December 31, 2022

Shares Issued and

Authorized Shares Outstanding
Preferred StOCK ....oooiuiiiiiii et ettt e 100,000,000 —
COMMON STOCK ..eiuiiiiiiiiiciic ettt e e et e e eeaeeeetaeeeaaeeeaseeens 1,000,000,000 173,524,360
1,100,000,000 173,524,360

December 31, 2021

Shares Issued and

Authorized Shares Outstanding
Preferred Stock, @S TECASE.......iiiiiiiiii ettt ettt et e eenae e unlimited —
COomMMON STOCK, @S TECAST.....eiiuviiiiiiiriie e ettt e e e e e e e aae e e e eaae e e e eeaaaeeas unlimited 155,541,074

155,541,074
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On the Closing of the Business Combination, the Company's shareholders adopted the new certificate of incorporation.
The new certificate of incorporation set forth the right, privileges, and preference of the Company's preferred stock and
common stock. The Company's Board of Directors is authorized to provide for the issuance of all or any number of the
shares of preferred stock, and to fix the number of shares and to determine or alter for each such series, such voting
powers, full or limited, or no voting powers, and such designation, preferences, and relative, participating, optional, or
other rights and such qualifications, limitations, or restrictions.

The holders of the Company's common stock are entitled to one vote on each matter submitted to the stockholders of
the Company for their vote.

17. Stock-based Compensation

The stock-based compensation expense is related to the grant of restricted units under the 2022 Plan (defined below),
the grant of options and restricted units granted under the 2020 Plan (defined below) and the grant of SVE’s Series P Units
(defined below) to employees and consultants of Legacy Grindr. The unit-based compensation for SVE’s Series P Units has
been pushed down to the operating entity and thus recorded in the Legacy Grindr’s consolidated financial statements with a
corresponding credit to equity as a capital contribution.

2022 Plan

On November 15, 2022, the stockholders of the Company approved the adoption of the 2022 Equity Incentive Plan
(the “2022 Plan”), which permits the grant of incentive awards, nonstatutory stock options, stock appreciation rights,
restricted stock awards, restricted stock unit awards, performance awards, and other awards. There were 13,764,400 shares
of common stock authorized under the 2022 Plan. There were no changes to the authorized number of shares for the year
ended December 31, 2022. As of December 31, 2022, there were no shares of common stock that were available to be
granted under the 2022 Plan until the Company's Form S-8 became effective with the SEC on February 13, 2023.

Executive Incentive Awards

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company entered into employment agreements with the Company’s
newly appointed Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) and Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”). The employment agreements
include cash compensation and incentive awards in the form of restricted stock units (“RSUs”). The awards are subject to
service, performance, and market conditions.

CEO Awards

The awards granted to the CEO include a combination of time-based awards (“CEO Time-Based Awards”), awards
containing a market condition (“CEO Market Condition Awards”), and awards granted upon the achievement of certain key
performance indicators (“CEO KPI Awards”), in the form of restricted stock unit awards (“RSUs”).

The CEO Time-Based Awards include 3,750,000 RSUs. The awards will vest over five years, with 20% vesting on the
first anniversary of October 19, 2022 (the “CEO Start Date”), and then in eight equal installments every six months, subject
to continued service with the Company.

The CEO Market Condition Awards are issued upon the achievement (at varying levels) of certain market
capitalization thresholds. The Company has an obligation to issue a variable number of shares based on a fixed dollar value
divided by the volume weighted-average price per share of the Company’s common stock for a 90-day period preceding
each market capitalization achievement date. These awards are liability-classified and require fair value remeasurement at
the end of each reporting period. In connection with the grant of the CEO Time-Based Awards, a downside protection
provision (“Downside Protection”) is to be granted to the CEO. The Downside Protection may be settled in cash or shares
at the sole discretion by the Company’s Board of Directors. As of December 31, 2022, the Downside Protection has not
been granted for accounting purposes in accordance with ASC 718.

The CEO KPI Awards will be issued upon the satisfaction of certain KPIs determined by the Company’s Board of
Directors. As of December 31, 2022, the KPIs have not been authorized, and as such, the CEO KPI Awards are not
considered to have been granted for accounting purposes in accordance with ASC 718.

CFO Awards

The awards granted to the CFO include a combination of time-based awards (“CFO Time-Based Awards”) and awards
containing a market condition (“CFO Market Condition Awards”), in the form of RSUs. The CEO Time-Based Awards
Award include 486,000 RSUs. The awards will vest over five years, with 20% vesting on each anniversary of September
26, 2022 (the “CFO Start Date”), subject to continued service with the Company.
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The CFO Market Condition Awards are issued upon the achievement of certain market capitalization thresholds. The
Company has an obligation to issue a variable number of shares based on a fixed dollar value divided by the volume
weighted-average price per share of the Company’s common stock for a 90-day period preceding each market
capitalization achievement date. These awards are liability-classified and require fair value remeasurement at the end of
each reporting period.

The CEO Market Condition Awards and the CFO Market Condition Awards (together, the "Market Condition Awards"
are liability-classified and will require fair value remeasurement at the end of each reporting period. As of the grant date
and as of December 31, 2022, the aggregate fair value of the Market Condition Awards is the grant-date fair value of
$4,129 and is recorded in “Other non-current liabilities” in the consolidated balance sheets. Refer to Note 18 for the fair
value information of these awards.

As of December 31, 2022, the Company had $3,971 of unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to
unvested Market Condition Awards that is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 5.22 years. The
unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to unvested Time-Based Awards is included with the Director and
Employee Awards below.

Director and Employee Awards

The Company granted timed-based RSUs to certain directors (“Director RSUs”) and employees (“Employee RSUs”).
The Director RSUs vest in two installments, with 50% vesting on March 15, 2023 and 50% vesting on the earlier of (i)
June 15, 2023 and (ii) the first annual general meeting of the Company following the closing of the Business Combination.
The Employee RSUs vest 25% on the first anniversary of the start date of their employment (“Vesting Commencement
Date”) and in twelve quarterly installments thereafter.

A summary of the unvested time-based RSU activity for Director RSUs, Employee RSUs, and the Time-Based Awards
granted to the CEO and CFO during the year ended December 31, 2022 was as follows:

Weighted Average
Grant Date Fair
Number of Shares Value
Outstanding at December 31, 2021 ......cceeiiiiirierieiieierie ettt —
GIANTEA. ..ottt e et e et e e e et e e e eeaaeeeeaans 4,555,256 $ 10.10
Outstanding at December 31, 2022.......c.coouiriieierieniieienieeieeie e eieeie st eeeneesieeaenaen 4,555,256 $ 10.10

As of December 31, 2022, the Company had $44,695 of unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to
unvested time-based restricted stock units that is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 4.69 years.

2020 Plan

Prior to the Business Combination, see Note 3, in August 13, 2020, the Board of Managers of Legacy Grindr, approved
the adoption of the 2020 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2020 Plan”), which permits the grant of incentive and unit options,
restricted units, stock appreciation rights and phantom units of Legacy Grindr.

There were 6,522,685 shares of common stock authorized in the 2020 Plan. There were no changes to the authorized
number of shares for the years ended December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021. As of December 31, 2022 and
December 31, 2021, there were 0 and 2,780,223 shares of common stock, respectively, available for grant under the 2020
Plan.

Stock options

Employees, consultants, and nonemployee directors who provide substantial services to Legacy Grindr were eligible to
be granted unit option awards under the 2020 Plan.

In connection with the Business Combination, each Legacy Grindr unit option that was outstanding immediate prior to
Closing, whether vested or unvested, was converted into a stock option to acquire a number of shares of common stock
equal to the product of (i) the number of unit of Legacy Grindr common unit subject to such Legacy Grindr unit option
immediately prior to the Business Combination and (ii) the Exchange Ratio, at an exercise price per share equal to (A) the
exercise price per share of such Legacy Grindr unit option immediately prior to the consummation of the Business
Combination, divided by (B) the Exchange Ratio. Following the Business Combination, each Exchanged Option will
continue to be governed by the same terms and conditions (including vesting and exercisability terms) as were applicable
to the corresponding former Legacy Grindr unit option immediately prior to the consummation of the Business
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Combination. Unvested Legacy Grindr unit options did not accelerate nor vest on the consummation of the Business
Combination. All stock option activity was retroactively restated to reflect the effect of the Exchange Ratio.

Generally, stock options vest 25% on the first anniversary of the vesting commencement date and then quarterly
thereafter for 12 quarters, or pursuant to another vesting schedule as approved by the Board and set forth in the option
agreement. Stock options have a maximum term of seven years from the date of grant.

Stock-based compensation expense related to stock options granted under the 2020 Plan is $2,191 and $1,269 for the
year ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

The following table summarizes the key input assumptions used in the Black-Scholes option-pricing model to estimate
the fair value of unit options granted for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021:

Year Ended December 31,
2022 2021
Expected life of options (in years) (D .. ........cocoioviieeiieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e 4.57-4.61 4.55-4.61
Expected stock price VOIatility@)..............ocovoveviveieeeeeeeeeeeeee e 56.39% - 61.97%  48.20% - 56.46%
RiSK free INtEreSt TAte®) ...........ovvuivieieeeeceeeceescee e 1.37% - 4.24% 0.32% - 0.98%
Expected dividend yield®..............ooomiuiuiieeieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e — % — %
Weighted average grant-date fair value per unit of stock options granted.................. $2.75 - $6.37 $2.51
Fair value per common StOCK/UNIL. ...........ecviririeriiiieieieeieieie e $4.20 - $8.36 $3.21 - $4.20

(1) The expected term for award is determined using the simplified method, which estimates the expected term using the contractual life of the option
and the vesting period.

(2) Expected volatility is based on historical volatilities of a publicly traded per group over a period equivalent to the expected term of the awards
(3) The risk-free interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury yield of treasury bonds with a maturity that approximates the expected term of the awards

(4) Prior to the date of the Business Combination, Legacy Grindr did not historically pay any cash dividends on its common stock. On June 10, 2022
and November 14, 2022, Legacy Grindr's Board of Managers approved a special distribution as described in Note 12, and the Company does not
expect to pay any normal course cash dividends on its common stock in the foreseeable future.

The following table summarizes the option activity for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021:

Weighted
Average
Weighted Remaining Aggregate
Number of Average Exercise  Contractual Life Intrinsic Value
Options Price (Years) (in thousands)

Outstanding at December 31, 2020 (as previously
TEPOTEd) .....ovviieeeieeeceeeeeeeee e 2,524,205 . % 4.50 6.6 $ 680
Retroactive application of recapitalization.................... 1,017,859 .
Outstanding at December 31, 2020, after effect of
reverse recapitalization .....................cc..cccocooeoeieinnnn, 3,542,064 . % 321 6.6 §$ 680
GIanted......coooeiieeieeeeeeeeeeee et 1,987,623 . $ 4.03
EXErCISEd...cvvieuiieiieiiicieeeiieeie et (421,771) . $ 3.21
FOITeited....oovveieeieeeieeeee e, (278,544) . $ 3.26
Outstanding at December 31, 2021 ........................... 4,829,372 . $ 3.55 6.1 $ 3,159
Granted.......ooveeeeeee i 1,767,002 _$ 7.70
EXEICISEd.....oviueeeiieieeiceieeeeeeeee e (598,053) . $ 3.38
FOrfeited. ......oovvieniinieiiiiiicicieeceecee e (1,292,556) . $ 3.45
Outstanding at December 31,2022 ........................... 4,705,765 . $ 5.15 57 $ 2,967
Exercisable at December 31, 2021........c..cceeevveeviennnne, 716,441 ' $ 3.22 57 $ 699
Exercisable at December 31, 2022......c.ccccceviieniiennnnnn. 1,083,987 . $ 3.52 50 $ 1,225

The intrinsic value of options exercised during the years ended December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021 was
$2,670 and $417, respectively. This intrinsic value represents the difference between the fair value of the Company’s
common stock on the date of exercise and the exercise price of each option. Unrecognized compensation expense relating
to options in the 2020 Plan was $9,540 as of December 31, 2022, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-
average period of 2.67 years.
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San Vicente Equity Joint Venture LLC (“SVE?”) Series P Profit Units (“Series P”)

On June 10, 2020, SVA completed the acquisition of Legacy Grindr, upon the acquisition of Legacy Grindr, SVE, a
related party and a subsidiary of SVA, issued 5,065,855 Series P profit units (“Series P Units”) to Catapult Goliath LLC
(“Catapult Goliath”), a related party wherein certain members of Catapult Goliath are executives of the Company. The
Series P Units are granted to Catapult Goliath and each of the grantee beneficiaries in exchange for providing service to the
Company under a consulting agreement through December 31, 2023.

The vesting requirements for the Series P Units consist of requisite service under the consulting agreement through
December 31, 2023 and four performance-based vesting targets as follows: (1) 20% will vest if SVE determines that the
grantee has addressed certain critical issues as described in the grant agreement by December 31, 2020, and (2) 20%, 30%,
30% will vest if EBITDA for the Company reached a certain level for the each of the years ending December 31, 2021,
December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2023, respectively.

The EBITDA level was determined for each of the years ended December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2023 on June
10, 2020. SVE and Catapult Goliath had mutually agreed on the EBITDA level for December 31, 2021 on February 4,
2021, as such, 1,013,171 Series P profit units were considered granted in 2021, with the remainder considered granted in
2020.

The Series P Units also have accelerated vesting features if actual EBITDA satisfies the target for the current year and
the target for the next year. If an EBITDA target is not achieved, then catch-up vesting can occur if the current year
EBITDA exceeds 125% of the EBITDA target for the prior year and 100% of the current target is achieved. In addition,
vesting is accelerated for all units that have not been forfeited if a transaction (as defined as an approved sale, drag-along
sale or a liquidation event) occurs. SVE has the right, but not the obligation, to repurchase vested units at the lower of fair
value or a de minimis amount if the consulting agreement is terminated. The Series P Units are legal form equity of SVE
and as such, do not have a maximum contractual life, and do not expire.

The fair value of each performance-based award is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes valuation
model which approximated the fair value that would have been determined under the option pricing model valuation
model. The following table summarizes the key input assumptions used in the Black-Scholes option-pricing model to
estimate the fair value of the Series P Units granted during the year ended December 31, 2021:

December 31,
2021

Expected life of units (in years)" 3
Expected unit price volatility® ...........ccccoeevviiivrennne. 70.0 %
Risk free interest rate® ...........occooeuierinirieeeniriseieeenen. 0.4 %
Expected dividend yield® — %
Weighted average grant-date fair value per SVE series P unit for each SVE Series P unit granted............. $ 2.42
Fair value Per COMMON TUNIT .......eiiieiieiiieeiiieeieeesteeeiee et e et e e st e etaeeeebeeetbeeessaeesseesnsaeenssaesnssaesnseeessessnsens $ 3.55

(1) The expected term for award is estimated in consideration of the time period expected to achieve the performance condition, the contractual term of
the award, and estimates of future exercise behavior.

(2) Expected volatility is based on historical volatilities of a publicly traded per group over a period equivalent to the expected term of the awards

(3) The risk-free interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury yield of treasury bonds with a maturity that approximates the expected term of the awards

(4)  Prior to the date of the Business Combination, Legacy Grindr did not historically pay any cash dividends on its common stock. On June 10, 2022
and November 14, 2022, the Legacy Grindr's Board of Managers approved a special distribution as described in Note 12, and the Company does not
expect to pay any normal course cash dividends on its common stock in the foreseeable future.

Modification of Series P Units

On May 9, 2022, SVE and Catapult Goliath entered into an agreement to amend the vesting requirement for the Series
P Units (the “Modification”). Under the Modification, the Series P Units performance-based vesting target was amended to
time-based vesting and the Series P Units will vest as follows: (1) 40% immediately as of the date of modification (the
“First Tranches”), and (2) 20% each on June 30, 2022, September 30, 2022 and December 31, 2022 (the “Second
Tranches”). Additionally, the requisite services under the consulting agreement have been removed as a condition to
vesting.

The vesting requirements for the First Tranches originally consisted of requisite services under a consulting agreement
and performance-based targets, and all performance-based targets were met. As such, the Company accounted for the
modification in the First Tranches as a Type I modification (probable to probable). As the modification only results in the
acceleration of service-based vesting and does not involve any other changes, there was no incremental fair value upon
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modification. The Company recognized $2,285 incremental unit-based compensation for the First Tranches as it relates to
the units vested immediately upon the date of modification.

The vesting requirements for the Second Tranches originally consisted of requisite services under a consulting
agreement and performance-based targets, and not all performance-based targets were met. As such, the Company
accounted for the modification in the Second Tranches as a Type 11l modification (improbable to probable). This Type 111
modification results in a remeasured fair value of $7.32 per share. The remeasured fair value was determined by a
probability weighted expected return method by weighting between a going concern scenario valued using the Option
Pricing Method and a reverse merger scenario value using the equity value in the merger agreement. The incremental
aggregate unit-based compensation related to the modification was $22,249. The Company recognized all of incremental
unit-based compensation expense during the year ended December 31, 2022 for the Second Tranches.

Other information

As a result of the Business Combination, the remaining unvested Series P Units became vested. All vested Series P
Units were exchanged for common stock of the Company determined pursuant to the distribution provision of the limited
liability agreement of SVE. As a result, the vested Series P Units were exchanged for 6,497,593 shares of common stock of
the Company. Catapult Goliath was liquidated and distributed its holdings to its members, some of whom were former
officers of the Company.

Legacy Grindr recorded unit-based compensation expense related to Series P Units of $25,076 and $1,333 for the years
ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively, with a corresponding credit to equity as the parent company’s capital
contribution.

2016 Plan

In connection with the acquisition of Legacy Grindr in June 2020 from Kunlun, all outstanding incentive units were
determined to be settled. A portion of the related settlement was paid in cash at the time of the acquisition of Legacy Grindr
with the remainder payable to employees on the second and third anniversaries of the acquisition. The Company paid
$1,137 in June 2022 for the second anniversary payment. Additionally, the Company paid $2,349 in December 2022 for the
third anniversary payment ahead of the scheduled payment date. The difference between the assumed carrying value of the
settlement payable of incentive units at the time of settlement and the amount paid is $158, which has been recorded in
"Interest expense, net" in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income. As of December 31, 2021,
$1,060 and $1,875 were recognized in “Accrued expenses and other current liabilities” and “Other non-current liabilities”.

Equity Compensation to a Former Director

In connection with the acquisition of Legacy Grindr in June 2020 from Kunlun, Legacy Grindr and Kunlun terminated
a director as part of the acquisition agreement. Legacy Grindr cancelled 500,000 options previously granted to the director
pursuant to the terms of the termination agreement entered into between the director and Legacy Grindr. A portion of the
related settlement was paid in cash at the time of the acquisition of Legacy Grindr with the remainder payable to employees
on the second and third anniversaries of the acquisition. As of December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, $641 and $204
were recognized in “Accrued expenses and other current liabilities”, respectively, and $0 and $361 were recognized in
“Other non-current liabilities”, respectively.

Stock-based compensation information

The following table summarizes stock-based compensation expenses for the years ended December 31, 2022 and
2021, respectively:

Year Ended December 31,
2022 2021
Selling, general and adminiStrative EXPENSES........cvrvereiereiereiereristereeeseseresesessesessesesessesens $ 27,665 $ 2,217
Product develOPmENnt EXPENSES ..............oevivreeeeeesereeeseseeeseeesssesesesseseseseseesesessesseseseseseesesnes 921 268
$ 28,586 $ 2,485

Stock-based compensation expense that was capitalized as an asset was $151 and $117 for the years ended December
31,2022 and 2021, respectively.

18. Fair Value Measurements

The following tables present the Company’s financial instruments that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis:
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December 31, 2022

Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Assets:
Money market funds ............ccccoeurenne $ 4,085 § 4,085 § — 8§ —
$ 4,085 $ 4085 $
Liabilities:
Executive Market Condition Awards . $ 4,129 $ — 3 — 3 4,129
Common stock warrant liabilities ..... 17,933 9,024 8,909 —
$ 22,062 $ 9,024 $ 8,909 $ 4,129
December 31, 2021
Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Assets:
Money market funds..............c........... $ 9,648 § 9,648 § — 8 —
$ 9,648 $ 9,648 $ — 3 —
Liabilities:
Executive Market Condition Awards . $ — $ — 8 — $ o
Common stock warrant liabilities ...... — — — —
$ — 3 — $ — 3 —

Money Market Funds
The Money Market Funds are classified within Level 1 as these securities are traded on an active public market.
Executive Market Condition Awards

The CEO Market Condition Awards and the CFO Market Condition Awards (together, the “Executive Market
Condition Awards”) are liability-classified awards requiring fair value measurement at the end of each reporting period.
The Company used the Monte Carlo simulation model to value the liability-classified award. The key inputs into the Monte
Carlo simulation as of December 31, 2022 were as follows:

December 31, 2022
EXPECted teIM (11 JEATS) .. euveeutieiieriieeuieetteitie ettt ettt et et e stteeueesuteeateebeesteesbeeeubeenseenbeenbeesbeesnneenseenseens 9.9 years
VOLALIIIEY -ttt ettt ettt et ettt eat e e et et e et eeb e e e bt e eab e et e et e e ebeeeat e et e enteen 65.0%
RISK-1TE8 TNLETESE TALE ....euteetieiieeiie et ettt ettt et ettt et et e etteette e st eseesseeesaaenseenseenseessaenseesnseenseensaens 3.8%
DiIVIAENA YICLA ...ttt bttt sttt —%

Common Stock Warrant Liabilities

The Warrants were accounted for as a liability in accordance with ASC 815-40 (see Note 15). The warrant liability was
measured at fair value upon assumption and on a recurring basis, with changes in fair value presented in the consolidated
statements of operations and comprehensive income.

The Company used Level 1 inputs for valuing the Public Warrants and Level 2 inputs for valuing the Private Warrants.
The Private Warrants are substantially similar to the Public Warrants, but not directly traded or quoted on an active market.

The following table presents the changes in the fair value of the warrant liability:
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Total Warrant

Public Warrants Private Warrants Liability
Fair value as of December 31, 2021 .oovooveveveeeieieeeenn, $ — 3 — 3 —
Assumption of Warrants upon Closing .............ccceeeevveennnes, 19,740 19,488 39,228
Change in fair value of Warrant liability.............cccccceeeenn, (10,716) (10,579) (21,295)
Fair value as of December 31,2022 ......cccooovevevireecnnennns, $ 9,024 $ 8909 § 17,933

19. Net Income Per Share

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted income per share:

Year Ended December 31,
2022 2021
Numerator:
Net income and cOMPrehensive INCOME .......c.ievvieriierieeiieieeie ettt ere e eve e seeeeeae s $ 852 % 5,064
Denominator:
Weighted-average common shares outstanding - basic ..........coccvevveecvieiiiniieneenieeie e, 157,882,535 152,811,130
Stock options issued under 2020 Plan .........cocooiieiiiiiiniinieieeeeceeeee e 1,267,239 56,336
TIME-DASEA RSUS ....ooiiiiieeieeeeceeeeeeee e e e e eare e e eaes 17,098
Weighted-average common shares outstanding - diluted.............cccooiiiiiniiiiiiniiinies 159,166,872 152,867,466
NEt INCOME PET SNATE: ....eenvieiieeiiieiieiieetie ettt et et esteeeteeeateenseenteeseesseesnseenseenseenseesneesnseenses
BASIC ..ttt ettt ettt ettt e et et et eae e eaeann $ 0.01 $ 0.03
DIIULEA ...t et ettt e e ettt e et e e aeeeaeeeaaeeateenseeraeetaeeaneenaeenns $ 0.01 $ 0.03

The weighted-average number of shares of common stock outstanding prior to the Business Combination have been
retroactively adjusted by the Exchange Ratio to give effect to the reverse recapitalization treatment of the Business
Combination.

The following table presents the potential shares that are excluded from the computation of diluted net income and
comprehensive income for the periods presented because including them would have had an anti-dilutive effect:

Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021
Stock options issued under 2020 Plan............cc.oocvieiiieoiieiiiiiicie e 1,594,021 1,761,810
TIME-DASEA RSUS ..ottt e e enaaee s 4,383,256 —
Public and Private Warrants 37,360,000

The table above does not include shares issuable for the Executive Market Condition Awards, as the market condition
criterion has not yet been achieved. Such shares are also not included in the Company’s calculation of basic or diluted net
income per share.

20. Related Parties

Transactions disclosed within the other notes to the consolidated financial statements involve related parties which
include Tiga Acquisition Corp (prior to the Business Combination), Tiga Sponsor LLC, Group Holdings, SVG, SVA, SVE,
SV Parent, SV Cayman, SV Investments II, and SV Investments.

For the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company paid advisor fees and out-of-pocket expenses
amounting to $792 and $913 to two individuals who hold ownership interest in the Company, respectively.

See Note 9 and Note 17 for additional related party transactions with Catapult GP II and Catapult Goliath.

21. Subsequent Events

Except as described below, or as otherwise indicated in the footnotes, the Company has concluded that no events or
transactions have occurred that require disclosure.
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On various dates during January 2023, February 2023 and March 2023, the Company received $450, $7,000 and
$11,921, respectively, from Catapult GP II as a partial payment of the Note described in Note 9, which comprised $341,
$149 and $48, respectively, of the accrued interest and $109, $6,851 and $11,873, respectively, of the principal. The Note
has been fully paid.

On January 12, 2023, the Company entered into a purchase commitment for the use of cloud services, with a
commitment to spend $8,500 annually between January 2023 and December 2026.

On March 10, 2023, Silicon Valley Bank ("SVB") was closed by the California Department of Financial Protection
and Innovation, which appointed the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation ("FDIC") as receiver. On March 12, 2023, the
Secretary of the Treasury, the chair of the Federal Reserve Board and the chairman of the FDIC released a joint statement
related to the FDIC's resolution of the SVB receivership, which provides that all depositors will have access to all their
money starting March 13, 2023. As of March 17, 2023, all cash deposited with SVB by the Company are accessible by the
Company .
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Disclosure controls are procedures that are designed with the objective of ensuring that information required to be
disclosed in our reports filed under the Exchange Act, is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time
period specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls are also designed with the objective of ensuring that
such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including the chief executive officer and chief
financial officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Disclosure controls and
procedures, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the
objectives of the disclosure controls and procedures are met. Further, the design of disclosure controls and procedures must
reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the
inherent limitations in all disclosure controls and procedures, no evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures can
provide absolute assurance that we have detected all our control deficiencies and instances of fraud, if any. The design of
disclosure controls and procedures also is based partly on certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and
there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions.

With the foregoing in mind, our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and
15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act), as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Based on
such evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that as of December 31, 2022,
our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective at a reasonable assurance level as a result of the material
weakness that existed in our internal control over financial reporting identified previously, which continues to exist as of
December 31, 2022, as discussed below.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

As discussed elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we completed the Business Combination on November
18, 2022. Prior to the Business Combination, we were a special purpose acquisition company formed for the purpose of
effecting a merger, capital stock exchange, asset acquisition, stock purchase, reorganization or other similar business
combination with one or more operating businesses. As a result, previously existing internal controls are no longer
applicable or comprehensive enough as of the assessment date as our operations prior to the Business Combination were
insignificant compared to those of the consolidated entity post-Business Combination. The design of internal controls over
financial reporting for the Company post-Business Combination has required and will continue to require significant time
and resources from management and other personnel. As a result, management was unable, without incurring unreasonable
effort or expense to conduct an assessment of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022.
Accordingly, we are excluding management’s report on internal control over financial reporting pursuant to Section 215.02
of the SEC Division of Corporation Finance's Regulation S-K Compliance & Disclosure Interpretations.

A material weakness is a deficiency or combination of deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting such that
there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of our consolidated financial statements would not be
prevented or detected on a timely basis. As of December 31, 2022, a material weakness in our internal control over
financial reporting was identified in relation to the accuracy and timeliness of our financial statement closing process.
Given that we operated as a private company prior to the Business Combination, we did not have the necessary formalized
processes to effectively implement review controls within our internal control over financial reporting. We began to
implement the following actions to remediate the material weakness described above. These remediation measures are
ongoing and include the following:

»  hiring additional personnel to bolster our accounting capabilities and capacity;

*  designing and implementing appropriate modules in our financial systems to automate manual reconciliations and
calculations; and

» evaluating, designing and implementing the internal controls and procedures with respect to the closing process,
including the measures stated above, to limit human judgment and clerical errors and enhance adequacy of
reviews to assure timely and accurate financial reporting.
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Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f) of the Exchange Act) during the most recent fiscal quarter that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely
to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Attestation Report of the Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

This Annual Report on Form 10-K does not include an attestation report of our registered public accounting firm due
to an exemption for “emerging growth companies.”

Item 9B. Other Information

None

Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections

Not applicable
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PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information required by this Item 10 is incorporated by reference to our definitive Proxy Statement for the 2023
Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days of December 31, 2022.

We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics for our directors, officers (including our principal executive
officer, principal financial officer and principal accounting officer) and employees. Our Code of Business Conduct and
Ethics is available on our website at http://www.grindr.com under the “Investors” tab. Within the time period required by
the Securities and Exchange Commission and the New York Stock Exchange, we will post on our website at
http://www.grindr.com under the “Investors” tab any amendment to our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics or any
waivers of such provisions granted to executive officers and directors.

We have adopted Corporate Governance Guidelines that are available on our website at http://www.grindr.com under
the “Investors” tab.
Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this Item 11 is incorporated by reference to our definitive Proxy Statement for the 2023
Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days of December 31, 2022.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The information required by this Item 12 is incorporated by reference to our definitive Proxy Statement for the 2023
Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days of December 31, 2022.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The information required by this Item 13 is incorporated by reference to our definitive Proxy Statement for the 2023
Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days of December 31, 2022.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information required by this Item 14 is incorporated by reference to our definitive Proxy Statement for the 2023
Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days of December 31, 2022.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a) The following documents are filed as part of this report:

I.

Financial Statements

The financial statements included in Part I, Item 8 of this document are filed as part of this Annual Report

on Form 10-K.

Financial Statement Schedules

All required schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or the required information is shown in

the financial statements or the accompanying notes to the financial statements.

Exhibits

The exhibits filed as part of the Annual Report on Form 10-K are listed in Item 15(b).

(b) Exhibits.

The following exhibits are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:

Exhibit No. Description Form File Number Exhibits Filing Date
2.1F**%  Agreement and Plan of Merger by Form 8-K  001-39714 2.1 November 23,
and among Tiga Acquisition Corp., 2022
Tiga Merger Sub LLC and Grindr
Group LLC, dated May 9, 2022.
2.2%% First Amendment to the Agreement ~ Form 8-K ~ 001-39714 2.2 November 23,
and Plan of Merger by and among 2022
Tiga Acquisition Corp., Tiga
Merger Sub LLC, Tiga Merger Sub
II LLC and Grindr Group LLC,
dated October 5, 2022.
3.1%%* Restated Certificate of Form S-1/A 333- 3.1 February 9, 2023
Incorporation of Grindr Inc., dated 268782
November 18, 2022.
3.2%* Bylaws of Grindr Inc., dated Form 8-K  001-39714 3.2 November 23,
November 18, 2022. 2022
4.1%* Specimen Common Stock Form 8-K  001-39714 4.1 November 23,
Certificate of Grindr Inc. 2022
4.2%% Specimen Warrant Certificate of Form 8-K  001-39714 4.2 November 23,
Grindr Inc. 2022
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4.3%%

4 4%

4.5%

10.1%*

10.2%*

10.3%**#

10.4%**

10.5%*

10.6%*

10.7**

Warrant Agreement between Tiga
Acquisition Corp. and Continental
Stock Transfer & Trust Company,
as warrant agent, dated
November 23, 2020.

Certificate of Corporate
Domestication of Tiga Acquisition
Corp., dated November 17, 2022.

Description of Securities registered
under Section 12 of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934.

Amended and Restated
Registration Rights Agreement by
and among Grindr Inc., Tiga
Sponsor LLC and certain existing
and new stockholders of Grindr
Inc., dated November 18, 2022.

Form of Indemnification
Agreement of Grindr Inc.

Grindr Inc. 2022 Equity Incentive
Plan and forms of award
agreement thereunder.

Convertible Promissory Note,
between Tiga Acquisition Corp.
and Tiga Sponsor LLC, dated as of
March 16, 2022.

Payoff Letter between Tiga
Acquisition Corp. and Tiga
Sponsor LLC, dated March 16,
2022.

Amended and Restated Forward
Purchase Agreement, between Tiga
Acquisition Corp. and Tiga
Sponsor LLC, dated May 9, 2022.

Joinder and Assignment
Agreement to Amended and
Restated Forward Purchase
Agreement by and among San
Vicente Parent LLC, Tiga
Acquisition Corp., and Tiga
Sponsor LLC, dated November 10,
2022.

Form 8-K

Form 8-K

Form 8-K

Form 8-K

Form 8-K

Form 8-K

Form 8-K

Form 8-K

Form 8-K
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001-39714

001-39714

001-39714

001-39714

001-39714

001-39714

001-39714

001-39714

001-39714

4.3

4.4

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

November 23,
2022

November 23,
2022

November 23,
2022

November 23,
2022

November 23,
2022

November 23,
2022

November 23,
2022

November 23,
2022

November 23,
2022



10.8**

10.944%*

10.10%*

10.11%**

10.12%*

10.13%*

10.14*#

10.15*#

First Amendment to the Warrant Form 8-K  001-39714
Agreement between Tiga

Acquisition Corp. and Continental

Stock Transfer & Trust Company,

as warrant agent, dated

November 17, 2022.

Credit Agreement, dated as of Form S-4/A 333-
June 10, 2020, among San 264902
Vincente Gap LLC, San Vicente

Capital LLC, Fortress Credit

Corp., and the other parties thereto,

as amended on February 25, 2021.

Amendment No. | to the Credit Form S-4/A 333-
Agreement, dated as of 264902
February 25, 2021, among Grindr

Gap LLC, Grindr Capital LLC,

Fortress Credit Corp. and the other

parties thereto.

Amendment No. 2 to the Credit Form S-4/A 333-
Agreement, dated as of June 13, 264902
2022, among Grindr Gap LLC,

Grindr Capital LLC, Fortress

Credit Corp. and the other parties

thereto.
Amendment No. 3 to the Credit Form S-1 333-
Agreement, dated as of 268782

November 14, 2022, among Grindr
Gap LLC, Grindr Capital LLC,
Fortress Credit Corp. and the other
parties thereto.

Grindr Group LLC Amended and Form S-1/A 333-
Restated 2020 Equity Incentive 268782
Plan and forms of award

agreement thereunder.

Offer Letter by and between
Grindr Group LLC and Maggie
Lower, dated April 25, 2022.

Offer Letter by and between
Grindr Group LLC and G.
Raymond Zage, 111, dated
November 15, 2022.
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10.8

10.9

10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

November 23,
2022

October 31, 2022

October 31, 2022

October 31, 2022

December 13, 2022

February 9, 2023



10.16*#

10.17*#

10.18*#

10.19*#

10.20*#

10.21*#

10.22*#

10.23*#

16.1%*

21155

23.1%*

24.1*

Offer Letter by and between
Grindr Group LLC and J. Michael
Gearon, Jr., dated November 15,
2022.

Offer Letter by and between
Grindr Group LLC and James Fu
Bin Lu, dated November 15, 2022.

Offer Letter by and between
Grindr Group LLC and Nathan
Richardson, dated April 24, 2022.

Offer Letter by and between
Grindr Group LLC and Daniel
Brooks Baer, dated April 26, 2022.

Offer Letter by and between
Grindr Group LLC and Meghan
Stabler, dated April 25, 2022.

Offer Letter by and between
Grindr Group LLC and Gary
Horowitz, dated April 26, 2022.

Employment Agreement by and
between Grindr LLC and Vanna
Krantz, dated August 26, 2022.

Employment Agreement by and
between Grindr LLC and George
Arison, dated April 27, 2022.

Letter from WithumSmith+Brown, Form 8-K 001-39714
PC to the SEC, dated
November 23, 2022

List of Subsidiaries. Form 8-K 001-39714

Consent of Ernst & Young LLP,
independent registered public
accounting firm.

Power of Attorney (included on
signature page).
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16.1

21.1

November 23,
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November 23,
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31.1%* Certification of Principal
Executive Officer Pursuant to
Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a)
under the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002.

31.2% Certification of Principal Financial
Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-
14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as Adopted Pursuant to Section
302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.

32.1*¥*%*  Certification of Principal
Executive Officer and Principal
Financial Officer Pursuant to 18
U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted
Pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

101.INS XBRL Instance Document

101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension
Calculation Linkbase Document

101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension
Schema Document

101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension
Definition Linkbase Document

101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension
Labels Linkbase Document

101.PRE  XBRL Taxonomy Extension
Presentation Linkbase Document

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File
(formatted as inline XBRL and
contained in Exhibit 101)

* Filed herewith.
**  Previously filed.

***  Furnished herewith and not deemed to be “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange
Act”), and shall not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Exchange Act
(whether made before or after the date of the Annual Report on Form 10-K), irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such
filing.

i Schedules and exhibits have been omitted pursuant to Items 601(a)(5) and 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K. The Registrant agrees to furnish
supplementally a copy of any omitted schedule or exhibit to the SEC upon request.

+1  Certain portions of this exhibit (indicated by asterisks) have been excluded pursuant to Item 601(b)(10) of Regulation S-K because they are both not
material and are the type that the Registrant treats as private or confidential.
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#  Indicates management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized in the City of West Hollywood,
State of California, on this 17th day of March, 2023.

GRINDR INC.

By:

/s/ Vandana Mehta-Krantz
Vandana Mehta-Krantz

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting

Officer)
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POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below hereby
constitutes and appoints George Arison and Vandana Mehta-Krantz, and each of them, his or her true and lawful attorneys-
in-fact and agents, each with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him or her and in his or her name, place and
stead, in any and all capacities, to do any and all things and execute any and all instruments that such attorney may deem
necessary or advisable under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and any rules, regulations and requirements
of the Securities and Exchange Commission in connection with this Annual Report and any and all amendments hereto, as
fully and for all intents and purposes as he or she might do or could do in person, and hereby ratifies and confirms all that
each of said attorneys-in-fact and agents, or his or her substitute or substitutes may lawfully do or cause to be done by
virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this Annual Report has been
signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

/s/ George Arison March 17, 2023

Chief Executive Officer and Director

George Arison (Principal Executive Olfficer)
/s/ Vandana Mehta-Krantz N ) Lo . . March 17, 2023
Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer
Vandana Mehta-Krantz and Principal Accounting Officer)
/s/ James Fu Bin Lu March 17, 2023
James Fu Bin Lu Chairperson of the Board
/s/ G. Raymond Zage, 111 March 17, 2023
G. Raymond Zage, 111 Director
/s/ J. Michael Gearon, Jr. March 17, 2023
J. Michael Gearon, Jr. Director
/s/ Nathan Richardson March 17, 2023
Nathan Richardson Director
/s/ Daniel Brooks Baer March 17, 2023
Daniel Brooks Baer Director
/s/ Gary 1. Horowitz March 17, 2023
Gary 1. Horowitz Director
/s/ Meghan Stabler March 17, 2023
Meghan Stabler Director
/s/ Maggie Lower March 17, 2023
Maggie Lower Director
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EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

George Arison
Chief Executive Officer and Director

Vandana Mehta-Krantz
Chief Financial Officer

Austin “AJ” Balance
Chief Product Officer

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

G. Raymond Zage, 111
Chief Executive Officer
Tiga Investments Pte. Ltd

James Fu Bin Lu
Director, Chairman and Chief Executive Olfficer
Life Concepts Holdings Limited

J. Michael Gearon, Jr.
Founder, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
28" Street Ventures

Daniel Brooks Baer
Senior Vice President
Carnegie Endowment for International Peace

Former United States Ambassador
Organization for Security and Co-operation in
Europe

Meghan Stabler
Senior Vice President
BioCommerce Pty Ltd.

Gary 1. Horowitz
General Counsel
Integrum Holdings

Maggie Lower
Strategic Advisor
Clu

Nathan Richardson
Former Executive Vice President
Red Ventures

LISTING

Our common stock is listed on NYSE under the
ticker symbol “GRND.”

TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR

Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company
1 State Street — 30" Floor
www.continentalstock.com
cstmail@continentalstock.com

ANNUAL MEETING
June 21, 2023, at 5:00 p.m. Pacific Time

Online at:

www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/GRND2023

FORM 10-K

A copy of our Form 10-K filed with the SEC will be

made available to all stockholders at no charge.

The Form 10-K also can be accessed through the
SEC website at www.sec.gov, or through our
Investor website at investors.grindr.com

To receive a copy by mail please contact:

Investor Relations

Grindr Inc.

750 N. San Vicente Blvd., Suite RE 1400,
West Hollywood, CA 90069
IR@grindr.com



